SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q

QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended April 2, 2011

Commissio	n file n	umber:	1-5256

V. F. CORPORATION

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Pennsylvania

(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)

23-1180120

(I.R.S. employer identification number)

105 Corporate Center Boulevard Greensboro, North Carolina 27408

(Address of principal executive offices)

(336) 424-6000

(Registrant's telephone number, including area code)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. YES \boxtimes NO \square

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files). YES 🗹 NO 🗆

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See definitions of "large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer," and "smaller reporting company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (check one):

Large accelerated filer

Accelerated filer

Non-accelerated filer

Non-accelerated filer

Non-accelerated filer

Smaller reporting company

(Do not check if a smaller reporting company)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). YES□ NO

On April 30, 2011, there were 109,398,482 shares of the registrant's Common Stock outstanding.

Table of Contents

Part I — Financial Information	Page No.
Item 1 — Financial Statements (Unaudited)	
Consolidated Statements of Income: Three months ended March 2011 and March 2010	3
Consolidated Balance Sheets: March 2011, December 2010 and March 2010	4
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income: Three months ended March 2011 and March 2010	5
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows: Three months ended March 2011 and March 2010	6
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity Year ended December 2010 and three months ended March 2011	7
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements	8
Item 2 — Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	20
Item 3 — Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk	29
Item 4 — Controls and Procedures	29
Part II — Other Information	
Item 1A — Risk Factors	29
Item 2 — Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds	29
<u>Item 6 — Exhibits</u>	30
<u>Signatures</u>	31
2	

Part I — Financial Information

Item 1 — Financial Statements (Unaudited)

VF CORPORATION

Consolidated Statements of Income (Unaudited) (In thousands, except per share amounts)

	Three Months	Ended March
	2011	2010
Net Sales	\$ 1,937,124	\$ 1,730,086
Royalty Income	21,675	19,793
Total Revenues	1,958,799	1,749,879
Costs and Operating Expenses		
Cost of goods sold	1,033,856	932,203
Marketing, administrative and general expenses	650,300	594,416
Marketing, administrative and general expenses		
	1,684,156	1,526,619
Operating Income	274,643	223,260
Other Income (Expense)		
Interest income	966	494
Interest expense	(15,940)	(20,499)
Miscellaneous, net	(1,931)	6,423
	(16,905)	(13,582)
Income Before Income Taxes	257,738	209,678
Income Taxes	56,318	46,219
Net Income	201,420	163,459
Net (Income) Loss Attributable to Noncontrolling		
Interests	<u>(717)</u>	57
Net Income Attributable to VF Corporation	\$ 200,703	\$ 163,516
Francisco Des Commune Characteristics to VF Communities Commune Stanlikeliker		·
Earnings Per Common Share Attributable to VF Corporation Common Stockholders Basic	¢ 105	¢ 1.40
Diluted	\$ 1.85 1.82	\$ 1.48 1.46
Diluted	1.82	1.40
Cash Dividends Per Common Share	\$ 0.63	\$ 0.60
See notes to consolidated financial statements.		
3		

Consolidated Balance Sheets (Unaudited) (In thousands, except share amounts)

ACCETC	March 2011	December 2010	March 2010
ASSETS			
Current Assets		# # 0 	
Cash and equivalents	\$ 672,963	\$ 792,239	\$ 718,634
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts of:	892,294	773,083	787,682
March 2011 - \$47,365; Dec. 2010 - \$44,599			
March 2010 - \$59,351			
Inventories:			
Finished products	938,437	843,230	764,167
Work in process	79,362	78,226	69,515
Materials and supplies	165,515	149,238	118,500
	1,183,314	1,070,694	952,182
Other current assets	201,457	190,044	192,275
Total current assets	2,950,028	2,826,060	2,650,773
Property, Plant and Equipment	1,700,871	1,663,299	1,602,996
Less accumulated depreciation	1,085,499	1,060,391	1,001,137
	615,372	602,908	601,859
(ntangihla Assata	1,556,791	1,490,925	1 520 529
ntangible Assets	1,330,791	1,490,923	1,529,538
Goodwill	1,187,107	1,166,638	1,363,059
Other Assets	383,840	371,025	326,979
	\$ 6,693,138	\$ 6,457,556	\$ 6,472,208
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY			
Current Liabilities Short-term borrowings	\$ 40,052	\$ 36,576	\$ 48,525
Current portion of long-term debt	2,722	2,737	202,690
Accounts payable	429,541	510,998	296,437
Accrued liabilities	564,531	559,164	512,415
Total current liabilities	1,036,846	1,109,475	1,060,067
ong-term Debt	935,244	935,882	937,826
ong-term Dept	933,244	933,882	937,820
Other Liabilities	594,601	550,880	649,449
Commitments and Contingencies			
Stockholders' Equity			
Common stock, stated value \$1; shares authorized, 300,000,000; shares outstanding: March 2011 - 109,013,967; Dec. 2010 - 107,938,105	109,014	107,938	109,981
March 2010 - 109,980,912			
Additional paid-in capital			
	2,159,204	2,081,367	1,938,184
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)	(202,203)	(268,594)	(246,241
Retained earnings	2,059,492	1,940,508	2,024,856
Total equity attributable to VF Corporation	4,125,507	3,861,219	3,826,780
Noncontrolling interests	940	100	(1,914
Tatal ata alika lidawa asuitu	4 107 447	2 961 210	2 924 977
Total stockholders' equity	4,126,447	3,861,319	3,824,866

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Unaudited) (In thousands)

Three Months

	Ended 1	March
	2011	2010
Net Income	\$ 201,420	\$ 163,459
Other Comprehensive Income (Loss):		
Foreign currency translation		
Gains (losses) arising during the period	96,695	(74,763)
Less income tax effect	(19,659)	11,237
Defined benefit pension plans		
Amortization of net deferred actuarial loss	10,764	11,372
Amortization of prior service cost	863	987
Less income tax effect	(4,181)	(4,770)
Derivative financial instruments		
Gains (losses) arising during the period	(26,170)	20,841
Less income tax effect	10,080	(8,030)
Reclassification to net income for (gains) losses realized	(2,910)	9,247
Less income tax effect	1,124	(3,562)
Marketable securities		
Gains (losses) arising during the period	(825)	942
Reclassification to net income for (gains) losses recognized	847	_
Less income tax effect	(237)	
Other comprehensive income (loss)	66,391	(36,499)
Foreign currency translation gains attributable to noncontrolling interests	123	9
Other comprehensive income (loss) including noncontrolling interests	66,514	(36,490)
Comprehensive Income	267,934	126,969
Comprehensive (Income) Loss Attributable to Noncontrolling Interests	(840)	48
Comprehensive Income Attributable to VF Corporation	\$ 267,094	<u>\$ 127,017</u>
See notes to consolidated financial statements.		
5		

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Unaudited) (In thousands)

Operating Activities Net income Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash provided (used) by operating activities:	2011 \$ 201,420 30,096 9,776	\$	163,459
Net income	30,096	\$	163,459
	30,096	\$	163,459
Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash provided (used) by operating activities:	,		
	,		
Depreciation			27,396
Amortization of intangible assets	/		9,978
Other amortization	5,069		3,695
Stock-based compensation	13,702		14,774
Pension funding under expense	10,817		10,324
Other, net	2,615		27,410
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions:			
Accounts receivable	(101,628)		(25,230
Inventories	(101,511)		3,867
Other current assets	726		(4,373
Accounts payable	(94,167)		(74,409
Accrued compensation	(64,313)		(31,548
Accrued income taxes	14,651		26,213
Accrued liabilities	8,922		58,312
Other assets and liabilities	30,960		(25,714
Cash provided (used) by operating activities	(32,865)		184,154
Investing Activities			
Capital expenditures	(33,607)		(17,339
Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired			(29,111
Trademarks acquisition	(55,500)		
Software purchases	(7,256)		(701
Other, net	53		(2,486
Cash used by investing activities	(96,310)		(49,637
Financing Activities			
Net increase in short-term borrowings	3,427		2,837
Payments on long-term debt	(550)		(1,061
Purchase of Common Stock	(2,453)		(118,001
Cash dividends paid	(68,475)		(66,224
Proceeds from issuance of Common Stock, net	46,036		52,394
Tax benefits of stock option exercises	8,384	_	1,669
Cash used by financing activities	(13,631)		(128,386
Effect of Foreign Currency Rate Changes on Cash	23,530		(19,046
Net Change in Cash and Equivalents	(119,276)		(12,915
Cash and Equivalents — Beginning of Year	792,239	_	731,549
Cash and Equivalents — End of Period	\$ 672,963	\$	718,634
See notes to consolidated financial statements.		-	

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity (Unaudited) (In thousands)

	VF Corporation Stockholders				
	Common Stock	Additional Paid-in Capital	Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)	Retained Earnings	Non- controlling Interests
Balance, December 2009	\$ 110,285	\$ 1,864,499	\$ (209,742)	\$ 2,050,109	\$ (1,866)
Net income (loss)	_	_	_	571,362	2,150
Common Stock dividends	_	_	_	(264,281)	_
Purchase of treasury stock	(5,023)	_	_	(401,925)	_
Stock compensation plans, net	2,815	216,868	_	(4,072)	_
Common Stock held in trust for deferred compensation plans	(139)	_	_	(10,685)	_
Distributions to noncontrolling interests	_	_	_	_	(240)
Foreign currency translation	_	_	(65,398)	_	56
Defined benefit pension plans	_	_	(155)	_	_
Derivative financial instruments	_	_	4,464	_	_
Marketable securities			2,237		<u></u>
Balance, December 2010	107,938	2,081,367	(268,594)	1,940,508	100
Net income (loss)	_	· · · · · —	`	200,703	717
Common Stock dividends	_	_	_	(68,475)	_
Purchase of treasury stock	_	_	_	`	_
Stock compensation plans, net	1,111	77,837	_	(10,213)	_
Common Stock held in trust for deferred compensation plans	(35)	_	_	(3,031)	_
Foreign currency translation		_	77,036		123
Defined benefit pension plans	_	_	7,446	_	_
Derivative financial instruments	_	_	(17,876)	_	_
Marketable securities			(215)	<u> </u>	<u></u> _
Balance, March 2011	\$ 109,014	\$2,159,204	\$ (202,203)	\$ 2,059,492	\$ 940

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note A — Basis of Presentation

VF Corporation (and its subsidiaries, collectively known as "VF") uses a 52/53 week fiscal year ending on the Saturday closest to December 31 of each year. For presentation purposes herein, all references to periods ended March 2011, December 2010 and March 2010 relate to the fiscal periods ended on April 2, 2011, January 1, 2011 and April 3, 2010, respectively.

The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the instructions to Form 10-Q and Rule 10-01 of Regulation S-X and do not include all of the information and notes required by generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP") in the United States of America for complete financial statements. Similarly, the December 2010 consolidated balance sheet was derived from audited financial statements but does not include all disclosures required by GAAP. In the opinion of management, the accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements contain all normal and recurring adjustments necessary to fairly present the consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows of VF for the interim periods presented. Operating results for the three months ended March 2011 are not necessarily indicative of results that may be expected for any other interim period or for the year ending December 31, 2011. For further information, refer to the consolidated financial statements and notes included in VF's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 2010 ("2010 Form 10-K").

Certain prior year amounts, none of which are material, have been reclassified to conform with the 2011 presentation.

Note B — Change in Accounting Principle

VF has historically valued inventories using both the first-in, first out ("FIFO") and last-in, first-out ("LIFO") methods. At the end of December 2010, approximately 25% of total inventories were valued using the LIFO method. On January 2, 2011, VF changed its method of accounting for inventories previously on the LIFO method to the FIFO method. This change is preferable because the FIFO inventory valuation (i) better reflects the current value of inventories on our Consolidated Balance Sheets, (ii) provides for a single inventory valuation method for all business units globally, and (iii) enhances comparability with the reporting of our peers.

The effect of retrospectively applying this change in accounting principle on previously reported financial statements was not material and therefore those periods have not been restated. The impact of this change on the Consolidated Statement of Income for the first quarter of 2011 was as follows:

	Increase/
In thousands, except per share amounts	(Decrease)
Cost of goods sold	\$ (8,027)
Income before income taxes	8,027
Income tax expense	3,160
Net income	4,867
Basic earnings per common share attributable to VF Corporation Common Stockholders	\$ 0.04
Diluted earnings per common share attributable to VF Corporation Common Stockholders	0.04

The impact of this change in accounting principle on the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of January 2, 2011 was as follows:

In thousands	Increase
Inventories	\$8,027
Accrued liabilities	3,160
Retained earnings	4,867

The impact of accounting for inventory on a LIFO instead of FIFO basis, had we not made this change in accounting principle, would not have been material to our financial position, results of operations, cash flows and net earnings per common share attributable to VF Corporation Common Stockholders for the quarter ended March 2011.

Note C - Asset Acquisition

On March 30, 2011, VF paid \$55.5 million in cash to acquire the trademarks and related intellectual property of Rock and Republic Enterprises, Inc. ("Rock and Republic"). We have accounted for this transaction as an asset acquisition and recorded the purchase price as an indefinite-lived intangible asset. The total purchase price of these assets is expected to be approximately \$57.0 million plus expenses. The final purchase price will be determined after all contingencies have been resolved, which should occur by the end of 2011. Rock and Republic jeanswear and related products will be offered through a licensing and wholesale distribution arrangement with Kohl's department store. Operating results will be reported as part of the Jeanswear Coalition.

Note D - Sale of Accounts Receivable

VF has an agreement with a financial institution to sell selected trade accounts receivable on a nonrecourse basis. This agreement allows VF to have up to \$237.5 million of accounts receivable held by the financial institution at any point in time. After the sale, VF continues to service and collect these accounts receivable on behalf of the financial institution but does not retain any other interests in the receivables. At the end of March 2011, December 2010 and March 2010, accounts receivable in the Consolidated Balance Sheets had been reduced by \$140.1 million, \$112.3 million and \$116.0 million, respectively, related to balances sold under this program. During the first quarter of 2011, VF sold \$259.0 million of accounts receivable at their stated amounts, less a funding fee of \$0.5 million, which was recorded in Miscellaneous Expense. Net proceeds of this program are recognized as part of the

change in accounts receivable in cash provided by operating activities in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

Note E — Intangible Assets

			March 2011		December 2010
	Weighted Average	Gross Carrying	Accumulated	Net Carrying	Net Carrying
Dollars in thousands	Life	Amount	Amortization	Amount	Amount
Amortizable intangible assets:					
Customer relationships	19 years	\$ 451,154	\$ 117,024	\$ 334,130	\$ 337,307
License agreements	24 years	180,043	54,162	125,881	127,741
Trademarks and other	8 years	13,385	9,124	4,261	4,670
Amortizable intangible assets, net				464,272	469,718
Indefinite-lived intangible assets:					
Trademarks and tradenames				1,092,519	1,021,207
Intangible assets, net				\$1,556,791	\$ 1,490,925

Intangible assets are amortized using the following methods: customer relationships — accelerated methods; license agreements — accelerated and straight-line methods; trademarks and other — straight-line method.

Indefinite-lived intangible assets increased in the first quarter of 2011 due to the \$55.5 million acquisition of the Rock and Republic trademark as discussed in Note C.

Amortization of intangible assets for the first quarter of 2011 was \$9.8 million and is expected to be \$37.4 million for the year 2011. Estimated amortization expense for the years 2012 through 2015 is \$34.6 million, \$33.0 million, \$31.9 million and \$30.5 million, respectively.

Note F — Goodwill

	Outdoor &				Contemporary	
In thousands	Action Sports	Jeanswear	Imagewear	Sportswear	Brands	Total
Balances, December 2010	\$ 574,747	\$ 235,513	\$ 56,703	\$ 157,314	\$ 142,361	\$ 1,166,638
Currency translation	16,508	3,961			<u></u>	20,469
Balances, March 2011	\$ 591,255	\$ 239,474	\$ 56,703	\$ 157,314	\$ 142,361	\$1,187,107

Balances at December 2010 are net of cumulative impairment charges recorded as follows: Outdoor & Action Sports — \$43.4 million, Sportswear — \$58.5 million and Contemporary Brands — \$195.2 million.

Note G — Pension Plans

VF's pension cost was composed of the following components:

	Three N	Aonths
	Ended !	March
In thousands	2011	2010
Service cost — benefits earned during the year	\$ 5,182	\$ 4,083
Interest cost on projected benefit obligations	19,705	19,108
Expected return on plan assets	(22,416)	(19,172)
Amortization of:		
Net deferred actuarial loss	10,764	11,372
Prior service cost	863	987
Net periodic pension cost	\$ 14,098	\$ 16,378

During the first quarter of 2011, VF made contributions totaling \$4.9 million to its defined benefit pension plans. VF currently anticipates making additional contributions totaling \$6.1 million during the remainder of 2011.

Note H — Business Segment Information

VF's businesses are grouped into product categories, and by brands within those product categories, for internal financial reporting used by management. These groupings of businesses within VF are referred to as "coalitions" and are the basis for VF's reportable business segments. Financial information for VF's reportable segments is as follows:

	Ended M			
In thousands	2011	2010		
Coalition revenues:				
Outdoor & Action Sports	\$ 788,215	\$ 678,562		
Jeanswear	679,243	622,065		
Imagewear	246,808	221,298		
Sportswear	111,894	102,177		
Contemporary Brands	111,916	104,089		
Other	20,723	21,688		
Total coalition revenues	<u>\$1,958,799</u>	\$1,749,879		
Coalition profit:				
Outdoor & Action Sports	\$ 143,905	\$ 127,027		
Jeanswear	123,126	106,808		
Imagewear	36,898	22,812		
Sportswear	7,430	7,168		
Contemporary Brands	9,684	8,452		
Other	(2,074)	(1,225)		
Total coalition profit	318,969	271,042		
Corporate and other expenses	(46,257)	(41,359)		
Interest, net	(14,974)	(20,005)		
Income before income taxes	\$ 257,738	\$ 209,678		

Three Months

Note I — Capital and Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Common stock outstanding is net of shares held in treasury and, in substance, retired. There were 19,243,471 treasury shares at March 2011, 19,099,644 at December 2010 and 15,518,019 at March 2010. The excess of the cost of treasury shares acquired over the \$1 per share stated value of Common Stock is deducted from Retained Earnings. In addition, 253,610 shares of VF Common Stock at March 2011, 246,860 shares at December 2010 and 244,069 shares at March 2010 were held in connection with deferred compensation plans. These shares, having a cost of \$11.4 million, \$10.7 million and \$10.2 million at the respective dates, are treated as treasury shares for financial reporting purposes.

There are 25,000,000 authorized shares of Preferred Stock, \$1 par value, of which none are outstanding.

Comprehensive income includes net income and specified components of other comprehensive income ("OCI"). OCI consists of changes in assets and liabilities that are not included in net income under GAAP but are instead deferred and accumulated within a separate component of stockholders' equity in the balance sheet. VF's comprehensive income is presented in the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income. The deferred components of other comprehensive income (loss) are reported, net of related income taxes, in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) in Stockholders' Equity, as follows:

	March	December	March
In thousands	2011	2010	2010
Foreign currency translation	\$ 71,309	\$ (5,727)	\$ (3,855)
Defined benefit pension plans	(258,679)	(266,125)	(258,381)
Derivative financial instruments	(19,592)	(1,716)	12,316
Marketable securities	4,759	4,974	3,679
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)	\$ (202,203)	\$ (268,594)	\$ (246,241)

Note J - Stock-based Compensation

During the first quarter of 2011, VF granted options to purchase 925,635 shares of Common Stock at an exercise price of \$95.56, equal to the market value of VF Common Stock on the option grant date. The options vest in equal annual installments over a three year period. The fair value of these options was estimated using a lattice valuation model, with the following assumptions: expected volatility ranging from 27% to 38%, with a weighted average of 34%; expected term of 5.6 to 7.5 years; expected dividend yield of 3.1%; and a risk-free interest rate ranging from 0.2% at six months to 3.5% at 10 years. The resulting weighted average fair value of these options at the grant date was \$24.99 per option.

Also during the first quarter of 2011, VF granted 241,751 performance-based restricted stock units that entitle the recipients to receive shares of VF Common Stock at the end of a three year performance period. The actual number of shares that will be earned, if any, will be based on VF's performance over that period. The fair value of VF's Common Stock at the date the units were granted was \$95.23 per share.

VF also granted, during the first quarter of 2011, 19,000 shares of restricted VF Common Stock and 15,000 restricted stock units with a fair value at the grant date of \$86.51 per share. These shares and units will vest in 2015, assuming continuation of employment by the grantees through the vesting date.

Note K — Income Taxes

The effective income tax rate was 22.0% in the first quarter of 2010, compared with 21.9% in the first quarter of 2011. The tax rates in both periods were lowered by discrete items. The first quarter of 2010 included a \$13.0 million income tax benefit related to refund claims in a foreign jurisdiction. The first quarter 2011 income tax rate included \$8.2 million in tax benefits related to settlements of prior years' tax audits and \$2.8 million of tax benefits related to the realization of unrecognized tax benefits resulting from expiration of statutes of limitations. In addition, the first quarter 2011 rate benefited from a higher percentage of income in lower tax rate jurisdictions compared with the 2010 quarter. The effective tax rate for the full year 2010 was 23.6% (24.9% on earnings before the goodwill and intangible asset impairment charge).

VF files a consolidated U.S. federal income tax return, as well as separate and combined income tax returns in numerous states and foreign jurisdictions. In the United States, the Internal Revenue Service ("IRS") commenced an examination during 2010 of tax years 2007, 2008 and 2009. During the first quarter of 2011, VF settled with the IRS its examination of tax years 2004, 2005 and 2006. VF is currently subject to examination by various state tax authorities. While the outcome of any one examination is not expected to have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements, the Company regularly assesses the outcomes of both ongoing and future examinations to ensure the Company's provision for income taxes is sufficient. Management believes that some of these audits and negotiations will conclude during the next 12 months.

During the first three months of 2011, the amount of unrecognized tax benefits and associated interest decreased by \$15.4 million, primarily due to the audit settlements during the quarter. Of the \$15.4 million net decrease, \$8.7 million favorably impacted the effective tax rate in the first quarter. Management believes that it is reasonably possible that the amount of unrecognized income tax benefits may decrease during the next 12 months by approximately \$8.6 million related to the completion of audits and other settlements with tax authorities and the expiration of statutes of limitations. Of the \$8.6 million, \$4.9 million would reduce income tax expense.

Note L — Earnings Per Share

	Three M Ended I	
In thousands, except per share amounts	2011	2010
Earnings per share — basic:		
Net income	\$ 201,420	\$ 163,459
Net (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interests	(717)	57
Net income attributable to VF Corporation	\$ 200,703	\$ 163,516
Weighted average Common Stock outstanding	108,222	110,259
Earnings per common share attributable to VF Corporation common stockholders	<u>\$ 1.85</u>	\$ 1.48
Earnings per share — diluted:		
Net income attributable to VF Corporation	\$ 200,703	\$ 163,516
Weighted average Common Stock outstanding	108,222	110,259
Incremental shares from stock options and other dilutive securities	1,818	1,370
Adjusted weighted average Common Stock outstanding	110,040	111,629
Earnings per common share attributable to VF Corporation common stockholders	\$ 1.82	\$ 1.46

Outstanding options to purchase 1.0 million and 3.8 million shares of Common Stock for the quarters ended March 2011 and March 2010, respectively, were excluded from the computations of diluted earnings per share because the effect of their inclusion would have been antidilutive. In addition, 0.3 million performance-based restricted stock units were excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share for each of the quarters ended March 2011 and 2010 because these units are subject to performance-based vesting conditions that had not been achieved by the end of those periods.

Note M — Fair Value Measurements

Fair value is the price that would be received from the sale of an asset or paid to transfer a liability (i.e., an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market in an orderly transaction between market participants. In determining fair value, the accounting standards distinguish between (i) market data obtained or developed from independent sources (i.e., observable data inputs) and (ii) a reporting entity's own data and assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability (i.e., unobservable data inputs). Financial assets and financial liabilities measured and reported at fair value are classified in a three level hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs used in the valuation process. The hierarchy is based on the observability and objectivity of the pricing inputs, as follows:

- Level 1 Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
- Level 2 Significant directly observable data (other than Level 1 quoted prices) or significant indirectly observable data through corroboration with observable market data. Inputs would normally be (i) quoted prices in active markets for similar assets or liabilities, (ii) quoted prices in inactive markets for identical or similar assets or liabilities or (iii) information derived from or corroborated by observable market data.
- Level 3 Prices or valuation techniques that require significant unobservable data inputs. Inputs would normally be a reporting entity's own data and judgments about assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability.

The fair value measurement level for an asset or liability is based on the lowest level of any input that is significant to the fair value measurement. Valuation techniques maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs.

The following table summarizes the classes of financial assets and financial liabilities measured and recorded at fair value on a recurring basis at the dates indicated:

		Fair	· Value Measurement Using	;:
	Total Fair	Quoted Prices in Active Markets for Identical Assets	Significant Other Observable Inputs	Significant Unobservable Inputs
In thousands	<u>Value</u>	(Level 1)	(Level 2)	(Level 3)
March 2011				
Financial assets:				
Cash equivalents:				_
Money market funds	\$336,584	\$ 336,584	\$ —	\$ —
Time deposits	118,411	118,411	_	_
Derivative instruments	18,771	_	18,771	_
Investment securities	192,939	158,740	34,199	_
Other marketable securities	10,183	10,183	_	_
Financial liabilities:				
Derivative instruments	55,469	_	55,469	_
Deferred compensation	226,396	_	226,396	_
December 2010				
Financial assets:				
Cash equivalents:				
Money market funds	\$437,229	\$ 437,229	\$ —	\$ —
Time deposits	93,254	93,254	_	_
Derivative instruments	18,568	_	18,568	_
Investment securities	182,673	147,380	35,293	_
Other marketable securities	12,388	12,388	´—	_
Financial liabilities:				
Derivative instruments	28,815	_	28,815	_
Deferred compensation	212,011	_	212,011	_

Fair Value Measurement Using

Derivative instruments represent unrealized gains or losses on foreign currency forward exchange contracts, which are the differences between (i) the functional currency value of the foreign currency to be received or paid at the contracts' settlement date and (ii) the functional currency value to be sold or purchased at the forward exchange rate at the balance sheet dates.

VF purchases investment securities that substantially mirror the liabilities in VF's nonqualified deferred compensation plans. These securities, held in an irrevocable trust, consist of mutual funds (classified as Level 1) and a separately managed fixed income fund (classified as Level 2). Fair value of the separately managed fixed income fund included in investment securities is its daily net asset value. Fair value of the deferred compensation liabilities is the amount payable to plan participants, based on the fair value of participant-directed investment selections.

The carrying value of all other financial assets and financial liabilities is their cost, which may differ from fair value. At March 2011 and December 2010, the carrying value of VF's cash held as demand deposits, accounts receivable, life insurance contracts, short-term borrowings, accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximated their fair value. At March 2011 and December 2010, the carrying

value of VF's long-term debt, including the current portion, was \$938.0 million and \$938.6 million, respectively, compared with fair value of \$1,026.5 million and \$1,025.1 million at those dates. Fair value for long-term debt was estimated based on quoted market prices or values of comparable borrowings.

Note N — Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedging Activities

Summary of derivative instruments — All of VF's derivative instruments are forward exchange contracts and meet the criteria for hedge accounting at the inception of the hedging relationship. However, derivative instruments that are cash flow hedges of forecasted cash receipts are dedesignated as hedges near the end of their term and do not qualify for hedge accounting after the date of dedesignation. The notional amounts of outstanding derivative contracts at March 2011, December 2010 and March 2010 totaled \$1.4 billion, \$1.1 billion and \$922 million, respectively, consisting of contracts hedging primarily exposures to the euro, British pound, Mexican peso, Polish zloty and Canadian dollar. Derivative contracts have maturities ranging from one month to 20 months. The following table presents outstanding derivatives on an individual contract basis:

		Fair Value of Derivative with Unrealized Gains		Fair Value of Derivatives with Unrealized Losses				
In thousands	March 2011	December 2010	March 2010	March 2011				
Foreign exchange contracts designated as hedging instruments	\$ 17,974	\$ 18,389	\$ 34,887	\$ 55,116	\$ 27,916	\$ 8,031		
Foreign exchange contracts not designated as hedging instruments	797	179	43	353	899	716		
Total derivatives	\$ 18,771	\$ 18,568	\$ 34,930	\$ 55,469	\$ 28,815	\$ 8,747		

Outstanding derivatives have been included in the Consolidated Balance Sheets and classified as current or noncurrent based on the derivatives' maturity dates, as follows:

In thousands	March 2011	December 2010	March 2010
Other current assets	\$ 16,936	\$ 15,296	\$ 32,111
Accrued current liabilities	(50,265)	(25,440)	(7,337)
Other assets (noncurrent)	1,835	3,272	2,819
Other liabilities (noncurrent)	(5,204)	(3,375)	(1,410)

Fair value hedges — VF enters into derivative contracts to hedge intercompany loans between a domestic company and a foreign subsidiary or between two foreign subsidiaries having different functional currencies. VF's Consolidated Statements of Income include the following effects related to fair value hedging:

In thousands Fair Value Hedging Relationships	Location of Gain (Loss) on Gain (Loss) Derivatives on Derivatives Recognized Recognized in Income in Income		Hedged Items in Fair Value Hedge Relationships	Location of Gain (Loss) Recognized on Related Hedged Items	Gain (Loss) on Related Hedged Items Recognized in Income	
Quarter ended March 2011 Foreign exchange	Miscellaneous income (expense)	\$ (1,230)	Advances — intercompany	Miscellaneous income (expense)	\$ 970	
Quarter ended March 2010						
Foreign exchange	Miscellaneous income (expense)	\$ 7,033	Advances — intercompany	Miscellaneous income (expense)	\$ (7,042)	

Cash flow hedges — VF uses derivative contracts to hedge a portion of the exchange risk for its forecasted inventory purchases and production costs and for its forecasted cash receipts arising from sales of inventory. In addition, VF hedges the receipt in its domestic companies of forecasted intercompany royalties from its foreign subsidiaries. As discussed below in "derivative contracts not designated as hedges", cash flow hedges of forecasted cash receipts are dedesignated as hedges when the sale is recorded, and hedge accounting is not applied after that date.

The effects of cash flow hedging included in VF's Consolidated Statements of Income and Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income are summarized as follows:

In thousands

Cash Flow Hedging	Gain (Loss) o Recognized Quarter En	in OCI—	Location of Gain (Loss) Reclassified from Accumulated	Gain (Loss) Reclassified from Accumulated OCI into Income— Quarter Ended March				
Relationships	2011	2010	OCI into Income	2011	2010			
Foreign exchange	\$ (26,182)	\$ 20,841	Net sales	\$ (396)	\$ (969)			
			Cost of goods sold	5,142	(6,954)			
			Miscellaneous income (expense)	(1,945)	(1,295)			
Interest rate	_	_	Interest expense	29	29			
Total	\$ (26,182)	\$ 20,841		\$ 2,830	\$ (9,189)			

Net investment hedges — In limited instances, VF may choose to hedge the risk of changes in its investment in foreign subsidiaries. Changes in the fair value of derivatives designated as net investment hedges, except for any ineffective portion, are reported as a component of OCI and deferred in Accumulated OCI, along with the foreign currency translation adjustments on that investment. Upon settlement of net investment hedges, cash flows are classified in investing activities in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. The effects of net investment hedging included in VF's Consolidated Statements of Income and Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income were not material for the quarters ended March 2011 or March 2010.

There were no significant amounts recognized in earnings related to ineffective hedging during the quarters ended March 2011 or March 2010.

At March 2011, Accumulated OCI included \$29.9 million of net deferred pretax losses for foreign exchange contracts that are expected to be reclassified to earnings during the next 12 months. The amounts reclassified to earnings will depend on exchange rates when the outstanding derivative contracts are settled.

In addition, VF entered into an interest rate swap derivative contract in 2003 to hedge the interest rate risk for issuance of long-term debt due in 2033. The contract was terminated concurrent with the issuance of the debt, with the realized gain deferred in Accumulated OCI. The remaining pretax deferred gain of \$2.6 million in Accumulated OCI at March 2011 will be reclassified into earnings over the remaining term of the debt.

Derivative contracts not designated as hedges — As noted in a preceding section, cash flow hedges of forecasted cash receipts are dedesignated as hedges when the sales are recognized. At that time, the amount of unrealized hedging gain or loss is recognized in net sales, and hedge accounting is not applied after the date of dedesignation. These derivatives remain outstanding and serve as an economic hedge of foreign currency exposures related to the ultimate collection of the trade receivables. During the period that hedge accounting is not applied, changes in the fair value of the derivative contracts are recognized directly in earnings. For the three months ended March 2011 and March 2010, VF recorded net losses of less than \$1 million in Miscellaneous Income (Expense) for derivatives not designated as hedging instruments, effectively offsetting the net remeasurement gains on the related accounts receivable.

Note O — Recently Issued Accounting Standards

There is no new accounting guidance issued by the FASB but not yet adopted that is expected to have a significant effect on VF's consolidated financial position, results of operations or disclosures.

Note P - Subsequent Event

VF's Board of Directors declared a quarterly cash dividend of \$0.63 per share, payable on June 20, 2011 to shareholders of record on June 10, 2011.

Item 2 — Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Overview

Highlights of the First Quarter of 2011

- Revenues grew to a record \$1,958.8 million, an increase of 12% from the 2010 quarter, with strong growth across all of our coalitions.
- International revenues rose 20% and represented 36% of Total Revenues in the quarter.
- Our business in Asia continued its rapid growth, with revenues up 52% in the quarter.
- Our direct-to-consumer business grew 10% in the quarter, driven by new store openings, a 31% increase in e-commerce revenues and comp store growth.
- Gross margin reached a record 47.2%.
- Operating margin rose to 14.0%, with growth in operating income in all of our coalitions.
- Earnings per share increased by 25% to \$1.82 from \$1.46 in the 2010 quarter. (All per share amounts are presented on a diluted basis.)
- Our balance sheet remains strong with cash of \$673 million, a debt to total capital ratio of 19.2% and a net debt to total capital ratio of 6.9%. VF has over \$1.3 billion of available liquidity under committed bank credit lines. There are no significant debt service payments required until 2017.
- We purchased the trademarks of Rock and Republic Enterprises, Inc. ("Rock and Republic") for \$55.5 million.

Analysis of Results of Operations

Consolidated Statements of Income

The following table presents a summary of the changes in our Total Revenues from 2010:

	First Quarter 2011
In millions	Compared with 2010
Total revenues — 2010	\$ 1,750
Impact of foreign currency translation	7
Organic growth	197
Acquisition in prior year (to anniversary date)	5
Total revenues — 2011	\$ 1,959

Revenues increased 12% in the first quarter of 2011, led by 16% growth in our Outdoor & Action Sports businesses. In addition, revenues in our Jeanswear, Imagewear, Sportswear and Contemporary Brands businesses increased 9%, 12%, 10% and 8%, respectively, over the 2010 quarter. Additional details on revenues are provided in the section titled "Information by Business Segment."

The impact of foreign currency translation is created when a foreign entity's financial statements are translated from its functional currency into the U.S. dollar, VF's reporting currency. The majority of our international business is conducted in Europe/euro-based countries. However, the current quarter impact of translating these eurobased revenues into the U.S. dollar was minimal as the weighted average translation rate was a slightly stronger \$1.37 per euro for the first three months of 2011, compared with \$1.38 during the first three months of 2010. Accordingly, the primary reason for the \$7 million positive revenue comparison of the 2011 quarter over the 2010 quarter is due to the weaker U.S. dollar in relation to functional currencies other than the euro.

The following table presents the percentage relationship to Total Revenues for components of our Consolidated Statements of Income:

	First Qua	rter
	2011	2010
Gross margin (total revenues less cost of goods sold)	47.2%	46.7%
Marketing, administrative and general expenses	33.2	34.0
		,
Operating income	14.0%	12.8%

The gross margin percentage in the first quarter of 2011 benefitted by (i) 0.6% from restructuring expenses incurred during the first quarter of 2010 to reduce product costs that did not recur in 2011 and (ii) 0.4% due to a change in inventory accounting policy as discussed in Note B to the Consolidated Financial Statements. These benefits were partially offset by higher product costs that were not fully recovered through pricing actions.

The ratio of Marketing, Administrative and General Expenses as a percentage of Total Revenues in the first quarter of 2011 improved over the 2010 quarter due to increased leverage of operating expenses on higher revenues. This improvement was partially offset by an 18% increase in marketing investments that negatively impacted the current quarter ratio by 0.2% compared with the 2010 quarter.

Interest expense decreased \$4.6 million in the first quarter of 2011 from the comparable period in 2010 due to the payment of \$200.0 million 8.5% notes that matured in the third quarter of 2010. Average interest-bearing debt outstanding totaled \$979 million for the first three months of 2011 and \$1,187 million for the comparable period of 2010. The weighted average interest rate on total outstanding debt was 6.3% for the first three months of 2011 and 6.7% for the comparable period of 2010.

VF recognized Miscellaneous Expense of \$1.9 million in the first quarter of 2011, compared with Miscellaneous Income of \$6.4 million for the comparable 2010 quarter. The change is primarily due to the first quarter of 2010 including a \$5.7 million gain from remeasuring our previous 50% investment in the Vans Mexico joint venture as part of acquiring the remaining 50% interest.

The effective income tax rate was 22.0% in the first quarter of 2010, compared with 21.9% in the first quarter of 2011. The tax rates in both periods were lowered by discrete items. The first quarter of 2010 included a \$13.0 million income tax benefit related to refund claims in a foreign jurisdiction, representing a reduction in the first quarter 2010 rate of 6.2%. The first quarter 2011 income tax rate included \$8.2 million in tax benefits related to settlements of prior years' tax audits and \$2.8 million of tax benefits related to the realization of unrecognized tax benefits resulting from expiration of statutes of limitations, together representing a reduction in the rate of 4.3%. In addition, the first quarter 2011 rate benefited from a higher percentage of income in lower tax rate jurisdictions compared with the 2010 quarter.

The effective tax rate for the full year 2010 was 23.6% (24.9% on earnings before the goodwill and intangible asset impairment charge). The 2010 tax rate included favorable impacts of 2.7% from prior years' refund claims, tax credits and expirations of statutes of limitations. We expect the 2011 annual effective tax rate to be approximately 25%. This projected 2011 rate includes the favorable impacts of the first quarter 2011 discrete items mentioned above, representing a reduction in the rate of approximately 1.0%. The 2011 full year tax rate is also expected to benefit from a higher percentage of earnings in lower tax rate jurisdictions compared with 2010.

Net Income Attributable to VF Corporation for the first quarter of 2011 increased to \$200.7 million, compared with \$163.5 million in the 2010 quarter. Earnings Per Share Attributable to VF Corporation increased to \$1.82 per share from \$1.46 per share. The increase resulted primarily from improved operating performance, as discussed in the "Information by Business Segment" section below. The first quarter of

2011 also benefited by \$0.10 per share due to the income tax benefits mentioned above, \$0.04 per share from the change in inventory accounting method and \$0.02 per share from the impact of translating foreign currencies into a weaker U.S. dollar. The first quarter of 2010 included a benefit of \$0.11 per share relating to tax refund claims that was substantially offset by \$0.09 per share in restructuring expenses.

Information by Business Segment

VF's businesses are grouped into product categories, and by brands within those product categories, for management and internal financial reporting purposes. These groupings of businesses within VF are referred to as "coalitions." These coalitions are the basis for VF's reportable business segments.

See Note H to the Consolidated Financial Statements for a summary of our results of operations by coalition, along with a reconciliation of Coalition Profit to Income Before Income Taxes.

The following table presents a summary of the changes in our Total Revenues by coalition for the first quarter of 2011:

	First Quarter											
	Outdoor &				Contemporary							
In millions	Actio	n Sports	Jeanswear		Jeanswear Imagewear		Sportswear		Brands		O	ther
Total revenues — 2010	\$	679	\$	622	\$	221	\$	102	\$	104	\$	22
Impact of foreign currency translation		3		3		1		_		_		_
Organic growth		101		54		25		10		8		(1)
Acquisition in prior year												
(to anniversary date)		5		_		_		_		_		_
Total revenues — 2011	\$	788	\$	679	\$	247	\$	112	\$	112	\$	21

The following table presents a summary of the changes in our Coalition Profit by coalition for the first quarter of 2011:

	First Quarter													
	Out	Outdoor &					Contemporary							
In millions	Actio	n Sports	Jeanswear		Jeanswear		Jeanswear Imagewear		Sportswear		Brands		Other	
Coalition profit — 2010	\$	127	\$	107	\$	23	\$	7	\$	8	\$	(1)		
Impact of foreign currency translation		1		1		_		_		_		_		
Operations		16		15		14		_		2		(1)		
Coalition profit — 2011	\$	144	\$	123	\$	37	\$	7	\$	10	\$	(2)		

The following section discusses the change in revenues and profitability by coalition:

Outdoor & Action Sports:

	First Quarter					
Dollars in millions	 2011		2010	Percent Change		
Coalition revenues	\$ 788.2	\$	678.6	16.2%		
Coalition profit	143.9		127.0	13.3%		
Operating margin	18.3%		18.7%			

The increase in Outdoor & Action Sports Coalition Revenues in the first quarter of 2011 was driven by global unit volume gains from the two largest brands in this Coalition, *The North Face*\(^a\) and *Vans*\(^a\), whose revenues increased by 17% and 20%, respectively. The *Kipling*\(^a\), *Reef*\(^a\) and *Napapijri*\(^a\) brands also reported higher revenues of 29%, 18% and 9%, respectively, over the 2010 quarter. Coalition Revenues in our Americas businesses rose 12% and international revenues were up 21%. During the 2011 quarter, direct-to-consumer revenues for our Outdoor & Action Sports businesses increased 12%, with double-digit growth in *The North Face*\(^a\), *Vans*\(^a\) and *Kipling* brand retail businesses. We continued to open new stores and expand our e-commerce business within this coalition in the first quarter of 2011.

Operating margin decreased in 2011 reflecting (i) a 25% increase in marketing investments that negatively impacted the operating margin comparison in the first quarter of 2011 by 0.4% and (ii) lower gross margins, partially offset by the increased leverage of operating expenses on higher revenues.

Jeanswear:

		First Quarter					
Dollars in millions	_	2011		2010	Percent Change		
Coalition revenues	\$	679.2	\$	622.1	9.2%		
Coalition profit		123.1		106.8	15.3%		
Operating margin		18.1%		17.2%			

Our domestic jeanswear revenues increased 5% in the first quarter of 2011 over the 2010 quarter with growth across our mass market Leeâ and western businesses. International jeanswear revenues increased 17% with Asia revenues rising 60% and Mexico, Latin America and Canada revenues all increasing by more than 20%. European jeanswear revenues in the first quarter of 2011 were flat with the 2010 quarter.

The improvement in operating margin resulted from (i) the 2010 quarter including restructuring actions that negatively impacted operating margin by 1.3% and (ii) increased leverage of operating expenses on higher revenues in the 2011 quarter. These improvements were partially offset by higher product costs in our jeanswear businesses that were not fully recovered through pricing actions.

Imagewear:

Dollars in millions		2011	2010	Percent Change
Coalition revenues	\$	246.8	\$ 221.3	11.5%
Coalition profit		36.9	22.8	61.8%
Operating margin		15.0%	10.3%	

The Imagewear Coalition consists of VF's Image business (occupational apparel and uniforms) and Licensed Sports business (licensed high profile sports and lifestyle apparel).

Image business revenues increased 14% in the first quarter of 2011, driven primarily by growth in our flame-resistant apparel business and the continued success of the quick response customer service model in our occupational apparel business that allows us to capitalize on replenishment opportunities. Revenues in our Licensed Sports business increased 9%, driven by higher volume in our licensed National Football League business. Operating margins improved primarily due to a favorable mix of business and increased leverage of operating expenses on higher revenues.

Sportswear:

	First Qua	arter			
Dollars in millions	2011	2010	Percent Change		
Coalition revenues	\$ 111.9	\$ 102.2	9.5%		
Coalition profit	7.4	7.2	3.7%		
Operating margin	6.6%	7.0%			

Nauticaâ brand revenues increased 6% in the first quarter of 2011, driven by an increase in the brand's wholesale business due primarily to special programs and higher distressed sales. Our *Kipling*â brand revenues in the U.S. increased 46%, reflecting growth in the wholesale channel, including the continuing success of our exclusive handbag and accessories program with Macy's, Inc., as well as strong growth in the direct-to-consumer channel.

A slight decrease in operating margin in the first quarter of 2011 resulted primarily from higher product costs in the Nauticaâ wholesale channel, partially offset by increased leverage of operating expenses on higher revenues.

Contemporary Brands:

	rirst Quarter				
Dollars in millions		2011		2010	Percent Change
Coalition revenues	\$	111.9	\$	104.1	7.5%
Coalition profit		9.7		8.5	14.6%
Operating margin		8.7%		8.1%	

Domestic revenues for the coalition rose 3% due to double-digit revenue growth in our Splendida, Ella Mossa and John Varvatosa brands. Global 7 For All Mankinda revenues increased 2% in the 2011 quarter, with 19% growth in Europe and Asia revenues nearly doubling. International revenues for the Contemporary Brands Coalition grew 26%. Global direct-to-consumer revenues for this coalition increased 41%, with growth coming from new stores, comp store and e-commerce revenues.

The operating margin in the first quarter of 2011, compared with the 2010 quarter, increased slightly due to improved mix of business, partially offset by additional investments in new 7 For All Mankinds stores.

Other:

Dollars in millions	20	11	2010	Percent Change
Revenues	\$	20.7	\$ 21.7	(4.4)%
Profit (loss)		(2.1)	(1.2)	69.3%
Operating margin		(10.0)%	(5.6))%

The Other business segment includes the VF Outlet business, which is a group of VF-operated outlet stores in the United States that sell VF products and other branded products that provide a broader selection of merchandise to attract consumer traffic. Revenues and profits of VF products are reported as part of the operating results of the applicable coalitions, while revenues and profits of non-VF products are reported in this business segment.

Reconciliation of Coalition Profit to Income Before Income Taxes:

There are two types of costs necessary to reconcile total Coalition Profit, as discussed in the preceding paragraphs, to consolidated Income Before Income Taxes. These costs are (i) Corporate and Other Expenses, discussed below, and (ii) Interest, Net, which was discussed in the previous "Consolidated Statements of Income" section.

	First Quarter					
Dollars in millions		2011		2010	Percent Change	
Corporate and Other Expenses	\$	(46.3)	\$	(41.4)	11.8%	
Interest, Net		(15.0)		(20.0)	(25.0)%	

Corporate and Other Expenses include any corporate headquarters' costs and other expenses that have not been allocated to the coalitions for internal management reporting. Other expenses include the defined benefit pension plan cost other than service cost, development costs for management information systems, costs of maintaining and enforcing certain VF trademarks and miscellaneous consolidating adjustments.

The increase in Corporate and Other Expenses in the first quarter of 2011 resulted from (i) the first quarter of 2010 including a \$5.7 million gain on the acquisition of Vans Mexico and (ii) higher levels of corporate spending and information systems costs in the 2011 quarter due to the overall growth of our businesses. These changes were partially offset by the inventory accounting change that positively impacted the first quarter of 2011 by \$8.0 million.

Analysis of Financial Condition

Balance Sheets

Accounts Receivable at March 2011 were 13% higher than the March 2010 balance and 15% higher than the December 2010 balance due to growth in wholesale revenues near the end of the first quarter of 2011 compared with the 2010 periods and the impact of foreign currency translation. These increases were partially offset by an increase in accounts receivable balances sold under the sale agreement. See Note D to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Inventories at March 2011 increased 24% over the March 2010 balance and 11% over the December 2010 balance, reflecting higher product costs, the advance purchase of core basic inventory to secure lower costs, the impact of foreign currency translation and higher unit volumes to support our revenue growth. Inventory days, computed on a forward-looking basis, were comparable at the end of each of the periods.

Property, Plant and Equipment was higher at March 2011 than at December 2010 and March 2010, resulting from capital spending in excess of depreciation expense during those periods.

Total Intangible Assets and Goodwill at March 2011 were higher than December 2010 due to the Rock and Republic trademarks acquisition. Total Intangible Assets and Goodwill were lower at March 2011 than March 2010 due to the impairment charge taken in the fourth quarter of 2010, partially offset by the Rock and Republic trademarks acquisition. The increase in Total Intangible Assets and Goodwill at March 2011 over December 2010 and March 2010 resulting from the impact of foreign currency translation was primarily offset by amortization.

Other Assets increased at March 2011 and December 2010 over March 2010 due to an increase in deferred income taxes, resulting primarily from the goodwill and intangible asset impairment charge discussed above.

Short-term Borrowings at March 2011 consisted of \$40.1 million under international borrowing agreements. Short-term borrowings fluctuate throughout the year in relation to working capital requirements and other investing and financing activities. See the "Liquidity and Cash Flows" section below for a discussion of these items.

Total Long-term Debt at March 2011 and December 2010 was lower than at March 2010 due to the payment of \$200.0 million 8.5% notes upon their maturity in the third quarter of 2010.

The changes in Accounts Payable between March 2011, December 2010 and March 2010 were driven by the timing of inventory purchases and payments to vendors at the respective dates.

The increase in Accrued Liabilities at March 2011 over March 2010 resulted primarily from higher unrealized losses on hedging contracts. The change in Accrued Liabilities from December 2010 to March 2011 was minimal, with higher levels of unrealized losses on hedging contracts and accrued income taxes at March 2011 offset by lower incentive compensation accruals.

Other Liabilities at March 2011 and December 2010 declined from March 2010 due to lower pension and deferred tax liabilities. Lower pension liabilities at March 2011 and December 2010 resulted from an improvement in the funded status of our defined benefit pension plans, primarily due to our contribution of \$100.0 million to the domestic qualified pension plan in the fourth quarter of 2010.

Liquidity and Cash Flows

The financial condition of VF is reflected in the following:

Dollars in millions	March 2011	December 2010	March 2010
Working capital	\$ 1,913.2	\$ 1,716.6	\$ 1,590.7
Current ratio	2.8 to 1	2.5 to 1	2.5 to 1
Debt to total capital ratio	19.2%	20.2%	23.7%

For the ratio of debt to total capital, debt is defined as short-term and long-term borrowings, and total capital is defined as debt plus stockholders' equity. Our ratio of net debt to total capital, with net debt defined as debt less cash and equivalents, was 6.9% at March 2011.

On an annual basis, VF's primary source of liquidity is its cash flow from operations. Cash from operations is primarily dependent on the level of Net Income and changes in accounts receivable, inventories, accounts

payable and other working capital components. Our cash from operations is typically lower in the first half of the year as we build working capital to service our operations in the second half of the year. Cash from operations is substantially higher in the fourth quarter of the year as we collect accounts receivable arising from our seasonally higher wholesale sales in the third quarter. In addition, cash flows from our direct-to-consumer businesses are significantly higher in the fourth quarter of the year.

For the quarter ended March 2011, cash used by operating activities was \$32.9 million, compared with \$184.2 million of cash provided by operating activities in the comparable 2010 period. While our net income increased by \$38.0 million in the first quarter of 2011 over the 2010 quarter, operating cash flow was negatively impacted by increases in accounts receivable and inventory as discussed in the "Balance Sheets" section above.

VF has an agreement with a financial institution to sell selected trade accounts receivable on a nonrecourse basis. This agreement allows VF to have up to \$237.5 million of accounts receivable held by the financial institution at any point in time. At the end of March 2011, accounts receivable in the Consolidated Balance Sheet had been reduced by \$140.1 million related to balances sold under this program, an increase of \$27.8 million from the amounts sold as of the end of 2010.

We rely on our continued strong cash generation to finance our ongoing operations. In addition, VF has significant existing liquidity from its available cash balances and debt capacity, supported by its strong credit rating. At the end of March 2011, \$983.3 million was available for borrowing under VF's \$1.0 billion senior unsecured committed domestic revolving bank credit facility, with \$16.7 million of standby letters of credit issued under this agreement. Also at the end of March 2011, ϵ 250 million (U.S. dollar equivalent of \$355.4 million) was available for borrowing under VF's senior unsecured international revolving bank credit facility.

VF's liquidity position is also enhanced by its favorable credit agency ratings, which allow for access to additional capital at competitive rates. At the end of the first quarter of 2011, VF's long-term debt ratings were 'A minus' by Standard & Poor's Ratings Services and 'A3' by Moody's Investors Service, and commercial paper ratings were 'A-2' and 'Prime-2', respectively, by those rating agencies. Both agencies have a 'stable' outlook for VF. Existing long-term debt agreements do not contain acceleration of maturity clauses based solely on changes in credit ratings. However, for the \$600.0 million of senior notes issued in 2007, if there were a change in control of VF and, as a result of the change in control, the notes were rated below investment grade by recognized rating agencies, then VF would be obligated to repurchase the notes at 101% of the aggregate principal amount of notes repurchased, plus any accrued and unpaid interest.

Investing activities in the first quarter of 2011 included the Rock and Republic trademarks acquisition and capital spending, primarily related to the opening of new stores and distribution network costs. We expect that capital spending could reach \$225 million for the full year 2011, reflecting the need for office and distribution space for our expanding international and domestic outdoor businesses as well as an accelerated retail store opening plan. This spending will be funded by operating cash flows.

During the first quarter of 2011, VF repurchased 28,130 of its own shares at a cost of \$2.5 million (average price of \$87.19 per share). VF repurchased 1.5 million shares at a cost of \$118.0 million (average price of \$78.67 per share) in the first quarter of 2010. All shares repurchased in the first quarter of 2011, and 25,200 of the shares repurchased in the first quarter of 2010, were in connection with VF's deferred compensation plans. The total remaining authorization for share repurchase approved by the VF Board of Directors is 6.5 million shares as of the end of March 2011. VF will continue to evaluate future share repurchases considering funding required for business acquisitions, our Common Stock price and levels of stock option exercises.

Management's Discussion and Analysis in our 2010 Form 10-K provided a table summarizing VF's contractual obligations and commercial commitments at the end of 2010 that would require the use of funds. Since the filing of our 2010 Form 10-K, there have been no material changes, except as noted below, relating to VF's contractual obligations and commercial commitments that will require the use of funds:

• Inventory purchase obligations representing binding commitments to purchase finished goods, raw materials and sewing labor in the ordinary course of business increased by approximately \$520 million at the end of March 2011 due to the seasonality of our businesses.

Management believes that VF's cash balances and funds provided by operating activities, as well as unused bank credit lines, additional borrowing capacity and access to equity markets, taken as a whole, provide (i) adequate liquidity to meet all of its current and long-term obligations when due, (ii) adequate liquidity to fund capital expenditures and to maintain our dividend payout policy and (iii) flexibility to meet investment opportunities that may arise.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

We have chosen accounting policies that we believe are appropriate to accurately and fairly report VF's operating results and financial position in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP") in the United States. We apply these accounting policies in a consistent manner. Our significant accounting policies are summarized in Note A to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in our 2010 Form 10-K.

The application of these accounting policies requires that we make estimates and assumptions about future events and apply judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses, contingent assets and liabilities, and related disclosures. These estimates, assumptions and judgments are based on historical experience, current trends and other factors believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. We evaluate these estimates and assumptions and may retain outside consultants to assist in our evaluation. If actual results ultimately differ from previous estimates, the revisions are included in results of operations in the period in which the actual amounts become known.

The accounting policies that involve the most significant estimates, assumptions and management judgments used in preparation of our consolidated financial statements, or are the most sensitive to change from outside factors, are discussed in Management's Discussion and Analysis in our 2010 Form 10-K. There have been no material changes in these policies, except as disclosed in Note B to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Cautionary Statement on Forward-Looking Statements

From time to time, we may make oral or written statements, including statements in this Quarterly Report, that constitute "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of the federal securities laws. These include statements concerning plans, objectives, projections and expectations relating to VF's operations or economic performance, and assumptions related thereto. Forward-looking statements are made based on our expectations and beliefs concerning future events impacting VF and therefore involve a number of risks and uncertainties. We caution that forward-looking statements are not guarantees and actual results could differ materially from those expressed or implied in the forward-looking statements.

Potential risks and uncertainties that could cause the actual results of operations or financial condition of VF to differ materially from those expressed or implied by forward-looking statements in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q include the overall level of consumer spending on apparel; the level of consumer confidence; fluctuations in the price, availability and quality of raw materials and contracted products; disruption and volatility in the global capital and credit markets; VF's reliance on a small number of large customers; the

financial strength of VF's customers; changing fashion trends and consumer demand; increasing pressure on margins; VF's ability to implement its growth strategy; VF's ability to grow its international and direct-to-consumer businesses; VF's ability to successfully integrate and grow acquisitions; VF's ability to maintain the strength and security of its information technology systems; stability of VF's manufacturing facilities and foreign suppliers; continued use by VF's suppliers of ethical business practices; VF's ability to accurately forecast demand for products; continuity of members of VF's management; VF's ability to protect trademarks and other intellectual property rights; maintenance by VF's licensees and distributors of the value of VF's brands; foreign currency fluctuations; and legal, regulatory, political and economic risks in international markets. More information on potential factors that could affect VF's financial results is included from time to time in VF's public reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, including VF's Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 3 — Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

There have been no significant changes in VF's market risk exposures from what was disclosed in Item 7A in our 2010 Form 10-K.

Item 4 — Controls and Procedures

Disclosure controls and procedures:

Under the supervision of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, a Disclosure Committee comprising various members of management has evaluated the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures at VF and its subsidiaries as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report (the "Evaluation Date"). Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded as of the Evaluation Date that such controls and procedures were effective.

Changes in internal control over financial reporting:

There have been no changes during the last fiscal quarter that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, VF's internal control over financial reporting.

Part II — Other Information

Item 1A - Risk Factors

There have been no material changes to our risk factors from those disclosed in our 2010 Form 10-K.

Item 2 — <u>Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds</u>

(c) Issuer purchases of equity securities:

Fiscal Period	Total Number of Shares Purchased	Weighed Average Price Paid per Share	Total Number of Shares Purchased as Part of Publicly Announced Plans or Programs	Maximum Number of Shares that May Yet be Purchased Under the Plan or Programs (1)
January 2 — January 29, 2011	12,600	\$ 83.11	12,600	6,554,345
January 30 — February 26, 2011	12,700	89.60	12,700	6,541,645
February 27 — April 2, 2011	2,830	94.53	2,830	6,538,815
Total	28,130		28,130	

⁽¹⁾ During the quarter, 28,130 shares of Common Stock were purchased in connection with VF's deferred compensation plans. We will continue to evaluate future share repurchases — considering funding required for business acquisitions, our Common Stock price and levels of stock option exercises.

Item 6 — Exhibits

10.1	Credit Agreement, dated October 15, 2007
10.2	International Credit Agreement dated October 26, 2007, by and among VF Investments S.a.r.l., VF Europe BVBA, and VF International S.a.g.l., as Borrowers; VF Corporation, as Guarantor; and the Lenders party thereto
10.3	2004 Mid-Term Incentive Plan, a subplan under the 1996 Stock Compensation Plan
18.1	Preferability letter of independent registered public accounting firm
31.1	Certification of the principal executive officer, Eric C. Wiseman, pursuant to 15 U.S.C. Section 10A, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
31.2	Certification of the principal financial officer, Robert K. Shearer, pursuant to 15 U.S.C. Section 10A, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
32.1	Certification of the principal executive officer, Eric C. Wiseman, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
32.2	Certification of the principal financial officer, Robert K. Shearer, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
101.INS	XBRL Instance Document*
101.SCH	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document*
101.CAL	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document*
101.DEF	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document*
101.LAB	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document*
101.PRE	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document*

Furnished, not filed.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

V.F. CORPORATION

(Registrant)

By: /s/ Robert K. Shearer Robert K. Shearer Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (Chief Financial Officer)

Date: May 12, 2011

By: /s/ Bradley W. Batten
Bradley W. Batten
Vice President - Controller (Chief Accounting Officer)

31

CREDIT AGREEMENT

by and among

V.F. CORPORATION,

as Borrower,

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.,

as Administrative Agent, Swing Line Lender and a Lender,

CITIBANK, N.A.,

as Syndication Agent and as a Lender,

WACHOVIA BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

and

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A.

as Co-Documentation Agents and as Lenders,

BANC OF AMERICA SECURITIES LLC

and

CITIGROUP GLOBAL MARKETS INC.,

as Lead Arrangers, and Book Managers and Joint Bookrunners,

WACHOVIA CAPITAL MARKETS, LLC

as Joint Bookrunner

and

THE LENDERS PARTY HERETO FROM TIME TO TIME

as of October 15, 2007

Table of Contents

		Page
	ARTICLE I	
	DEFINITIONS AND TERMS	
1.1 1.2 1.3	Definitions Rules of Interpretation Change of Currency	2 18 20
	ARTICLE II	
	THE CREDIT FACILITIES	
2.1 2.2 2.3 2.4 2.5 2.6 2.7 2.8 2.9	Revolving Loans Competitive Bid Loans Utilization of Alternative Currencies Use of Proceeds Evidence of Debt Swing Line Loans Increase in Total Revolving Credit Commitment Letters of Credit Extension of Stated Termination Date	20 24 28 29 29 30 32 33 41
	ARTICLE III	
	FUNDING, FEES AND PAYMENT CONVENTIONS	
3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5 3.6 3.7 3.8 3.9	Interest Rate Options Conversions and Elections of Subsequent Interest Periods Payment of Interest Prepayments of Eurocurrency Rate Loans Manner of Payment Fees Payments to Agent for Lenders Computation of Rates and Fees Deficiency Advances; Failure to Purchase Participations	43 43 44 45 45 46 46 46 47
	ARTICLE IV	
	CHANGE IN CIRCUMSTANCES	
4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4	Increased Cost and Reduced Return Limitation on Types of Loans Illegality Treatment of Affected Loans i	47 49 49 50

		Page
4.5 4.6 4.7 4.8	Compensation Taxes Change of Lending Office Substitution of Lenders	50 51 53 53
	ARTICLE V	
	CONDITIONS TO MAKING LOANS AND ISSUING LETTERS OF CREDIT	
5.1 5.2	Conditions of Closing Conditions of Revolving Loans, Letters of Credit, Swing Line Loans and Competitive Bid Loans	53 55
	ARTICLE VI	
	REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES	
6.1 6.2 6.3 6.4 6.5 6.6 6.7 6.8 6.9 6.10 6.11 6.12 6.13	Corporate Existence and Power Corporate and Governmental Authorization; No Contravention Material Subsidiaries Binding Effect Financial Information Litigation Compliance with ERISA Environmental Matters Taxes Margin Stock Investment Company Full Disclosure No Consents, Etc	56 57 57 57 57 57 58 58 58 58 58 59 59
	ARTICLE VII	
	AFFIRMATIVE COVENANTS	
7.1 7.2 7.3 7.4 7.5	Financial Reports, Etc. Payment of Taxes Maintenance of Properties; Insurance Compliance with Laws Books and Records	59 62 62 62 62
	ARTICLE VIII	
	NEGATIVE COVENANTS	
8.1 8.2 8.3	Consolidated Indebtedness to Consolidated Capitalization Liens Indebtedness of Subsidiaries	63 63 64
	ii	

	_	Page
8.4 8.5	Consolidations, Mergers and Sales of Assets Change in Control	64 64
	ARTICLE IX	
	EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND ACCELERATION	
9.1 9.2 9.3 9.4 9.5	Events of Default Agent to Act Cumulative Rights No Waiver Allocation of Proceeds	65 67 67 68 68
	ARTICLE X	
	THE AGENT	
10.1 10.2 10.3 10.4 10.5 10.6 10.7 10.8 10.9	Appointment and Authority Rights as a Lender Exculpatory Provisions Reliance by Agent Delegation of Duties Resignation of Agent Non-Reliance on Agent and Other Lenders No Other Duties, Etc. Agent May File Proofs of Claim	69 69 70 70 70 71 71
	ARTICLE XI	
	MISCELLANEOUS	
11.1 11.2 11.3 11.4 11.5 11.6 11.7 11.8 11.9 11.10 11.11 11.12 11.13 11.14 11.15	Assignments and Participations Notices; Effectiveness; Electronic Communication Right of Set-off; Adjustments Survival Expenses Amendments and Waivers Counterparts Termination Indemnification; Limitation of Liability Severability Integration Agreement Controls Governing Law; Waiver of Jury Trial Confidentiality "Know Your Customer" Checks; PATRIOT Act Notice	72 75 78 79 79 79 80 80 81 81 81 82 82 83 83
	iii	

		Page
EXHIBIT A	Applicable Commitment Percentages	A-1
EXHIBIT B	Form of Assignment and Assumption	B-1
EXHIBIT C	Notice of Appointment (or Revocation) of Authorized Representative	C-1
EXHIBIT D-1	Form of Borrowing Notice	D-1
EXHIBIT D-2	Form of Borrowing Notice—Swing Line Loans	D-2-1
EXHIBIT E	Form of Interest Rate Selection Notice	E-1
EXHIBIT F	Form of Note	F-1
EXHIBIT G	Compliance Certificate	G-1
EXHIBIT H	Form of Competitive Bid Quote Request	I-1
EXHIBIT I	Form of Competitive Bid Quote	J-2
EXHIBIT J	Form of Amendment Agreement	K-1
SCHEDULE 1.01	Mandatory Cost	
SCHEDULE 2.8(a)	Existing Letters of Credit	
	iv	

CREDIT AGREEMENT

THIS CREDIT AGREEMENT, dated as of October 15, 2007 (the "Agreement"), is made by and among:

V.F. CORPORATION, a Pennsylvania corporation having its principal place of business in Greensboro, North Carolina (the Borrower"),

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., a national banking association organized and existing under the laws of the United States, in its capacity as a Lender (<u>Bank of America</u>"), and each other financial institution executing and delivering a signature page hereto and each other financial institution which may hereafter become a Lender pursuant to <u>Section 2.7</u> or execute and deliver an instrument of assignment with respect to this Agreement pursuant to <u>Section 11.1</u> (hereinafter such financial institutions may be referred to individually as a "Lender" or collectively as the "<u>Lenders</u>"),

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., a national banking association organized and existing under the laws of the United States, in its capacity as Administrative Agent for the Lenders (in such capacity, and together with any successor agent appointed in accordance with the terms of Section 10.7, the "Agent") and as Swing Line Lender,

CITIBANK, N.A., a national banking association organized and existing under the laws of the United States, in its capacity as Syndication Agent and as Lender,

WACHOVIA BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, a national banking association organized and existing under the laws of the United States, in its capacity as Documentation Agent and as Lender, and

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A., a national banking association organized and existing under the laws of the United States, in its capacity as Documentation Agent and as Lender;

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, the Borrower has requested that the Lenders make available to the Borrower a revolving credit facility of up to \$1,000,000,000 (which may be increased to \$1,250,000,000), the proceeds of which are to be used for general corporate purposes including, without limitation, acquisitions and repurchases of outstanding shares of its common stock and which shall include a multi-currency credit facility of up to \$250,000,000 in readily available currencies, a letter of credit facility of up to \$100,000,000, and a swing line facility of up to \$100,000,000; and

WHEREAS, the Lenders are willing to make such revolving credit facilities available to the Borrower upon the terms and conditions set forth herein;

NOW, THEREFORE, the Borrower, the Lenders and the Agent hereby agree as follows:

ARTICLE I

DEFINITIONS AND TERMS

- 1.1 Definitions. For the purposes of this Agreement, in addition to the definitions set forth above, the following terms shall have the respective meanings set forth below:
- "Absolute Rate" shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.2(c)(ii)(C).
- "Absolute Rate Loan" means a Loan the interest rate on which is determined on the basis of the Absolute Rate for such Loan.
- "Acquisition" means the acquisition of an equity interest in another Person (including the purchase of an option, warrant or convertible or similar type security to acquire such a controlling interest at the time it becomes exercisable by the holder thereof), whether by purchase of such equity interest or upon exercise of an option or warrant for, or conversion of securities into such equity interest, made with the intent to hold such equity interest as a strategic investment and not for speculative purposes.
 - "Additional Commitment Lender" has the meaning specified in Section 2.9(d).
 - "Advance" means a borrowing under the Revolving Credit Facility consisting of a Base Rate Loan or a Eurocurrency Rate Loan.
- "Advance Date Exchange Rate" means, with respect to a specified Advance, Loan or Letter of Credit in an Alternative Currency, the Spot Rate of Exchange determined for the date such Advance is originally made or the date such Letter of Credit is originally issued, provided that, if such Advance or Loan is Continued for a subsequent Interest Period pursuant to Section 2.3(b), the Advance Date Exchange Rate with respect to such Loan shall be the Spot Rate of Exchange two Business Days preceding the effective date of the latest Continuation of such Advance or Loan, and the Dollar Equivalent Amount of such Advance or Loan shall be adjusted as set forth in Section 2.3.
- "Affiliate" means, as to any Person, any other Person directly or indirectly controlling, controlled by, or under direct or indirect common control with, such Person. A Person shall be deemed to be "controlled by" any other Person if such other Person possesses, directly or indirectly, power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of such Person whether by contract or otherwise.
 - "Agent" shall have the meaning assigned to such term in the preamble hereto.
- "Agent-Related Persons" means the Agent (including any successor administrative agent), together with its Affiliates, and the officers, directors, employees, agents and attorneys- in-fact of such Persons and Affiliates.

"Alternative Currency" means (a) in the case of Revolving Loans, Japanese yen, British pounds sterling, Swiss francs, the Euro and any other freely available currency notified to the Agent upon not less than three (3) Business Days' prior written notice that, in the opinion of all Lenders, in their sole discretion, is at such time freely traded in the offshore interbank foreign exchange markets and is freely transferable and convertible into Dollars in the United States currency market, and (b) in the case of Competitive Bid Loans, Japanese yen, British pounds sterling, Swiss francs, the Euro, Canadian dollars, Mexican pesos and any other freely available currency notified to the Agent upon not less than three (3) Business Days' prior written notice that, in the opinion of the applicable Competitive Bid Lender, in its sole discretion, is at such time freely traded in the offshore interbank foreign exchange markets and is freely transferable and convertible into Dollars in the United States currency market.

"Alternative Currency Equivalent Amounf" means with respect to a specified Alternative Currency and a specified Dollar amount, the amount of such Alternative Currency into which such Dollar amount would be converted, based on the applicable Advance Date Exchange Rate.

"Applicable Commitment Percentage" means, for each Lender at any time, a fraction, with respect to the Revolving Credit Facility and Letters of Credit, the numerator of which shall be such Lender's Revolving Credit Commitment and the denominator of which shall be the Total Revolving Credit Commitment, which Applicable Commitment Percentage for each Lender as of the Closing Date is as set forth in Exhibit A hereto; provided that the Applicable Commitment Percentage of each Lender shall be increased or decreased to reflect the addition of Lenders pursuant to Section 2.7 and any assignments to or by such Lender effected in accordance with Section 11.1.

"Applicable Facility Fee" means that percent per annum set forth below, which shall be based upon the higher Rating of outstanding senior unsecured Indebtedness of the Borrower existing at the date of determination as specified in the table below; provided, however that if there is a split in Ratings of more than one Tier, the Applicable Facility Fee shall be based upon the Tier that is one tier lower than the higher Rating:

	Rating S&P or	Applicable Facility
Tier	Moody's	Fee
I	\geq A + or \geq A1	0.040%
II	A or A2	0.050%
III	A- or A3	0.060%
IV	BBB+ or Baa1	0.080%
V	BBB or Baa2	0.090%
VI	< RRR- or < Raa3	0.125%

The Applicable Facility Fee shall be established from time to time based upon the Ratings in effect from time to time. Any change in the Applicable Facility Fee due to a change in any Rating shall be effective on the date of such change in such Rating.

"Applicable Lending Office" means, as to any Lender, the office or offices described as such in such Lender's administrative questionnaire in the form provided by the Agent, or such other office of such Lender (or an affiliate of such Lender) as such Lender may from time to time specify to the Agent and the Borrower by written notice in accordance with the terms hereof as the office by which its Loans of such Type are to be made and maintained.

"Applicable Margin" means that percent per annum set forth below, which shall be based upon the higher Rating of outstanding senior unsecured Indebtedness of the Borrower existing at the date of determination as specified in the table below; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u> that if there is a split in Ratings of more than one Tier, the Applicable Margin shall be based upon the Tier that is one tier lower than the higher Rating:

		Applicable Margin				
		for Eurocurrency Rat				
		Loan, Letters of				
	Rating S&P or	Credit and Swing	Applicable			
Tier	Moody's	Line Loans	Utilization Fee			
I	$\geq A + or \geq A1$	0.135%	0.050%			
II	A or A2	0.150%	0.050%			
III	A- or A3	0.190%	0.050%			
IV	BBB+ or Baa1	0.270%	0.100%			
V	BBB or Baa2	0.360%	0.100%			
V	< BBB- or < Baa3	0.525%	0.100%			

provided, however, that for each day during which the Outstandings exceed fifty percent (50%) of the Total Revolving Credit Commitment, the Applicable Utilization Fee shall automatically be added to the Applicable Margin set forth above. The Applicable Margin shall be established from time to time based upon the Ratings in effect from time to time. Any change in the Applicable Margin due to a change in any Rating shall be effective on the date of such change in such Rating.

"Applicable Utilization Fee" means that percent per annum set forth in the table in the definition of "Applicable Margin", which shall be calculated as set forth in the proviso of the definition of "Applicable Margin". The Applicable Utilization Fee shall be established from time to time based on the Ratings in effect from time to time. Any change in the Applicable Utilization Fee due to a change in any Rating shall be effective on the date of such change in such Rating.

"Assignment and Assumption" shall mean an Assignment and Assumption in the form of Exhibit B hereto(with blanks appropriately filled in) delivered to the Agent in connection with an assignment of a Lender's interest under this Agreement pursuant to Section 11.1.

"<u>Authorized Representative</u>" means, with respect to the Borrower, any of the Chairman of the Board, President, Vice President-Treasurer, or any other Vice President of the Borrower, or any other Person expressly designated by the written authorization of any of the foregoing as an Authorized Representative, as set forth from time to time in a certificate in the form of <u>Exhibit C</u> hereto.

"Bank of America" means Bank of America, N.A. and its successors.

"Base Rate" means for any day a fluctuating rate per annum equal to the higher of (a) the Federal Funds Rate plus 1/2 of 1% and (b) the rate of interest in effect for such day as publicly announced from time to time by Bank of America as its "prime rate". The "prime rate" is a rate set by Bank of America based upon various factors including Bank of America's costs and desired return, general economic conditions and other factors, and is used as a reference point for

pricing some loans, which may be priced at, above, or below such announced rate. Any change in such rate announced by Bank of America shall take effect at the opening of business on the day specified in the public announcement of such change.

- "Base Rate Loan" means a Loan for which the rate of interest is determined by reference to the Base Rate.
- "Base Rate Refunding Loan" means a Base Rate Loan made to satisfy Unreimbursed Amounts arising from a drawing denominated in Dollars under a Letter of Credit.
- "Base Rate Revolving Loan" means a Revolving Loan for which the rate of interest is determined by reference to the Base Rate.
- "Benefit Arrangement" means at any time an employee benefit plan within the meaning of Section 3(3) of ERISA which is not a Plan or a Multiemployer Plan and which is maintained or otherwise contributed to by any member of the ERISA Group.
 - "Board" means the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (or any successor body).
 - "Borrower" shall have the meaning assigned to such term in the preamble hereto.
- "Borrower's Account" means a demand deposit account with the Agent, Account Number 1290918490 or any successor account with the Agent, which may be maintained at one or more offices of the Agent or an agent of the Agent.
- "Borrowing Notice" means the notice delivered by an Authorized Representative in connection with an Advance under the Revolving Credit Facility or a Swing Line Loan, in the forms of Exhibits D-1 and D-2 hereto, respectively.
- "Business Day" means any day other than a Saturday, Sunday or other day on which commercial banks are authorized to close under the laws of, or are in fact closed in, the state where the Agent's Office with respect to Obligations denominated in Dollars is located and:
 - (a) if such day relates to any interest rate settings as to a Eurocurrency Rate Loan denominated in Dollars, any fundings, disbursements, settlements and payments in Dollars in respect of any such Eurocurrency Rate Loan, or any other dealings in Dollars to be carried out pursuant to this Agreement in respect of any such Eurocurrency Rate Loan, means any such day on which dealings in deposits in Dollars are conducted by and between banks in the London interbank eurodollar market;
 - (b) if such day relates to any interest rate settings as to a Eurocurrency Rate Loan denominated in Euro, any fundings, disbursements, settlements and payments in Euro in respect of any such Eurocurrency Rate Loan, or any other dealings in Euro to be carried out pursuant to this Agreement in respect of any such Eurocurrency Rate Loan, means any such day which is a TARGET Day;

- (c) if such day relates to any interest rate settings as to a Eurocurrency Rate Loan denominated in a currency other than Dollars or Euro, means any such day on which dealings in deposits in the relevant currency are conducted by and between banks in the London or other applicable offshore interbank market for such currency; and
- (d) if such day relates to any fundings, disbursements, settlements and payments in a currency other than Dollars or Euro in respect of a Eurocurrency Rate Loan denominated in a currency other than Dollars or Euro, or any other dealings in any currency other than Dollars or Euro to be carried out pursuant to this Agreement in respect of any such Eurocurrency Rate Loan (other than any interest rate settings), means any such day on which banks are open for foreign exchange business in the principal financial center of the country of such currency.
- "Cash Collateralize" means to pledge and deposit with or deliver to the Agent, for the benefit of the L/C Issuers and the Lenders, as collateral for the L/C Obligations, cash or deposit account balances pursuant to documentation in form and substance satisfactory to the Agent and the L/C Issuers (which documents are hereby consented to by the Lenders). Derivatives of such term shall have corresponding meaning.
- "Capital Leases" means all leases which have been capitalized in accordance with GAAP as in effect from time to time including Statement No. 13 of the Financial Accounting Standards Board and any related amendments, interpretations and successors thereof.

"Change of Control" means, at any time:

- (i) any person or group of persons (within the meaning of Section 13 or 14 of the Exchange Act, other than the Trust, shall have acquired beneficial ownership (within the meaning of Rule 13d-3 of the Exchange Act), of 35% or more of the outstanding shares of Voting Securities of the Borrower;
- (ii) as of any date a majority of the Board of Directors of the Borrower consists of individuals who were not either (A) directors of the Borrower as of the corresponding date of the previous year, (B) selected or nominated to become directors by the Board of Directors of the Borrower of which a majority consisted of individuals described in clause (A), or (C) selected or nominated to become directors by the Board of Directors of the Borrower of which a majority consisted of individuals described in clauses (A) and (B).
- "Closing Date" means the date as of which this Agreement is executed by the Borrower, the Lenders and the Agent and on which the conditions set forth in Section 5.1 have been satisfied or waived.
 - "Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and any regulations promulgated thereunder.
 - "Competitive Bid Borrowing" shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.2(b) and shall consist of one or more Competitive Bid Loans.

- "Competitive Bid Lender" means any Lender who has made a Competitive Bid Loan for which there are Competitive Bid Outstandings.
- "Competitive Bid Loans" means the Loans provided for by Section 2.2, each of which shall be Absolute Rate Loans.
- "Competitive Bid Outstandings" means, as of any date of determination, the aggregate principal amount of all Competitive Bid Loans then outstanding.
- "Competitive Bid Quote" means an offer in accordance with Section 2.2(c) by a Lender to make a Competitive Bid Loan at an Absolute Rate, which shall be in substantially the form of Exhibit I hereto and incorporated herein by reference.
- "Competitive Bid Quote Request" shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.2(b) and shall be substantially in the form of Exhibit H hereto and incorporated herein by reference.
- "Consistent Basis" in reference to the application of GAAP means the accounting principles observed in the period referred to are comparable in all material respects to those applied in the preparation of the audited financial statements of the Borrower referred to in Section 6.5(a) (except for those changes concurred in by the Borrower's independent public accountants).
 - "Consolidated Capitalization" means, as of any date on which the amount thereof is to be determined, the sum of Consolidated Indebtedness plus Consolidated Net Worth.
- "Consolidated Indebtedness" means, as of any date on which the amount thereof is to be determined, all Funded Indebtedness of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries, all determined on a consolidated basis.
- "Consolidated Net Worth" means, as of any date on which the amount thereof is to be determined, the consolidated stockholders' equity of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries, all as determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP applied on a Consistent Basis.
- "Continue", "Continuation", and "Continued" shall refer to the continuation pursuant to Section 2.3(b) or 3.2 hereof of a Eurocurrency Rate Revolving Loan from one Interest Period to the next Interest Period.
- "Convert", "Conversion", and "Converted" shall refer to a conversion pursuant to Section 3.2 of one Type of Revolving Loan denominated in Dollars into another Type of Revolving Loan denominated in Dollars.
- "<u>Debtor Relief Laws</u>" means the Bankruptcy Code of the United States, and all other liquidation, conservatorship, bankruptcy, assignment for the benefit of creditors, moratorium, rearrangement, receivership, insolvency, reorganization, or similar debtor relief Laws of the United States or other applicable jurisdictions from time to time in effect and affecting the rights of creditors generally.

"Default" means any event or condition which, with the giving or receipt of notice or lapse of time or both unless cured or waived, would constitute an Event of Default bereunder

"Default Rate" means (i) with respect to each Fixed Rate Loan, until the end of the Interest Period applicable thereto, a rate of one percent (1%) above the Fixed Rate applicable to such Loan, and thereafter at a rate of interest per annum which shall be one percent (1%) above the rate that would be applicable to a Eurocurrency Rate Loan with a three month Interest Period made on the date of the payment default to which such Default Rate applies, (ii) with respect to Base Rate Loans, fees, and other amounts payable in respect of Obligations, a rate of interest per annum which shall be one percent (1%) above the Base Rate and (iii) in any case, the maximum rate permitted by applicable law, if lower.

"Dollar Equivalent Amount" means, (a) the amount denominated in Dollars, and (b) with respect to a specified Alternative Currency amount, the amount of Dollars into which the Alternative Currency amount would be converted, based on the applicable Advance Date Exchange Rate.

"Dollars" and the symbol "S" means dollars constituting legal tender for the payment of public and private debts in the United States of America.

"Eligible Assignee" has the meaning specified in Section 11.1(g).

"EMU Legislation" means (a) the Treaty on European Union (the Treaty of Rome of March 25, 1957, as amended by the Single European Act 1986, the Maastricht Treaty of 1992 and the Amsterdam Treaty of 1998), and (b) legislative measures of the European Council (including without limitation European Council regulations) for the introduction of, changeover to or operation of the Euro, in each case as amended or supplemented from time to time.

"Environmental Laws" means any federal, state, local or foreign statute, law, ordinance, code, rule, regulation, order, decree, permit or license regulating, relating to, or imposing liability or standards of conduct concerning, any environmental matters or conditions, environmental protection or conservation, including without limitation, the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, as amended; the Superfund Amendments and Reauthorization Act of 1986, as amended; the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, as amended; the Toxic Substances Control Act, as amended; the Clean Air Act, as amended; the Clean Water Act, as amended; together with all regulations promulgated thereunder, and any other "Superfund" or "Superlien" law.

"ERISA" means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended from time to time, and any successor statute and all rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.

"ERISA Group" means the Borrower, any Subsidiary and all members of a controlled group of corporations and all trades or businesses (whether or not incorporated) under common control which, together with the Borrower or any Subsidiary, are treated as a single employer under Section 414 of the Code.

"Euro" and "EUR" mean the lawful currency of the Participating Member States introduced in accordance with the EMU Legislation.

"Eurocurrency Rate" means, for any Interest Period with respect to a Eurocurrency Rate Loan, (a) the Applicable Margin with respect to Eurocurrency Rate Loans, <u>plus</u> (b) the rate per annum equal to the British Bankers Association LIBOR Rate ("BBA LIBOR"), as published by Reuters (or other commercially available source providing quotations of BBA LIBOR as designated by the Agent from time to time) at approximately 11:00 A.M., London time, two Business Days prior to the commencement of such Interest Period, for deposits in the relevant currency (for delivery on the first day of such Interest Period) with a term equivalent to such Interest Period. If such rate is not available at such time for any reason, then the "Eurocurrency Rate" for such Interest Period shall be the rate per annum determined by the Agent to be the rate a which deposits in the relevant currency for delivery on the first day of such Interest Period in Same Day Funds in the approximate amount of the Eurocurrency Rate Loan being made, continued or converted by Bank of America and with a term equivalent to such Interest Period would be offered by Bank of America's London Branch (or other Bank of America branch or Affiliate) to major banks in the London or other offshore interbank market for such currency at their request at approximately 11:00 A.M. (London time) two Business Days prior to the commencement of such Interest Period.

"Eurocurrency Rate Loan" means a Revolving Loan that bears interest at a rate based on the Eurocurrency Rate. Eurocurrency Rate Loans may be denominated in Dollars or in an Alternative Currency. All Revolving Loans denominated in an Alternative Currency must be Eurocurrency Rate Loans.

"Event of Default" means any of the occurrences set forth as such in Section 9.1.

"Exchange Act" means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the regulations promulgated thereunder.

"Existing Letter of Credit' means each letter of credit identified on Schedule 2.8(a).

"Extending Lender" has the meaning specified in Section 2.9(e).

"Extension Date" has the meaning specified in Section 2.9(a).

"Facility Termination Date" means such date as all of the following shall have occurred: (a) the Borrower shall have permanently terminated the Revolving Credit Facility and the Swing Line by payment in full of all Outstandings, together with all accrued and unpaid interest thereon, except for such issued and undrawn Letters of Credit as have been fully Cash Collateralized in a manner consistent with that set forth in Section 9.1; (b) all Revolving Credit Commitments shall have terminated or expired and (c) the Borrower shall have fully, finally and irrevocably paid and satisfied in full all Obligations (other than Obligations consisting of continuing indemnities and other contingent Obligations of the Borrower that may be owing to the Lenders pursuant to the Loan Documents and expressly survive termination of this Agreement);

"Federal Funds Rate" means, for any day, the rate per annum (rounded upwards, if necessary, to the nearest 1/100 of 1%) equal to the weighted average of the rates on overnight Federal funds transactions with members of the Federal Reserve System arranged by Federal funds brokers on such day, as published by the Federal Reserve Bank on the Business Day next succeeding such day; provided that (a) if such day is not a Business Day, the Federal Funds Rate for such day shall be such rate on such transactions on the next preceding Business Day as so published on the next succeeding Business Day, and (b) if no such rate is so published on such next succeeding Business Day, the Federal Funds Rate for such day shall be the average rate charged to Bank of America on such day on such transactions as determined by the Agent.

"Fixed Rate" means any of the Eurocurrency Rate or the Absolute Rate, or both of the foregoing, as the case may be.

"Fixed Rate Loan" means a Eurocurrency Rate Loan or an Absolute Rate Loan, or both of the foregoing, as the case may be.

"Funded Indebtedness" means with respect to any Person, without duplication, (a) all indebtedness in respect of borrowed money, (b) all obligations under Capital Leases, (c) the deferred purchase price of any property or services that are in the nature of money borrowed, and (d) indebtedness evidenced by a promissory note, bond, debenture or similar written obligation for the payment of money (including non-contingent, past-due obligations under reimbursement agreements and conditional sales or similar title retention agreements), other than (x) trade payables and accrued expenses incurred in the ordinary course of business, and (y) indebtedness secured by cash deposits subject to a legal right of set-off and not classified as a liability under GAAP.

"Funding Bank" means (a) in the case of Revolving Loans, any banking institution approved by the Agent located within a country whose currency has been approved by the Lenders as an Alternative Currency and (b) in the case of Competitive Bid Loans, any banking institution approved by the applicable Competitive Bid Lender located within a country whose currency has been approved by such Competitive Bid Lender as an Alternative Currency for a particular Competitive Bid Loan; provided that in the case of the Euro, the Funding Bank may be located in any Participating Member State.

"GAAP" or "Generally Accepted Accounting Principles" means generally accepted accounting principles, being those principles of accounting set forth in pronouncements of the Financial Accounting Standards Board, the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, or which have other substantial authoritative support and are applicable in the circumstances as of the date of a report.

"Governmental Authority" shall mean any federal, state, municipal, national or other governmental department, commission, board, bureau, court, agency or instrumentality or political subdivision thereof or any entity or officer exercising executive, legislative, judicial, regulatory or administrative functions of or pertaining to any government or any court, in each case whether associated with a state of the United States, the United States, or a foreign entity or government.

"Guarantee" by any Person means any obligation, contingent or otherwise, of such Person directly or indirectly guaranteeing any Indebtedness of any other Person and, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, any obligation, direct or indirect, contingent or otherwise, of such Person (a) to purchase or pay (or advance or supply funds for the purchase or payment of) such Indebtedness (whether arising by virtue of partnership arrangements, by agreement to keep-well, to purchase assets, goods, securities or services, to take-or-pay, or to maintain financial statement conditions or otherwise) and the purpose of such contracts is to provide credit support in the nature of a guaranty or (b) entered into for the purpose of assuring in any other manner the holder of such Indebtedness of the payment thereof or to protect such holder against loss in respect thereof (in whole or in part), provided that the term "Guarantee" shall not include endorsements for collection or deposit in the ordinary course of business. The term 'Guarantee' used as a verb has a corresponding meaning.

"<u>Hazardous Material</u>" means and includes any pollutant, contaminant, or hazardous, toxic or dangerous waste, substance or material (including without limitation petroleum products, asbestos-containing materials and lead), the generation, handling, storage, transportation, disposal, treatment, release, discharge or emission of which is subject to any Environmental Law.

"Indebtedness" means as to any Person, without duplication, (a) all Funded Indebtedness of such Person, (b) all indebtedness secured by any Lien on any property or asset owned or held by such Person regardless or whether the indebtedness secured thereby shall have been assumed by such Person or is non-recourse to the credit of such Person, other than indebtedness secured by cash deposits subject to a legal right of set-off and not classified as a liability under GAAP, and (c) all Indebtedness of third parties Guaranteed by such Person.

"Indemnified Liabilities" has the meaning set forth in Section 11.9.

"Indemnified Parties" has the meaning set forth in Section 11.9.

"Interest Period" means (a) with respect to any Competitive Bid Loan, the period commencing on the date such Competitive Bid Loan is made and ending on the date specified in the Competitive Bid Quote Request and related Competitive Bid Quote for such Competitive Bid Loan; and (b) with respect to any Eurocurrency Rate Loan, a period commencing on the date such Eurocurrency Rate Loan is made or Converted or Continued and ending, at the Borrower's option, on the date one, two, three or six months (and, subject to Section 2.1(c)(iii), nine or twelve months) thereafter as notified to the Agent by the Authorized Representative in accordance with the terms hereof; provided that,

- (i) if any Interest Period would end on a day which is not a Business Day, such Interest Period shall be extended to the next Business Day (unless, in the case of a Eurocurrency Rate Loan, such extension would cause the applicable Interest Period to end in the succeeding calendar month, in which case such Interest Period shall end on the next preceding Business Day); and
 - (ii) any Interest Period for a Eurocurrency Rate Loan which begins on the last Business Day of a calendar month (or on a day for which there is no numerically

corresponding day in the calendar month at the end of such Interest Period) shall end on the last Business Day of a calendar month; and

(iii) no Interest Period shall extend beyond the final Stated Termination Date.

"Interest Rate Selection Notice" means, with respect to the Revolving Loans, the written notice delivered by an Authorized Representative in connection with the election of a subsequent Interest Period for any Eurocurrency Rate Revolving Loan or the Conversion of any Eurocurrency Rate Loan denominated in Dollars into a Base Rate Loan or the Conversion of any Base Rate Loan into a Eurocurrency Rate Loan denominated in Dollars in the form of Exhibit E hereto.

"L/C Advance" means, with respect to each Lender, such Lender's funding of its participation in any L/C Borrowing in accordance with its Applicable Commitment Percentage.

"L/C Borrowing" means an extension of credit resulting from a drawing under any Letter of Credit which has not been reimbursed on the date when made or refinanced as a Base Rate Refunding Loan. All L/C Borrowings shall be denominated in Dollars.

"L/C Credit Extension" means, with respect to any Letter of Credit, the issuance thereof or extension of the expiry date thereof, or the renewal or increase of the amount thereof.

"L/C Issuer" means each of the two Lenders designated, and accepting such designation, pursuant to Section 2.8(1) as an issuer of Letters of Credit hereunder, or any successor issuer of Letters of Credit hereunder.

"L/C Obligations" means, as at any date of determination, the aggregate amount available to be drawn under all outstanding Letters of Crediplus the aggregate of all Unreimbursed Amounts, including all L/C Borrowings, all after giving effect to any L/C Credit Extension occurring on such date and any other changes in the aggregate amount of the L/C Obligations as of such date, including as a result of any reimbursements of outstanding unpaid drawings under any Letters of Credit or any reductions in the maximum amount available for drawing under Letters of Credit taking effect on such date; provided, however, that with respect to any Letter of Credit that, by its terms or the terms of any Letter of Credit Application related thereto, provides for one or more automatic increases in the stated amount thereof, the amount of such Letter of Credit shall be deemed to be the maximum stated amount of such Letter of Credit after giving effect to all such increases, whether or not such maximum stated amount is in effect at such time. For all purposes of this Agreement, if on any date of determination a Letter of Credit has expired by its terms but any amount may still be drawn thereunder by reason of the operation of Rule 3.14 of the ISP, such Letter of Credit shall be deemed to be "outstanding" in the amount so remaining available to be drawn.

"Lender" has the meaning specified in the introductory paragraph hereto and, as the context requires, includes the Swing Line Lender.

"Lending Office" means, as to any Lender, the office or offices of such Lender described as such in such Lender's Administrative Questionnaire, or such other office or offices as a Lender may from time to time notify the Borrower and the Agent.

"Letter of Credit" means any letter of credit issued hereunder, and shall include the Existing Letters of Credit. A Letter of Credit may be a commercial letter of credit or a standby letter of credit. Letters of Credit may be issued in Dollars or in an Alternative Currency.

"Letter of Credit Application" means an application and agreement for the issuance or amendment of a Letter of Credit in the form from time to time in use by the applicable L/C Issuer.

"Letter of Credit Expiration Date" means the day that is seven days prior to the latest Stated Termination Date then in effect (or, if such day is not a Business Day, the next preceding Business Day).

"Letter of Credit Sublimit" means an amount equal to the lesser of the Total Revolving Credit Commitment and \$100,000,000. The Letter of Credit Sublimit is part of, and not in addition to, the Total Revolving Credit Commitment.

"Lien" means any interest in property securing any obligation owed to, or a claim by, a Person other than the owner of the property, whether such interest is based on the common law, statute or contract, and including but not limited to the lien or security interest arising from a mortgage, encumbrance, pledge, security agreement, conditional sale or trust receipt or a lease, consignment or bailment for security purposes. For the purposes of this Agreement, the Borrower and any Subsidiary shall be deemed to be the owner of any property which it has acquired or holds subject to a conditional sale agreement, financing lease, or other arrangement pursuant to which title to the property has been retained by or vested in some other Person for security purposes.

"Loans" means, collectively, the Swing Line Loans, the L/C Borrowings, the Competitive Bid Loans and the Revolving Loans.

"Loan Documents" means this Agreement, the Notes, and all other instruments and documents heretofore or hereafter executed or delivered to or in favor of any Lender or the Agent in connection with the Loans made and transactions contemplated under this Agreement, as the same may be amended, supplemented or replaced from the time to time

"Loan Party" shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Section 11.14.

"Mandatory Cost" means, with respect to any period, the percentage rate per annum determined in accordance with 6chedule 1.01.

"Margin Stock" shall have the meaning of such term within Regulation U of the Board.

"Material Adverse Effect" means a material adverse effect on (i) the business, financial position or results of operations of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, (ii) the ability of the Borrower to pay or perform its respective obligations, liabilities and indebtedness under the Loan Documents as such payment or performance becomes due in accordance with the terms thereof, or (iii) the rights, powers and remedies of the Agent or any Lender under any Loan Document or the validity, legality or enforceability thereof.

"Material Plan" means, at any time, a Plan or Plans having aggregate Unfunded Liabilities in excess of \$100,000,000.

"Material Subsidiary" means at any time any Subsidiary which as of such time meets the definition of a "significant subsidiary" contained as of the date hereof in Regulation S-X of the Securities and Exchange Commission.

"Moody's" means Moody's Investors Service, Inc.

"Multiemployer Plan" means at any time an employee benefit plan within the meaning of Section 4001(a)(3) of ERISA to which any member of the ERISA Group is then making, or is accruing an obligation to make, contributions or has within the preceding five plan years made contributions, including for these purposes any Person which ceased to be a member of the ERISA Group during such five-year period.

"New Lenders" has the meaning specified in Section 2.7(a).

"Non-Extending Lender" has the meaning specified in Section 2.9(b).

"Notes" means, collectively, the promissory notes of the Borrower evidencing Loans executed and delivered to the Lenders as provided in Section 2.5 substantially in the form of Exhibit F hereto, with appropriate insertions as to amounts, dates and names of Lenders.

"Notice Date" has the meaning specified in Section 2.9(b).

"Obligations" means the obligations, liabilities and Indebtedness of the Borrower with respect to (i) the principal and interest on the Loans as evidenced by the Notes, and (ii) the payment and performance of all other obligations, liabilities and Indebtedness of the Borrower to the Lenders or the Agent hereunder, under any one or more of the other Loan Documents or with respect to the Loans.

"Organizational Documents" means with respect to any corporation, limited liability company, partnership, limited partnership, limited liability partnership or other legally authorized incorporated or unincorporated entity, the articles of incorporation, certificate of incorporation, articles of organization, articles of association, certificate of limited partnership or other applicable organizational or charter documents relating to the creation of such entity.

"Other Taxes" shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Section 4.6.

"Outstandings" means, collectively, at any date without duplication, the Competitive Bid Outstandings, the Swing Line Outstandings, the L/C Obligations and the Revolving Credit Outstandings on such date.

"Overnight Rate" means, for any day, (a) with respect to any amount denominated in Dollars, the greater of (i) the Federal Funds Rate and (ii) an overnight rate determined by the Agent, the L/C Issuer, or the Swing Line Lender, as the case may be, in accordance with banking industry rules on interbank compensation, and (b) with respect to any amount denominated in an Alternative Currency, the rate of interest per annum at which overnight deposits in the applicable

Alternative Currency, in an amount approximately equal to the amount with respect to which such rate is being determined, would be offered for such day by a branch or Affiliate of Bank of America in the applicable offshore interbank market for such currency to major banks in such interbank market.

"Participant" shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Section 11.1(d).

"Participating Member State" means each state so described in any EMU Legislation.

"Participation" means (i) with respect to each Swing Line Loan, the extension of credit represented by the participation of each Lender (other than the Swing Line Lender) hereunder in the liability of the Swing Line Lender in respect of such Swing Line Loan made by the Swing Line Lender in accordance with the terms hereof and (ii) with respect to each L/C Credit Extension, the extension of credit represented by the L/C Advance of each Lender (other than the applicable L/C Issuer) hereunder in the liability of any L/C Issuer in respect to such L/C Credit Extension made by such L/C Issuer in accordance with the terms hereof.

"PBGC" means the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation and any successor thereto.

"Person" means an individual, partnership, corporation, limited liability company, limited liability partnership, trust, unincorporated organization, association, joint venture or a government or agency or political subdivision thereof.

"Plan" means at any time an employee pension benefit plan (other than a Multiemployer Plan) which is covered by Title IV of ERISA or subject to the minimum funding standards under Section 412 of the Code and either (i) is maintained, or contributed to, by any member of the ERISA Group for employees of any member of the ERISA Group for employees of any time within the preceding five years been maintained, or contributed to, by any Person which was at such time a member of the ERISA Group for employees of any Person which was at such time a member of the ERISA Group.

"Principal Office" means the principal office of Bank of America, presently located at 101 North Tryon Street, 15th Floor, NC1 001-15-02, Charlotte, North Carolina 28255, Attention: Agency Services, or such other office and address as the Agent may from time to time designate.

"Quotation Date" shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.2(c).

"Rating" means the rating of senior unsecured Indebtedness of the Borrower in effect at any time such rating is made by either of Moody's or S&P.

"Regulation D" means Regulation D of the Board as the same may be amended or supplemented from time to time.

"Required Lenders" means, as of any date, Lenders on such date having Credit Exposures (as defined below) aggregating more than 50% of the aggregate Credit Exposures of all the Lenders on such date. For purposes of the preceding sentence, the amount of the "Credit Exposure" of each Lender shall be equal at all times (a) other than following the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default, to its Revolving Credit Commitment, and

(b) following the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default, to the sum of (i) the aggregate principal amount of such Lender's Applicable Commitment Percentage of Revolving Credit Outstandings plus (ii) the amount of such Lender's Applicable Commitment Percentage of Swing Line Outstandings plus (iii) the amount of such Lender's Applicable Commitment Percentage of L/C Obligations; provided that, for the purpose of this definition only, (A) if any Lender shall have wrongfully failed to fund its Applicable Commitment Percentage of any Advance, then the Revolving Credit Commitment of such Lender shall be deemed reduced by the amount it so failed to fund for so long as such failure shall continue and such Lender's Credit Exposure attributable to such failure shall be deemed held by any Lender making more than its Applicable Commitment Percentage of such Advance to the extent it covers such failure, (B) if any Lender shall have wrongfully failed to pay to the Swing Line Lender on demand its Applicable Commitment Percentage of any Swing Line Loan (whether by funding its Participation therein or otherwise), such Lender's Credit Exposure attributable to all Swing Line Outstandings shall be deemed to be held by the Swing Line Lender until such Lender shall pay such deficiency amount to the Swing Line Lender together with interest thereon as provided in Section 3.9 and (C) if any Lender shall have wrongfully failed to pay to any L/C Credit Extension (whether by funding its participation therein or otherwise), such Lender's Credit Exposure attributable to all L/C Obligations shall be deemed to be held by the applicable L/C Issuer until such Lender shall pay such deficiency amount to the applicable L/C Issuer together with interest thereon as provided in Section 3.9;

"Revolving Credit Commitment" means, with respect to each Lender, the obligation of such Lender to make Revolving Loans to the Borrower up to an aggregate principal amount at any one time outstanding equal to such Lender's Applicable Commitment Percentage of the Total Revolving Credit Commitment.

"Revolving Credit Facility" means the facility described in Section 2.1 hereof providing for Loans to the Borrower by the Lenders in the aggregate principal amount of the Total Revolving Credit Commitment.

"Revolving Credit Outstandings" means, as of any date of determination, the aggregate principal amount of all Revolving Loans then outstanding.

"Revolving Loan" means any borrowing pursuant to an Advance under the Revolving Credit Facility in accordance with Section 2.1 and may be a Base Rate Loan or a Eurocurrency Rate Loan.

"Same Day Funds" means (a) with respect to disbursements and payments in Dollars, immediately available funds, and (b) with respect to disbursements and payments in an Alternative Currency, same day or other funds as may be determined by the Agent or the L/C Issuer, as the case may be, to be customary in the place of disbursement or payment for the settlement of international banking transactions in the relevant Alternative Currency.

"Significant Subsidiary" means at any time any Subsidiary, except Subsidiaries which at such time have been designated by the Borrower (by notice to the Agent, which may be amended from time to time, which notices shall be made available by the Agent to the Lenders upon

request) as nonmaterial and which, if aggregated and considered as a single Subsidiary, would not meet the definition of "significant subsidiary" in Regulation S-X of the Securities and Exchange Commission.

"S&P" means Standard & Poor's Ratings Group, a division of McGraw-Hill.

"Spot Rate of Exchange" means (i) in determining the Dollar Equivalent Amount of a specified Alternative Currency amount as of any date, the spot exchange rate determined by the Agent in accordance with its usual procedures for the purchase by the Agent of Dollars with such Alternative Currency at approximately 10:00 A.M. on the Business Day that is two (2) Business Days prior to such date, and (ii) in determining the Alternative Currency Equivalent Amount of a specified Dollar amount on any date, the spot exchange rate determined by the Agent in accordance with its usual procedures for the purchase by the Agent of such Alternative Currency with Dollars at approximately 10:00 A.M. on the Business Day that is two Business Days prior to such date.

"Stated Termination Date" means October 15, 2012, subject to the extension thereof pursuant to Section 2.9; provided, however that the Stated Termination Date for any Lender that is a Non-Consenting Lender to any requested extension pursuant to Section 2.9 shall be the Stated Termination Date in effect immediately prior to the applicable Extension Date for all purposes of this Agreement.

"Subsidiary" means any corporation or other entity in which more than 50% of its outstanding Voting Securities or more than 50% of all equity interests is owned directly or indirectly by the Borrower and/or by one or more of the Borrower's Subsidiaries.

"Swing Line" means the revolving line of credit established by the Swing Line Lender in favor of the Borrower pursuant to Section 2.6.

"Swing Line Lender" means initially Bank of America as the lender of Swing Line Loans under Section 2.6 and thereafter any Lender which is successor to Bank of America as the Lender of Swing Line Loans under Section 2.6.

"Swing Line Loans" means loans made by the Swing Line Lender to the Borrower pursuant to Section 2.6.

"Swing Line Outstandings" means, as of any date of determination, the aggregate principal amount of all Swing Line Loans then outstanding.

"Swing Line Rate" means, as of any date of determination, the Federal Funds Rate plus the Applicable Margin with respect to Swing Line Loans.

"TARGET Day" means any day on which the Trans-European Automated Real-time Gross Settlement Express Transfer (TARGET) payment system (or, if such payment system ceases to be operative, such other payment system (if any) determined by the Administrative Agent to be a suitable replacement) is open for the settlement of payments in Euro.

"Taxes" shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Section 4.6(a).

"Termination Date" means, as to any Lender, the earliest of (i) the Stated Termination Date applicable to such Lender, (ii) the date of termination of the Lenders' obligations pursuant to Section 9.1 upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, or (iii) the date the Borrower voluntarily and permanently terminates the Commitments in accordance with Section 2.1(e) hereof.

"Total Alternative Currency Sublimit" means, with respect to the principal amount of Loans and the stated amount of Letters of Credit outstanding in Alternative Currencies, the Dollar Equivalent Amount of \$250,000,000.

"Total Revolving Credit Commitmenf" means a principal amount equal to (a) \$1,000,000,000 or (b) at such time as Exhibit A hereto is amended by the entering into of one or more amendment agreements pursuant to Section 2.7 hereof, an amount equal to up to \$1,250,000,000, as such amounts are reduced from time to time in accordance with Section 2.1(e).

"Trust" means the respective trusts established under those certain deeds of trust dated August 21, 1951 made by John E. Barbey and under the will of John E. Barbey, deceased.

"Type" shall mean any type of Loan (i.e., a Base Rate Loan, a Eurocurrency Rate Loan or an Absolute Rate Loan).

"Unfunded Liabilities" means, with respect to any Plan at any time, the amount (if any) by which (i) the value of all benefit liabilities under such Plan, determined on a plan termination basis using the assumptions prescribed by the PBGC for purposes of Section 4044 of ERISA, exceeds (ii) the fair market value of all Plan assets allocable to such liabilities under Title IV of ERISA (excluding any accrued but unpaid contributions), all determined as of the then most recent valuation date for such Plan, but only to the extent such excess represents a potential liability of a member of the ERISA Group to the PBGC or any other Person under Title IV of ERISA.

"Unreimbursed Amount" has the meaning specified in Section 2.8(c)(i).

"<u>Voting Securities</u>" means shares of capital stock issued by a corporation, or equivalent interests in any other Person, the holders of which are ordinarily, in the absence of contingencies, entitled to vote for the election of directors (or persons performing similar functions) of such Person, even if the right so to vote has been suspended by the happening of such a contingency.

"Wholly Owned Subsidiary" means any Subsidiary all of the shares of capital stock or other ownership interests of which (except directors' qualifying shares and, in the case of any Subsidiary organized in a jurisdiction outside of the United States, shares not exceeding 5% of total shares) are at the time directly or indirectly owned by the Borrower.

1.2 Rules of Interpretation.

(a) All accounting terms not specifically defined herein shall have the meanings assigned to such terms and shall be interpreted in accordance with GAAP applied on a Consistent Basis; provided that, if the Borrower notifies the Agent that the Borrower wishes to

amend any covenant in Article VIII to eliminate the effect of any change in GAAP on the operation of such covenant (or if the Agent notifies the Borrower that the Required Lenders wish to amend Article VIII for such purpose), then the Borrower's compliance with such covenant shall be determined on the basis of GAAP in effect immediately before the relevant change in GAAP became effective, until either such notice is withdrawn or such covenant is amended in a manner satisfactory to the Borrower and the Required Lenders.

- (b) Each term defined in Articles 1, 8 or 9 of the New York Uniform Commercial Code shall have the meaning given therein unless otherwise defined herein, except to the extent that the Uniform Commercial Code of another jurisdiction is controlling, in which case such terms shall have the meaning given in the Uniform Commercial Code of the applicable jurisdiction.
- (c) The headings, subheadings and table of contents used herein or in any other Loan Document are solely for convenience of reference and shall not constitute a part of any such document or affect the meaning, construction or effect of any provision thereof.
- (d) Except as otherwise expressly provided, references in any Loan Document to articles, sections, paragraphs, clauses, annexes, appendices, exhibits and schedules are references to articles, sections, paragraphs, clauses, annexes, appendices, exhibits and schedules in or to such Loan Document.
- (e) All definitions set forth herein or in any other Loan Document shall apply to the singular as well as the plural form of such defined term, and all references to the masculine gender shall include reference to the feminine or neuter gender, and vice versa, as the context may require.
- (f) When used herein or in any other Loan Document, words such as "hereunder", "hereto", "hereof" and "herein" and other words of like import shall, unless the context clearly indicates to the contrary, refer to the whole of the applicable document and not to any particular article, section, subsection, paragraph or clause thereof.
- (g) References to "including" means including without limiting the generality of any description preceding such term, and for purposes hereof the rule of ejusdem generis shall not be applicable to limit a general statement, followed by or referable to an enumeration of specific matters, to matters similar to those specifically mentioned.
 - (h) Except as otherwise expressly provided, all references herein to times of day shall be references to Eastern time (daylight or standard, as applicable).
- (i) Whenever interest rates or fees are established in whole or in part by reference to a numerical percentage expressed as "%", such arithmetic expression shall be interpreted in accordance with the convention that 1% = 100 basis points.
- (j) Each of the parties to the Loan Documents and their counsel have reviewed and revised, or requested (or had the opportunity to request) revisions to, the Loan Documents, and any rule of construction that ambiguities are to be resolved against the drafting

party shall be inapplicable in the construing and interpretation of the Loan Documents and all exhibits, schedules and appendices thereto.

- (k) Any reference to an officer of the Borrower or any other Person by reference to the title of such officer shall be deemed to refer to each other officer of such Person, however titled, exercising the same or substantially similar functions.
- (I) All references to any agreement or document as amended, modified or supplemented, or words of similar effect, shall mean such document or agreement, as the case may be, as amended, modified or supplemented from time to time only as and to the extent permitted therein and in the Loan Documents.
- (m) For all purposes of this Agreement (but not for purposes of the preparation of any financial statements delivered pursuant hereto), the equivalent in any Alternative Currency of an amount in Dollars, and the equivalent in Dollars of an amount in any Alternative Currency, shall be determined as set forth in the definitions of Dollar Equivalent Amount and Alternative Currency Equivalent Amount, as applicable.

1.3 Change of Currency.

- (a) Each obligation of the Borrowers to make a payment denominated in the national currency unit of any member state of the European Union that adopts the Euro as its lawful currency after the date hereof shall be redenominated into Euro at the time of such adoption (in accordance with the EMU Legislation). If, in relation to the currency of any such member state, the basis of accrual of interest expressed in this Agreement in respect of that currency shall be inconsistent with any convention or practice in the London interbank market for the basis of accrual of interest in respect of the Euro, such expressed basis shall be replaced by such convention or practice with effect from the date on which such member state adopts the Euro as its lawful currency; provided that if any Revolving Credit Borrowing in the currency of such member state is outstanding immediately prior to such date, such replacement shall take effect, with respect to such Revolving Credit Borrowing, at the end of the then current Interest Period.
- (b) Each provision of this Agreement shall be subject to such reasonable changes of construction as the Agent may from time to time specify to be appropriate to reflect the adoption of the Euro by any member state of the European Union and any relevant market conventions or practices relating to the Euro.
- (c) Each provision of this Agreement also shall be subject to such reasonable changes of construction as the Agent may from time to time specify to be appropriate to reflect a change in currency of any other country and any relevant market conventions or practices relating to the change in currency.

ARTICLE II THE CREDIT FACILITIES

2.1 Revolving Loans.

- (a) Commitment. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, each Lender severally agrees to make Advances in Dollars or an Alternative Currency (as specified in the respective Borrowing Notice) to the Borrower under the Revolving Credit Facility from time to time from the Closing Date until the Termination Date applicable to such Lender on a pro rata basis as to the total borrowing requested by the Borrower on any day determined by such Lender's Applicable Commitment Percentage up to but not exceeding a Dollar Equivalent Amount equal to the Revolving Credit Commitment of such Lender, provided, however, that the Lenders will not be required and shall have no obligation to make any such Advance (i) so long as a Default or an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing or (ii) if the Agent has accelerated the maturity of any of the Notes as a result of an Event of Default; provided further, however, that immediately after giving effect to each such Advance, (x) the Dollar Equivalent Amount of the principal amount of Outstandings shall not exceed the then applicable Total Revolving Credit Commitment, (y) the Dollar Equivalent Amount of the Outstandings in Alternative Currencies shall not exceed the Total Alternative Currency Sublimit, and (z) the aggregate principal balance of all outstanding Revolving Loans (other than Competitive Bid Loans) for each Lender, plus such Lender's Applicable Commitment Percentage (determined without duplication) of Competitive Bid Outstandings, L/C Obligations and Swing Line Outstandings, shall not exceed such Lender's Revolving Credit Commitment. Within such limits and subject to the other terms and conditions of this Agreement, the Borrower may borrow, repay and reborrow under the Revolving Credit Facility on a Business Day from the Closing Date until, but (as to borrowings) not including, the final Termination Date.
- (b) Amounts. Except as otherwise permitted by the Lenders from time to time, (i) the aggregate unpaid principal Dollar Equivalent Amount of Outstandings shall not exceed at any time the Total Revolving Credit Commitment, and (ii) the aggregate unpaid principal Dollar Equivalent Amount of Loans in Alternative Currencies shall not exceed by more than 5% of the Total Alternative Currency Sublimit, and, in the event the Agent notifies the Borrower at any time that there shall be outstanding any amount in excess of 105% of the Total Alternative Currency Sublimit, then within two Business Days after receipt of such notice the Borrower shall make such payments and prepayments as shall be necessary to comply with this restriction. Each Advance under the Revolving Credit Facility, other than Base Rate Refunding Loans, shall be in an amount of at least \$10,000,000 (or the Dollar Equivalent Amount thereof in any Alternative Currency), and, if greater than \$10,000,000, an integral multiple of \$1,000,000 (or the Dollar Equivalent Amount thereof in any Alternative Currency).
 - (c) Advances. (i) An Authorized Representative shall give the Agent:
 - (1) at least three (3) Business Days' irrevocable telephonic notice of each Eurocurrency Rate Loan (whether representing an additional borrowing or the Continuation of a borrowing hereunder or the Conversion of a borrowing hereunder from a Base Rate Revolving Loan to a Eurocurrency Rate Loan) prior to 2:00 P.M.; and
 - (2) irrevocable telephonic notice of each Base Rate Revolving Loan (whether representing an additional borrowing hereunder or the Conversion of a borrowing hereunder from a Eurocurrency Rate Revolving Loan denominated in Dollars to a Base Rate Revolving Loan) prior to 12:00 noon on the day of such proposed Revolving Loan.

Each such notice shall be effective upon receipt by the Agent, shall specify the amount of the borrowing, the Type of Revolving Loan (Base Rate or Eurocurrency Rate if such Revolving Loan is requested in Dollars, or Eurocurrency Rate if such Revolving Loan is requested in an Alternative Currency), the date of borrowing, if a Eurocurrency Rate Revolving Loan, the Interest Period to be used in the computation of interest, and if an Eurocurrency Rate Loan not denominated in Dollars, the applicable Alternative Currency. The Authorized Representative shall provide the Agent written confirmation of each such telephonic notice in the form of a Borrowing Notice or Interest Rate Selection Notice (as applicable) with appropriate insertions but failure to provide such confirmation shall not affect the validity of such telephonic notice. Notice of receipt of such Borrowing Notice or Interest Rate Selection Notice, as the case may be, together with the amount of each Lender's portion of an Advance requested thereunder, shall be provided by the Agent to each Lender by telefacsimile transmission with reasonable promptness, but (provided the Agent shall have received such notice by 12:00 noon) not later than 1:00 P.M. or (if the Agent shall have received such notice by 2:00 P.M. but after 12:00 noon) not later than 3:00 P.M. on the same day as the Agent's receipt of such notice. At approximately 11:00 A.M. two (2) Business Days preceding the date specified for each Advance of an Alternative Currency, the Agent shall determine the Advance Date Exchange Rate and the applicable interest rate. Not later than 11:45 A.M. two (2) Business Days preceding the date specified for each Advance of an Alternative Currency, the Agent shall provide the Borrower and each Lender notice by telefacsimile transmission of the Advance Date Exchange Rate applicable to such Advance, and the applicable Alternative Currency Equivalent Amount of the Loan or Loans required to be made by each Lender on such date and the applicable Eurocurrency Rate.

- (ii) (A) In the case of Advances consisting of Base Rate Loans, not later than 2:00 P.M. on the date specified for each borrowing under this Section 2.1, each Lender shall, pursuant to the terms and subject to the conditions of this Agreement, make the amount of the Advance or Advances to be made by it on such day available by wire transfer to the Agent in the amount of its pro rata share, determined according to such Lender's Applicable Commitment Percentage of the Revolving Loan or Revolving Loans to be made on such day. Such wire transfer shall be directed to the Agent at the Principal Office and shall be in the form of Dollars constituting immediately available funds. The amount so received by the Agent shall, subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, be made available to the Borrower by delivery of the proceeds thereof to the Borrower's Account or otherwise as shall be directed in the applicable Borrowing Notice by the Authorized Representative and reasonably acceptable to the Agent.
- (B) In the case of Advances consisting of Eurocurrency Rate Loans, not later than 10:00 A.M. on the date specified for each Advance, each Lender shall, pursuant to the terms and subject to the conditions of this Agreement, make the amount of the Revolving Loan or Revolving Loans to be made by it on such day available to the Borrower, if in Dollars in the manner specified in Section 2.1(c)(ii)(A) and if in an Alternative Currency at the Funding Bank, to the account of the Agent with the Funding Bank. The amount so received by the Funding Bank shall, subject to the terms and conditions of the Loan Documents and upon instruction from the Agent to the Funding Bank on the same day or immediately preceding day but no later than 10:00 A.M., be made available to the Borrower by delivery of the Alternative Currency Equivalent Amount to the Borrower's account with the Funding Bank.

- (iii) If requested by the Borrower through the Agent, before 12:00 noon at least four Business Days before the beginning of any Interest Period applicable to a Eurocurrency Rate Loan, each Lender will advise the Agent before 10:00 A.M. three Business Days preceding the beginning of such Interest Period as to whether, if the Borrower selects an Interest Period of nine or twelve months, such Lender expects that deposits in Dollars or the applicable Alternative Currency, as the case may be, with a term corresponding to such Interest Period will be available to it two Business Days preceding such Interest Period in the amount and for the duration required to fund the Eurocurrency Rate Loan to which such Interest Period would apply. If, but only if, each Lender confirms that it expects such deposits to be available to it on terms acceptable to such Lender, in its own discretion, then the Borrower shall be entitled to select a duration of nine or twelve months for such Interest Period.
- (d) Repayment of Revolving Loans. (i) The principal amount of each Revolving Loan shall be due and payable to the Agent for the benefit of each Lender in full on the Termination Date applicable to such Lender, or earlier as specifically provided herein. The principal amount of any Revolving Loan may be prepaid without penalty or premium in whole or in part on any Business Day, upon (A) at least three (3) Business Days' irrevocable telephonic notice in the case of each Eurocurrency Rate Revolving Loan from an Authorized Representative (effective upon receipt) to the Agent prior to 12:00 noon and (B) irrevocable telephonic notice in the case of each Base Rate Revolving Loan from an Authorized Representative (effective upon receipt) to the Agent prior to 12:00 noon on the day of such proposed repayment. The Agent shall give the Lenders prompt notice of all such notices of prepayment. The Authorized Representative shall provide the Agent written confirmation of each such telephonic notice but failure to provide such confirmation shall not affect the validity of such telephonic notice. All prepayments of Revolving Loans made by the Borrower shall be in the Dollar Equivalent Amount of \$10,000,000 or such greater Dollar Equivalent Amount which is an integral multiple of \$1,000,000 (provided that repayments in an Alternative Currency shall be approximately equal to such amounts), or the amount equal to all Revolving Credit Outstandings, or such other amount as necessary to comply with Section 2.1(b). Any prepayment of a Eurocurrency Rate Revolving Loan shall be accompanied by all accrued interest thereon, together with any additional amounts required pursuant to Section 4.5.
- (ii) Unless the Borrower or any Lender has notified the Agent, prior to the date any payment is required to be made by it to the Agent hereunder, that the Borrower or such Lender, as the case may be, will not make such payment, the Agent may assume that the Borrower or such Lender, as the case may be, has timely made such payment and may (but shall not be so required to), in reliance thereon, make available a corresponding amount to the Person entitled thereto. If and to the extent that such payment was not in fact made to the Agent in Same Day Funds, then:
 - (A) if the Borrower failed to make such payment, each Lender shall forthwith on demand repay to the Agent the portion of such assumed payment that was made available to such Lender in Same Day Funds, together with interest thereon in respect of each day from and including the date such amount was made available by the Agent to such Lender to the date such amount is repaid to the Agent in Same Day Funds, at the applicable Overnight Rate from time to time in effect; and

(B) if any Lender failed to make such payment, such Lender shall forthwith on demand pay to the Agent the amount thereof in Same Day Funds, together with interest thereon for the period from the date such amount was made available by the Agent to the Borrower to the date such amount is recovered by the Agent (the "Compensation Period") at a rate per annum equal to the applicable Overnight Rate from time to time in effect. If such Lender pays such amount to the Agent, then such amount shall constitute such Lender's Revolving Loan or Competitive Bid Loan, as the case may be, included in the applicable Advance. If such Lender does not pay such amount forthwith upon the Agent's demand therefor, the Agent may make a demand therefor upon the Borrower, and the Borrower shall pay such amount to the Agent, together with interest thereon for the Compensation Period at a rate per annum equal to the rate of interest applicable to the applicable Advance. Nothing herein shall be deemed to relieve any Lender from its obligation to fulfill its Revolving Credit Commitment or to prejudice any rights which the Agent or the Borrower may have against any Lender as a result of any default by such Lender hereunder.

A notice of the Agent to any Lender with respect to any amount owing under this subsection (ii) shall be conclusive, absent manifest error.

(e) Reductions. The Borrower shall, by notice from an Authorized Representative, have the right from time to time, upon not less than three (3) Business Days' written notice to the Agent, effective upon receipt, to reduce the Total Revolving Credit Commitment, which reduction shall be applied pro rata to the Revolving Credit Commitments of the Lenders. The Agent shall give each Lender, within one (1) Business Day of receipt of such notice, telefacsimile notice, or telephonic notice (confirmed in writing), of such reduction. Each such reduction shall be in the aggregate amount of \$10,000,000 or such greater amount which is in an integral multiple of \$1,000,000, or the entire remaining Total Revolving Credit Commitment, and shall permanently reduce the Total Revolving Credit Commitment. Each reduction of the Total Revolving Credit Commitment shall be accompanied by payment of the Loans to the extent that the principal amount of Outstandings exceeds the Total Revolving Credit Commitment after giving effect to such reduction, together with accrued and unpaid interest on the amounts prepaid and any amount required under Section 4.5.

2.2 Competitive Bid Loans.

(a) In addition to borrowings of Revolving Loans, at any time prior to the final Termination Date and provided that no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, the Borrower may, as set forth in this Section 2.2, request the Lenders to make offers to make Competitive Bid Loans to the Borrower in Dollars or in an Alternative Currency. The Lenders may, but shall have no obligation to, make such offers and the Borrower may, but shall have no obligation to, accept any such offers. Competitive Bid Loans shall be Absolute Rate Loans. Immediately after giving effect to each Competitive Bid Loan (i) the aggregate Dollar Equivalent Amount of Outstandings shall not exceed the then applicable Total Revolving Credit Commitment and (ii) the aggregate Dollar Equivalent Amount of Outstandings in Alternative Currences shall not exceed the Total Alternative Currency Sublimit. Each Competitive Bid Loan shall be deemed to be a usage of the available amount of each Lender's Revolving Credit Commitment Percentage of such

Competitive Bid Loan, notwithstanding that such Lender may have advanced all, some or none of the principal amount of such Competitive Bid Loan. The principal amount of each Competitive Bid Loan shall be due and payable to the Agent for the benefit of the applicable Competitive Bid Lender in full at the end of the Interest Period with respect to such Competitive Bid Loan, or earlier as specifically provided herein.

- (b) When the Borrower wishes to request offers to make Competitive Bid Loans, it shall give the Agent (which shall promptly notify the Lenders) notice (a "Competitive Bid Quote Request") to be received no later than (i) in the case of Competitive Bid Loans requested in an Alternative Currency, 12:00 noon on the date that is at least three (3) Business Days prior to the date of such proposed borrowing and (ii) in the case of Competitive Bid Loans requested in Dollars, 1:00 P.M. on the Business Day immediately preceding the date of borrowing proposed therein (or such other time and date as the Borrower and the Agent, with the consent of the Required Lenders, may agree). The Borrower may request offers from the Lenders to make Competitive Bid Loans for more than one Interest Period in a single notice; provided that the request for each separate Interest Period shall be deemed to be a separate Competitive Bid Quote Request for a separate borrowing (a "Competitive Bid Borrowing") of one or more Competitive Bid Loans from the Lenders. Each such Competitive Bid Quote Request shall be substantially in the form of Exhibit H hereto and shall specify as to each Competitive Bid Borrowing:
 - (i) the proposed date of such Competitive Bid Borrowing, which shall be a Business Day;
 - (ii) the aggregate amount of such Competitive Bid Borrowing, which shall be at least \$10,000,000 (or the Dollar Equivalent Amount thereof in any Alternative Currency) or a larger integral multiple of \$1,000,000 (or the Dollar Equivalent Amount thereof in any Alternative Currency) but shall not cause the limits specified in Section 2.2(a) to be violated;
 - (iii) the duration of the Interest Period applicable thereto;
 - (iv) the requested Alternative Currency if the Competitive Bid Borrowing is in an Alternative Currency; and
 - (v) if the Borrower would like Competitive Bid Quotes submitted for a proposed Competitive Bid Borrowing in Dollars prior to the date of such Competitive Bid Borrowing, the time and date on which such Competitive Bid Quotes are to be submitted;

Except as otherwise provided in this Section 2.2(b), no Competitive Bid Quote Request shall be given within five (5) Business Days (or such other number of days as the Borrower and the Agent, with the consent of the Required Lenders, may agree) of any other Competitive Bid Quote Request.

(c) (i) Each Lender may submit one or more Competitive Bid Quotes, each containing an offer to make a Competitive Bid Loan in response to any Competitive Bid Quote Request; provided, that, if the Borrower's request under Section 2.2(b) specifies more than one

Interest Period, such Lender may make a single submission containing one or more Competitive Bid Quotes for each such Interest Period. Each Competitive Bid Quote must be submitted to the Agent not later than (x) in the case of a proposed Competitive Bid Borrowing in an Alternative Currency, 9:30 A.M. on the date that is at least two (2) Business Days prior to the date of such proposed Competitive Bid Borrowing, (y) in the case of a proposed Competitive Bid Borrowing in Dollars, 10:00 A.M. on the date of such proposed Competitive Bid Borrowing or such earlier date as the Borrower may set forth in the Competitive Bid Quote Request or (z) such other time and date as the Borrower and the Agent, with the consent of the Required Lenders, may agree and the Agent shall promptly notify all Lenders of such other agreed upon time and date (the date on which such Competitive Bid Quotes are to be submitted is called the "Quotation Date"); provided, that any Competitive Bid Quote may be submitted by the Agent (or 15 minutes prior to such other agreed upon time) on the Quotation Date in the case of Competitive Bid Loans requested in Dollars and 9:45 A.M. (or 15 minutes prior to such other agreed upon time) on the Quotation Date in the case of Competitive Bid Loans requested in Dollars and 9:45 A.M. (or 15 minutes prior to such other agreed upon time) on the Quotation Date in the case of Competitive Bid Loans requested in an Alternative Currency. Subject to the express provisions of this Agreement, any Competitive Bid Quote so made shall be irrevocable except with the consent of the Agent given at the instruction of the Borrower.

- (ii) Each Competitive Bid Quote shall be substantially in the form of Exhibit I hereto and shall specify:
 - (A) the proposed date of borrowing and the Interest Period therefor;
- (B) the principal amount of the Competitive Bid Loan for which such offer is being made, which principal amount shall be at least \$10,000,000 (or the Dollar Equivalent Amount thereof in any Alternative Currency) or a larger multiple of \$1,000,000 (or the Dollar Equivalent Amount thereof in any Alternative Currency); provided, that the aggregate principal amount of all Competitive Bid Loans for which a Lender submits Competitive Bid Quotes may not exceed the principal amount of the Competitive Bid Borrowing for a particular Interest Period for which offers were requested;
- (C) the rate of interest per annum (rounded upwards, if necessary, to the nearest 1/10,000th of 1%) offered for each such Competitive Bid Loan (the 'Absolute Rate''); and
 - (D) the identity of the quoting Lender.

Unless otherwise agreed by the Agent and the Borrower, no Competitive Bid Quote shall contain qualifying, conditional or similar language or propose terms other than or in addition to those set forth in the applicable Competitive Bid Quote Request and, in particular, no Competitive Bid Quote may be conditioned upon acceptance by the Borrower of all (or some specified minimum) of the principal amount of the Competitive Bid Loan for which such Competitive Bid Quote is being made.

- (d) The Agent shall, as promptly as practicable after the Competitive Bid Quote is submitted but in any event not later than 10:30 A.M. (or thirty minutes after such other agreed upon time) on the Quotation Date in the case of Competitive Bid Loans requested in Dollars and 10:00 A.M. (or thirty minutes after such other agreed upon time) on the Quotation Date in the case of Competitive Bid Loans requested in an Alternative Currency, notify the Borrower of the terms (i) of any Competitive Bid Quote submitted by a Lender that is in accordance with Section 2.2(c) and (ii) of any Competitive Bid Quote that amends, modifies or is otherwise inconsistent with a previous Competitive Bid Quote submitted by such Lender with respect to the same Competitive Bid Quote Request. Any such subsequent Competitive Bid Quote shall be disregarded by the Agent unless such subsequent Competitive Bid Quote is submitted solely to correct a manifest error in such former Competitive Bid Quote. The Agent's notice to the Borrower shall specify (A) the aggregate principal amount of the Competitive Bid Loans for which Competitive Bid Quotes have been received and (B) the respective principal amounts and Absolute Rates so offered by each Lender (identifying the Lender that made each Competitive Bid Quote).
- (e) Not later than 11:00 A.M. (or thirty minutes after the Agent has provided the notice required by Section 2.2(d)) on the Quotation Date for Competitive Bid Loans requested in Dollars and 11:00 A.M. (or thirty minutes after the Agent has provided the notice required by Section 2.2(d)) on the Quotation Date for Competitive Bid Loans requested in an Alternative Currency, the Borrower shall notify the Agent of its acceptance or nonacceptance of the Competitive Bid Quotes so notified to it pursuant to Section 2.2(d) (and the failure of the Borrower to give such notice by such time shall constitute nonacceptance) and the Agent shall promptly notify each affected Lender. In the case of acceptance, such notice shall specify the aggregate principal amount of Competitive Bid Quotes for each Interest Period that are accepted. The Borrower may accept any Competitive Bid Quote in whole or in part; provided that:
 - (i) the aggregate principal amount of each Competitive Bid Borrowing may not exceed the applicable amount set forth in the related Competitive Bid Quote Request;
 - (ii) the aggregate principal amount of each Competitive Bid Borrowing shall be at least \$10,000,000 (or the Dollar Equivalent Amount thereof in any Alternative Currency) or a larger multiple of \$1,000,000 (or the Dollar Equivalent Amount thereof in any Alternative Currency) but shall not cause the limits specified in <u>Section 2.2(a)</u> to be violated:
 - (iii) acceptance of Competitive Bid Quotes may be made only in ascending order of Absolute Rates, beginning with the lowest rate so offered; and
 - (iv) the Borrower may not accept any offer where the Agent has correctly advised the Borrower that such offer fails to comply with Section 2.2(c)(ii) or otherwise fails to comply with the requirements of this Agreement (including, without limitation, Section 2.2(a)).

If Competitive Bid Quotes are made by two or more Lenders with the same Absolute Rates, for an aggregate principal amount that is greater than the amount in respect of which Competitive Bid Quotes are accepted for the related Interest Period (after taking into account the acceptance

of all Competitive Bid Quotes with lower Absolute Rates, if any, offered by any Lender for such related Interest Period), then the principal amount of the Competitive Bid Loans in respect of which such Competitive Bid Quotes are accepted shall be allocated by the Borrower among such Lenders as nearly as possible (in amounts of at least \$1,000,000 or the Dollar Equivalent Amount thereof in any Alternative Currency) in proportion to the aggregate principal amount of such Competitive Bid Quotes. Determinations by the Borrower of the amounts of Competitive Bid Loans and the lowest bid after adjustment as provided in Section 2.2(e)(iii) shall be conclusive in the absence of manifest error.

- (f) (i) In the case of Competitive Bid Loans in Dollars, not later than 1:00 P.M. on the date specified for any Competitive Bid Loan, any Lender whose offer to make such Competitive Bid Loan has been accepted shall make the amount of such Loan available to the Agent at the Principal Office in Dollars and in immediately available funds, for account of the Borrower. The amount so received by the Agent shall, subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, be made available to the Borrower on such date by depositing the same, in Dollars and in immediately available funds, in an account of the Borrower maintained at the Principal Office or otherwise as shall be directed by an Authorized Representative and reasonably acceptable to the Agent.
 - (ii) In the case of Competitive Bid Loans in an Alternative Currency, not later than 10:00 A.M. on the date specified for any Competitive Bid Loan, any Lender whose offer to make such Competitive Bid Loan has been accepted shall make the amount of such Loan available to the Borrower at the Funding Bank, to the account of the applicable Competitive Bid Lender with the Funding Bank. The amount so received by the Funding Bank shall, subject to the terms and conditions of the Loan Documents and upon instruction from the Agent to the Funding Bank on the same day or immediately preceding day but no later than 10:00 A.M., be made available to the Borrower by delivery of the Alternative Currency Equivalent Amount to the Borrower's account with the Funding Bank.

2.3 Utilization of Alternative Currencies.

(a) Each request for an Advance or Loan in an Alternative Currency under a Borrowing Notice or Competitive Bid Quote Request, as the case may be, shall constitute the Borrower's request for a Loan of the Dollar Equivalent Amount of the amount of the Alternative Currency specified in such Borrowing Notice or Competitive Bid Quote Request, as the case may be, and for such Loan to be made available by the Lenders to the Borrower in the Alternative Currency Equivalent Amount (determined based on the Advance Date Exchange Rate applicable to such Advance or Loan). The principal amount outstanding on any Loan shall be recorded in the Agent's records in Dollars (in the case of an Advance or Loan in an Alternative Currency as if the Loan had initially been made in Dollars), based on the Dollar Equivalent Amount of the initial Advance or Loan in an Alternative Currency, as reduced from time to time by the Dollar Equivalent Amount (based on the Advance Date Exchange Rate applicable to such Advance or Loan) of any principal payments with respect to such Advance or Loan. For the purposes of determining the maximum amount of Outstandings hereunder, it is intended by the parties that all Loans shall be the functional equivalent of Loans made and repaid (based on the applicable Advance Date Exchange Rate for each Advance) in Dollars. It is

recognized that one or more Lenders may elect to record Loans or Advances in Alternative Currencies. The Agent shall maintain records sufficient to identify at any time (A) the Advance Date Exchange Rate with respect to each Advance and Loan and (B) the portion of the Outstandings attributable to each Advance.

- (b) The Borrower may elect to Continue a Eurocurrency Rate Loan pursuant to the terms of Section 3.2(b) and subject to the conditions set forth in this Section 2.3(b). In the event a Eurocurrency Rate Loan is Continued, such election to Continue the Eurocurrency Rate Loan shall be treated as an Advance and the Agent shall notify the Borrower and the Lenders of the Advance Date Exchange Rate, the Interest Period and the rate for such Continued Eurocurrency Rate Loan. The Lenders shall each be deemed to have made an Advance to the Borrower of its Applicable Commitment Percentage of each Revolving Loan in an Alternative Currency and the Agent shall apply the Advance Date Exchange Rate for such new Interest Period to such Continued Alternative Currency Equivalent Amount to determine the new Dollar Equivalent Amount of such Revolving Loan and shall adjust its books and the Revolving Credit Outstandings. In the event that such adjustment with respect to a Continued Revolving Loan would cause (x) the total Dollar Equivalent Amount of Outstandings to exceed the Total Revolving Credit Commitment or (y) the total Dollar Equivalent Amount of Outstandings in Alternative Currencies to exceed the Total Alternative Currency Sublimit, the Borrower shall, immediately on the effective date of such Continuation, repay (a "Rate Adjustment Payment") the portion of such Continued Revolving Loan (applying the new Advance Date Exchange Rate) necessary to ensure that (xx) the Dollar Equivalent Amount of all Outstandings does not exceed the Total Revolving Credit Commitment and (yy) the Dollar Equivalent Amount of all Outstandings in Alternative Currencies does not exceed the Total Alternative Currency Sublimit, provided, however, that the Borrower shall not be required to pay any additional compensation pursuant to Section 4.5 with respect to a prepayment of a Revolving Loan required by this sentence if such prepayment is made immediately on the effective date of the Continuation giving rise to such prepayment and no notice of such prepayment shall be required. If the Agent does not receive an Interest Rate Selection Notice giving notice of election of the duration of an Interest Period or Continuation of a Eurocurrency Rate Loan by the time prescribed in Sections 2.1(c)(i) or 3.2(b), as applicable, the Borrower shall be deemed to have elected to Continue such Eurocurrency Rate Loan and selected an Interest Period of one month. The Borrower shall not be entitled to elect to Continue any Eurocurrency Rate Loan if a Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing.
- 2.4 <u>Use of Proceeds</u>. The proceeds of the Loans made pursuant to the Revolving Credit Facility hereunder shall be used by the Borrower for general working capital needs and other lawful corporate purposes including without limitation the making of acquisitions and, subject to <u>Section 6.10</u>, repurchases of outstanding shares of its common stock.

2.5 Evidence of Debt.

(a) The Loans made by each Lender shall be evidenced by one or more accounts or records maintained by such Lender and by the Agent in the ordinary course of business. The accounts or records maintained by the Agent and each Lender shall be conclusive absent manifest error of the amount of the Loans made by the Lenders to the Borrower and the interest and payments thereon. Any failure to so record or any error in doing so shall not, however, limit

or otherwise affect the obligation of the Borrower hereunder to pay any amount owing with respect to the Obligations. In the event of any conflict between the accounts and records maintained by any Lender and the accounts and records of the Agent in respect of such matters, the accounts and records of the Agent shall control in the absence of manifest error. Upon the request of any Lender to the Borrower made through the Agent, the Borrower shall execute and deliver to such Lender (through the Agent) a Note, which shall evidence such Lender's Loans to such Borrower in addition to such accounts or records. Each Lender may attach schedules to a Note and endorse thereon the date, Type (if applicable), amount, currency and maturity of its Loans and payments with respect thereto.

(b) In addition to the accounts and records referred to in subsection (a), each Lender and the Agent shall maintain in accordance with its usual practice accounts or records evidencing the purchases and sales by such Lender of participations in Letters of Credit and Swing Line Loans. In the event of any conflict between the accounts and records maintained by the Agent and the accounts and records of any Lender in respect of such matters, the accounts and records of the Agent shall control in the absence of manifest error.

2.6 Swing Line Loans.

(a) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary, in order to administer the Revolving Credit Facility in an efficient manner and to minimize the transfer of funds between the Agent and the Lenders, the Swing Line Lender agrees, in reliance upon the agreements of the other Lenders set forth in this Section 2.6. to make available Swing Line Loans in Dollars to the Borrower prior to the Termination Date applicable to the Swing Line Lender. The Swing Line Lender shall not be obligated to make any Swing Line Loan pursuant hereto (and shall not unless otherwise approved by the Required Lenders) (i) if to the actual knowledge of the Swing Line Lender the Borrower is not in compliance with all the conditions to the making of Revolving Loans set forth in this Agreement, (ii) if after giving effect to such Swing Line Outstandings exceed \$100,000,000, or (iii) if after giving effect to such Swing Line Loan, the Outstandings exceed \$100,000,000,000, or (iii) if after giving effect to such Swing Line Loan, the Outstandings exceed the then applicable Total Revolving Credit Commitment. Each Swing Line Loan shall mature, and the principal amount thereof, together with any accrued interest thereon, shall be payable (if not previously prepaid) in full to the Swing Line Lender on the fifth Business Day after such Swing Line Loan is made. The Borrower may, subject to the conditions set forth in the preceding two sentences, borrow, repay and reborrow under this Section 2.6. Unless notified to the contrary by the Swing Line Lender, borrowings under the Swing Line shall be made in the minimum amount of \$500,000 or, if greater, in amounts which are integral multiples of \$500,000, upon written request by telefacsimile transmission, effective upon receipt, by an Authorized Representative of the Borrower made to the Swing Line Lender not later than 2:00 P.M. on the Business Day of the requested borrowing. Each such Borrowing Notice shall specify the amount of the borrowing and the date of borrowing, and shall be

(b) The interest payable on Swing Line Loans is solely for the account of the Swing Line Lender, except to the extent that Lenders have funded their respective Participations in such

Swing Line Loans. Swing Line Loans shall bear interest solely at the Swing Line Rate. All accrued and unpaid interest on Swing Line Loans shall be payable, on the dates and in the manner provided in Section 3.3 with respect to interest on Base Rate Loans.

- (c) The Borrower, at its option and subject to the terms hereof, may request an Advance pursuant to Section 2.1 in an amount sufficient to repay Swing Line Outstandings on any date and the Agent shall provide from the proceeds of such Advance to the Swing Line Lender the amount necessary to repay such Swing Line Outstandings (which the Swing Line Lender shall then apply to such repayment) and credit any balance of the Advance in immediately available funds in the manner directed by the Borrower pursuant to Section 2.1(c)(ii)(A). The proceeds of such Advances shall be paid to the Swing Line Lender for application to the Swing Line Outstandings and the Lenders shall then be deemed to have made Loans in the amount of such Advances. The Swing Line shall continue in effect until the Termination Date applicable to the Swing Line Lender, at which time all Swing Line Outstandings and accrued interest thereon shall be due and payable in full.
- (d) (i) Upon the making of a Swing Line Loan in accordance with paragraph (a) above, each Lender shall be deemed to have purchased from the Swing Line Lender a Participation therein in an amount equal to that Lender's Applicable Commitment Percentage of such Swing Line Loan. Upon demand made by the Swing Line Lender, each Lender shall, according to its Applicable Commitment Percentage of such Swing Line Loan, promptly provide to the Swing Line Lender its purchase price therefor in an amount equal to its Participation therein. Any Advance made by a Lender pursuant to demand of the Swing Line Lender of the purchase price of its Participation shall when made be deemed to be the funding by each Lender of the purchase price of its Participation in such Swing Line Loan. Each Lender shall make an amount equal to its Applicable Commitment Percentage of the amount of such Swing Line Loan available to the Agent in Same Day Funds for the account of the Swing Line Lender at the [Agent's Office] for Dollar-denominated payments not later than 1:00 P.M. on the day specified by the Swing Line Lender (if such notice shall have been received by the Lenders not later than 11:00 A.M. on such day) or not later than 1:00 P.M. on the next succeeding Business Day (if such notice shall have been received by the Lenders later than 11:00 A.M.), whereupon each Lender that so makes funds available shall have funded the purchase price of its Participation in such Swing Line Loan. The Agent shall remit the funds so received to the Swing Line Lender.
 - (ii) If any Lender fails to make available to the Agent for the account of the Swing Line Lender any amount required to be paid by such Lender pursuant to the foregoing provisions of this Section 2.6(d) by the time specified in Section 2.6(d)(i), the Swing Line Lender shall be entitled to recover from such Lender (acting through the Agent), on demand, such amount with interest thereon for the period from the date such payment is required to the date on which such payment is immediately available to the Swing Line Lender at a rate per annum equal to the applicable Overnight Rate from time to time in effect, plus any administrative, processing or similar fees customarily charged by the Swing Line Lender in connection with the foregoing. If such Lender pays such amount (with interest and fees as aforesaid), the amount so paid shall constitute such Lender's funded participation in the relevant Swing Line Loan. A certificate of the Swing Line Lender submitted to any Lender (through the Agent) with respect to any amounts owing under this clause (iii) shall be conclusive absent manifest error.

- (iii) Each Lender's obligation to purchase and fund risk participations in Swing Line Loans pursuant to this Section 2.6(d) shall be absolute and unconditional and shall not be affected by any circumstance, including (A) any setoff, counterclaim, recoupment, defense or other right which such Lender may have against the Swing Line Lender, the Borrower or any other Person for any reason whatsoever, (B) the occurrence or continuance of a Default, or (C) any other occurrence, event or condition, whether or not similar to any of the foregoing. No such funding of risk participations shall relieve or otherwise impair the obligation of the Borrower to repay Swing Line Loans, together with interest as provided herein.
- (iv) At any time after any Lender has purchased and funded a risk participation in a Swing Line Loan, if the Swing Line Lender receives any payment on account of such Swing Line Loan, the Swing Line Lender will distribute to such Lender its Applicable Commitment Percentage thereof in the same funds as those received by the Swing Line Lender.
- (v) If any payment received by the Swing Line Lender in respect of principal or interest on any Swing Line Loan is required to be returned by the Swing Line Lender pursuant to any Debtor Relief Law or otherwise (including pursuant to any settlement entered into by the Swing Line Lender in its discretion), each Lender shall pay to the Swing Line Lender its Applicable Commitment Percentage thereof on demand of the Agent, plus interest thereon from the date of such demand to the date such amount is returned, at a rate per annum equal to the applicable Overnight Rate. The Agent will make such demand upon the request of the Swing Line Lender. The obligations of the Lenders under this clause shall survive the payment in full of the Obligations and the termination of this Agreement.
- 2.7 <u>Increase in Total Revolving Credit Commitment</u> (a) The Borrower, the Agent and any Lender or any other Person qualifying as an Eligible Assignee but for the absence of an assignment, or any combination of such Lenders and such Persons (collectively, "<u>New Lenders</u>"), may (in their sole discretion) enter into one or more amendment agreements substantially in the form of <u>Exhibit J</u> hereto and incorporated herein by reference without further approval of the Lenders (or any other New Lender) pursuant to which each New Lender agrees to incur or increase, as the case may be, its Revolving Credit Commitment so as to make available to the Borrower, subject to all conditions herein set forth, Revolving Loans in the maximum aggregate Dollar Equivalent Amount (for all New Lenders) of up to \$250,000,000 thereby increasing the Total Revolving Credit Commitment to up to the Dollar Equivalent Amount of \$1,250,000,000; <u>provided</u> that
 - (i) each such increase shall be in an amount at least equal to \$20,000,000 or an integral multiple of \$5,000,000 in excess thereof;
 - (ii) the Borrower shall execute and deliver to the Agent (A) board resolutions of the Borrower certified by its secretary or assistant secretary approving and adopting such increase, and (B) the legal opinion of either the General Counsel of the Borrower or special counsel to the Borrower as to the due authorization, execution and delivery of this Agreement, as amended by such increase, the enforceability thereof and no conflict

thereof with the Organizational Documents, by-laws and material agreements of the Borrower, all in form and substance substantially similar to such opinions delivered on the Closing Date in satisfaction of Section 5.1(a)(ii); and

- (iii) no Default or Event of Default then exists or would arise as a result of any such increase.
- (b) Upon the execution, delivery and acceptance of the documents required by this <u>Section 2.7</u>, each New Lender shall have all of the rights and obligations of a Lender under this Agreement. The Agent shall provide the Lenders with notice of the revised Total Revolving Credit Commitment and the revised Applicable Commitment Percentages of the Lenders, including the New Lenders.
- (c) Upon the effectiveness of an increase provided for in this Section 2.7, if any Revolving Loans are then outstanding, the Borrower shall prepay to certain Revolving Lenders an Outstanding Amount of such Revolving Loans outstanding (including any additional amounts required pursuant to Section 4.5) and borrow from certain other Revolving Lenders new Revolving Loans as are necessary so that, after giving effect to such prepayments and Borrowings on such date of all or any portion of the relevant increase of the Total Revolving Credit Commitment, the principal balance of all outstanding Revolving Loans owing to each Revolving Lender is equivalent to each such Lender's Applicable Commitment Percentage of the Total Revolving Credit Commitment after giving effect to any nonratable increase in the Total Revolving Credit Commitment resulting from the exercise of an increase pursuant to this Section 2.7.

2.8 Letters of Credit.

(a) The Letter of Credit Commitment.

(i) Subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, (A) each L/C Issuer agrees, in reliance upon the agreements of the other Lenders set forth in thisection 2.8, (1) from time to time on any Business Day during the period from the Closing Date until the Letter of Credit Expiration Date, to issue Letters of Credit denominated in Dollars or in one or more Alternative Currencies for the account of the Borrower or any Subsidiary, and to amend or renew Letters of Credit previously issued by it, in accordance with subsection (b) below, and (2) to honor drafts under the Letters of Credit; and (B) the Lenders severally agree to participate in such Letters of Credit; provided that no L/C Issuer shall be obligated to make any L/C Credit Extension with respect to any Letter of Credit, and no Lender shall be obligated to participate in any Letter of Credit, if as of the date of such L/C Credit Extension, the Dollar Equivalent Amount of (w) the Outstandings would exceed the Total Revolving Credit Commitment, (x) the aggregate principal balance of all outstanding Revolving Loans (other than Competitive Bid Loans) of any Lender, plus such Lender's Applicable Commitment Percentage (determined without duplication) of Competitive Bid Outstandings, L/C Obligations and Swing Line Outstandings, would exceed such Lender's Revolving Credit Commitment, (y) the L/C Obligations would exceed the Total Alternative Currencies would exceed the Total Alternative

Currency Sublimit. Within the foregoing limits, and subject to the terms and conditions hereof, the Borrower's ability to obtain Letters of Credit shall be fully revolving, and accordingly the Borrower may, during the foregoing period, obtain Letters of Credit to replace Letters of Credit that have expired or that have been drawn upon and reimbursed.

- (ii) No L/C Issuer shall be under any obligation to issue any Letter of Credit if:
- (A) any order, judgment or decree of any Governmental Authority or arbitrator shall by its terms purport to enjoin or restrain such L/C Issuer from issuing such Letter of Credit, or any law applicable to such L/C Issuer or any request or directive (whether or not having the force of law) from any Governmental Authority with jurisdiction over such L/C Issuer shall prohibit, or request that such L/C Issuer refrain from, the issuance of letters of credit generally or such Letter of Credit in particular or shall impose upon such L/C Issuer with respect to such Letter of Credit any restriction, reserve or capital requirement (for which such L/C Issuer is not otherwise compensated hereunder) not in effect on the Closing Date, or shall impose upon such L/C Issuer any unreimbursed loss, cost or expense which was not applicable on the Closing Date and which such L/C Issuer in good faith deems material to it;
- (B) subject to Section 2.8(b)(iii), the expiry date of such requested Letter of Credit would occur more than twelve months after the date of issuance or last renewal, unless the Required Lenders have approved such expiry date;
 - (C) the expiry date of such requested Letter of Credit would occur after the Letter of Credit Expiration Date, unless all the Lenders have approved such expiry date;
 - (D) the issuance of such Letter of Credit would violate one or more policies of such L/C Issuer applicable to letters of credit generally;
 - (E) the L/C Issuer does not as of the issuance date of such requested Letter of Credit issue Letters of Credit in the requested currency; or
 - (F) such Letter of Credit is in a face amount less than \$50,000 or is to be denominated in a currency other than Dollars or an Alternative Currency.
- (iii) No L/C Issuer shall be under any obligation to amend any Letter of Credit if (A) such L/C Issuer would have no obligation at such time to issue such Letter of Credit in its amended form under the terms hereof, or (B) the beneficiary of such Letter of Credit does not accept the proposed amendment to such Letter of Credit.
- (iv) The Lenders acknowledge that the Existing Letters of Credit have been issued for the account of the Borrower prior to the Closing Date and agree to participate in such Existing Letters of Credit to the same extent and on the same conditions as if such Letters of Credit had been issued pursuant to this Section 2.8. All Existing Letters of

Credit shall be deemed to have been issued pursuant hereto, and from and after the Closing Date shall be subject to and governed by the terms and conditions hereof.

(v) Each L/C Issuer shall act on behalf of the Lenders with respect to any Letters of Credit issued by it and the Letter of Credit Application associated therewith, and such L/C Issuer shall have all of the benefits and immunities (A) provided to the Agent in Article X with respect to any acts taken or omissions suffered by the L/C Issuer in connection with Letters of Credit issued by it or proposed to be issued by it and the Letter of Credit Applications pertaining to such Letters of Credit as fully as if the term "Agent" as used in Article X included the L/C Issuer with respect to such acts or omissions, and (B) as additionally provided herein with respect to the L/C Issuer.

(b) Procedures for Issuance and Amendment of Letters of Credit; Auto-Renewal Letters of Credit

(i) Each Letter of Credit shall be issued or amended, as the case may be, upon the request of the Borrower delivered to a L/C Issuer (with a copy to the Agent) in the form of a Letter of Credit Application, appropriately completed and signed by a Responsible Officer of the Borrower. Such Letter of Credit Application must be received by the applicable L/C Issuer and the Agent not later than 11:00 A.M., at least two Business Days (five Business Days for Letters of Credit denominated in an Alternative Currency) (or such later date and time as such L/C Issuer may agree in a particular instance in its sole discretion) prior to the proposed issuance date or date of amendment, as the case may be. In the case of a request for an initial issuance of a Letter of Credit, such Letter of Credit Application shall specify in form and detail satisfactory to such L/C Issuer: (A) the proposed issuance date of the requested Letter of Credit (which shall be a Business Day); (B) the amount thereof; (C) the expiry date thereof; (D) the name and address of the beneficiary thereof; (E) the documents to be presented by such beneficiary in case of any drawing thereunder; and (G) such other matters as such L/C Issuer may require. In the case of a request for an amendment of any outstanding Letter of Credit, such Letter of Credit Application shall specify in form and detail satisfactory to the applicable L/C Issuer (A) the Letter of Credit to be amended; (B) the proposed date of amendment thereof (which shall be a Business Day); (C) the nature of the proposed amendment; and (D) such other matters as such L/C Issuer may require.

(ii) Promptly after receipt of any Letter of Credit Application, the applicable L/C Issuer will confirm with the Agent (by telephone or in writing) that the Agent has received a copy of such Letter of Credit Application from the Borrower and, if not, such L/C Issuer will provide the Agent with a copy thereof. Upon receipt by such L/C Issuer of confirmation from the Agent that the requested issuance or amendment is permitted in accordance with the terms hereof, then, subject to the terms and conditions hereof, such L/C Issuer shall, on the requested date, issue a Letter of Credit for the account of the Borrower or enter into the applicable amendment, as the case may be, in each case in accordance with such L/C Issuer's usual and customary business practices. Immediately upon the issuance of each Letter of Credit, each Lender shall be deemed to, and hereby irrevocably and unconditionally agrees to, purchase from the applicable L/C Issuer a risk

participation in such Letter of Credit in an amount equal to the product of such Lender's Applicable Commitment Percentagetimes the amount of such Letter of Credit.

- (iii) If the Borrower so requests in any applicable Letter of Credit Application, the applicable L/C Issuer may, in it sole and absolute discretion, agree to issue a Letter of Credit that has automatic renewal provisions (each, an "Auto-Renewal Letter of Credit"); provided that any such Auto-Renewal Letter of Credit must permit such L/C Issuer to prevent any such renewal at least once in each twelve-month period (commencing with the date of issuance of such Letter of Credit) by giving prior notice to the beneficiary thereof not later than a day (the "Nonrenewal Notice Date") in each such twelve-month period to be agreed upon at the time such Letter of Credit is issued. Unless otherwise directed by such L/C Issuer, the Borrower shall not be required to make a specific request to such L/C Issuer for any such renewal. Once an Auto-Renewal Letter of Credit has been issued, the Lenders shall be deemed to have authorized (but may not require) such L/C Issuer to permit the renewal of such Letter of Credit at any time to a date not later than the Letter of Credit Expiration Date; provided, however that such L/C Issuer shall not permit any such renewal if (A) such L/C Issuer would have no obligation at such time to issue such Letter of Credit in its renewed form under the terms hereof, or (B) it has received notice (which may be ytelephone or in writing) on or before the day that is two Business Days before the Nonrenewal Notice Date (1) from the Agent that the Required Lenders have elected not to permit such renewal or (2) from the Agent, any Lender or the Borrower that one or more of the applicable conditions specified in Section 5.2 is not then satisfied.
- (iv) Promptly after its delivery of any Letter of Credit or any amendment to a Letter of Credit to an advising bank with respect thereto or to the beneficiary thereof, the applicable L/C Issuer will also deliver to the Borrower and the Agent a true and complete copy of such Letter of Credit or amendment.

(c) Drawings and Reimbursements; Funding of Participations.

(i) Upon receipt from the beneficiary of any Letter of Credit of any notice of a drawing under such Letter of Credit, the applicable L/C Issuer shall notify the Borrower and the Agent thereof. The Borrower shall reimburse such L/C Issuer through the Agent in an amount equal to the Dollar Equivalent Amount of such drawing (x) if the Borrower shall have received notice of such drawing prior to 10:00 A.M. on any date, not later than 5:00 P.M. on such date, and (y) if the Borrower shall have received notice of such drawing after 10:00 A.M. on any date, not later than 2:00 P.M. on the next Business Day after such date. If the Borrower fails so to reimburse such L/C Issuer by such time, the Agent shall promptly notify each Lender of the date of payment by the applicable L/C Issuer under such Letter of Credit (each such date, an "Honor Date"), the amount of the unreimbursed drawing (the "Unreimbursed Amount"), and such Lender's participation therein. In such event, the Borrower shall be deemed to have requested an Advance to be disbursed on the Honor Date in an amount equal to the Unreimbursed Amount, without regard to the minimum and multiples specified in Section 2.1 for the principal amount of Revolving Loans, but subject to the amount of the unutilized portion of the Total Revolving Credit Commitment and the conditions set forth in Section 5.2 (other than the

delivery of a Borrowing Notice). Any notice given by any L/C Issuer or the Agent pursuant to this Section 2.8(c)(i) may be given by telephone if immediately confirmed in writing; provided that the lack of such an immediate confirmation shall not affect the conclusiveness or binding effect of such notice.

- (ii) Each Lender (including any Lender acting as L/C Issuer) shall upon any notice pursuant to Section 2.8(c)(i) make funds available to the Agent for the account of the applicable L/C Issuer at the Agent's Office for Dollar-denominated payments or Alternative Currency-denominated payments, as applicable with respect to such Unreimbursed Amount, in an amount equal to its Applicable Commitment Percentage of the Unreimbursed Amount not later than 1:00 P.M., on the Business Day specified in such notice by the Agent, whereupon, subject to the provisions of Section 2.8(c)(iii), each Lender that so makes funds available shall be deemed to have made a Eurocurrency Rate Loan with an Interest Period of one month to the Borrower in such amount and in the currency of such Unreimbursed Amount. The Agent shall remit the funds so received to the applicable L/C Issuer.
- (iii) With respect to any Unreimbursed Amount that is not fully refinanced by an Advance of a Base Rate Refunding Loan because the conditions set forth in <u>Section 5.2</u> cannot be satisfied or for any other reason, the Borrower shall be deemed to have incurred from the applicable L/C Issuer an L/C Borrowing in the amount of the Unreimbursed Amount that is not so refinanced, which L/C Borrowing shall be due and payable on demand (together with interest) and shall bear interest at the Default Rate. In such event, each Lender's payment to the Agent for the account of such L/C Issuer pursuant to <u>Section 2.8(c)(ii)</u> shall be deemed payment in respect of its participation in such L/C Borrowing and shall constitute an L/C Advance from such Lender in satisfaction of its participation obligation under this <u>Section 2.8</u>.
- (iv) Until each Lender funds its Revolving Loan or L/C Advance pursuant to this Section 2.8(c) to reimburse the applicable L/C Issuer for any amount drawn under any Letter of Credit, interest in respect of such Lender's Applicable Commitment Percentage of such amount shall be solely for the account of such L/C Issuer.
- (v) Each Lender's obligation to make Revolving Loans or L/C Advances to reimburse the applicable L/C Issuer for amounts drawn under Letters of Credit, as contemplated by this Section 2.8(c), shall be absolute and unconditional and shall not be affected by any circumstance, including (A) any set-off, counterclaim, recoupment, defense or other right which such Lender may have against such L/C Issuer, the Borrower or any other Person for any reason whatsoever; (B) the occurrence or continuance of a Default or Event of Default, or (C) any other occurrence, event or condition, whether or not similar to any of the foregoing; provided, however that each Lender's obligation to make Revolving Loans pursuant to this Section 2.8(c) is subject to the conditions set forth in Section 5.2. Any such reimbursement shall not relieve or otherwise impair the obligation of the Borrower to reimburse such L/C Issuer for the amount of any payment made by such L/C Issuer under any Letter of Credit, together with interest as provided herein.

(vi) If any Lender fails to make available to the Agent for the account of the applicable L/C Issuer any amount required to be paid by such Lender pursuant to the foregoing provisions of this Section 2.8(c) by the time specified in Section 2.8(c)(ii), such L/C Issuer shall be entitled to recover from such Lender (acting through the Agent), on demand, such amount with interest thereon for the period from the date such payment is required to the date on which such payment is immediately available to such L/C Issuer at a rate per annum equal to the applicable Overnight Rate from time to time in effect, plus any administrative, processing or similar fees customarily charged by the L/C Issuer in connection with the foregoing. A certificate of such L/C Issuer submitted to any Lender (through the Agent) with respect to any amounts owing under this clause (vi) shall be conclusive absent manifest error.

(d) Repayment of Participations.

- (i) At any time after the applicable L/C Issuer has made a payment under any Letter of Credit and has received from any Lender such Lender's L/C Advance in respect of such payment in accordance with Section 2.8(c), if the Agent receives for the account of such L/C Issuer any payment related to such Letter of Credit (whether directly from the Borrower or otherwise, including proceeds of Cash Collateral applied thereto by the Agent), or any payment of interest thereon, the Agent will distribute to such Lender its pro rata share thereof in the same funds as those received by the Agent.
- (ii) If any payment received by the Agent for the account of the applicable L/C Issuer pursuant to Section 2.8(c)(i) is required to be returned, each Lender shall pay to the Agent for the account of such L/C Issuer its pro rata share thereof on demand of the Agent, plus interest thereon from the date of such demand to the date such amount is returned by such Lender, at a rate per annum equal to the applicable Overnight Rate from time to time in effect. The obligations of the Lenders under this clause shall survive the payment in full of the Obligations and the termination of this Agreement.
- (e) <u>Obligations Absolute</u>. The obligation of the Borrower to reimburse the applicable L/C Issuer for each drawing under each Letter of Credit, and to repay each L/C Borrowing and each drawing under a Letter of Credit that is refinanced by an Advance of Base Rate Refunding Loans or Eurocurrency Rate Loans, as applicable, shall be absolute, unconditional and irrevocable, and shall be paid strictly in accordance with the terms of this Agreement under all circumstances, including the following:
 - (i) any lack of validity or enforceability of such Letter of Credit, this Agreement, or any other agreement or instrument relating thereto;
 - (ii) the existence of any claim, counterclaim, set-off, defense or other right that the Borrower may have at any time against any beneficiary or any transferee of such Letter of Credit (or any Person for whom any such beneficiary or any such transferee may be acting), the applicable L/C Issuer or any other Person, whether in connection with this Agreement, the transactions contemplated hereby or by such Letter of Credit or any agreement or instrument relating thereto, or any unrelated transaction;

- (iii) any draft, demand, certificate or other document presented under such Letter of Credit proving to be forged, fraudulent, invalid or insufficient in any respect or any statement therein being untrue or inaccurate in any respect; or any loss or delay in the transmission or otherwise of any document required in order to make a drawing under such Letter of Credit:
- (iv) any payment by the applicable L/C Issuer under such Letter of Credit against presentation of a draft or certificate that does not strictly comply with the terms of such Letter of Credit; or any payment made by such L/C Issuer under such Letter of Credit to any Person purporting to be a trustee in bankruptcy, debtor-in-possession, assignee for the benefit of creditors, liquidator, receiver or other representative of or successor to any beneficiary or any transferee of such Letter of Credit, including any arising in connection with any proceeding under any Debtor Relief Law;
- (v) any adverse change in the relevant exchange rates or in the availability of the relevant Alternative Currency to the Borrower or in the relevant currency markets generally; or
- (vi) any other circumstance or happening whatsoever, whether or not similar to any of the foregoing, including any other circumstance that might otherwise constitute a defense available to, or a discharge of, the Borrower.

The Borrower shall promptly examine a copy of each Letter of Credit and each amendment thereto that is delivered to it and, in the event of any claim of noncompliance with the Borrower's instructions or other irregularity, the Borrower will immediately notify the applicable L/C Issuer. The Borrower shall be conclusively deemed to have waived any such claim against such L/C Issuer and its correspondents unless such notice is given as aforesaid.

(f) Role of L/C Issuers. Each Lender and the Borrower agree that, in paying any drawing under a Letter of Credit, no L/C Issuer shall have any responsibility to obtain any document (other than any sight draft, certificates and documents expressly required by the Letter of Credit) or to ascertain or inquire as to the validity or accuracy of any such document or the authority of the Person executing or delivering any such document. No Agent-Related Person nor any of the respective correspondents, participants or assignees of the applicable L/C Issuer shall be liable to any Lender for (i) any action taken or omitted in connection herewith at the request or with the approval of the Lenders or the Required Lenders, as applicable; (ii) any action taken or omitted in the absence of gross negligence or willful misconduct; or (iii) the due execution, effectiveness, validity or enforceability of any document or instrument related to any Letter of Credit or Letter of Credit Application. The Borrower hereby assumes all risks of the acts or omissions of any beneficiary or transferee with respect to its use of any Letter of Credit; provided, however, that this assumption is not intended to, and shall not, preclude the Borrower's pursuing such rights and remedies as it may have against the beneficiary or transferee at law or under any other agreement. No Agent-Related Person, nor any of the respective correspondents, participants or assignees of any L/C Issuer, shall be liable or responsible for any of the matters described in clauses (i) through (v) of Section 2.8(e): provided, however, that anything in such clauses to the contrary notwithstanding, the Borrower may have a claim against the applicable L/C Issuer, and such L/C Issuer may be liable to the Borrower, to the extent, but only to the

extent, of any direct, as opposed to consequential or exemplary, damages suffered by the Borrower which the Borrower proves were caused by such L/C Issuer's willful misconduct or gross negligence or such L/C Issuer's willful failure to pay under any Letter of Credit after the presentation to it by the beneficiary of a sight draft and certificate(s) strictly complying with the terms and conditions of a Letter of Credit. In furtherance and not in limitation of the foregoing, any L/C Issuer may accept documents that appear on their face to be in order, without responsibility for further investigation, regardless of any notice or information to the contrary, and such L/C Issuer shall not be responsible for the validity or sufficiency of any instrument transferring or assigning or purporting to transfer or assign a Letter of Credit or the rights or benefits thereunder or proceeds thereof, in whole or in part, which may prove to be invalid or ineffective for any reason.

- (g) Cash Collateral. Upon the request of the Agent, (i) if any L/C Issuer has honored any full or partial drawing request under any Letter of Credit and such drawing has resulted in an L/C Borrowing that has not been repaid, or (ii) if, as of the Letter of Credit Expiration Date, any Letter of Credit may for any reason remain outstanding and partially or wholly undrawn, the Borrower shall immediately Cash Collateralize the L/C Obligations (in an amount equal to the Dollar Equivalent Amount of such L/C Obligations determined as of the date of such L/C Borrowing or the Letter of Credit Expiration Date, as the case may be). The Agent may, at any time and from time to time after the initial deposit of Cash Collateral, request that additional Cash Collateral be provided in order to protect against the results of exchange rate fluctuations. The Borrower hereby grants the Agent, for the benefit of the L/C Issuers and the Lenders, a Lien on all such cash and deposit account balances. Cash collateral shall be maintained in blocked, interest bearing deposit accounts with the Agent; provided, however, that if cash collateral is being provided in connection with the Facility Termination Date, such cash collateral with respect to each outstanding Letter of Credit shall be maintained in blocked, interest bearing deposit accounts with the applicable L/C Issuer.
- (h) <u>Applicability of ISP and UCP</u>. Unless otherwise expressly agreed by the applicable L/C Issuer and the Borrower when a Letter of Credit is issued (including any such agreement applicable to an Existing Letter of Credit), (i) the rules of the "International Standby Practices 1998" published by the Institute of International Banking Law & Practice (or such later version thereof as may be in effect at the time of issuance) shall apply to each standby Letter of Credit, and (ii) the rules of the Uniform Customs and Practice for Documentary Credits, as most recently published by the International Chamber of Commerce (the "<u>ICC</u>") at the time of issuance shall apply to each commercial Letter of Credit
- (i) Letter of Credit Fees. The Borrower shall pay to the Agent for the account of each Lender in accordance with its Applicable Commitment Percentage a Letter of Credit fee for each Letter of Credit equal to the Applicable Margin for Letters of Credit times the Dollar Equivalent Amount of the actual daily maximum amount available to be drawn under each Letter of Credit. Such Letter of Credit fee shall be computed on a quarterly basis in arrears. Such fee for each Letter of Credit shall be due and payable on the last Business Day of each March, June, September and December, commencing with the first such date to occur after the issuance of such Letter of Credit, and on the Letter of Credit Expiration Date. If there is any change in the Applicable Margin during any quarter, the actual daily amount of each Letter of Credit shall be

computed and multiplied by the Applicable Margin separately for each period during such quarter that such Applicable Margin was in effect.

- (j) Fronting Fee and Documentary and Processing Charges Payable to L/C Issuer. The Borrower shall pay directly to the applicable L/C Issuer for its own account a fronting fee in an amount (i) with respect to each commercial Letter of Credit, equal to such percentage as may be agreed to by the Borrower and the applicable L/C Issuer, of the Dollar Equivalent Amount of such Letter of Credit, due and payable upon the issuance thereof, and (ii) with respect to each standby Letter of Credit, equal to such percentage as may be agreed to by the Borrower and the applicable L/C Issuer, on the Dollar Equivalent Amount of the daily maximum amount available to be drawn thereunder, due and payable quarterly in arrears on the last Business Day of each March, June, September and December, commencing with the first such date to occur after the issuance of such Letter of Credit, and on the Letter of Credit Expiration Date. In addition, the Borrower shall pay directly to the applicable L/C Issuer for its own account the customary issuance, presentation, amendment and other processing fees, and other standard costs and charges, of such L/C Issuer relating to letters of credit as from time to time in effect. Such fees and charges are due and payable on demand and are nonrefundable.
- (k) Conflict with Letter of Credit Application. In the event of any conflict between the terms hereof and the terms of any Letter of Credit Application, the terms hereof shall control.
- (I) <u>Designation of L/C Issuers</u>. From time to time, so long as no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, the Borrower may designate two L/C Issuers, <u>provided</u> that (i) a written notice of such designation in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Agent is delivered by the Borrower to the Agent not less than three (3) Business Days prior to the effectiveness of such designation, which notice shall at a minimum (A) identify the Lender to be an L/C Issuer, (B) identify the thenexisting L/C Issuer being replaced, if any, and (C) contain the express consent of the identified L/C Issuer to such designation, and its acceptance of the terms and conditions of this Agreement with respect to Letters of Credit and the issuance of Letters of Credit by it as an L/C Issuer, and (ii) after giving effect to such designation, there shall not be more than two L/C Issuers. Notwithstanding the requirements of the foregoing sentence, but subject to the remainder of this <u>Section 2.8(I)</u>. Bank of America is hereby appointed as an L/C Issuer as of the Closing Date. Without limiting the provisions of <u>Section 11.1(i)</u>, any L/C Issuer so designated hereunder shall continue in such capacity until (A) it shall, by written notice delivered to the Agent and the Borrower, terminate its status as L/C Issuer, or (B) the Borrower shall revoke its designation as an L/C Issuer by notice delivered to the Agent and the applicable L/C Issuer (any such notice shall be effective three (3) Business Days following receipt by the Agent of such notice or such later date as may be specified in such notice); <u>provided</u> that no such termination or revocation of designation described herein shall be permitted or effective until all Letters of Credit issued by such L/C Issuer in a manner satisfactory to it, or been Cash Collateralized, and all other L/C Obligations with respect to Letters of Credit issued by such L/C Issuer shall have been paid and satisfied in full.
- 2.9 Extension of Stated Termination Date. (a) Requests for Extension. The Borrower may, by notice to the Agent (who shall promptly notify the Lenders) not earlier than 60 days and not later than 35 days prior to the first and/or second anniversary of the Closing Date

(each, an "Extension Date"), request that each Lender extend such Lender's Stated Termination Date for an additional one year from the Stated Termination Date applicable to such Lender.

- (b) Lender Elections to Extend. Each Lender, acting in its sole and individual discretion, shall, by notice to the Agent given not earlier than 30 days prior to the applicable Extension Date and not later than the date (the "Notice Date") that is 20 days prior to such Extension Date, advise the Agent whether or not such Lender agrees to such extension (and each Lender that determines not to so extend its Stated Termination Date (a "Non Extending Lender") shall notify the Agent of such fact promptly after such determination (but in any event no later than the Notice Date) and any Lender that does not so advise the Agent on or before the Notice Date shall be deemed to be a Non Extending Lender. The election of any Lender to agree to such extension shall not obligate any other Lender to so agree.
- (c) <u>Notification by Agent</u>. The Agent shall notify the Borrower of each Lender's determination under this Section no later than the date 15 days prior to the applicable Extension Date (or, if such date is not a Business Day, on the next preceding Business Day).
- (d) <u>Additional Commitment Lenders</u>. The Borrower shall have the right to replace each Non Extending Lender with, and add as "Lenders" under this Agreement in place thereof, one or more Eligible Assignees (each, an "<u>Additional Commitment Lender</u>") as provided in <u>Section 11.1</u>; <u>provided</u> that each of such Additional Commitment Lenders shall enter into an Assignment and Assumption pursuant to which such Additional Commitment Lender shall, effective as of the applicable Extension Date, undertake a Revolving Credit Commitment (and, if any such Additional Commitment Lender is already a Lender, its Revolving Credit Commitment shall be in addition to such Lender's Revolving Credit Commitment hereunder on such date).
- (e) Minimum Extension Requirement. If (and only if) the total of the Revolving Credit Commitments of the Lenders that have agreed so to extend their Stated Termination Date (each, an "Extending Lender") and the additional Revolving Credit Commitments of the Additional Commitment Lenders shall be more than 50% of the aggregate amount of the Revolving Credit Commitments in effect immediately prior to the Extension Date, then, effective as of the Extension Date, the Stated Termination Date of each Extending Lender and of each Additional Commitment Lender shall be extended to the date falling one year after the Stated Termination Date then applicable to such Lender (except that, if such date is not a Business Day, such Stated Termination Date as so extended shall be the next preceding Business Day) and each Additional Commitment Lender shall thereupon become a "Lender" for all purposes of this Agreement.
- (f) Conditions to Effectiveness of Extensions. As a condition precedent to such extension, the Borrower shall deliver to the Agent a certificate dated as of the Extension Date (i) certifying and attaching the resolutions adopted by the Borrower approving or consenting to such extension and (ii) certifying that, before and after giving effect to such extension, (A) the representations and warranties contained in Article VI are true and correct on and as of the Extension Date, except to the extent that such representations and warranties specifically refer to an earlier date, in which case they are true and correct as of such earlier date, and except that for purposes of this Section 2.9, the representations and warranties contained in subsections (a) and (b) of Section 6.5 shall be deemed to refer to the most recent statements furnished pursuant to

subsections (a) and (b), respectively, of Section 7.1, and (B) no Default exists. In addition, on the Stated Termination Date of each Non-Extending Lender, the Borrower shall repay all Revolving Loans owing to such Non-Extending Lender and outstanding on such date (and pay any additional amounts required pursuant to Section 4.5) to the extent necessary to keep outstanding Revolving Loans ratable with any revised Applicable Commitment Percentages of the respective Lenders effective as of such date.

ARTICLE III

FUNDING, FEES AND PAYMENT CONVENTIONS

- 3.1 Interest Rate Options. (a) All Swing Line Loans shall bear interest at the Swing Line Rate. All Competitive Bid Loans shall be Absolute Rate Loans. All Revolving Loans in Alternative Currencies shall be Eurocurrency Rate Loans. Revolving Loans in Dollars may be Base Rate Loans, or Eurocurrency Rate Loans, as the Borrower may elect in the related Borrowing Notice or Interest Rate Selection Notice, as the case may be.
- (b) Fixed Rate Loans and Base Rate Loans may be outstanding at the same time and, so long as no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, the Borrower shall have the option to elect (i) in the case of Revolving Loans made in Dollars, the Type of Revolving Loan (subject to Section 3.1(a)) and (ii) in the case of all Eurocurrency Rate Revolving Loans, the duration of the initial and any subsequent Interest Periods and (iii) to Convert Revolving Loans (other than Eurocurrency Rate Loans denominated in Alternative Currencies which shall be subject to Section 2.3(b)) in accordance with Sections 2.1(c)(i) and 3.2, as applicable; provided, however, (x) there shall not be outstanding at any one time Eurocurrency Rate Loans having more than twenty (20) different Interest Periods and (y) no Eurocurrency Rate Loan shall have an Interest Period that extends beyond the final Stated Termination Date. If the Agent does not receive a Borrowing Notice or an Interest Rate Selection Notice giving notice of election of the duration of an Interest Period or of Conversion of any such Revolving Loan as a Eurocurrency Rate Revolving Loan by the time prescribed by Sections 2.1(c)(i) and 3.2, as applicable, the Borrower shall be deemed to have elected to obtain or Convert such Revolving Loan to (or Continue such Revolving Loan as) a Eurocurrency Rate Loan with an Interest Period of one month. The Borrower shall not be entitled to elect to Continue any Revolving Loan as or Convert any Revolving Loan into a Eurocurrency Rate Revolving Loan if a Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing.
- 3.2 Conversions and Elections of Subsequent Interest Periods. Subject to the limitations set forth in the definition of "Interest Period," in Sections 2.1(c)(iii) and 3.1 and in Article IV, the Borrower may:
- (a) upon delivery of telephonic notice to the Agent (which shall be irrevocable) on or before 12:00 noon on any Business Day, Convert any Eurocurrency Rate Revolving Loan denominated in Dollars to a Base Rate Revolving Loan on the last day of the Interest Period for such Eurocurrency Rate Revolving Loan; and

- (b) <u>provided</u> that no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, upon delivery of telephonic notice to the Agent (which shall be irrevocable) on or before 12:00 noon three (3) Business Days' prior to the date of such Conversion or Continuation:
 - (i) elect a subsequent Interest Period for any Eurocurrency Rate Loan to begin on the last day of the then current Interest Period for such Eurocurrency Rate Loan (subject to Section 2.3 with respect to any Eurocurrency Rate Loan denominated in any Alternative Currency); or
 - (ii) Convert any Base Rate Revolving Loan to a Eurocurrency Rate Loan denominated in Dollars on any Business Day.

Subject to Section 2.3(b), failure by the Borrower to elect a Conversion or a Continuation or to provide notice of payment shall result in the automatic Continuation or Conversion, as the case may be, of the applicable Loan as a Eurocurrency Rate Loan with an Interest Period of one month. Each such notice shall be effective upon receipt by the Agent, shall specify the amount of the affected Eurocurrency Rate Loan, the Type of Revolving Loan, and, if a Continuation as or Conversion into a Eurocurrency Rate Loan, the Interest Period to be used in the computation of interest. The Authorized Representative shall provide the Agent written confirmation of each such telephonic notice in the form of a Borrowing Notice or Interest Rate Selection Notice (as applicable) with appropriate insertions but failure to provide such confirmation shall not affect the validity of such telephonic notice. Notice of receipt of such Borrowing Notice or Interest Rate Selection Notice, as the case may be, shall be provided by the Agent to each Lender by telefacsimile transmission with reasonable promptness, but (provided the Agent shall have received such notice by 12:00 noon) not later than 3:00 P.M. on the same day as the Agent's receipt of such notice. All such Continuations or Conversions of Revolving Loans shall be effected pro rata based on the Applicable Commitment Percentages of the Lenders.

3.3 Payment of Interest. The Borrower shall pay to the Agent interest on the outstanding and unpaid principal amount of each Loan, (i) for the account of each Lender in the case of Revolving Loans commencing on the first date of such Revolving Loan until such Revolving Loan shall be repaid, at the applicable Base Rate or Eurocurrency Rate as designated by the Borrower in the related Borrowing Notice or Interest Rate Selection Notice or as otherwise provided hereunder plus (in the case of a Eurocurrency Rate Loan of any Lender which is lent from a Lending Office in the United Kingdom) the Mandatory Cost, (ii) for the account of the Swing Line Lender in the case of Swing Line Loans at the Swing Line Rate, and (iii) for the account of each Competitive Bid Lender, for the period commencing on the date of such Competitive Bid Loan until such Competitive Bid Loan is paid in full at the Absolute Rate. Interest on each Loan shall be paid on the earlier of (a) in the case of any Base Rate Revolving Loan, quarterly in arrears of the last Business Day of each March, June, September and December, commencing on December 31, 2007, until the final Termination Date, at which date the entire principal amount of and all accrued interest on the Loans shall be paid in full, (b) in the case of any Swing Line Loan, as provided in Section 2.6(a) and (b), (c) in the case of three (3) months after the first day of such Interest Period, and (d) upon payment in full of the related Loan; provided, however that if any Event of Default shall occur and be continuing, all amounts outstanding

hereunder shall bear interest, so long as such Event of Default is continuing, until paid in full at the Default Rate notwithstanding any provision herein to the contrary.

- 3.4 <u>Prepayments of Eurocurrency Rate Loans</u>. Subject to <u>Section 2.3(b)</u>, whenever any payment of principal shall be made in respect of any Loan hereunder, whether at maturity, on acceleration, by optional or mandatory prepayment or as otherwise required or permitted hereunder, with the effect that any Eurocurrency Rate Loan shall be prepaid in whole or in part prior to the last day of the Interest Period applicable to such Eurocurrency Rate Loan, such payment of principal shall be accompanied by the additional payment, if any, required by <u>Section 4.5</u>.
- 3.5 Manner of Payment (a) The principal amount of all Outstandings shall be due and payable to the Agent for the benefit of each Lender, the Competitive Bid Lender, each L/C Issuer or the Swing Line Lender, as the case may be, in full on the Termination Date applicable to such Lender, Competitive Bid Lender, L/C Issuer or Swing Line Lender, as the case may be, or earlier as specifically provided herein. Such principal amount shall be recorded in Dollars as set forth in Section 2.3. The repayment of such principal amount shall be made in Dollars if the Loan was made in Dollars. If the Loan was made in an Alternative Currency, the portion of the Revolving Credit Outstandings attributable to each Advance (or the Continuation thereof) and the portion of Competitive Bid Outstandings attributable to each Competitive Bid Borrowing (each as determined from the Agent's records) shall be repaid in the same Alternative Currency as such Advance or Competitive Bid Borrowing. Each payment of principal (including any prepayment) and payment of interest and fees, and any other amount required to be paid by or on behalf of the Borrower to the Lenders, the Competitive Bid Lenders, the Agent, each L/C Issuer or the Swing Line Lender with respect to any Loan, shall be made to the Agent (i) in Dollars at the Principal Office in the case of Loans made in Dollars and (ii) in the same Alternative Currency at the Funding Bank in the case of Loans made in Alternative Currencies, in immediately available funds without setoff, recoupment, deduction or counterclaim on or before 2:00 P.M. on the date such payment is due; provided that in the case of Competitive Bid Loans made in Alternative Currencies, such payment shall be made to the applicable Competitive Bid Lender at the Funding Bank. The Borrower shall give the Agent not less than one (1) Business Day prior written notice of any payment of principal, such notice to be given prior to 2:00 P.M. and to specify the date the payment will be made and the Loan to which payment relates. In th
- (b) Any payment made by or on behalf of the Borrower shall be made both (i) in Dollars in the case of Loans made in Dollars and in the required Alternative Currency in the case of Loans made in Alternative Currencies and in immediately available funds and (ii) prior to 2:00 P.M. on the date such payment is to be made. Any such payment shall not be deemed to be received until the time such funds become available. Interest shall continue to accrue at the Default Rate on any principal or fees as to which no payment is made from the date such amount was due and payable until the date such funds become available.
- (c) In the event that any payment hereunder becomes due and payable on a day other than a Business Day, then such due date shall be extended to the next succeeding Business Day unless provided otherwise under the definition of "Interest Period"; provided,

however that interest shall continue to accrue during the period of any such extension; and provided further, however, that in no event shall any such due date be extended beyond the final Termination Date.

3.6 Fees.

- (a) <u>Facility Fee</u>. For the period beginning on and including the Closing Date and ending on (but excluding) the final Termination Date, the Borrower agrees to pay to the Agent, for the pro rata benefit of the Lenders based on their Applicable Commitment Percentages, a facility fee equal to the Applicable Facility Fee multiplied by the Total Revolving Credit Commitment without giving effect to any Outstandings. Such fees shall be due in arrears on the last Business Day of each March, June, September and December commencing December 31, 2007 to and on the final Termination Date. Notwithstanding the foregoing, so long as any Lender fails to make available any portion of its Revolving Credit Commitment when requested, such Lender shall not be entitled to receive payment of its pro rata share of such fee until such Lender shall make available such portion.
- (b) <u>Administrative Fees</u>. The Borrower agrees to pay to the Agent, for the Agent's individual account, an annual administrative fee, such fee to be payable in such amounts and at such dates as from time to time agreed to by the Borrower and Agent in writing.
- (c) Competitive Bid Fees. The Borrower agrees to pay to the Agent, for the Agent's individual account, an administrative fee of \$1,500 for each Competitive Bid Quote Request made by the Borrower, such fee to be payable at the time of each Competitive Bid Quote Request.
- 3.7 Payments to Agent for Lenders. Except as otherwise specified herein, (i) each payment on account of the principal of and interest on Revolving Loans, the fees described in Section 3.6, and Swing Line Loans as to which the Lenders have funded their respective Participations which remain outstanding, shall be made to the Agent for the account of the Lenders pro rata based on their Applicable Commitment Percentages, (ii) except with respect to Swing Line Loans as to which the Lenders have funded their respective Participations which remain outstanding, each payment on account of the principal of and interest on Swing Line Loans shall be made to the Agent for the account of the Swing Line Lender, (iii) each payment on account of the principal of and interest on a Competitive Bid Loan shall be made to the Agent for the account of the applicable L/C Issuer, and (v) the Agent will promptly distribute to the Lenders, the Swing Line Lender or Competitive Bid Lenders, as the case may be, in immediately available funds payments received in fully collected, immediately available funds from the Borrower.
- 3.8 Computation of Rates and Fees. Except as may be otherwise expressly provided, (a) interest on Base Rate Loans shall be computed on the basis of a year of 365/366 days and calculated for actual days elapsed and (b) all other interest rates (including each Fixed Rate and the Default Rate) and fees shall be computed on the basis of a year of 360 days and calculated for actual days elapsed.

3.9 <u>Deficiency Advances</u>; <u>Failure to Purchase Participations</u>. No Lender shall be responsible for any default of any other Lender in respect to such other Lender's obligation to make any Loan or Advance hereunder or to fund its purchase of any Participation hereunder nor shall the Revolving Credit Commitment of any Lender hereunder be increased as a result of such default of any other Lender. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, in the event any Lender shall fail to advance funds to the Borrower as herein provided, the Agent may in its discretion, but shall not be obligated to, advance all or any portion of such amount or amounts (each, a "deficiency advance") and shall thereafter be entitled to payments of principal of and interest on such deficiency advance in the same manner and at the same interest rate or rates to which such other Lender would have been entitled had it made such Advance; <u>provided</u> that, (i) such defaulting Lender shall not be entitled to receive payments of principal, interest or fees with respect to such deficiency advance until such deficiency advance shall be paid by such Lender and (ii) upon payment to the Agent from such other Lender of the entire outstanding amount of each such deficiency advance, together with accrued and unpaid interest thereon, from the most recent date or dates interest was paid to the Agent by the Borrower on each Loan comprising the deficiency advance at the interest rate per annum for overnight borrowing by the Agent from the Federal Reserve Bank, then such payment shall be credited against the full payment of such deficiency advance and the Borrower shall be deemed to have borrowed the amount of such deficiency advance from such other Lender as of the most recent date or dates, as the case may be, upon which any payments of interest were made by the Borrower thereon.

ARTICLE IV

CHANGE IN CIRCUMSTANCES

4.1 Increased Cost and Reduced Return.

- (a) If, after the date hereof, the adoption of any applicable law, rule, or regulation, or any change in any applicable law, rule, or regulation (other than any such adoption or change relating to Taxes or Other Taxes, the compensation for which is governed by Section 4.6), or any change in the interpretation or administration thereof by any Governmental Authority, central bank, or comparable agency charged with the interpretation or administration thereof, or compliance by any Lender (or its Applicable Lending Office) with any request or directive (whether or not having the force of law) of any such Governmental Authority, central bank, or comparable agency:
 - (i) shall impose, modify, or deem applicable any reserve, special deposit, assessment, or similar requirement (other than the reserve requirement contemplated by Section 4.1(e)) relating to any extensions of credit or other assets of, or any deposits with or other liabilities or commitments of, such Lender (or its Applicable Lending Office), including the Revolving Credit Commitment of such Lender hereunder; or
 - (ii) shall impose on such Lender (or its Applicable Lending Office) or on the London interbank market any other condition affecting this Agreement or any Note issued to it or any of such extensions of credit or liabilities or commitments;

and the result of any of the foregoing is to increase the cost to such Lender (or its Applicable Lending Office) of making, Converting into, Continuing, or maintaining any Fixed Rate Loans or issuing or participating in Letters of Credit or to reduce any sum received or receivable by such Lender (or its Applicable Lending Office) under this Agreement or any Note issued to it with respect to any Fixed Rate Loans or Letters of Credit, then the Borrower shall pay to such Lender within 15 days of demand for such amount or amounts as will compensate such Lender for such increased cost or reduction. If any Lender requests compensation by the Borrower under this Section 4.1(a), the Borrower may, by notice to such Lender (with a copy to the Agent), suspend the obligation of such Lender to make or Continue Loans of the Type with respect to which such compensation is requested, or to Convert Loans of any other Type into Loans of such Type, until the event or condition giving rise to such request ceases to be in effect (in which case the provisions of Section 4.4 shall be applicable); provided that such suspension shall not affect the right of such Lender to receive the compensation so requested.

- (b) If, after the date hereof, any Lender shall have determined that the adoption of any applicable law, rule, or regulation regarding capital adequacy or any change therein or in the interpretation or administration thereof by any Governmental Authority, central bank, or comparable agency charged with the interpretation or administration thereof, or any request or directive regarding capital adequacy (whether or not having the force of law) of any such Governmental Authority, central bank, or comparable agency, has or would have the effect of reducing the rate of return on the capital of such Lender or any corporation controlling such Lender as a consequence of such Lender's obligations hereunder to a level below that which such Lender or such corporation could have achieved but for such adoption, change, request, or directive (taking into consideration its policies with respect to capital adequacy), then from time to time within 15 days after demand by such Lender (with a copy to the Agent) the Borrower shall pay to such Lender such additional amount or amounts as will compensate such Lender for such reduction.
- (c) Each Lender shall promptly notify the Borrower and the Agent of any event of which it has knowledge, occurring after the date hereof, which will entitle such Lender to compensation pursuant to this Section 4.1 and will designate a different Applicable Lending Office if such designation will avoid the need for, or reduce the amount of, such compensation and will not, in the judgment of such Lender, be otherwise disadvantageous to it. Any Lender claiming compensation under this Section 4.1 shall furnish to the Borrower and the Agent a statement setting forth the additional amount or amounts to be paid to it hereunder and the calculation thereof in reasonable detail which shall be conclusive in the absence of manifest error. In determining such amount, such Lender may use any reasonable averaging and attribution methods.
- (d) Failure or delay on the part of any Lender to demand compensation for any increased costs or reduction in amounts received or receivable or reduction in return on capital shall not constitute a waiver of such Lender's right to demand such compensation; provided that the Borrower shall not be under any obligation to compensate any Lender under clauses (a) or (b) above with respect to increased costs or reduction in return on capital with respect to any period prior to the date that is three months prior to such request if such Lender knew or could reasonably have been expected to be aware of the circumstances giving rise to such increased costs or reductions in return on capital and of the fact that such circumstances

would in fact result in a claim for increased compensation by reason of such increased costs or reductions in capital <u>provided further</u> that the foregoing limitation shall not apply to any increased costs or reductions in return on capital arising out of the retroactive application of any law, rule, guideline or directive as aforesaid within such three month period.

- (e) The Borrower shall pay to each Lender, as long as such Lender shall be required to maintain reserves with respect to liabilities or assets consisting of or including Eurocurrency funds or deposits (currently known as "Eurocurrency liabilities"), additional interest on the unpaid principal amount of each Eurocurrency Rate Loan equal to the actual costs of such reserves allocated to such Loan by such Lender (as determined by such Lender in good faith, which determination shall be conclusive), which shall be due and payable on each date on which interest is payable on such Loan, provided the Borrower shall have received at least 15 days' prior notice (with a copy to the Agent) of such additional interest from such Lender. If a Lender fails to give notice 15 days prior to the relevant Interest Payment Date, such additional interest shall be due and payable 15 days from receipt of such notice.
 - 4.2 Limitation on Types of Loans. If on or prior to the first day of any Interest Period for any Eurocurrency Rate Loan:
 - (i) the Agent determines (which determination shall be conclusive) that by reason of circumstances affecting the relevant market, adequate and reasonable means do not exist for ascertaining the Eurocurrency Rate for such Interest Period; or
 - (ii) the Required Lenders determine (which determination shall be conclusive) and notify the Agent that the Eurocurrency Rate will not adequately and fairly reflect the cost to the Lenders of funding Eurocurrency Rate Loans for such Interest Period;

then the Agent shall give the Borrower prompt notice thereof specifying the relevant currencies, amounts or periods, and so long as such condition remains in effect, the Lenders shall be under no obligation to make additional Eurocurrency Rate Loans in such currencies, Continue Eurocurrency Rate Loans in such currencies, or to Convert Base Rate Loans into Eurocurrency Rate Loans in such currencies and the Borrower shall, on the last day(s) of the then current Interest Period(s) for the outstanding Eurocurrency Rate Loans in such currencies, either prepay such Loans or Convert such Loans into another Type of Loan or Loan in another currency in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

4.3 <u>Illegality</u>. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, in the event that it becomes unlawful for any Lender or its Applicable Lending Office to make, maintain, or fund Eurocurrency Rate Loans in one or more currencies hereunder, then such Lender shall promptly notify the Borrower thereof and such Lender's obligation to make or Continue Eurocurrency Rate Loans in such currencies and to Convert other Types of Loans into Eurocurrency Rate Loans in such currencies shall be suspended until the circumstances giving rise to suspension no longer exist in which case such Lender shall again make, maintain, and fund Eurocurrency Rate Loans in such currencies (in which case the provisions of <u>Section 4.4</u> shall be applicable).

- 4.4 <u>Treatment of Affected Loans</u>. If the obligation of any Lender to make a Eurocurrency Rate Loan or to Continue, or to Convert Loans of any other Type into, Loans of a particular Type shall be suspended pursuant to <u>Section 4.1 or 4.3</u> hereof (Loans of such Type being herein called "Affected Loans" and such Type being herein called the "Affected Type"), such Lender's Affected Loans shall be automatically Converted into Base Rate Loans in the Dollar Equivalent Amount of such Affected Loans on the last day(s) of the then current Interest Period(s) for Affected Loans (or, in the case of a Conversion required by <u>Section 4.3</u> hereof, on such earlier date as such Lender may specify to the Borrower with a copy to the Agent) and, unless and until such Lender gives notice as provided below that the circumstances specified in <u>Section 4.1 or 4.3</u> hereof that gave rise to such Conversion no longer exist:
 - (i) to the extent that such Lender's Affected Loans have been so Converted, all payments and prepayments of principal that would otherwise be applied to such Lender's Affected Loans shall be applied instead to its Base Rate Loans; and
 - (ii) all Loans that would otherwise be made or Continued by such Lender as Loans of the Affected Type shall be made or Continued instead as Base Rate Loans, and all Loans of such Lender that would otherwise be Converted into Loans of the Affected Type shall be Converted instead into (or shall remain as) Base Rate Loans.

If such Lender gives notice to the Borrower (with a copy to the Agent) that the circumstances specified in Section 4.1 or 4.3 hereof that gave rise to the Conversion of such Lender's Affected Loans pursuant to this Section 4.4 no longer exist (which such Lender agrees to do promptly upon such circumstances ceasing to exist) at a time when Loans of the Affected Type made by other Lenders are outstanding, such Lender's Base Rate Loans shall be automatically (i) in the case of Affected Loans originally made in Dollars, Converted and (ii) in the case of Affected Loans originally made in an Alternative Currency, converted into the Alternative Currency Equivalent Amount, on the first day(s) of the next succeeding Interest Period(s) for such outstanding Loans of the Affected Type, to the extent necessary so that, after giving effect thereto, all Loans held by the Lenders holding Loans of the Affected Type and by such Lender are held pro rata (as to principal amounts, Types, currency denomination and Interest Periods) in accordance with their respective Revolving Credit Commitments.

- 4.5 <u>Compensation</u>. Upon the request of any Lender (with a copy to the Agent), the Borrower shall promptly pay to such Lender such amount or amounts as shall be sufficient (in the reasonable opinion of such Lender) to compensate it for any loss, cost, or expense (including loss of anticipated profits) incurred by it as a result of:
 - (i) any payment, prepayment, or Conversion of a Fixed Rate Loan for any reason (except as set forth in Section 2.3(b)) including, without limitation, the acceleration of the Loans pursuant to Section 9.1, on a date other than the last day of the Interest Period for such Loan; or
 - (ii) any failure by the Borrower for any reason (including, without limitation, the failure of any condition precedent specified in Article V to be satisfied) to borrow, Convert, Continue, or prepay a Fixed Rate Loan on the date for such borrowing,

Conversion, Continuation, or prepayment specified in the relevant notice of borrowing, Conversion, Continuation, or prepayment under this Agreement;

including any loss or expense arising from the liquidation or reemployment of funds obtained by it to maintain such Loan or from fees payable to terminate the deposits from which such funds were obtained.

- 4.6 Taxes. (a) Any and all payments by the Borrower to or for the account of any Lender or the Agent hereunder or under any other Loan Document shall be made free and clear of and without deduction for any and all present or future taxes, duties, levies, imposts, deductions, charges or withholdings, and all liabilities with respect thereto, excluding (x) in the case of each Lender and the Agent, taxes imposed on its income, and franchise or similar taxes (including branch profit taxes) imposed on it, by the jurisdiction under the laws of which such Lender (or its Applicable Lending Office) or the Agent (as the case may be) is organized or any political subdivision thereof, (y) in the case of each Lender and the Agent, taxes imposed by reason of any present or former connection between such Lender or the Agent and the jurisdiction imposing such taxes, other than solely as a result of this Agreement or any transaction contemplated hereby, and (z) any United States withholding tax imposed on such payment, but not excluding any portion of such tax that exceeds the United States withholding tax that would have been imposed on such a payment to such Lender under the laws and treaties in effect when such Lender first becomes a party to this Agreement (all such taxes, duties, levies, imposts, deductions, charges, withholdings, and liabilities not excluded in (x), (y) and (z) being hereinafter referred to as "Taxes"). If the Borrower shall be required by law to deduct any Taxes from or in respect of any sum payable under this Agreement or any other Loan Document to any Lender or the Agent, (i) the sum payable shall be increased as necessary so that after making all required deductions (including deductions applicable to additional sums payable under this Section 4.6) such Lender or the Agent receives an amount equal to the sum it would have received had no such deductions been made, (ii) the Borrower shall make such deductions, (iii) the Borrower shall pay the full amount deducted to the relevant taxation authority or o
- (b) In addition, the Borrower agrees to pay any and all present or future stamp or documentary taxes and any other excise or property taxes or charges or similar levies imposed by the United States or any political subdivision thereof which arise from any payment made under this Agreement or any other Loan Document or from the execution or delivery of, or otherwise with respect to, this Agreement or any other Loan Document (hereinafter referred to as "Other Taxes").
- (c) The Borrower agrees to indemnify each Lender and the Agent for the full amount of Taxes and Other Taxes (including, without limitation, any Taxes or Other Taxes imposed or asserted by any jurisdiction on amounts payable under this <u>Section 4.6</u>) paid by such Lender or the Agent (as the case may be) and any liability (including penalties, interest, and

expenses) arising therefrom or with respect thereto. Indemnification shall be made within 15 days of the date of demand therefor.

- (d) Each Lender that is entitled to an exemption from or reduction of withholding tax under the law of the jurisdiction in which the Lender is located, or any treaty to which such jurisdiction is a party, with respect to payments under this Agreement shall, at the reasonable request of the Borrower, deliver to the Borrower (with a copy to the Agent), at such time or times prescribed by applicable law, such properly completed and executed documentation prescribed by applicable law as will permit such payments to be made without withholding or at a reduced rate. Each Lender, on the date of its execution and delivery of this Agreement in the case of each such Lender listed on the signature pages hereof and on the date on which it becomes a Lender in the case of each such other Lender, represents and warrants to the Agent and the Borrower that as of such date payments to its Applicable Lending Offices under this Agreement are exempt from withholding tax under the law of the jurisdiction or jurisdictions in which such Lender or its Applicable Lending Offices is or are located or any treaty to which any such jurisdiction is a party. Upon the request of any Lender, the Borrower will make such factual representations as may be reasonably required by such Lender in order to enable such Lender to make such representation and warranty.
- (e) For any period with respect to which a Lender has failed to provide the Borrower and the Agent with the appropriate form pursuant to Section 4.6(d) (unless such failure is due to a change in treaty, law, or regulation occurring subsequent to the date on which a form originally was required to be provided), such Lender shall not be entitled to indemnification under Section 4.6(a) or 4.6(c) with respect to Taxes; provided, however that should a Lender, which is otherwise exempt from or subject to a reduced rate of withholding tax, become subject to Taxes because of its failure to deliver a form required hereunder, the Borrower shall take such steps as such Lender shall reasonably request to assist such Lender to recover such Taxes.
- (f) Without prejudice to the survival of any other agreement of the Borrower hereunder, the agreements and obligations of the Borrower contained in this Section 4.6 shall survive the termination of the Revolving Credit Commitments and the payment in full of the Loans.
- (g) Refunds or Credits. If any Lender receives a refund or credit from a taxation authority (such credit to include any increase in any foreign tax credit) in respect of any Taxes or Other Taxes for which it has been indemnified by the Borrower or with respect to which the Borrower has paid additional amounts hereunder, it shall within 30 days from the date of such receipt pay over the amount of such refund, credit or other reduction (including any interest paid or credited by the relevant taxing authority or Governmental Authority with respect to such refund, credit or other reduction) to the Borrower (but only to the extent of indemnity payments made, or additional amounts paid, by the Borrower with respect to the Taxes or Other Taxes giving rise to such refund or credit), net of all reasonable out-of-pocket third party expenses of such Lender related to claiming such refund or credit and without interest (other than interest paid by the relevant taxation authority with respect to such refund or credit); provided, however that the Borrower agrees to repay, upon the request of such Lender, the amount paid over to the Borrower (plus penalties, interest or other charges) to such Lender in the event such Lender is required to repay such refund or credit to such taxation authority.

- (h) <u>Conduit Financing Arrangements</u>. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this <u>Section 4.6</u>, if the Internal Revenue Service determines that a Lender is participating in a conduit financing arrangement as defined in Section 7701(1) of the Code and the regulations thereunder (a "<u>Conduit Financing Arrangement</u>"), then (i) any Taxes that the Borrower is required to withhold from payments to the Lender participating in the Conduit Financing Arrangement shall be excluded from the additional amounts to be paid under <u>Sections 4.6(a)</u>, (b) or (c) and (ii) such Lender shall indemnify the Borrower in full for any and all Taxes for which the Borrower is held liable under <u>Section 1461</u> of the Code by virtue of such Conduit Financing Arrangement.
- 4.7 <u>Change of Lending Office</u>. Each Lender agrees that, upon the occurrence of any event giving rise to the operation of <u>Section 4.1, 4.2(b), 4.3</u> or <u>4.6</u> with respect to such Lender, it will, if requested by the Borrower, use reasonable efforts (subject to overall policy considerations of such Lender) to designate another lending office for any Loans affected by such event with the object of avoiding the consequences of such event; <u>provided</u>, that such designation is made on terms that, in the sole judgment of such Lender, cause such Lender and its lending office(s) to suffer no economic, legal or regulatory disadvantage, and <u>provided</u>, <u>further</u>, that nothing in this <u>Section 4.7</u> shall affect or postpone any of the obligations of the Borrower or the rights of any Lender pursuant to <u>Section 4.1, 4.2(b), 4.3</u> or <u>4.6</u>.
- 4.8 <u>Substitution of Lenders</u>. Upon the receipt by the Borrower from any Lender (an "<u>Affected Lender</u>") of a claim under <u>Section 4.1, 4.2(b), 4.3</u> or <u>4.6</u>, the Borrower may: (a) request one or more of the other Lenders to acquire and assume all or part of such Affected Lender's Loans and Revolving Credit Commitment; or (b) replace such Affected Lender by designating another Lender or a financial institution that is willing to acquire such Loans and assume such Revolving Credit Commitment; <u>provided</u> that (i) such replacement does not conflict with any requirement of law, (ii) no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing at the time of such replacement, (iii) the Borrower shall repay (or the replacement bank or financial institution shall purchase, at par) all Loans, accrued interest and other amounts owing to such replaced Lender prior to the date of replacement, (iv) the Borrower shall be liable to such replaced Lender under <u>Section 4.5</u> if any Eurocurrency Rate Loan owing to such replaced Lender shall be prepaid (or purchased) other than on the last day of the Interest Period relating thereto, (v) the replacement bank or institution, if not already a Lender, shall otherwise qualify as an Eligible Assignee, (vi) the replaced Lender shall be obligated to make such replacement in accordance with the provisions of <u>Section 11.1</u> (provided that the Borrower or replacement Lender shall be obligated to pay the registration and processing fee) and (vii) the Borrower shall pay all additional amounts (if any) required pursuant to <u>Section 4.1, 4.2(b), 4.3</u> or <u>4.6</u>, as the case may be, to the extent such additional amounts were incurred on or prior to the consummation of such replacement.

ARTICLE V

CONDITIONS TO MAKING LOANS AND ISSUING LETTERS OF CREDIT

5.1 Conditions of Closing. The obligation of the Lenders to make the initial Advance under the Revolving Credit Facility or an initial Competitive Bid Loan, of the Swing Line

Lender to make any Swing Line Loan, and of the L/C Issuers to issue any Letter of Credit is subject to the conditions precedent that:

- (a) the Agent shall have received on the Closing Date, in form and substance satisfactory to the Agent, the following:
- (i) executed originals of each of this Agreement, any Notes requested prior to the Closing Date and the other Loan Documents, together with all schedules and exhibits thereto:
- (ii) the favorable written opinion or opinions with respect to the Loan Documents and the transactions contemplated thereby of (i) Candace S. Cummings, Vice President & General Counsel of the Borrower and (ii) Davis Polk & Wardwell, special counsel to the Borrower, in each case, dated the Closing Date, addressed to the Agent and the Lenders and satisfactory to the Agent and to Shearman & Sterling LLP, special counsel to the Agent;
- (iii) resolutions of the board of directors or other appropriate governing body (or of the appropriate committee thereof) of the Borrower certified by its secretary or assistant secretary or any Authorized Representative as of the Closing Date, approving and adopting the Loan Documents to be executed by the Borrower and authorizing the execution and delivery thereof:
- (iv) specimen signatures of officers or other appropriate representatives executing the Loan Documents on behalf of the Borrower, certified by the secretary or assistant secretary or any Authorized Representative;
- (v) the Organizational Documents of the Borrower certified as of a recent date by the Secretary of State or other appropriate Governmental Authority of the jurisdiction of its organization or by an Authorized Representative;
- (vi) the by-laws or articles of association of the Borrower certified as of the Closing Date as true and correct by its secretary or assistant secretary or any Authorized Representative;
- (vii) to the extent applicable and available in the relevant jurisdiction, a certificate issued as of a recent date by the Secretary of State or other appropriate Governmental Authority of the jurisdiction of formation of the Borrower as to the due existence and good standing of the Borrower;
 - (viii) notice of appointment of the initial Authorized Representative;
- (ix) a certificate of an Authorized Representative dated the Closing Date demonstrating compliance with the covenants contained in Sections 8.1, 8.2(i) and 8.3(e) as of the end of the fiscal quarter for which financial statements are publicly available most recently ended prior to the Closing Date, substantially in the form of Exhibit G hereto;

- (x) a certificate of the Borrower certifying that (A) as of the Closing Date, each of the representations and warranties set forth in Article VI is true and correct, (B) after giving effect to the Closing Date and all Loans to be made on the Closing Date, there will be no Default or Event of Default under this Agreement, and (C) except as disclosed in any reports or financial statements filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on or prior to September 21, 2007, as of the Closing Date there shall not have occurred a material adverse change since December 30, 2006 in the business, financial position or results of operations of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole:
- (xi) evidence that the Credit Agreement dated as of September 25, 2003 among the Borrower, the lenders parties thereto and Bank of America, as administrative agent, has been or concurrently with the Closing Date is being terminated (and each of the Lenders that is a party to such Credit Agreement hereby waives any requirement of prior notice for such termination); and
- (xii) such other documents, instruments, certificates and opinions as the Agent or the Required Lenders may reasonably request on or prior to the Closing Date in connection with the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby.
 - (b) Any fees required to be paid on or before the Closing Date shall have been paid.
- (c) Unless waived by the Agent, the Borrower shall have paid all fees, charges and disbursements of counsel to the Agent (directly to such counsel if requested by the Agent) to the extent invoiced prior to or on the Closing Date, plus such additional amounts of such fees, charges and disbursements as shall constitute its reasonable estimate of such fees, charges and disbursements incurred or to be incurred by it through the closing proceedings (provided that such estimate shall not thereafter preclude a final settling of accounts between the Borrower and the Agent).

Without limiting the generality of the provisions of the last paragraph of Section 10.3, for purposes of determining compliance with the conditions specified in this Section 5.1, each Lender that has signed this Agreement shall be deemed to have consented to, approved or accepted or to be satisfied with, each document or other matter required thereunder to be consented to or approved by or acceptable or satisfactory to a Lender unless the Agent shall have received notice from such Lender prior to the proposed Closing Date specifying its objection thereto.

- 5.2 <u>Conditions of Revolving Loans</u>, <u>Letters of Credit</u>, <u>Swing Line Loans and Competitive Bid Loans</u>. The obligations of the Lenders to make any Revolving Loans or Competitive Bid Loans, the Swing Line Lender to make Swing Line Loans, and the obligation of the L/C Issuers to issue Letters of Credit hereunder on or subsequent to the Closing Date are subject to the satisfaction of the following conditions:
- (a) (i) the Agent, in the case of Revolving Loans, or the Swing Line Lender, in the case of Swing Line Loans, shall have received a Borrowing Notice if required by Article II

or (ii) an L/C Issuer, in the case of L/C Credit Extensions, shall have received a Letter of Credit Application as required by Article II;

- (b) the representations and warranties set forth in Article VI shall be true and correct in all material respects on and as of the date of such Advance, Swing Line Loan, L/C Credit Extension or Competitive Bid Loan, with the same effect as though such representations and warranties had been made on and as of such date, except to the extent that such representations and warranties expressly relate to an earlier date and except that the financial statements referred to in Section 6.5 shall be deemed to be those financial statements most recently delivered to the Agent and the Lenders pursuant to Section 7.1 from the date financial statements are delivered to the Agent and the Lenders in accordance with such Section;
- (c) at the time of (and after giving effect to) each Advance, Swing Line Loan, L/C Credit Extension or Competitive Bid Loan, no Default or Event of Default specified in Article IX shall have occurred and be continuing; and
 - (d) immediately after giving effect to:
 - (i) a Loan or the issuance of a Letter of Credit, the aggregate principal balance of all outstanding Revolving Loans (other than Competitive Bid Loans) for each Lender, plus such Lender's Applicable Commitment Percentage (determined without duplication) of all Competitive Bid Outstandings, L/C Obligations and Swing Line Outstandings, shall not exceed such Lender's Revolving Credit Commitment;
 - (ii) a Swing Line Loan, the Swing Line Outstandings shall not exceed \$100,000,000;
 - (iii) a L/C Credit Extension, the L/C Obligations shall not exceed the Letter of Credit Sublimit;
 - (iv) a Loan or the issuance of a Letter of Credit, the Outstandings shall not exceed the then applicable Total Revolving Credit Commitment; and
 - (v) a Loan or the issuance of a Letter of Credit in an Alternative Currency, the Outstandings in Alternative Currencies shall not exceed the Total Alternative Currency Sublimit.

ARTICLE VI

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

The Borrower represents and warrants with respect to itself and to its Subsidiaries (which representations and warranties shall survive the delivery of the documents mentioned herein and the making of Loans), that:

6.1 Corporate Existence and Power. The Borrower is a corporation duly incorporated, validly existing and subsisting under the laws of Pennsylvania, and has all

corporate powers and all material governmental licenses, authorizations, consents and approvals required to carry on its business as now conducted.

- 6.2 <u>Corporate and Governmental Authorization; No Contravention.</u> The execution, delivery and performance by the Borrower of this Agreement and the Notes are within its corporate powers, have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action, require no action by or in respect of, or filing with, any governmental body, agency or official and do not contravene, or constitute a default under, any provision of applicable law or regulation or of the certificate of incorporation or by-laws of the Borrower or of any agreement, judgment, injunction, order, decree or other instrument binding upon the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries or result in the creation or imposition of any Lien on any asset of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries.
- 6.3 <u>Material Subsidiaries</u>. Each of the Borrower's Material Subsidiaries is a corporation, limited liability company or partnership, as the case may be, duly organized and validly existing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its formation, and has the requisite powers and all material governmental licenses, authorizations, consents and approvals required to carry on its business as now conducted.
- 6.4 <u>Binding Effect</u>. This Agreement constitutes a valid and binding agreement of the Borrower, and each Note, when executed and delivered in accordance with this Agreement, will constitute a valid and binding obligation of the Borrower, in each case enforceable in accordance with its terms.
- 6.5 <u>Financial Information</u>. (a) The consolidated balance sheet of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries as of December 30, 2006 and the related consolidated statements of income, retained earnings and cash flow for the fiscal year then ended, reported on by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP and set forth in the Borrower's Form 10-K for the fiscal year then ending, a copy of which has been delivered to each of the Lenders, fairly present, in conformity with GAAP, the consolidated financial position of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries as of such date and their consolidated results of operations and cash flows for such fiscal year.
- (b) The unaudited consolidated balance sheet of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries as of June 30, 2007 and the related unaudited consolidated statements of income and cash flows for the six months then ended, set forth in the Borrower's quarterly report for the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2007 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on Form 10-Q, a copy of which has been delivered to each of the Lenders, fairly present, in conformity with GAAP applied on a Consistent Basis, the consolidated financial position of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries as of such date and their consolidated results of operations and cash flows for such six-month period (subject to normal year-end adjustments).
- 6.6 <u>Litigation</u>. There is no action, suit or proceeding pending against, or to the knowledge of the Borrower threatened against or affecting, the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries before any court or arbitrator or any governmental body, agency or official which could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, or which in any manner draws into question the validity of this Agreement or the Notes.

- 6.7 Compliance with ERISA. Each member of the ERISA Group has fulfilled its obligations under the minimum funding standards of ERISA and the Code with respect to each Plan and is in compliance in all material respects with the presently applicable provisions of ERISA and the Code with respect to each Plan. No member of the ERISA Group has (i) sought a waiver of the minimum funding standard under Section 412 of the Code in respect of any Plan or Multiemployer Plan, (ii) failed to make any contribution or payment to any Plan or Multiemployer Plan or in respect of any Benefit Arrangement, or made any amendment to any Plan or Benefit Arrangement, which has resulted or could result in the imposition of a Lien or the posting of a bond or other security under ERISA or the Code or (iii) incurred any liability under Title IV of ERISA other than a liability to the PBGC for premiums under Section 4007 of ERISA, in each case that could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
- 6.8 Environmental Matters. In the ordinary course of its business, the Borrower conducts periodic reviews, which it considers prudent and reasonable in light of the nature of the business, of the effect of Environmental Laws on the business, operations and properties of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries, in the course of which it identifies and evaluates associated liabilities and costs (including, without limitation, any capital or operating expenditures required for clean-up or closure of properties presently or previously owned, any capital or operating expenditures required to achieve or maintain compliance with environmental protection standards imposed by law or as a condition of any license, permit or contract, any related constraints on operating activities, including any periodic or permanent shutdown of any facility or reduction in the level of or change in the nature of operations conducted thereat and any actual or potential liabilities to third parties, including employees, and any related costs and expenses). On the basis of this review, the Borrower has reasonably concluded that Environmental Laws are unlikely to have a Material Adverse Effect.
- 6.9 <u>Taxes</u>. The Borrower and its Significant Subsidiaries have filed all United States Federal income tax returns and all other material tax returns which are required to be filed by them and have paid all taxes due pursuant to such returns or pursuant to any assessment received by the Borrower or any Significant Subsidiary, except for such amounts as may be contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings, so long as collection thereof is effectively stayed. The charges, accruals and reserves on the books of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries in respect of taxes or other governmental charges are, in the reasonable opinion of the Borrower, adequate.
- 6.10 Margin Stock. The proceeds of the borrowings made hereunder will be used by the Borrower only for the purposes expressly authorized herein. None of such proceeds will be used, directly or indirectly, for the purpose of purchasing or carrying any Margin Stock or for the purpose of reducing or retiring any Indebtedness which was originally incurred to purchase or carry Margin Stock or for any other purpose which might constitute any of the Loans under this Agreement a "purpose" credit within the meaning of Regulation U or Regulation X (12 C.F.R. Part 221) of the Board; provided, however, that the Borrower may purchase (i) its own stock and (ii) Margin Stock in connection with an Acquisition so long as, following the application of the proceeds of each borrowing hereunder, not more than twenty-five percent (25%) of the value of the assets of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis will be Margin Stock. Neither the Borrower nor any agent acting in its behalf has taken or will take any action which might cause this Agreement or any of the documents or instruments delivered pursuant hereto to violate any regulation of the Board or to violate the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as

amended, or the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or any state securities laws, in each case as in effect on the date hereof.

- 6.11 Investment Company. The Borrower is not an "investment company" within the meaning of the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended.
- 6.12 <u>Full Disclosure</u>. All information heretofore furnished by the Borrower to the Agent or any Lender for purposes of or in connection with this Agreement or any transaction contemplated hereby is, and all such information hereafter furnished by the Borrower to the Agent or any Lender will be, true and accurate in every material respect or based on reasonable estimates on the date as of which such information is stated or certified. The Borrower has disclosed to the Lenders in writing any and all facts which materially and adversely affect or may affect (to the extent the Borrower can now reasonably foresee), the business, properties, operations or condition, financial or otherwise, of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries, considered as a whole, or the ability of the Borrower to perform its obligations under this Agreement.
- 6.13 No Consents, Etc. Neither the respective businesses or properties of the Borrower or any Subsidiary, nor any relationship among the Borrower or any Subsidiary and any other Person, nor any circumstance in connection with the execution, delivery and performance of the Loan Documents and the transactions contemplated thereby, is such as to require a consent, approval or authorization of, or filing, registration or qualification with, any Governmental Authority or any other Person on the part of the Borrower as a condition to the execution, delivery and performance of, or consummation of the transactions contemplated by the Loan Documents, which, if not obtained or effected, would be reasonably likely to have a Material Adverse Effect, or if so, such consent, approval, authorization, filing, registration or qualification has been duly obtained or effected, as the case may be.

ARTICLE VII

AFFIRMATIVE COVENANTS

Until the Facility Termination Date, unless the Required Lenders shall otherwise consent in writing:

- 7.1 Financial Reports, Etc. The Borrower will deliver to each of the Lenders:
- (a) as soon as available and in any event within 90 days after the end of each fiscal year of the Borrower, a consolidated balance sheet of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries as of the end of such fiscal year and the related consolidated statements of income, retained earnings and cash flows for such fiscal year, setting forth in each case in comparative form the figures for the previous fiscal year, all prepared in accordance with GAAP applied on a Consistent Basis and containing opinions of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, or other such independent certified public accountants of nationally recognized standing, which are unqualified as to the scope of the audit performed and as to the "going concern" status of the Borrower;
- (b) as soon as available and in any event within 45 days after the end of each of the first three quarters of each fiscal year of the Borrower, a consolidated balance sheet of the

Borrower and its Subsidiaries as of the end of such quarter and the related consolidated statements of income for such quarter and of income and cash flows for the portion of the Borrower's fiscal year ended at the end of such quarter, setting forth in each case in comparative form the figures for the corresponding quarter and the corresponding portion of the Borrower's previous fiscal year, all certified (subject to normal year-end adjustments) as to fairness of presentation, generally accepted accounting principles and consistency by an Authorized Representative;

- (c) simultaneously with the delivery of each set of financial statements referred to in clauses (a) and (b) above, a certificate of an Authorized Representative (i) setting forth in reasonable detail the calculations required to establish whether the Borrower was in compliance with the requirements of Sections 8.1, 8.2(i) and 8.3(e) on the date of such financial statements and (ii) stating whether there exists on the date of such certificate any Default or Event of Default and, if any Default or Event of Default then exists, setting forth the details thereof and the action which the Borrower is taking or proposes to take with respect thereto;
- (d) simultaneously with the delivery of each set of financial statements referred to in clause (a) above, a statement of the firm of independent public accountants which reported on such statements (i) advising whether anything has come to their attention to cause then to believe that there existed on the date of such statements any Default or Event of Default and (ii) confirming the calculations set forth in the officer's certificate delivered simultaneously therewith pursuant to clause (c) above, <u>provided</u> that such statement need not be provided if it is the general practice and policy of such firm not to provide such statements;
- (e) forthwith upon the occurrence of any Default or Event of Default, a certificate of an Authorized Representative setting forth the details thereof and the action which the Borrower is taking or proposes to take with respect thereto;
 - (f) promptly upon the mailing thereof to the shareholders of the Borrower generally, copies of all financial statements, reports and proxy statements so mailed;
- (g) promptly upon the filing thereof, copies of all registration statements (other than the exhibits thereto and any registration statements on Form S-8 or its equivalent) and reports on Forms 10-K, 10-Q and 8-K (or their equivalents) which the Borrower shall have filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission;
- (h) if and when any member of the ERISA Group (i) gives or is required to give notice to the PBGC of any "reportable event" (as defined in Section 4043 of ERISA) with respect to any Plan which might constitute grounds for a termination of such Plan under Title IV of ERISA, or knows that the plan administrator of any Plan has given or is required to give notice of any such reportable event, a copy of the notice of such reportable event given or required to be given to the PBGC; (ii) receives notice that it has incurred complete or partial withdrawal liability under Title IV of ERISA or notice that any Multiemployer Plan is in reorganization, is insolvent or has been terminated, a copy of such notice; (iii) receives notice from the PBGC under Title IV of ERISA of an intent to terminate, impose liability (other than for premiums under Section 4007 of ERISA) in respect of, or appoint a trustee to administer, any Plan, a copy of such notice; (iv) applies for a waiver of the minimum funding standard under

Section 412 of the Code, a copy of such application; (v) gives notice of intent to terminate any Plan under Section 404l(c) of ERISA, a copy of such notice and other information filed with the PBGC; (vi) gives notice of withdrawal from any Plan pursuant to Section 4063 of ERISA, a copy of such notice; or (vii) fails to make any payment or contribution to any Plan or Multiemployer Plan or in respect of any Benefit Arrangement or makes any amendment to any Plan or Benefit Arrangement which has resulted or could result in the imposition of a Lien or the posting of a bond or other security, a certificate of an Authorized Representative setting forth details as to such occurrence and the action, if any, which the Borrower or applicable member of the ERISA Group is required or proposes to take with respect thereto; provided that no such delivery referred to in clauses (i) through (vii) above shall be required unless the event described in the applicable clause could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect: and

(i) from time to time such additional information regarding the financial position or business of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries as the Agent or any Lender may reasonably request.

Documents required to be delivered pursuant to Section 7.1(a), (b), (f) or (g) may be delivered electronically and, if so delivered, shall be deemed to have been delivered on the date on which such documents are posted (or a link thereto is provided) on the Borrower's website on the Internet at www.vfc.com, at www.sec.gov/edgar/searchedgar/webusers.htm (the Central Index Key as of the date of this Agreement for the Borrower being 0000103379), or on IntraLinks/IntraAgency or another relevant website, if any, to which each Lender and the Agent have access (whether a commercial, third-party website or whether sponsored by the Agent), in each case so long as such documents are generally available without charge to the Agent and each of the Lenders at such locations; provided that: (x) the Borrower shall deliver paper copies of such documents to the Agent or any Lender that requests the Borrower to deliver such paper copies until a written request to cease delivering paper copies is given by the Agent or such Lender and (y) the Borrower shall notify (which may be by facsimile or electronic mail) the Agent and each Lender of the posting of any such documents and provide to the Agent by electronic mail electronic versions (i.e., soft copies) of such documents. Notwithstanding anything contained herein, in every instance the Borrower shall be required to provide paper copies of the certificates required by Section 7.1(c) to the Agent. Except for such certificates required by Section 7.1(c), the Agent shall have no obligation to request the delivery or to maintain copies of the documents referred to above, and in any event shall have no responsibility to monitor compliance by the Borrower with any such request for delivery, and each Lender shall be solely responsible for requesting delivery to it or maintaining its copies of such documents

The Borrower hereby acknowledges that (a) the Agent will make available to the Lenders and the L/C Issuer materials and/or information provided by or on behalf of the Borrower hereunder (collectively, "Borrower Materials") by posting the Borrower Materials on IntraLinks or another similar electronic system (the 'Platform') and (b) certain of the Lenders (each, a "Public Lender") may have personnel who do not wish to receive material non-public information with respect to the Borrower or its Affiliates, or the respective securities of any of the foregoing, and who may be engaged in investment and other market-related activities with respect to such Persons' securities. The Borrower hereby agrees that so long as the Borrower is the issuer of any outstanding debt or equity securities that are registered or issued pursuant to a private offering, (w) all Borrower Materials that are to be made available to Public Lenders shall

be clearly and conspicuously marked "PUBLIC" which, at a minimum, shall mean that the word "PUBLIC" shall appear prominently on the first page thereof; (x) by marking Borrower Materials "PUBLIC," the Borrower shall be deemed to have authorized the Agent, the L/C Issuer and the Lenders to treat such Borrower Materials as not containing any material non-public information with respect to the Borrower or its securities for purposes of United States Federal and state securities laws (<u>provided, however</u>, that to the extent such Borrower Materials constitute Information, they shall be treated as set forth in Section 11.14); (y) all Borrower Materials marked "PUBLIC" are permitted to be made available through a portion of the Platform designated "Public Investor;" and (z) the Agent shall be entitled to treat any Borrower Materials that are not marked "PUBLIC" as being suitable only for posting on a portion of the Platform not designated "Public Investor." Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Borrower shall be under no obligation to mark any Borrower Materials "PUBLIC".

- 7.2 Payment of Taxes. The Borrower will pay, and will cause each Significant Subsidiary to pay, all their respective tax liabilities, except where the same may be contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings, and will maintain, and will cause each Significant Subsidiary to maintain, in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, appropriate reserves for the accrual of the same.
- 7.3 Maintenance of Properties; Insurance. The Borrower will keep, and will cause each Significant Subsidiary to keep, all material property useful and necessary in its business in good working order and condition, ordinary wear and tear excepted; will maintain, and will cause each Significant Subsidiary to maintain (either in the name of the Borrower or in such Significant Subsidiary's own name) with financially sound and reputable insurance companies, insurance on all their property in at least such amounts and against at least such risks as are usually insured against in the same general area by companies of established repute engaged in the same or a similar business; provided that the Borrower shall have the right to self-insure or use a captive insurer in order to meet such insurance requirements so long as the Borrower or such captive insurer provides the Lenders with reasonable proof of financial responsibility. The Borrower will furnish to the Lenders, upon written request from the Agent, full information as to the insurance carried.
- 7.4 Compliance with Laws. The Borrower will comply, and cause each Subsidiary to comply, in all material respects with all applicable laws, ordinances, rules, regulations, and requirements of governmental authorities (including, without limitation, Environmental Laws and ERISA and the rules and regulations thereunder) except where (i) the necessity of compliance therewith is contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings or (ii) appropriate steps are being taken to correct any failure to comply therewith and such failure does not have a Material Adverse Effect.
- 7.5 <u>Books and Records</u>. The Borrower will, and will cause each Significant Subsidiary to, (a) maintain proper books of record and account, in which full, true and correct entries in conformity with GAAP consistently applied shall be made of all financial transactions and matters involving the assets and business of the Borrower or such Significant Subsidiary, as the case may be; and (b) maintain such books of record and account in material conformity with all applicable requirements of any Governmental Authority having regulatory jurisdiction over the Borrower or such Significant Subsidiary, as the case may be.

ARTICLE VIII

NEGATIVE COVENANTS

Until the Facility Termination Date, unless the Required Lenders shall otherwise consent in writing, the Borrower will not, nor will it permit any Subsidiary to:

- 8.1 Consolidated Indebtedness to Consolidated Capitalization. Permit the ratio of Consolidated Indebtedness to Consolidated Capitalization to be greater than 0.60 to 1.00 at any time.
- 8.2 Liens. Incur, create or permit to exist any Lien, charge or other encumbrance of any nature whatsoever with respect to any property or assets now owned or hereafter acquired by the Borrower or any Subsidiary, other than
- (a) Liens existing on the date of this Agreement securing Indebtedness outstanding on the date of this Agreement in an aggregate principal amount not exceeding \$50,000,000;
 - (b) any Lien existing on any asset of any corporation at the time such corporation becomes a Subsidiary and not created in contemplation of such event;
- (c) any Lien on any asset of any corporation existing at the time such corporation is merged or consolidated with or into the Borrower or a Subsidiary and not created in contemplation of such event;
 - (d) any Lien existing on any asset prior to the acquisition thereof by the Borrower or a Subsidiary and not created in contemplation of such acquisition;
- (e) any Lien on any asset securing Indebtedness incurred or assumed for the purpose of financing all or any part of the cost of acquiring such asset <u>provided</u> that such Lien attaches to such asset concurrently with or within 90 days after the acquisition thereof;
- (f) any Lien arising out of the refinancing, extension, renewal or refunding of any Indebtedness secured by any Lien permitted by clauses (a) through (e) above provided that such Indebtedness is not increased and is not secured by any additional assets;
- (g) Liens arising in the ordinary course of business which (i) do not secure Indebtedness, (ii) do not secure any obligation in an amount exceeding \$50,000,000 and (iii) do not in the aggregate materially detract from the value of its assets or materially impair the use thereof in the operations of its business;
 - (h) Liens on assets of a Subsidiary securing Indebtedness owed to the Borrower or a Wholly Owned Subsidiary; and
- (i) Liens not otherwise permitted by the foregoing clauses securing Indebtedness in an aggregate principal amount at any time not to exceed 15% of Consolidated Net Worth; provided that the sum of the principal amount of Indebtedness permitted to be

secured by this clause (i) plus the principal amount of Indebtedness incurred in accordance with Section 8.3(e) at any time shall not exceed 20% of Consolidated Net Worth.

- 8.3 Indebtedness of Subsidiaries. Incur, create, assume or permit to exist any Indebtedness of any Subsidiary of the Borrower, howsoever evidenced, except:
 - (a) Indebtedness of any corporation outstanding at the time such corporation becomes a Subsidiary and not created in contemplation of such event;
- (b) Indebtedness of any corporation outstanding at the time such corporation is merged or consolidated with or into a Subsidiary and not created in contemplation of such event;
 - (c) Indebtedness secured by a Lien permitted by Section 8.2 hereof;
 - (d) Indebtedness owing to the Borrower or a Wholly Owned Subsidiary; and
- (e) Indebtedness not otherwise permitted by the foregoing clauses of this Section in an aggregate outstanding principal amount for all Subsidiaries at no time exceeding 15% of Consolidated Net Worth; <u>provided</u> that the sum of the principal amount of Indebtedness incurred in accordance with this clause (e) plus the principal amount of Indebtedness permitted to be secured in accordance with Section 8.2(i) at any time shall not exceed 20% of Consolidated Net Worth.

The foregoing is subject to the further limitations that (i) for purposes of this Section, any preferred stock of a Subsidiary held by a Person other than the Borrower or a Wholly Owned Subsidiary shall be included, at the higher of its voluntary or involuntary liquidation value, in the Indebtedness of such Subsidiary and (ii) Indebtedness permitted by this Section does not include a refunding, renewal or extension of such Indebtedness so that any such new Indebtedness must fall independently within one of the above exceptions.

- 8.4 <u>Consolidations, Mergers and Sales of Assets</u> The Borrower will not (i) consolidate or merge with or into any other Person; provided that the Borrower may merge with another Person if (A) the Borrower is the corporation surviving such merger and is not a subsidiary of another person and (B) immediately after giving effect to such merger, no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing; or (ii) sell, lease or otherwise transfer, directly or indirectly, all or substantially all of its assets to any other Person, except for sales, leases and other transfers to a Wholly Owned Subsidiary; provided that nothing in this <u>Section 8.4</u> shall be construed to prohibit or limit the ability of the Borrower or any Subsidiary to dispose of Margin Stock for fair market value.
 - 8.5 Change in Control. Cause, suffer or permit to exist or occur any Change of Control.

ARTICLE IX

EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND ACCELERATION

- 9.1 Events of Default. If any one or more of the following events (herein called "Events of Default") shall occur for any reason whatsoever (and whether such occurrence shall be voluntary or involuntary or come about or be effected by operation of law or pursuant to or in compliance with any judgment, decree or order of any court or any order, rule or regulation of any Governmental Authority), that is to say:
- (a) if default shall be made in the due and punctual payment of the principal of any Loan, when and as the same shall be due and payable whether pursuant to any provision of Article III, at maturity, by acceleration or otherwise; or
- (b) if default shall be made in the due and punctual payment of any amount of interest on any Loan or other Obligation or of any fees or other amounts payable to any of the Lenders or the Agent within five days of the date on which the same shall be due and payable; or
 - (c) if default shall be made in the performance or observance of any covenant set forth in Article VIII; or
- (d) if a default shall be made in the performance or observance of, or shall occur under, any covenant, agreement or provision contained in this Agreement or the Notes (other than as described in clauses (a), (b) or (c) above) and such default shall continue for 30 or more days after the earlier of (i) receipt of notice of such default by an Authorized Representative from the Agent and (ii) the date on which an officer or Authorized Representative becomes aware of such default, or if without the written consent of the Lenders, this Agreement or any Note shall be disaffirmed or shall terminate, be terminable or be terminated or become void or unenforceable for any reason whatsoever (other than as expressly provided for hereunder); or
- (e) if there shall occur (i) a default, which is not waived or cured within any applicable grace periods, in the payment of any principal, interest, premium or other amount with respect to any Indebtedness (other than the Loans and other Obligations and other than Indebtedness owed to the Borrower or any Subsidiary) of the Borrower or any Subsidiary in an amount not less than \$100,000,000 in the aggregate outstanding, or (ii) any event of default as specified in any agreement or instrument under or pursuant to which any such Indebtedness in excess of \$100,000,000 may have been issued, created, assumed, guaranteed or secured by the Borrower or any Subsidiary, and such default or event of default shall continue for more than the period of grace, if any, therein specified, and such default or event of default shall permit the holder of any such Indebtedness (or any agent or trustee acting on behalf of one or more holders) to accelerate the maturity thereof; or
- (f) if any representation, warranty or other statement of fact contained in any Loan Document or in any writing, certificate, report or statement at any time furnished to the Agent or any Lender by or on behalf of the Borrower or any Subsidiary pursuant to or in

connection with any Loan Document, or otherwise, shall be false or misleading in any material respect when given; or

- (g) if the Borrower or any Significant Subsidiary shall be unable to pay its debts generally as they become due; file a petition to take advantage of any insolvency statute; make an assignment for the benefit of its creditors; commence a proceeding for the appointment of a receiver, trustee, liquidator or conservator of itself or of the whole or any substantial part of its property; file a petition or answer seeking liquidation, reorganization or arrangement or similar relief under the federal bankruptcy laws or any other applicable law or statute, domestic or foreign; or
- (h) if a court of competent jurisdiction shall enter an order, judgment or decree appointing a custodian, receiver, trustee, liquidator or conservator of the Borrower or any Significant Subsidiary or of the whole or any substantial part of its properties and such order, judgment or decree continues unstayed and in effect for a period of sixty (60) days, or approve a petition filed against the Borrower or any Significant Subsidiary seeking liquidation, reorganization or arrangement or similar relief under the federal bankruptcy laws or any other applicable law or statute of the United States of America or any state thereof or any other jurisdiction, domestic or foreign, which petition is not dismissed within sixty (60) days; or if, under the provisions of any other law for the relief or aid of debtors, a court of competent jurisdiction shall assume custody or control of the Borrower or any Significant Subsidiary or of the whole or any substantial part of its properties, which control is not relinquished within sixty (60) days; or if there is commenced against the Borrower or any Significant Subsidiary any proceeding or petition seeking reorganization, arrangement or similar relief under the federal bankruptcy laws or any other applicable law or statute of the United States of America or any state thereof or any other jurisdiction, domestic or foreign which proceeding or petition remains undismissed for a period of sixty (60) days; or if the Borrower or any Significant Subsidiary takes any action to indicate its consent to or approval of any such proceeding or petition; or
- (i) if (i) any judgment or order where the amount not covered by insurance (or the amount as to which the insurer denies liability) is in excess of \$100,000,000 is rendered against the Borrower or any Subsidiary, or (ii) there is any attachment, injunction or execution against any of the Borrower's or Subsidiaries' properties for any amount in excess of \$100,000,000; and such judgment, attachment, injunction or execution remains unpaid, unstayed, undischarged, unbonded or undismissed for a period of thirty (30) days; or
- (j) any member of the ERISA Group shall fail to pay when due an amount or amounts aggregating in excess of \$100,000,000 which it shall have become liable to pay under Title IV of ERISA; or notice of intent to terminate a Material Plan shall be filed under Title IV or ERISA by any member of the ERISA Group, any plan administrator or any combination of the foregoing; or the PBGC shall institute proceedings under Title IV of ERISA to terminate, to impose liability (other than for premiums under Section 4007 of ERISA) in respect of, or to cause a trustee to be appointed to administer any Material Plan; or a condition shall exist by reason of which the PBGC would be entitled to obtain a decree adjudicating that any Material Plan must be terminated; or there shall occur a complete or partial withdrawal from, or a default, within the meaning of Section 4219(c)(5) of ERISA, with respect to, one or more Multiemployer

Plans which could reasonably be expected to cause one or more members of the ERISA Group to incur a payment obligation in excess of \$100,000,000;

then, and in any such event and at any time thereafter, if such Event of Default or any other Event of Default shall have not been waived,

- (A) either or both of the following actions may be taken: (i) the Agent may, and at the direction of the Required Lenders shall, declare any obligation of the Lenders and the Swing Line Lender to make further Loans terminated, whereupon the obligation of each Lender and the Swing Line Lender to make further Loans hereunder shall terminate immediately, and (ii) the Agent shall at the direction of the Required Lenders, at their option, declare by notice to the Borrower any or all of the Obligations to be immediately due and payable, and the same, including all interest accrued thereon and all other obligations of the Borrower to the Agent and the Lenders, shall forthwith become immediately due and payable without presentment, demand, protest, notice or other formality of any kind, all of which are hereby expressly waived, anything contained herein or in any instrument evidencing the Obligations to the contrary notwithstanding; provided, however that notwithstanding the above, if there shall occur an Event of Default under clause (g) or (h) above, then the obligation of the Lenders and the Swing Line Lender to make Loans hereunder shall automatically terminate and any and all of the Obligations shall be immediately due and payable without the necessity of any action by the Agent or the Required Lenders or notice to the Agent or the Lenders; and
- (B) the Agent may, and at the direction of the Required Lenders shall, require that the Borrower Cash Collateralize all L/C Obligations (in an amount equal to the then L/C Obligations) plus the Letter of Credit fees payable with respect to each then outstanding Letter of Credit (calculated at the Applicable Margin for Letters of Credit then in effect for the period from the date of such Cash Collateralization until the expiry date of each such Letter of Credit; and
 - (C) the Agent and each of the Lenders shall have all of the rights and remedies available under the Loan Documents or under any applicable law.
- 9.2 Agent to Act. In case any one or more Events of Default shall occur and not have been waived, the Agent may, and at the direction of the Required Lenders shall, proceed to protect and enforce their rights or remedies either by suit in equity or by action at law, or both, whether for the specific performance of any covenant, agreement or other provision contained herein or in any other Loan Document, or to enforce the payment of the Obligations or any other legal or equitable right or remedy.
- 9.3 <u>Cumulative Rights</u>. No right or remedy herein conferred upon the Lenders or the Agent is intended to be exclusive of any other rights or remedies contained herein or in any other Loan Document, and every such right or remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to every other such right or remedy contained herein and therein or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity or by statute, or otherwise.

- 9.4 No Waiver. No course of dealing between the Borrower, on the one hand, and any Lender, the Swing Line Lender or the Agent, on the other hand, or any failure or delay on the part of any Lender, the Swing Line Lender or the Agent in exercising any rights or remedies under any Loan Document or otherwise available to it shall operate as a waiver of any rights or remedies and no single or partial exercise of any rights or remedies shall operate as a waiver or preclude the exercise of any other rights or remedies hereunder or of the same right or remedy on a future occasion.
- 9.5 <u>Allocation of Proceeds</u>. If an Event of Default has occurred and not been waived, and the maturity of the Loans has been accelerated pursuant to <u>Article IX</u> hereof, all payments received by the Agent hereunder, in respect of any principal of or interest on the Obligations or any other amounts payable by the Borrower hereunder, shall be applied by the Agent in the following order:
 - (a) amounts due to the Lenders pursuant to Sections 3.6(a) and 11.5;
 - (b) amounts due to the Agent pursuant to Section 3.6(b);
- (c) payments of interest on Revolving Loans to be applied for the ratable benefit of the Lenders (with amounts payable in respect of L/C Borrowings and Swing Line Outstandings being included in such calculation and paid to the applicable L/C Issuer and the Swing Line Lender, respectively) and payments of interest on Competitive Bid Loans to be applied to the applicable Competitive Bid Lender;
- (d) payments of principal of Revolving Loans, to be applied for the ratable benefit of the Lenders (with amounts payable in respect of L/C Borrowings and Swing Line Outstandings being included in such calculation and paid to the applicable L/C Issuer and the Swing Line Lender, respectively) and payments of principal of Competitive Bid Loans to be applied to the applicable Competitive Bid Lender;
 - (e) amounts due to the Agent and the Lenders pursuant to Section 11.9;
 - (f) payments of all other amounts due under any of the Loan Documents, if any, to be applied for the ratable benefit of the Lenders;
 - (g) any surplus remaining after application as provided for herein, to the Borrower or otherwise as may be required by applicable law.

ARTICLE X

THE AGENT

- 10.1 <u>Appointment and Authority</u>. Each of the Lenders and the L/C Issuer hereby irrevocably appoints Bank of America to act on its behalf as the Agent hereunder and under the other Loan Documents and authorizes the Agent to take such actions on its behalf and to exercise such powers as are delegated to the Agent by the terms hereof or thereof, together with such actions and powers as are reasonably incidental thereto. The provisions of this Article are solely for the benefit of the Agent, the Lenders and the L/C Issuer, and the Borrower shall have no rights as a third party beneficiary of any of such provisions.
- 10.2 <u>Rights as a Lender</u>. The Person serving as the Agent hereunder shall have the same rights and powers in its capacity as a Lender as any other Lender and may exercise the same as though it were not the Agent and the term "Lender" or "Lenders" shall, unless otherwise expressly indicated or unless the context otherwise requires, include the Person serving as the Agent hereunder in its individual capacity. Such Person and its Affiliates may accept deposits from, lend money to, act as the financial advisor or in any other advisory capacity for and generally engage in any kind of business with the Borrower or any Subsidiary or other Affiliate thereof as if such Person were not the Agent hereunder and without any duty to account therefor to the Lenders.
- 10.3 Exculpatory Provisions. The Agent shall not have any duties or obligations except those expressly set forth herein and in the other Loan Documents. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Agent:
 - (a) shall not be subject to any fiduciary or other implied duties, regardless of whether a Default has occurred and is continuing;
- (b) shall not have any duty to take any discretionary action or exercise any discretionary powers, except discretionary rights and powers expressly contemplated hereby or by the other Loan Documents that the Agent is required to exercise as directed in writing by the Required Lenders (or such other number or percentage of the Lenders as shall be expressly provided for herein or in the other Loan Documents), <u>provided</u> that the Agent shall not be required to take any action that, in its opinion or the opinion of its counsel, may expose the Agent to liability or that is contrary to any Loan Document or applicable law; and
- (c) shall not, except as expressly set forth herein and in the other Loan Documents, have any duty to disclose, and shall not be liable for the failure to disclose, any information relating to the Borrower or any of its Affiliates that is communicated to or obtained by the Person serving as the Agent or any of its Affiliates in any capacity.

The Agent shall not be liable for any action taken or not taken by it (i) with the consent or at the request of the Required Lenders (or such other number or percentage of the Lenders as shall be necessary, or as the Agent shall believe in good faith shall be necessary, under the circumstances as provided in Sections 9.01 and 11.6) or (ii) in the absence of its own gross negligence or willful misconduct. The Agent shall be deemed not to have knowledge of any

Default unless and until notice describing such Default is given to the Agent by the Borrower, a Lender or the L/C Issuer.

The Agent shall not be responsible for or have any duty to ascertain or inquire into (i) any statement, warranty or representation made in or in connection with this Agreement or any other Loan Document, (ii) the contents of any certificate, report or other document delivered hereunder or thereunder or in connection herewith or therewith, (iii) the performance or observance of any of the covenants, agreements or other terms or conditions set forth herein or therein or the occurrence of any Default, (iv) the validity, enforceability, effectiveness or genuineness of this Agreement, any other Loan Document or any other agreement, instrument or document or (v) the satisfaction of any condition set forth in Article V or elsewhere herein, other than to confirm receipt of items expressly required to be delivered to the Agent.

10.4 Reliance by Agent. The Agent shall be entitled to rely upon, and shall not incur any liability for relying upon, any notice, request, certificate, consent, statement, instrument, document or other writing (including any electronic message, Internet or intranet website posting or other distribution) believed by it to be genuine and to have been signed, sent or otherwise authenticated by the proper Person. The Agent also may rely upon any statement made to it orally or by telephone and believed by it to have been made by the proper Person, and shall not incur any liability for relying thereon. In determining compliance with any condition hereunder to the making of a Loan, or the issuance of a Letter of Credit, that by its terms must be fulfilled to the satisfaction of a Lender or the L/C Issuer, the Agent may presume that such condition is satisfactory to such Lender or the L/C Issuer prior to the making of such Loan or the issuance of such Letter of Credit. The Agent may consult with legal counsel (who may be counsel for the Borrower), independent accountants and other experts selected by it, and shall not be liable for any action taken or not taken by it in accordance with the advice of any such counsel, accountants or experts.

10.5 <u>Delegation of Duties</u>. The Agent may perform any and all of its duties and exercise its rights and powers hereunder or under any other Loan Document by or through any one or more sub agents appointed by the Agent. The Agent and any such sub agent may perform any and all of its duties and exercise its rights and powers by or through their respective Related Parties. The exculpatory provisions of this Article shall apply to any such sub agent and to the Related Parties of the Agent and any such sub agent, and shall apply to their respective activities in connection with the syndication of the credit facilities provided for herein as well as activities as Agent.

10.6 <u>Resignation of Agent</u>. The Agent may at any time give notice of its resignation to the Lenders, the L/C Issuer and the Borrower. Upon receipt of any such notice of resignation, the Required Lenders shall have the right, with the consent of the Borrower, to appoint a successor, which shall be a bank with an office in the United States, or an Affiliate of any such bank with an office in the United States. If no such successor shall have been so appointed by the Required Lenders and shall have accepted such appointment within 30 days after the retiring Agent gives notice of its resignation, then the retiring Agent may on behalf of the Lenders and the L/C Issuer, and with the consent of the Borrower, appoint a successor Agent meeting the qualifications set forth above; <u>provided</u> that if the Agent shall notify the Borrower and the

Lenders that no qualifying Person has accepted such appointment, then such resignation shall nonetheless become effective in accordance with such notice and (1) the retiring Agent shall be discharged from its duties and obligations hereunder and under the other Loan Documents and (2) all payments, communications and determinations provided to be made by, to or through the Agent shall instead be made by or to each Lender and the L/C Issuer directly, until such time as the Required Lenders appoint a successor Agent as provided for above in this Section. Upon the acceptance of a successor's appointment as Agent hereunder, such successor shall succeed to and become vested with all of the rights, powers, privileges and duties of the retiring (or retired) Agent, and the retiring Agent shall be discharged from all of its duties and obligations hereunder or under the other Loan Documents (if not already discharged therefrom as provided above in this Section). The fees payable by the Borrower to a successor Agent shall be the same as those payable to its predecessor unless otherwise agreed between the Borrower and such successor. After the retiring Agent's resignation hereunder and under the other Loan Documents, the provisions of this Article and Section 11.5 shall continue in effect for the benefit of such retiring Agent, its sub agents and their respective Related Parties in respect of any actions taken or omitted to be taken by any of them while the retiring Agent was acting as Agent.

Any resignation by Bank of America as Agent pursuant to this Section shall also constitute its resignation as L/C Issuer and Swing Line Lender. Upon the acceptance of a successor's appointment as Agent hereunder, (a) such successor shall succeed to and become vested with all of the rights, powers, privileges and duties of the retiring L/C Issuer and Swing Line Lender, (b) the retiring L/C Issuer and Swing Line Lender shall be discharged from all of their respective duties and obligations hereunder or under the other Loan Documents, and (c) the successor L/C Issuer shall issue letters of credit in substitution for the Letters of Credit, if any, outstanding at the time of such succession or make other arrangements reasonably satisfactory to the retiring L/C Issuer to effectively assume the obligations of the retiring L/C Issuer with respect to such Letters of Credit.

10.7 Non-Reliance on Agent and Other Lenders. Each Lender and the L/C Issuer acknowledges that it has, independently and without reliance upon the Agent or any other Lender or any of their Related Parties and based on such documents and information as it has deemed appropriate, made its own credit analysis and decision to enter into this Agreement. Each Lender and the L/C Issuer also acknowledges that it will, independently and without reliance upon the Agent or any other Lender or any of their Related Parties and based on such documents and information as it shall from time to time deem appropriate, continue to make its own decisions in taking or not taking action under or based upon this Agreement, any other Loan Document or any related agreement or any document furnished hereunder or thereunder.

10.8 No Other Duties, Etc. Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, none of the Bookrunners, Arrangers, Syndication Agent or Documentation Agent listed on the cover page hereof shall have any powers, duties or responsibilities under this Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents, except in its capacity, as applicable, as the Agent, a Lender or the L/C Issuer hereunder.

10.9 Agent May File Proofs of Claim. In case of the pendency of any proceeding under any Debtor Relief Law or any other judicial proceeding relative to the Borrower, the Agent (irrespective of whether the principal of any Loan or L/C Obligation shall then be due and

payable as herein expressed or by declaration or otherwise and irrespective of whether the Agent shall have made any demand on the Borrower) shall be entitled and empowered, by intervention in such proceeding or otherwise

- (a) to file and prove a claim for the whole amount of the principal and interest owing and unpaid in respect of the Loans, L/C Obligations and all other Obligations that are owing and unpaid and to file such other documents as may be necessary or advisable in order to have the claims of the Lenders, the L/C Issuer and the Agent (including any claim for the reasonable compensation, expenses, disbursements and advances of the Lenders, the L/C Issuer and their respective agents and counsel and all other amounts due the Lenders, the L/C Issuer and the Agent under Sections 2.8(i) and (j), 3.6 and 11.5) allowed in such judicial proceeding; and
 - (b) to collect and receive any monies or other property payable or deliverable on any such claims and to distribute the same;

and any custodian, receiver, assignee, trustee, liquidator, sequestrator or other similar official in any such judicial proceeding is hereby authorized by each Lender and the L/C Issuer to make such payments to the Agent and, in the event that the Agent shall consent to the making of such payments directly to the Lenders and the L/C Issuer, to pay to the Agent any amount due for the reasonable compensation, expenses, disbursements and advances of the Agent and its agents and counsel, and any other amounts due the Agent under Sections 3.6 and 11.5.

Nothing contained herein shall be deemed to authorize the Agent to authorize or consent to or accept or adopt on behalf of any Lender or the L/C Issuer any plan of reorganization, arrangement, adjustment or composition affecting the Obligations or the rights of any Lender or the L/C Issuer to authorize the Agent to vote in respect of the claim of any Lender or the L/C Issuer in any such proceeding.

ARTICLE XI

MISCELLANEOUS

11.1 Assignments and Participations.

(a) The provisions of this Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns permitted hereby, except that the Borrower may not assign or otherwise transfer any of its rights or obligations hereunder without the prior written consent of each Lender, and no Lender may assign or otherwise transfer any of its rights or obligations hereunder except (i) to an Eligible Assignee in accordance with the provisions of subsection (b) of this Section, (ii) by way of participation in accordance with the provisions of subsection (d) of this Section, or (iii) by way of pledge or assignment of a security interest subject to the restrictions of subsection (f) of this Section (and any other attempted assignment or transfer by any party hereto shall be null and void). Nothing in this Agreement, expressed or implied, shall be construed to confer upon any Person (other than the parties hereto, their respective successors and assigns permitted hereby, Participants to the extent provided in subsection (e) of this Section and, to the extent expressly contemplated hereby, the

Indemnified Parties) any legal or equitable right, remedy or claim under or by reason of this Agreement.

(b) Any Lender may at any time assign to one or more Eligible Assignees all or a portion of its rights and obligations under this Agreement (including all or a portion of its Revolving Credit Commitment and the Loans (including for purposes of this subsection (b), participations in L/C Obligations and in Swing Line Loans) at the time owing to it); provided that (i) except in the case of an assignment of the entire remaining amount of the assigning Lender's Revolving Credit Commitment and the Loans at the time owing to it or in the case of an assignment to a Lender or an Affiliate of a Lender or an Approved Fund (as defined in subsection (g) of this Section) with respect to a Lender, the aggregate amount of the Revolving Credit Commitment (which for this purpose includes Loans outstanding thereunder) subject to each such assignment, determined as of the date the Assignment and Assumption with respect to such assignment is delivered to the Agent or, if "Trade Date" is specified in the Assignment and Assumption, as of the Trade Date, shall not be less than \$5,000,000 or an integral multiple of \$5,000,000 in excess thereof, unless each of the Agent and, so long as no Event of Default under Section 9.1(a), (b), (g) or (h) has occurred and is continuing, the Borrower otherwise consents (each such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed); (ii) each partial assignment shall be made as an assignment of a proportionate part of all the assigning Lender's rights and obligations under this Agreement with respect to the Loans (including its participation interests in Swing Line Loans), L/C Borrowings and the Revolving Credit Commitment assigned, but this clause (ii) shall not apply to Swing Line Loans in the event of any assignment by the Swing Line Lender; (iii) each such assignment may, but need not, include the rights of the assignor in respect of Competitive Bid Outstandings except in the event that a Lender assigns all of its Revolving Credit Commitment such assignment shall include all of its Competitive Bid Loans; (iv) any assignment of a Revolving Credit Commitment must be approved (which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed) by the Agent, each L/C Issuer and the Swing Line Lender unless the Person that is the proposed assignee is itself a Lender (whether or not the proposed assignee would otherwise qualify as an Eligible Assignee); and (v) the parties to each assignment shall execute and deliver to the Agent an Assignment and Assumption, together with a processing and recordation fee of \$3,500. Subject to acceptance and recording thereof by the Agent pursuant to subsection (c) of this Section, from and after the effective date specified in each Assignment and Assumption, the Eligible Assignee thereunder shall be a party to this Agreement and, to the extent of the interest assigned by such Assignment and Assumption, have the rights and obligations of a Lender under this Agreement, and the assigning Lender thereunder shall, to the extent of the interest assigned by such Assignment and Assumption, be released from its obligations under this Agreement (and, in the case of an Assignment and Assumption covering all of the assigning Lender's rights and obligations under this Agreement, such Lender shall cease to be a party hereto but shall continue to be entitled to the benefits of Sections 4.1, 4.4, 4.5, 11.5 and 11.9 with respect to facts and circumstances occurring prior to the effective date of such assignment). Upon request, the Borrower (at its expense) shall execute and deliver a Note to the assignee Lender. Any assignment or transfer by a Lender of rights or obligations under this Agreement that does not comply with this subsection shall be treated for purposes of this Agreement as a sale by such Lender of a participation in such rights and obligations in accordance with subsection (d) of this Section. Notwithstanding the foregoing, (x) the Agent shall not be obligated to consent to an assignment hereunder until it is satisfied it has complied with all necessary "know your customer" or other similar checks under all applicable laws and

regulations in relation to the assignment to such assignee Lender and (y) an assignment will only be effective after performance by the Agent of all "know your customer" or other checks relating to any person that it is required to carry out in relation to such assignment to an assignee Lender, the completion of which the Agent shall promptly notify to the assigning Lender and the assignee Lender.

- (c) The Agent, acting solely for this purpose as an agent of the Borrower, shall maintain at the Agent's Applicable Lending Office a copy of each Assignment and Assumption delivered to it and a register for the recordation of the names and addresses of the Lenders, and the Revolving Credit Commitments of, and principal amounts of the Loans and L/C Obligations owing to, each Lender pursuant to the terms hereof from time to time (the "Register"). The entries in the Register shall be conclusive, and the Borrower, the Agent and the Lenders may treat each Person whose name is recorded in the Register pursuant to the terms hereof as a Lender hereunder for all purposes of this Agreement, notwithstanding notice to the contrary. The Register shall be available for inspection by the Borrower and any Lender, at any reasonable time and from time to time upon reasonable prior notice.
- (d) Any Lender may at any time, without the consent of, or (except as set forth below in this subsection (d)) notice to, the Borrower or the Agent, sell participations to any Person (other than a natural person or the Borrower or any of the Borrower's Affiliates or Subsidiaries) (each, a "Participant") in all or a portion of such Lender's rights and/or obligations under this Agreement (including all or a portion of its Revolving Credit Commitment and/or the Loans (including such Lender's participations in L/C Obligations and/or Swing Line Loans) owing to it); provided that (i) such Lender's obligations under this Agreement shall remain unchanged, (ii) such Lender shall remain solely responsible to the other parties hereto for the performance of such obligations and (iii) the Borrower, the Agent and the other Lenders shall continue to deal solely and directly with such Lender in connection with such Lender's rights and obligations under this Agreement. Each Lender selling a participation shall notify the Borrower of the identity of the participant and the amount of the participation, provided that the failure of any Lender to give such notice shall not affect the validity of such sale or the rights of the participant hereunder. Any agreement or instrument pursuant to which a Lender sells such a participation shall provide that such Lender shall retain the sole right to enforce this Agreement and to approve any amendment, modification or waiver of any provision of this Agreement; provided that such agreement or instrument may provide that such Lender will not, without the consent of the Participant, agree to any amendment, waiver or other modification described in the first proviso to Section 11.6 that directly affects such Participant. Subject to subsection (e) of this Section, the Borrower agrees that each Participant shall be entitled to the benefits of Sections 4.1 and 4.5 to the same extent as if it were a Lender and had acquired its interest by assignment pursuant to subsection (b) of this Section. To the e
- (e) A Participant shall not be entitled to receive any greater payment under <u>Sections 4.1</u> or <u>4.5</u> than the applicable Lender would have been entitled to receive with respect to the participation sold to such Participant, unless the sale of the participation to such Participant is made with the Borrower's prior written consent. No Participant shall be entitled to the benefits of <u>Section 4.6</u> unless the Borrower is notified of the participation sold to such Participant and

such Participant agrees, for the benefit of the Borrower, to provide such forms, certificates or other evidence, if any, with respect to withholding tax matters as required under Section 4.6.

- (f) Any Lender may at any time pledge or assign a security interest in all or any portion of its rights under this Agreement (including under its Note, if any) to secure obligations of such Lender, including any pledge or assignment to secure obligations to a Federal Reserve Bank; provided that no such pledge or assignment shall release such Lender from any of its obligations hereunder or substitute any such pledgee or assignee for such Lender as a party hereto.
 - (g) As used herein, the following terms have the following meanings:

"Eligible Assignee" means (a) a Lender; (b) an Affiliate of a Lender; (c) an Approved Fund; and (d) any other Person (other than a natural person) approved by (i) the Agent (which approval shall be subject to the last sentence of Section 11.1(b) and shall not be unreasonably withheld) and (ii) unless an Event of Default under Section 9.1(a), (b), (g) or (h) has occurred and is continuing, the Borrower (each such approval not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed) provided that notwithstanding the foregoing, "Eligible Assignee" shall not include the Borrower or any of the Borrower's Affiliates or Subsidiaries.

"Fund" means any Person (other than a natural person) that is (or will be) engaged in making, purchasing, holding or otherwise investing in commercial loans and similar extensions of credit in the ordinary course of its business.

"Approved Fund" means any Fund that is administered or managed by (a) a Lender, (b) an Affiliate of a Lender or (c) an entity or an Affiliate of an entity that administers or manages a Lender.

11.2 Notices; Effectiveness; Electronic Communication.

(a) General. Except in the case of notices and other communications expressly permitted to be given by telephone (and except as provided in subsection (b) below), all notices and other communications provided for herein shall be in writing and shall be delivered by hand or overnight courier service, mailed by certified or registered mail or sent by telecopier as follows, and all notices and other communications expressly permitted hereunder to be given by telephone shall be made to the applicable telephone number, as follows:

(A) if to the Borrower:

V.F. Corporation 105 Corporate Center Boulevard Greensboro, North Carolina 27408 Attn: Frank C. Pickard, III, Vice President-Treasurer Telephone: (336) 424-6000

Telefacsimile: (336) 424-7630

(B) if to the Agent:

Bank of America, N.A. 101 North Tryon Street, 15th Floor NC1-001-15-14 Charlotte, North Carolina 28255 Attention: Cindy K. Fisher

Telephone: (704) 386-5452 Telefacsimile: (704) 409-0180

with a copy to:

Bank of America, N.A.

Corporate Debt Products 335 Madison Avenue New York, NY 10017 Attention: Thomas J. Kane Telephone: (212) 503-7980 Telefacsimile: (704) 409-0120

(C) if to the Lenders:

At the addresses set forth in an administrative questionnaire delivered to the Agent.

Notices sent by hand or overnight courier service, or mailed by certified or registered mail, shall be deemed to have been given when received; notices sent by telecopier shall be deemed to have been given when sent, where the proper transmission of such notice is either acknowledged by the recipient or electronically confirmed by the transmitting device (except that, if not given during normal business hours for the recipient, shall be deemed to have been given at the opening of business on the next business day for the recipient). Notices delivered through electronic communications to the extent provided in subsection (b) below, shall be effective as provided in such subsection (b).

(b) <u>Electronic Communications</u>. Notices and other communications to the Lenders and the L/C Issuer hereunder may be delivered or furnished by electronic communication (including e mail and Internet or intranet websites) pursuant to procedures approved by the Agent, <u>provided</u> that the foregoing shall not apply to notices to any Lender or

the L/C Issuer pursuant to <u>Article II</u> if such Lender or the L/C Issuer, as applicable, has notified the Agent that it is incapable of receiving notices under such Article by electronic communication. The Agent or the Borrower may, in its discretion, agree to accept notices and other communications to it hereunder by electronic communications pursuant to procedures approved by it, provided that approval of such procedures may be limited to particular notices or communications.

Unless the Agent otherwise prescribes, (i) notices and other communications sent to an e-mail address shall be deemed received upon the sender's receipt of an acknowledgement from the intended recipient (such as by the "return receipt requested" function, as available, return e-mail or other written acknowledgement), provided that if such notice or other communication is not sent during the normal business hours of the recipient, such notice or communication shall be deemed to have been sent at the opening of business on the next business day for the recipient, and (ii) notices or communications posted to an Internet or intranet website shall be deemed received upon the deemed receipt by the intended recipient at its e-mail address as described in the foregoing clause (i) of notification that such notice or communication is available and identifying the website address therefor.

- (c) The Platform. THE PLATFORM IS PROVIDED "AS IS" AND "AS AVAILABLE." THE AGENT PARTIES (AS DEFINED BELOW) DO NOT WARRANT THE ACCURACY OR COMPLETENESS OF THE BORROWER MATERIALS OR THE ADEQUACY OF THE PLATFORM, AND EXPRESSLY DISCLAIM LIABILITY FOR ERRORS IN OR OMISSIONS FROM THE BORROWER MATERIALS. NO WARRANTY OF ANY KIND, EXPRESS, IMPLIED OR STATUTORY, INCLUDING ANY WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, NON-INFRINGEMENT OF THIRD PARTY RIGHTS OR FREEDOM FROM VIRUSES OR OTHER CODE DEFECTS, IS MADE BY ANY AGENT PARTY IN CONNECTION WITH THE BORROWER MATERIALS OR THE PLATFORM. In no event shall the Agent or any of its Related Parties (collectively, the "Agent Parties") have any liability to the Borrower's or the Agent's transmission of Borrower Materials through the Internet, except to the extent that such losses, claims, damages, liabilities or expenses are determined by a court of competent jurisdiction by a final and nonappealable judgment to have resulted from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of such Agent Party; provided, however that in no event shall any Agent Party have any liability to the Borrower, any Lender, the L/C Issuer or any other Person for indirect, special, incidental, consequential or punitive damages (as opposed to direct or actual damages).
- (d) <u>Change of Address, Etc.</u> Each of the Borrower, the Agent, the L/C Issuer and the Swing Line Lender may change its address, telecopier or telephone number for notices and other communications hereunder by notice to the other parties hereto. Each other Lender may change its address, telecopier or telephone number for notices and other communications hereunder by notice to the Borrower, the Agent, the L/C Issuer and the Swing Line Lender. In addition, each Lender agrees to notify the Agent from time to time to ensure that the Agent has on record (i) an effective address, contact name, telephone number, telecopier number and electronic mail address to which notices and other communications may be sent and (ii) accurate wire instructions for such Lender. Furthermore, each Public Lender agrees to cause at least one

individual at or on behalf of such Public Lender to at all times have selected the "Private Side Information" or similar designation on the content declaration screen of the Platform in order to enable such Public Lender or its delegate, in accordance with such Public Lender's compliance procedures and applicable Law, including United States Federal and state securities Laws, to make reference to Borrower Materials that are not made available through the "Public Side Information" portion of the Platform and that may contain material non-public information with respect to the Borrower or its securities for purposes of United States Federal or state securities laws.

- (e) Reliance by Agent, L/C Issuer and Lenders The Agent, the L/C Issuer and the Lenders shall be entitled to rely and act upon any notices (including telephonic Borrowing Notices) purportedly given by or on behalf of the Borrower even if (i) such notices were not made in a manner specified herein, were incomplete or were not preceded or followed by any other form of notice specified herein, or (ii) the terms thereof, as understood by the recipient, varied from any confirmation thereof. The Borrower shall indemnify the Agent, the L/C Issuer, each Lender and the Related Parties of each of them from all losses, costs, expenses and liabilities resulting from the reliance by such Person on each notice purportedly given by or on behalf of the Borrower. All telephonic notices to and other telephonic communications with the Agent may be recorded by the Agent, and each of the parties hereto hereby consents to such recording.
- 11.3 Right of Set-off; Adjustments. Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of any Event of Default, each Lender (and each of its affiliates) is hereby authorized at any time and from time to time, to the fullest extent permitted by law, to set off and apply any and all deposits (general or special, time or demand, provisional or final) at any time held and other indebtedness at any time owing by such Lender (or any of its affiliates) to or for the credit or the account of the Borrower against any and all of the obligations of the Borrower now or hereafter existing under this Agreement and the Notes held by such Lender, irrespective of whether such Lender shall have made any demand under this Agreement or such Notes and although such obligations may be unmatured. Each Lender agrees promptly to notify the Borrower after any such set-off and application made by such Lender; provided, however that the failure to give such notice shall not affect the validity of such set-off and application. The rights of each Lender under this Section 11.3 are in addition to other rights and remedies (including, without limitation, other rights of set-off) that such Lender may have.
- (a) Except to the extent that this Agreement expressly provides for payments to be allocated to a particular Lender or Lenders, if any Lender (a benefited Lender') shall at any time receive any payment of all or part of the Loans (other than Competitive Bid Loans) owing to it, or interest thereon, or receive any collateral in respect thereof (whether voluntarily or involuntarily, by set-off, or otherwise), in a greater proportion than any such payment to or collateral received by any other Lender, if any, in respect of such other Lender's Loans (other than Competitive Bid Loans) owing to it, or interest thereon, such benefited Lender shall purchase for cash from the other Lenders a participating interest in such portion of each such other Lender's Loans (other than Competitive Bid Loans) owing to it, or shall provide such other Lenders with the benefits of any such collateral, or the proceeds thereof, as shall be necessary to cause such benefited Lender to share the excess payment or benefits of such collateral or proceeds ratably with each of the Lenders; provided, however that if all or any portion of such

excess payment or benefits is thereafter recovered from such benefited Lender, such purchase shall be rescinded, and the purchase price and benefits returned, to the extent of such recovery, but without interest. The Borrower agrees that any Lender so purchasing a participation from a Lender pursuant to this Section 11.3 may, to the fullest extent permitted by law, exercise all of its rights of payment (including the right of set-off) with respect to such participation as fully as if such Person were the direct creditor of the Borrower in the amount of such participation.

- 11.4 <u>Survival</u>. All covenants, agreements, representations and warranties made herein shall survive the making by the Lenders of the Loans and the execution and delivery to the Lenders of this Agreement and the Notes and shall continue in full force and effect so long as any of Obligations remain outstanding or any Lender has any Revolving Credit Commitment hereunder or the Borrower has continuing obligations hereunder unless otherwise provided herein.
- 11.5 Expenses. The Borrower agrees to pay on demand all reasonable out-of-pocket costs and expenses of the Agent in connection with the syndication, preparation, execution, delivery, administration, modification, and amendment of this Agreement, the other Loan Documents, and the other documents to be delivered hereunder, including, without limitation, the reasonable fees and expenses of counsel for the Agent with respect thereto and with respect to advising the Agent as to its rights and responsibilities under the Loan Documents. If an Event of Default occurs, the Borrower further agrees to pay on demand all reasonable out-of-pocket costs and expenses of the Agent and the Lenders, if any (including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys' fees and expenses), in connection with the enforcement (whether through negotiations, legal proceedings, or otherwise) of the Loan Documents and the other documents to be delivered hereunder.
- 11.6 Amendments and Waivers. Any provision of this Agreement or any other Loan Document may be amended or waived if, but only if, such amendment or waiver is in writing and is signed by the Borrower and either the Required Lenders or (as to Loan Documents other than the Credit Agreement) the Agent at the direction of and on behalf of the Required Lenders; provided that no such amendment or waiver shall, unless signed by all the Lenders affected thereby, (i) increase the Revolving Credit Commitments of the Lenders or the Total Revolving Credit Commitment (except as provided in Section 2.7), (ii) reduce the principal of or rate or amount of interest on any Revolving Loan or any fees or other amounts payable hereunder, (iii) postpone any date fixed for the payment of any scheduled installment of principal of or interest on any Loan or any fees or other amounts payable hereunder (except as provided in Section 2.9) or for termination of any Revolving Credit Commitment, (iv) change the percentage of the Revolving Credit Commitment or of the unpaid principal amount of the Loans, or the number of Lenders, which shall be required for the Lenders or any of them to take any action under this Section 11.6 or any other provision of this Agreement, (v) change Section 9.5, Section 2.1(e) or Section 11.3 in a manner that would alter the pro rata sharing of payments or the pro rata reduction of the Revolving Credit Commitments required thereby or (v) amend this Section 11.6; and, provided further, that (x) no amendment, waiver or consent shall, unless in writing and signed by each L/C Issuer in addition to the Lenders required above, affect the rights or duties of any L/C Issuer under this Agreement or any Letter of Credit issued or to be issued by it; (y) no amendment, waiver or consent shall, unless in writing and signed by the Swing Line Lender in addition to the Lenders required above, affect the rights

or duties of the Swing Line Lender under this Agreement; and (z) no amendment, waiver or consent shall, unless in writing and signed by the Agent in addition to the Lenders required above, affect the rights or duties of the Agent under this Agreement or any other Loan Document. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, no defaulting Lender shall have any right to approve or disapprove any amendment, waiver or consent hereunder, except that the Revolving Credit Commitment of such Lender may not be increased or extended without the consent of such Lender.

No notice to or demand on the Borrower in any case shall entitle the Borrower to any other or further notice or demand in similar or other circumstances, except as otherwise expressly provided herein. No delay or omission on any Lender's or the Agent's part in exercising any right, remedy or option shall operate as a waiver of such or any other right, remedy or option or of any Default or Event of Default.

- 11.7 <u>Counterparts</u>. This Agreement and any Loan Document may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which when so executed and delivered shall be deemed an original, and it shall not be necessary in making proof of this Agreement or any Loan Document to produce or account for more than one such fully-executed counterpart. Delivery of an executed signature page of this Agreement or any Loan Document by facsimile transmission shall be effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart thereof.
- 11.8 Termination. The termination of this Agreement shall not affect any rights of the Borrower, the Lenders or the Agent or any obligation of the Borrower, the Lenders or the Agent, arising prior to the effective date of such termination, and the provisions hereof shall continue to be fully operative until all transactions entered into or rights created or obligations incurred prior to such termination have been fully disposed of, concluded or liquidated and the Obligations arising prior to or after such termination have been irrevocably paid in full. The rights granted to the Agent for the benefit of the Lenders under the Loan Documents shall continue in full force and effect, notwithstanding the termination of this Agreement, until all of the Obligations have been paid in full after the termination hereof (other than Obligations in the nature of continuing indemnities or expense reimbursement obligations not yet due and payable, which shall continue) or the Borrower has furnished the Lenders and the Agent with an indemnification satisfactory to the Agent and each Lender with respect thereto. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if after receipt of any payment of all or any part of the Obligations, any Lender is for any reason compelled to surrender such payment to any Person because such payment is determined to be void or voidable as a preference, impermissible setoff, a diversion of trust funds or for any other reason, this Agreement shall continue in full force, and the Borrower shall be liable to, and shall indemnify and hold the Agent or such Lender harmless for, the amount of such payment surrendered until the Agent or such Lender shall have been finally and irrevocably paid in full. The provisions of the foregoing sentence shall be and remain effective notwithstanding any contrary action which may have been taken by the Agent or the Lenders in reliance upon such payment, and any such contrary action so taken shall be without prejudice to the Agent or the Lenders' rights under this Agreement and shall be dee

11.9 Indemnification; Limitation of Liability.

- (a) The Borrower, to the maximum extent permitted by applicable law, agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Agent and each Lender and each of their affiliates and their respective officers, directors, employees, agents, and advisors (each, an "Indemnified Party") from and against any and all claims, damages, losses, liabilities, costs, and expenses (including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys' fees) that may be incurred by or asserted or awarded against any Indemnified Party, in each case arising out of or in connection with or by reason of (including, without limitation, in connection with any investigation, litigation, or proceeding or preparation of defense in connection therewith) the Loan Documents, any of the transactions contemplated herein or the actual or proposed use of the proceeds of the Loans (collectively, "Indemnified Liabilities"), except to the extent such claim, damage, loss, liability, cost, or expense is found in a final, non-appealable judgment by a court of competent jurisdiction to have resulted from such Indemnified Party's gross negligence or willful misconduct. In the case of an investigation, litigation or other proceeding to which the indemnity in this Section 11.9 applies, such indemnity shall be effective whether or not such investigation, litigation or proceeding is brought by the Borrower or any of its directors, shareholders or creditors or an Indemnified Party or any other Person or any Indemnified Party is otherwise a party thereto and whether or not the transactions contemplated hereby are consummated. The Borrower agrees that no Indemnified Party shall have any liability (whether direct or indirect, in contract or tort or otherwise) to it, any of its Subsidiaries, any guarantor, or any security holders or creditors thereof arising out of, related to or in connection with the transactions contemplated herein, except to the extent that such liability is found in a final non-appealable judgment by a court of competent jurisdiction to have directly resulted from such
- (b) Without prejudice to the survival of any other agreement of the Borrower hereunder, the agreements and obligations of the Borrower contained in this Section 11.9 shall survive the payment in full of the Loans and all other amounts payable under this Agreement.
- 11.10 Severability. If any provision of this Agreement or the other Loan Documents shall be determined to be illegal or invalid as to one or more of the parties hereto, then such provision shall remain in effect with respect to all parties, if any, as to whom such provision is neither illegal nor invalid, and in any event all other provisions hereof shall remain effective and binding on the parties hereto.
- 11.11 <u>Integration</u>. This Agreement, together with the other Loan Documents, comprises the complete and integrated agreement of the parties on the subject matter hereof and thereof and supersedes all prior agreements, written or oral, on such subject matter. In the event of any conflict between the provisions of this Agreement and those of any other Loan Document, the provisions of this Agreement shall control; provided that the inclusion of supplemental rights or remedies in favor of the Agent or the Lenders in any other Loan Document executed on or after the date of this Agreement shall not be deemed a conflict with this Agreement. Each Loan

Document was drafted with the joint participation of the respective parties thereto and shall be construed neither against nor in favor of any party, but rather in accordance with the fair meaning thereof.

- 11.12 Agreement Controls. In the event that any term of any of the Loan Documents other than this Agreement conflicts with any express term of this Agreement, the terms and provisions of this Agreement shall control to the extent of such conflict.
 - 11.13 Governing Law; Waiver of Jury Trial.
- (a) THIS AGREEMENT AND THE OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK APPLICABLE TO CONTRACTS EXECUTED, AND TO BE FULLY PERFORMED, IN SUCH STATE.
- (b) THE BORROWER HEREBY EXPRESSLY AND IRREVOCABLY AGREES AND CONSENTS THAT ANY SUIT, ACTION OR PROCEEDING ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT AND THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREIN MAY BE INSTITUTED IN ANY STATE OR FEDERAL COURT SITTING IN NEW YORK CITY, STATE OF NEW YORK, UNITED STATES OF AMERICA AND, BY THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF THIS AGREEMENT, THE BORROWER EXPRESSLY WAIVES, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, ANY OBJECTION THAT IT MAY NOW OR HEREAFTER HAVE TO THE LAYING OF VENUE IN, OR TO THE EXERCISE OF JURISDICTION OVER IT AND ITS PROPERTY BY, ANY SUCH COURT IN ANY SUCH SUIT, ACTION OR PROCEEDING, AND THE BORROWER HEREBY IRREVOCABLY SUBMITS GENERALLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY TO THE NON EXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION OF ANY SUCH COURT IN ANY SUCH SUIT, ACTION OR PROCEEDING.
- (c) THE BORROWER AGREES THAT SERVICE OF PROCESS MAY BE MADE BY PERSONAL SERVICE OF A COPY OF THE SUMMONS AND COMPLAINT OR OTHER LEGAL PROCESS IN ANY SUCH SUIT, ACTION OR PROCEEDING, OR BY REGISTERED OR CERTIFIED MAIL (POSTAGE PREPAID) TO THE ADDRESS OF THE BORROWER PROVIDED IN SECTION OR BY ANY OTHER METHOD OF SERVICE PROVIDED FOR UNDER THE APPLICABLE LAWS IN EFFECT IN THE STATE OF NEW YORK.
- (d) IN ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING TO ENFORCE OR DEFEND ANY RIGHTS OR REMEDIES UNDER OR RELATED TO ANY LOAN DOCUMENT OR ANY AMENDMENT, INSTRUMENT, DOCUMENT OR AGREEMENT DELIVERED OR THAT MAY IN THE FUTURE BE DELIVERED IN CONNECTION THEREWITH, THE BORROWER, THE AGENT AND THE LENDERS HEREBY AGREE, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, THAT ANY SUCH ACTION, SUIT OR PROCEEDING SHALL BE TRIED BEFORE A COURT AND NOT BEFORE A JURY AND HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVE, TO THE

EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, ANY RIGHT SUCH PERSON MAY HAVE TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY SUCH ACTION, SUIT OR PROCEEDING.

(e) THE BORROWER HEREBY EXPRESSLY WAIVES, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, ANY OBJECTION IT MAY HAVE THAT ANY COURT TO WHOSE JURISDICTION IT HAS SUBMITTED PURSUANT TO THE TERMS HEREOF IS AN INCONVENIENT FORUM.

11.14 Confidentiality. Each of the Agent and the Lenders agrees to maintain the confidentiality of the Information (as defined below), except that Information may be disclosed (a) to its and its Affiliates' directors, officers, employees and agents, including accountants, legal counsel and other advisors (it being understood that the Persons to whom such disclosure is made will be informed of the confidential nature of such Information and instructed to keep such Information confidential), (b) to the extent requested by any regulatory authority (including any self-regulatory authority), (c) to the extent required by applicable laws or regulations or by any subpoena or similar legal process, (d) to any other party hereto, (e) in connection with the exercise of any remedies hereunder or under or any other Loan Document or any action or proceeding relating to this Agreement or any other Loan Documents or the enforcement of rights hereunder or thereunder, (f) subject to an agreement containing provisions substantially the same as those of this Section, to any assignee of or Participant in, or any prospective assignee of or Participant in, any of its rights or obligations under this Agreement, (g) with the consent of the Borrower, or (h) to the extent such Information (x) becomes publicly available other than as a result of a breach of this Section or (y) becomes available to the Agent or any Lender on a nonconfidential basis from a source other than the Borrower. For the purposes of this Section, "Information" means all information received from the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries (each, a "Loan Party") relating to any Loan Party or any of their respective businesses, other than any such information that is available to the Agent or any Lender on a nonconfidential basis prior to disclosure by any Loan Party. Any Person required to maintain the confidentiality of Information as provided in this Section shall be considered to have complied with its obligation to do so if such Person has exercised the same degree

11.15 "Know Your Customer" Checks; PATRIOT Act Notice. (a) If:

- (i) the introduction of or any change in (or in the interpretation, administration or application of) any law or regulation made after the date of this Agreement;
- (ii) any change in the status of a Loan Party after the date of this Agreement; or
- (iii) a proposed assignment or transfer by a Lender of any of its rights and/or obligations under this Agreement to a party that is not a Lender prior to such assignment or transfer

obliges the Agent or any Lender (or, in the case of paragraph (iii) above, any prospective new Lender) to comply with "know your customer" or similar identification procedures in

circumstances where the necessary information is not already available to it, each Loan Party shall promptly upon the request of the Agent or any Lender supply, or procure the supply of, such documentation and other evidence as is reasonably requested by the Agent (for itself or on behalf of any Lender) or any Lender (for itself or, in the case of the event described in paragraph (iii) above, on behalf of any prospective new Lender) in order for the Agent, such Lender or, in the case of the event described in paragraph (iii) above, any prospective new Lender to carry out and be satisfied it has complied with all necessary "know your customer" or other similar checks under all applicable laws and regulations pursuant to the transactions contemplated in the Loan Documents.

- (b) Each Lender shall promptly upon the request of the Agent supply, or procure the supply of, such documentation and other evidence as is reasonably requested by the Agent (for itself) in order for the Agent to carry out and be satisfied it has complied with all necessary "know your customer" or other similar checks under all applicable laws and regulations pursuant to the transactions contemplated in the Loan Documents.
- (c) Each Lender that is subject to the Act (as hereinafter defined) and the Agent (for itself and not on behalf of any Lender) hereby notifies the Borrower that pursuant to the requirements of the USA PATRIOT Act (Title III of Pub. L. 107-56 (signed into law October 26, 2001)) (the "Act"), it is required to obtain, verify and record information that identifies the Borrower, which information includes the name and address of the Borrower and other information that will allow such Lender or the Agent, as applicable, to identify the Borrower in accordance with the Act.

[Signatures on following pages]

V.F. CORPORATION
By: Name: Mackey J. McDonald Title: Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
By: Name: Frank C. Pickard III Title: Vice President — Treasurer
BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., as Agent for the Lenders, Swing Line Lender, an L/C Issuer and as Lender
By:

CITIBANK, N.A., as Syndication Agent and as Lender

Ву:		
	Name:	
	Title:	

WACHOVIA BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as Co-Documentation Agent and as Lender

Name:			
Title:			
Title.	 		
3			

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A. as Co-Documentation Agent and as Lender

By:		
	Name:	
	Title:	
	4	

ING BANK N.V., DUBLIN BRANCH as Senior Managing Agent and as Lender

By:		
	Name:	
	Title:	
	5	

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as Senior Managing Agent and as Lender

	Name:		
-	Title:		

ABN AMRO BANK N.V.

By:		
	Name:	
	Title:	
	_	
	7/	

BANCO SANTANDER S.A., NEW YORK BRANCH

By:		
	Name:	
	Title:	
	8	

HSBC BANK USA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

Зу:				
	Name:			
	Title:			
	Q			

PNC BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

By:		
	Name:	
	Title:	
	10	

WILLIAM STREET COMMITMENT CORPORATION

Ву:				
N	Vame:			
T	Title:			
				_
	11			

THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON

By:					
Na	me:				
Tit	le:				
10	,				

UMB BANK, N.A.

Ву:		
	Name:	
	Title:	
	13	

WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

y:			
Name:			
Title:			,
			<u>.</u>
1.4			

EXHIBIT A

Applicable Commitment Percentages

		Applicable
	Revolving Credit	Commitment
Lender	Commitment	Percentage
Bank of America, N.A.	\$ 130,000,000.00	13.0000000000%
Citibank, N.A.	\$ 130,000,000.00	13.0000000000%
Wachovia Bank, National Association	\$ 115,000,000.00	11.5000000000%
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.	\$ 90,000,000.00	9.0000000000%
ING Bank N.V., Dublin Branch	\$ 70,000,000.00	7.0000000000%
U.S. Bank National Association	\$ 70,000,000.00	7.0000000000%
ABN AMRO Bank N.V.	\$ 60,000,000.00	6.0000000000%
Banco Santander Central Hispano, S.A.	\$ 60,000,000.00	6.0000000000%
HSBC Bank USA, National Association	\$ 60,000,000.00	6.0000000000%
William Street Commitment Corporation	\$ 60,000,000.00	6.0000000000%
PNC Bank, National Association	\$ 60,000,000.00	6.0000000000%
The Bank of New York Mellon	\$ 45,000,000.00	4.5000000000%
UMB Bank, N.A.	\$ 25,000,000.00	2.5000000000%
Wells Fargo Bank, National Association	\$ 25,000,000.00	2.5000000000%
Total	\$ 1,000,000,000.00	100%

EXHIBIT B

ASSIGNMENT AND ASSUMPTION

This Assignment and Assumption (this "Assignment and Assumption") is dated as of the Effective Date set forth below and is entered into by and between [Insert name of Assignor] (the "Assignor") and [Insert name of Assignee] (the "Assignee"). Capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meanings given to them in the Credit Agreement identified below (the "Credit Agreement"), receipt of a copy of which is hereby acknowledged by the Assignee. The Standard Terms and Conditions set forth in Annex 1 attached hereto are hereby agreed to and incorporated herein by reference and made a part of this Assignment and Assumption as if set forth herein in full.

For an agreed consideration, the Assignor hereby irrevocably sells and assigns to the Assignee, and the Assignee hereby irrevocably purchases and assumes from the Assignor, subject to and in accordance with the Standard Terms and Conditions and the Credit Agreement, as of the Effective Date inserted by the Administrative Agent as contemplated below (i) all of the Assignor's rights and obligations as a Lender under the Credit Agreement and any other documents or instruments delivered pursuant thereto to the extent related to the amount and percentage interest identified below of all of such outstanding rights and obligations of the Assignor under the respective facilities identified below (including, without limitation, Letters of Credit and Swing Line Loans included in such facilities) and (ii) to the extent permitted to be assigned under applicable law, all claims, suits, causes of action and any other right of the Assignor (in its capacity as a Lender) against any Person, whether known or unknown, arising under or in connection with the Credit Agreement, any other documents or instruments delivered pursuant thereto or the loan transactions governed thereby or in any way based on or related to any of the foregoing, including, but not limited to, contract claims, tort claims, malpractice claims, statutory claims and all other claims at law or in equity related to the rights and obligations sold and assigned pursuant to clauses (i) above the rights and obligations sold and assigned pursuant to clauses (i) above being referred to herein collectively as, the "Assigned Interest"). Such sale and assignment is without recourse to the Assignor and, except as expressly provided in this Assignment and Assumption, without representation or warranty by the Assignor.

1.	Assignor:		
2.	Assignee:	[identify Lender] ¹]	[and is an Affiliate/Approved Fund of
3.	Borrower:	V.F. Corporation	
4.	Administrative Agent:	Bank of America, N.A., as the administrative agent under the Credit Agreement	
1	Select as applicable.		
		B-1	

5.	Credit Agreement:	ent: The Credit Agreement, dated as of October 15, 2007, among V.F. Corporation, the Lenders parties thereto, Bank of Americ as Administrative Agent, Citibank, N.A., as Syndication Agent, and Wachovia Bank, National Association and JPMorgan C Bank, N.A., as Co-Documentation Agents.		
6.	Assigned Interest:			
	Facility Assigned	Aggregate Amount of Commitment/Loans for all Lenders*	Amount of Commitment/ Loans Assigned*	Percentage Assigned of Commitment/Loans ²
	olving Credit Commitment	\$	\$	%
Con	npetitive Bid Loans	\$	<u> </u>	
		\$	<u> </u>	
*	Amount to be adjusted by the	he counterparties to take into account any payments	or prepayments made between the Trade D	Date and the Effective Date.
[7.	Trade Date:	13	1 1 2	
-	ective Date:	, 20 [TO BE INSERTED BY ADMINISTR	ATIVE ACENT AND WHICH SHALL D	E THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF
		R IN THE REGISTER THEREFOR.]	ATIVE AGENT AND WHICH SHALL B	E THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF
		,		
		The terms set forth in this Assignment	nt and Assumption are hereby agreed to:	
			ASSIGNOR	
			[NAME OF ASSIGNOR]	
			By:	
			Title:	
			ASSIGNEE	
			[NAME OF ASSIGNEE]	
			By:	
			Title:	
2	Set forth, to at least 9 decim	nals, as a percentage of the Commitment/Loans of a	ll Lenders thereunder.	

Set forth, to at least 9 decimals, as a percentage of the Commitment/Loans of all Lenders thereunder.

To be completed if the Assignor and the Assignee intend that the minimum assignment amount is to be determined as of the Trade Date.

Consente	ed to and Accepted:
BANK (OF AMERICA, N.A., nistrative Agent
By:	
•	Title:
Consente	ed to and Accepted:
BANK (DF AMERICA, N.A., g Line Lender
By:	
	Title:
Consente	ed to and Accepted:
as L/C Is	ssuer
By:	
	Title:
[Consent	ted to and Accepted:
V.F. CO	PRPORATION,
By:	
Name: Title:	
By: Name:	-
Title:	

Credit Agreement, dated as of October 15, 2007, among V.F. Corporation, the Lenders parties thereto, Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent, Citibank, N.A., as Syndication Agent, and Wachovia Bank, National Association and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Co-Documentation Agents

STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR ASSIGNMENT AND ASSUMPTION

1. Representations and Warranties.

- 1.1. Assignor. The Assignor (a) represents and warrants that (i) it is the legal and beneficial owner of the Assigned Interest, (ii) the Assigned Interest is free and clear of any lien, encumbrance or other adverse claim and (iii) it has full power and authority, and has taken all action necessary, to execute and deliver this Assignment and Assumption and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby; and (b) assumes no responsibility with respect to (i) any statements, warranties or representations made in or in connection with the Credit Agreement or any other Loan Document, (ii) the execution, legality, validity, enforceability, genuineness, sufficiency or value of the Loan Documents or any collateral thereunder, (iii) the financial condition of the Borrower, any of its Subsidiaries or Affiliates or any other Person obligated in respect of any Loan Document or (iv) the performance or observance by the Borrower, any of its Subsidiaries or Affiliates or any other Person of any of their respective obligations under any Loan Document.
- 1.2. Assignee. The Assignee (a) represents and warrants that (i) it has full power and authority, and has taken all action necessary, to execute and deliver this Assignment and Assumption and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and to become a Lender under the Credit Agreement, (ii) it meets all requirements of an Eligible Assignee under the Credit Agreement (subject to receipt of such consents as may be required under the Credit Agreement), (iii) from and after the Effective Date, it shall be bound by the provisions of the Credit Agreement as a Lender thereunder and, to the extent of the Assigned Interest, shall have the obligations of a Lender thereunder, (iv) it has received a copy of the Credit Agreement, together with copies of the most recent financial statements delivered pursuant to Section 6.5 or 7.1 thereof, as applicable, and such other documents and information as it has deemed appropriate to make its own credit analysis and decision to enter into this Assignment and Assumption and to purchase the Assigned Interest on the basis of which it has made such analysis and decision independently and without reliance on the Administrative Agent or any other Lender, and (v) if it is a Foreign Lender, attached hereto is any documentation required to be delivered by it pursuant to the terms of the Credit Agreement, duly completed and executed by the Assignee; and (b) agrees that (i) it will, independently and without reliance on the Administrative Agent, the Assignor or any other Lender, and based on such documents and information as it shall deem appropriate at the time, continue to make its own credit decisions in taking or not taking action under the Loan Documents, and (ii) it will perform in accordance with their terms all of the obligations which by the terms of the Loan Documents are required to be performed by it as a Lender.

- 2. <u>Payments</u>. From and after the Effective Date, the Administrative Agent shall make all payments in respect of the Assigned interest (including payments of principal, interest, fees and other amounts) to the Assignee whether such amounts have accrued prior to or on or after the Effective Date. The Assignor and the Assignee shall make all appropriate adjustments in payments by the Administrative Agent for periods prior to the Effective Date or with respect to the making of this assignment directly between themselves.
- 3. <u>General Provisions</u>. This Assignment and Assumption shall be binding upon, and inure to the benefit of, the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns. This Assignment and Assumption may be executed in any number of counterparts, which together shall constitute one instrument. Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature page of this Assignment and Assumption by telecopy shall be effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart of this Assignment and Assumption. This Assignment and Assumption shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the law of the State of New York.

EXHIBIT C

Notice of Appointment (or Revocation) of Authorized Representative

Reference is hereby made to the Credit Agreement dated as of October 15, 2007 (the "Agreement") among V.F. Corporation, a Pennsylvania corporation (the "Borrower"), the Lenders (as defined in the Agreement), Bank of America, N. A., as Administrative Agent for the Lenders ("Agent") and the Co-Documentation Agents and Syndication Agent named therein. Capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the respective meanings therefor set forth in the Agreement.

1. The Borrower hereby nominates, constitutes and appoints each in Documents, and hereby represents and warrants that (i) set forth opindividual has been duly elected or appointed), a genuine specimen duly authorized by the Borrower to act as Authorized Representative	posite each such individual's name is a true and correct signature of such individual and an address for the giving	statement of such individual's office (to which such
Name	Office	Specimen Signature
2. The Borrower hereby nominates, constitutes and appoints each in Documents, and hereby represents and warrants that (i) set forth opindividual has been duly elected or appointed), a genuine specimen duly authorized by the Borrower to act as Authorized Representative	posite each such individual's name is a true and correct signature of such individual and an address for the giving	statement of such individual's office (to which such ng of notice, and (ii) each such individual has been
Name	Office	Specimen Signature
	C-1	

3. Borrower hereby revokes (effective upon receipt hereof by the Agent) the price	or appointment of as an Authorized Representative.
This the	_ day of, 20
	V.F. CORPORATION
	By: Name: Title:
	By: Name: Title:
	C-2

EXHIBIT D-1

Form of Borrowing Notice

To: Bank of America, N.A.,

as Agent Building B 2001 Clayton Road Concord, CA 94520-2405 Attention: Client Services Telephone: (925) 675-8398 Telefacsimile: (888) 969-2637

Reference is hereby made to the Credit Agreement dated as of October 15, 2007 (the "Agreement") among V.F. Corporation (the "Borrower"), the Lenders (as defined in the Agreement), Bank of America, N. A., as Agent for the Lenders ("Agent") and the Co-Documentation Agents and Syndication Agent named therein. Capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the respective meanings therefor set forth in the Agreement.

The Borrower through its Authorized Representative hereby gives notice to the Agent that Loans of the type and amount set forth below be made on the date indicated:

Type of Loan (check one) Revolving Loans in Dollars:	Interest Period(1)	Aggregate Amount(2)	Date of Loan(3)	Currency(4)
Base Rate Loan				
Eurocurrency Rate Loan				
Revolving Loans in an Alternative Currency:				
Eurocurrency Rate Loan				

⁽¹⁾ For any Eurocurrency Rate Loan, one, two, three, six, and if available to all Lenders, nine or twelve months.

⁽²⁾ Must be \$10,000,000 (or the Alternative Currency Equivalent Amount thereof) or if greater an integral multiple of \$1,000,000 (or the Alternative Currency Equivalent Amount thereof), unless a Base Rate Refunding Loan.

⁽³⁾ At least (3) Business Days later if a Eurocurrency Rate Loan with a one, two, three or six month Interest Period or four (4) Business Days if a Eurocurrency Rate Loan with a nine or twelve month Interest Period.

(4) Specify Dollars or the Alternative Currency.

The Borrower hereby requests that the proceeds of Loans described in this Borrowing Notice be made available to the Borrower as follows: insert transmittal instructions.

The undersigned hereby certifies that:

- 1. No Default or Event of Default exists either now or after giving effect to the borrowing described herein; and
- 2. All the representations and warranties set forth in <u>Article VI</u> (other than <u>Section 6.5(c)</u>) of the Agreement and in the Loan Documents (other than those expressly stated to refer to a particular date) are true and correct as of the date hereof except that the reference to the financial statements in <u>Section 6.5(a)</u> of the Agreement are to those financial statements most recently delivered to you pursuant to <u>Section 7.1(b)</u> have not been certified by independent public accountants).
- 3. All conditions contained in the Agreement to the making of any Loan requested hereby have been met or satisfied in full .

V.F. CO	DRPORATION
BY:	Authorized Representative
DATE:	
D-1-2	

EXHIBIT D-2

Form of Borrowing Notice—Swing Line Loans

To: Bank of America, N.A., as Agent
Building B
2001 Clayton Road
Concord, CA 94520-2405
Attention: Client Services

Attention: Client Services Telephone: (925) 675-8398 Telefacsimile: (888) 969-2637

Reference is hereby made to the Credit Agreement dated as of October 15, 2007 (the "Agreement") among V.F. Corporation (the "Borrower"), the Lenders (as defined in the Agreement), Bank of America, N. A., as Agent for the Lenders ("Agent") and the Co-Documentation Agents and Syndication Agent named therein. Capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the respective meanings therefor set forth in the Agreement.

The Borrower through its Authorized Representative hereby gives notice to Bank of America that a Swing Line Loan of the amount set forth below be made on the date indicated:

Amount(1)	Date of Loan
	,

(1) Must be \$500,000 or if greater an integral multiple of \$500,000.

The Borrower hereby requests that the proceeds of Swing Line Loans described in this Borrowing Notice be made available to the Borrower as follows <u>[insert transmittal instructions].</u>

The undersigned hereby certifies that:

- 1. No Default or Event of Default exists either now or after giving effect to the borrowing described herein; and
- 2. All the representations and warranties set forth in Article VI (other than Section 6.5(c)) of the Agreement and in the Loan Documents (other than those expressly stated to refer to a particular date) are true and correct as of the date hereof except that the reference to the financial statements in Section 6.5(a) of the Agreement are to those financial statements most recently delivered to you pursuant to Section 7.1 of the Agreement (it being understood that any financial statements delivered pursuant to Section 7.1(b) have not been certified by independent public accountants).

3. All conditions contained in the Agreement to the making of any Loan requested hereby have been met or satisfied in full.		
V.F. C	ORPORATION	
BY:		
	Authorized Representative	
DATE	:	
D-2-2		

EXHIBIT E

Form of Interest Rate Selection Notice

To: Bank of America, N.A.,

as Agent Building B 2001 Clayton Road Concord, CA 94520-2405 Attention: Client Services Telephone: (925) 675-8398 Telefacsimile: (888) 969-2637

Reference is hereby made to the Credit Agreement dated as of October 15, 2007 (the "Agreement") among V.F. Corporation (the "Borrower"), the Lenders (as defined in the Agreement), Bank of America, N.A., as Agent for the Lenders ("Agent") and the Co-Documentation Agents and Syndication Agent named therein. Capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the respective meanings therefor set forth in the Agreement.

The Borrower through its Authorized Representative hereby gives notice to the Agent of the following selection of a type of Loan and Interest Period:

Type of Loan (check one)	Interest Period(1)	Aggregate Amount(2)	Date of Loan(3)	Currency (4)
Revolving Loans in Dollars:				
Eurocurrency Rate Loan				
Revolving Loans in an Alternative Currency:				
Eurocurrency Rate Loan				

⁽¹⁾ For any Eurocurrency Rate Loan, one, two, three, six, and if available to all Lenders, nine or twelve months.

⁽²⁾ Must be \$10,000,000 (or the Alternative Currency Equivalent Amount thereof) or if greater an integral multiple of \$1,000,000 (or the Alternative Currency Equivalent Amount thereof), unless a Base Rate Refunding Loan.

⁽³⁾ At least three (3) Business Days later if a Eurocurrency Rate Loan with a one, two, three or six month Interest Period or four (4) Business Days if a Eurocurrency Rate Loan with a nine or twelve month Interest Period.

⁽⁴⁾ Specify the Alternative Currency.

V.F. CORPORATION

BY:	
	Authorized Representative
DATE:	
E-2	

EXHIBIT F

Form of Note

Promissory Note

If payment of all sums due hereunder is accelerated under the terms of the Agreement or under the terms of the other Loan Documents executed in connection with the Agreement, the then remaining principal amount and accrued but unpaid interest thereon evidenced by this Note shall become immediately due and payable, without presentation, demand, protest or notice of any kind, all of which are hereby waived by the Borrower.

In the event this Note is not paid when due at any stated or accelerated maturity, the Borrower agrees to pay, in addition to the principal and interest, all costs of collection, including reasonable attorneys' fees, and interest due hereunder thereon at the rates set forth above.

Interest hereunder shall be computed as provided in the Agreement.

This Note is one of the Notes referred to in the Agreement and is issued pursuant to and entitled to the benefits and security of the Agreement to which reference is hereby made for a more complete statement of the terms and conditions upon which the Loans evidenced hereby were or are made and are to be repaid. This Note is subject to certain restrictions on transfer or assignment as provided in the Agreement.

This Note shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New York.

All Persons bound on this obligation, whether primarily or secondarily liable as principals, sureties, guarantors, endorsers or otherwise, hereby waive to the full extent permitted by law all defenses based on suretyship or impairment of collateral and the benefits of all provisions of law for stay or delay of execution or sale of property or other satisfaction of judgment against any of them on account of liability hereon until judgment be obtained and execution issued against any other of them and returned satisfied or until it can be shown that the maker or any other party hereto had no property available for the satisfaction of the debt evidenced by this instrument, or until any other proceedings can be had against any of them, also their right, if any, to require the holder hereof to hold as security for this Note any collateral deposited by any of said Persons as security. Protest, notice of protest, notice of dishonor, diligence or any other formality are hereby waived by all parties bound hereon.

[Signature page follows.]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF , the Borrower has caused this Note to be made, executed and written, all pursuant to authority duly granted.	delivered by its duly authorized representative as of the date and year first above
V.F. CORP	DRATION
By: Name: Title:	
F-3	

EXHIBIT G

Compliance Certificate

Bank of America, N.A., as Agent 101 North Tryon Street, 15th Floor NC1-001-15-14 Charlotte, North Carolina 28255

Attention: Cindy K. Fisher Telephone: (704) 386-5452 Telefacsimile: (704) 409-0180

Corporate Debt Products 335 Madison Avenue New York, NY 10017 Attention: Thomas J. Kane Telephone: (212) 503-7980 Telefacsimile: (704) 409-0120

Bank of America, N.A.

Reference is hereby made to the Credit Agreement dated as of October 15, 2007 (the "Agreement") among V.F. Corporation, a Pennsylvania corporation (the "Borrower"), the Lenders (as defined in the Agreement), Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent for the Lenders ("Agent") and the Co-Documentation Agents and Syndication Agent named therein. Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined herein shall have the respective meanings therefor set forth in the Agreement. The undersigned, a duly authorized and acting Authorized Representative, hereby certifies to you as of ______ (the "Determination Date") as follows:

1.	Calc	ulations:
	A.	Compliance with Section 8.1: C

acculations:	
Compliance with Section 8.1: Consolidated Indebtedness to Consolidated Capitalization	
1. Consolidated Indebtedness as of the Determination Date	\$
2. Consolidated Net Worth as of the Determination Date	\$
3. Sum of A.1 and A.2	\$
4. Ratio of A.1 to A.3	to 1.00

Required: A.4 must not be greater than .60 to 1.00 at any time.

	1. Consolidated Net Worth as of the Determination Date			\$	
	2. B.1 X 15%			\$	
	3. Is Indebtedness secured by Liens not permitted under Section 8.2(a	-(h) less than B.2?		Yes	No
	4. B.1 x 20%			\$	
	5. Is the sum of (1) Indebtedness secured by the Liens not permitted u incurred in accordance with Section 8.3 (e) less than B.4??	nder Section 8.2 (a) – (h) and (2	2) Indebtedness	Yes	No
C.	Compliance with Section 8.3(e): Indebtedness of Subsidiaries				
	1. Is Indebtedness not permitted under Section 8.3(a)-(d) less than B.	2? Ye	s No		
	2. No Default				
	A. Since, 20, (the date of the last similar certific fulfillment of its obligations pursuant to any of the Loan Documents occurred and is continuing,				
	B. If a Default or Event of Default has occurred since	, 20, (the date of the last si	imilar certification), the t or Event of Default ha	e Borrower propose as occurred, insert '	s to take the 'Not Applicable').
The Dete	rmination Date is the date of the last required financial statements subm	itted to the Lenders in accordar	nce with Section 7.1 of t	the Agreement.	
IN WITNES	S WHEREOF, I have executed this Certificate this day of _	, 20			
		By: Authorized Represer	ntative		
		mot at			
		G-2			

Compliance with Section 8.2(i): Liens

B.

EXHIBIT H

Form of Competitive Bid Quote Request

To: Bank of America, N.A.,

as Agent Building B 2001 Clayton Road Concord, CA 94520-2405 Attention: Client Services Telephone: (925) 675-8398 Telefacsimile: (888) 969-2637

Reference is hereby made to the Credit Agreement dated as of October 15, 2007 (the "Agreement") among V.F. Corporation (the "Borrower"), the Lenders (as defined in the Agreement), Bank of America, N.A., as Agent for the Lenders ("Agent") and the Documentation Agent and Syndication Agent named therein. Capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the respective meanings therefor set forth in the Agreement.

Pursuant to Section 2.2 of the Agreement, the Borrower through its Authorized Representative hereby gives notice to the Agent that the Borrower requests Competitive Bid Quotes for the following proposed Competitive Bid Borrowings:

Quotation Date	Interest Period(1)	Aggregate Amount	Date of Loan	Currency (2)
	<u> </u>	V.F. CORPOR	ATION	
		Ву:		
		Name:	ized Representative	

⁽¹⁾ Not to extend beyond the Revolving Credit Termination Date.

⁽²⁾ Specify Dollars or the Alternative Currency. At least \$10,000,000 (or the Dollar Equivalent Amount thereof) or a larger integral multiple of \$1,000,000 (or the Dollar Equivalent Amount thereof).

EXHIBIT I

Form of Competitive Bid Quote

To: Bank of America, N.A., as Agent Building B 2001 Clayton Road Concord, CA 94520-2405 Attention: Client Services Telephone: (925) 675-8398 Telefacsimile: (888) 969-2637

Competitive Bid Quote to V.F. Corporation

Reference is hereby made to the Credit Agreement dated as of October 15, 2007 (the "Agreement") among V.F. Corporation (the "Borrower"), the Lenders (as defined in the Agreement), Bank of America, N.A., as Agent for the Lenders ("Agent") and the Documentation Agent and Syndication Agent named therein. Capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the respective meanings therefor set forth in the Agreement.

		Section 2.2(c) of the Agreeme e Bid Quote(s) on the following	ent. In response to the Borrowe ng terms:	r's Competitive Bid Quote R	equest dated
1. Quoting Bank:	_				
2. Person to Contact at Quot	ing Bank:				
3. We hereby offer to make	Competitive Bid Loan(s) in t	he following principal amoun	nt(s), for the following Interest	Period(s) and at the following	g rate(s):
uotation Date(1)	Interest Period(2)	Aggregate Amount(3)	Date of Loan	Absolute Rate(4)	Currency
, 1	ed Competitive Bid Quote Re the Revolving Credit Termin	•			

- (2
- (3) The principal amount bid for each Interest Period may not exceed the principal amount requested. Bids must be made for at least \$5,000,000 (or the Alternative Currency Equivalent Amount thereof) or a larger integral multiple of \$1,000,000 (or the Alternative Currency Equivalent Amount thereof).

We understand and agree that the offer(s) set forth above, subject to the satisfaction of the applicable conditions set forth in the Agreement, irrevocably obligate(s) us to make the Competitive Bid Loan(s) for which any offer(s) is/are accepted, in whole or in part (subject to the third sentence of Section 2.2(e) of the Agreement.			
	Very truly yours,		
	[INSERT NAME OF LENDER]		
	By: Name: Title:		
Dated:			
	I-2		

(4) Rounded to the nearest 1/10,000 of 1%.

EXHIBIT J

Form of Amendment Agreement

AMENDMENT NO. ___ TO CREDIT AGREEMENT

THIS AMENDMENT AGREEMENT is made and entered into this day of,, by and among V.F. CORPORATION, a Pennsylvania corporation (the "Borrower"), BANK OF AMERICA, N. A. (the "Agent"), as Agent for the lenders (the "Lenders") party to that certain Credit Agreement dated October 15, 2007 among such Lenders, Borrower, and the Agent, as amended (the "Agreement") and [(the "New Lender")].
WITNESSETH:
WHEREAS, the Borrower, the Agent and the Lenders have entered into the Agreement pursuant to which the Lenders have agreed to make revolving loans to the Borrower in the principal amount of up to \$1,000,000,000 (which may be increased to \$1,250,000,000) as evidenced by the Notes (as defined in the Agreement); and
WHEREAS, the New Lender has agreed to [provide the Borrower Revolving Loans of up to \$,000,000] [increase its Revolving Credit Commitment to \$] thereby increasing the then applicable Total Revolving Credit Commitment to \$,000,000 and the parties hereto desire to amend the Agreement in accordance with Section 2.7 of the Agreement in the manner herein set forth effective as of the date hereof;
NOW, THEREFORE, the Borrower, the Agent and the New Lender do hereby agree as follows:
1. <u>Definitions</u> . The term "Agreement" as used herein and in the Loan Documents (as defined in the Agreement) shall mean the Agreement as hereby amended and modified. Unless the context otherwise requires, all terms used herein without definition shall have the definition provided therefor in the Agreement.
2. <u>Amendments.</u> Subject to the conditions hereof, the Agreement is hereby amended, effective as of the date hereof, by deleting Exhibit A and inserting in lieu thereof Exhibit A attached hereto, and the New Lender agrees by the execution of this Amendment Agreement that it [shall be a party to the Agreement as a Lender and] shall provide to the Borrower its Revolving Credit Commitment. Exhibit A attached hereto shall be unchanged from Exhibit A to the Agreement immediately prior to the effectiveness hereof with respect to the Revolving Credit Commitment of each Lender which is not the New Lender.
3. Representations and Warranties. The Borrower hereby certifies that:
(a) The representations and warranties made by the Borrower in Article VI of the Agreement are true on and as of the date hereof except that the financial statements

referred to in Section 6.5(a) shall be those most recently furnished to each Lender pursuant to Section 7.1(a) and (b);

- (b) There has been no Material Adverse Effect;
- (c) No event has occurred and no condition exists which, upon the consummation of the transaction contemplated hereby, constituted a Default or an Event of Default on the part of the Borrower under the Agreement or the Notes either immediately or with the lapse of time or the giving of notice, or both.
- 4. Conditions. As a condition to the effectiveness of this Amendment Agreement, the Borrower shall deliver, or cause to be delivered to the Agent, the following:
 - (a) Four (4) counterparts of this Amendment Agreement executed by the Borrower and the New Lender; and
 - (b) If requested, a fully-executed Note payable to the New Lender.
- 5. New Lender. Upon the effectiveness of this Amendment Agreement, the New Lender, if not a Lender prior to the effectiveness of this Amendment Agreement, shall be a party to the Credit Agreement and have the rights and obligations of a Lender thereunder.
- 6. Other Documents. All instruments and documents incident to the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby shall be satisfactory in form and substance to the Agent and its counsel; the Agent shall have received copies of all additional agreements, instruments and documents which it may reasonably request in connection therewith, including evidence of the authority of the Borrower to enter into the transactions contemplated by this Amendment Agreement, in each case such documents, when appropriate, to be certified by appropriate corporate or governmental authorities; and all proceedings of the Borrower relating to the matters provided for herein shall be satisfactory to the Agent and its counsel.
- 7. Entire Agreement. This Amendment Agreement sets forth the entire understanding and agreement of the parties hereto in relation to the subject matter hereof and supersedes any prior negotiations and agreements among the parties relative to such subject matter. No promise, conditions, representation or warranty, express or implied, not herein set forth shall bind any party hereto, and no one of them has relied on any such promise, condition, representation or warranty. Each of the parties hereto acknowledges that, except as in this Amendment Agreement or otherwise expressly stated, no representations, warranties or commitments, express or implied, have been made by any other party to the other. None of the terms of conditions of this Amendment Agreement may be changed, modified, waived or canceled orally or otherwise, except in accordance with the Agreement.
- 8. Full Force and Effect of Agreement. Except as hereby specifically amended, modified or supplemented, the Agreement and all of the other Loan Documents are hereby confirmed and ratified in all respects and shall remain in full force and effect according to their respective terms.

V.F. CORPORATION	
By: Name: Title:	
BANK OF AMERICA, N. A., as Agent	
By: Name: Title:	
[Insert Name of Lender]	
By: Name: Title:	
J-3	

MANDATORY COST FORMULAE

- 1. The Mandatory Cost (to the extent applicable) is an addition to the interest rate to compensate Lenders for the cost of compliance with:
 - the requirements of the Bank of England and/or the Financial Services Authority (or, in either case, any other authority which replaces all or any of its functions);
 - (b) the requirements of the European Central Bank.
- 2. On the first day of each Interest Period (or as soon as possible thereafter) the Agent shall calculate, as a percentage rate, a rate (the "Additional Cost Rate") for each Lender, in accordance with the paragraphs set out below. The Mandatory Cost will be calculated by the Agent as a weighted average of the Lenders' Additional Cost Rates (weighted in proportion to the percentage participation of each Lender in the relevant Loan) and will be expressed as a percentage rate per annum. The Agent will, at the request of the Borrower or any Lender, deliver to the Borrower or such Lender as the case may be, a statement setting forth the calculation of any Mandatory Cost.
- 3. The Additional Cost Rate for any Lender lending from a Lending Office in a Participating Member State will be the percentage notified by that Lender to the Agent. This

percentage will be certified by such Lender in its notice to the Agent to be its reasonable determination of the cost (expressed as a percentage of such Lender's
participation in all Loans made from such Lending Office) of complying with the minimum reserve requirements of the European Central Bank in respect of Loans made
from that Lending Office.
-

	ercentage will be certified by such Lender in its notice to the Agent to be its reasonable determination of the cost (expressed as a percentage of such Lender's articipation in all Loans made from such Lending Office) of complying with the minimum reserve requirements of the European Central Bank in respect of Loans made from that Lending Office.			
1.	The Additional Cost Rate for any Lender lending from a Lending Office in the United Kingdom will be calculated by the Agent as follows:			
	in relation to any Loan in Sterling:			
	$\frac{AB+C(BD)+E \times 0.01}{100 - (A+C)}$ per cent per annum			
	in relation to any Loan in any currency other than Sterling:			
	E x 0.01 per cent per annum 300			
W	re: A" is the percentage of Eligible Liabilities (assuming these to be in excess of any stated minimum) which that Lender is from time to time required to maintain as			

- an interest free cash ratio deposit with the Bank of England to comply with cash ratio requirements.
- "B" is the percentage rate of interest (excluding the Applicable Rate, the Mandatory Cost and any interest charged on overdue amounts pursuant to the first sentence of Section 3.3 and, in the case of interest (other than on overdue amounts) charged at the Default Rate, without counting any increase in interest rate effected by the charging of the Default Rate) payable for the relevant Interest Period of such Loan.
- "C" is the percentage (if any) of Eligible Liabilities which that Lender is required from time to time to maintain as interest bearing Special Deposits with the Bank of England.
- "D" is the percentage rate per annum payable by the Bank of England to the Agent on interest bearing Special Deposits.
- "E" is designed to compensate Lenders for amounts payable under the Fees Rules and is calculated by the Agent as being the average of the most recent rates of charge supplied by the Lenders to the Agent pursuant to <u>paragraph 7</u> below and expressed in pounds per £1,000,000.
- 5. For the purposes of this Schedule:
 - (a) "Eligible Liabilities" and "Special Deposits" have the meanings given to them from time to time under or pursuant to the Bank of England Act 1998 or (as may be appropriate) by the Bank of England;
 - (b) "Fees Rules" means the rules on periodic fees contained in the FSA Supervision Manual or such other law or regulation as may be in force from time to time in respect of the payment of fees for the acceptance of deposits;
 - (c) "Fee Tariffs" means the fee tariffs specified in the Fees Rules under the activity group A.1 Deposit acceptors (ignoring any minimum fee or zero rated fee required pursuant to the Fees Rules but taking into account any applicable discount rate); and
 - (d) "Tariff Base" has the meaning given to it in, and will be calculated in accordance with, the Fees Rules.
- 6. In application of the above formulae, A, B, C and D will be included in the formulae as percentages (i.e. 5% will be included in the formula as 5 and not as 0.05). A negative result obtained by subtracting D from B shall be taken as zero. The resulting figures shall be rounded to four decimal places.
- 7. If requested by the Agent or the Borrower, each Lender with a Lending Office in the United Kingdom or a Participating Member State shall, as soon as practicable after publication by the Financial Services Authority, supply to the Agent and the Borrower,

the rate of charge payable by such Lender to the Financial Services Authority pursuant to the Fees Rules in respect of the relevant financial year of the Financial Services Authority (calculated for this purpose by such Lender as being the average of the Fee Tariffs applicable to such Lender for that financial year) and expressed in pounds per £1.000.000 of the Tariff Base of such Lender.

- 8. Each Lender shall supply any information required by the Agent for the purpose of calculating its Additional Cost Rate. In particular, but without limitation, each Lender shall supply the following information in writing on or prior to the date on which it becomes a Lender:
 - (a) the jurisdiction of the Lending Office out of which it is making available its participation in the relevant Loan; and
 - (b) any other information that the Agent may reasonably require for such purpose.
 - Each Lender shall promptly notify the Agent in writing of any change to the information provided by it pursuant to this paragraph.
- 9. The percentages of each Lender for the purpose of A and C above and the rates of charge of each Lender for the purpose of E above shall be determined by the Agent based upon the information supplied to it pursuant to <u>paragraphs 7</u> and 8 above and on the assumption that, unless a Lender notifies the Agent to the contrary, each Lender's obligations in relation to cash ratio deposits and Special Deposits are the same as those of a typical bank from its jurisdiction of incorporation with a Lending Office in the same jurisdiction as its Lending Office.
- 10. The Agent shall have no liability to any Person if such determination results in an Additional Cost Rate which over- or under-compensates any Lender and shall be entitled to assume that the information provided by any Lender pursuant to <u>paragraphs 3, 7</u> and <u>8</u> above is true and correct in all respects.
- 11. The Agent shall distribute the additional amounts received as a result of the Mandatory Cost to the Lenders on the basis of the Additional Cost Rate for each Lender based on the information provided by each Lender pursuant to <u>paragraphs 3</u>, 7 and 8 above.
- 12. Any determination by the Agent pursuant to this Schedule in relation to a formula, the Mandatory Cost, an Additional Cost Rate or any amount payable to a Lender shall, in the absence of manifest error, be conclusive and binding on all parties hereto.
- 13. The Agent may from time to time, after consultation with the Borrower and the Lenders, determine and notify to all parties any amendments which are required to be made to this Schedule in order to comply with any change in law, regulation or any requirements from time to time imposed by the Bank of England, the Financial Services Authority or the European Central Bank (or, in any case, any other authority which replaces all or any of its functions) and any such determination shall, in the absence of manifest error, be conclusive and binding on all parties hereto.

Schedule 2.8(a)

Existing Letters of Credit

Issuer	L/C Number	USI	D Face Amount
Bank of America, N.A.	3057122	\$	2,322,000
Bank of America, N.A.	3056526	\$	4,850,000
Bank of America, N.A.	C001368	\$	50,000
(Issued as Nationsbank)			
Bank of America, N.A.	3075985	\$	2,682,225
Bank of America, N.A.	3064504	\$	222,233

CREDIT AGREEMENT

by and among

VF INVESTMENTS S.A.R.L.,

VF EUROPE BVBA

and

VF INTERNATIONAL S.A.G.L.,

as Borrowers,

V.F. CORPORATION,

as Guarantor,
J.P. MORGAN EUROPE LIMITED,

as Administrative Agent, ABN AMRO BANK N.V.,

as Documentation Agent,

HSBC BANK PLC,

as Syndication Agent,

J.P. MORGAN PLC,

HSBC BANK PLC,

ABN AMRO BANK N.V.,

DRESDNER BANK AG IN FRANKFURT AM MAIN,

ING BANK NV,

INTESA SANPAOLO S.P.A.

and SANTANDER S.A.,

as Mandated Lead Arrangers,

J.P. MORGAN PLC,

HSBC BANK PLC

and

ABN AMRO BANK N.V.,

as Bookrunners,

and

THE LENDERS PARTY HERETO FROM TIME TO TIME

as of October 26, 2007

Table of Contents

	ARTICLE I DEFINITIONS AND TERMS	Page
		2 16 17 17
	ARTICLE II THE CREDIT FACILITY	
2.2. 2.3. 2.4. 2.5. 2.6. 2.7.	Use of Proceeds Evidence of Debt Certain Payment Provisions	18 21 22 23 23 23 24 25
	ARTICLE III FUNDING, FEES, AND PAYMENT CONVENTIONS	
3.2. 3.3. 3.4. 3.5. 3.6. 3.7.	Payment of Interest Prepayments Manner of Payment Fees Payments to Agent for Lenders Computation of Rates and Fees	26 26 27 27 27 28 28 28 29
	ARTICLE IV CHANGE IN CIRCUMSTANCES	
4.1. 4.2. 4.3. 4.4.	Increased Cost and Reduced Return Inability to Determine Interest Rate Illegality Compensation	29 31 32 32
4.5. 4.6. 4.7.	Taxes Change of Lending Office Substitution of Lenders	32 34 34
	i	

		Page
	ARTICLE V CONDITIONS TO MAKING LOANS	
	CONDITIONS TO MAKING LOANS	
5.1.		35
5.2.	Conditions to Each Loan	37
	ARTICLE VI	
	REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES	
6.1.	Corporate Existence and Power	37
6.2.		38
	Material Subsidiaries	38
	Binding Effect	38
6.5. 6.6.		38 38
6.7.		38
6.8.		39
6.9.		39
6.10.	O. Margin Stock	39
	. Investment Company 2. Full Disclosure	40
	No Consents, Etc.	40 40
0.15.	. 10 Consums, Etc.	10
	ARTICLE VII	
	AFFIRMATIVE COVENANTS	
7.1.	Financial Reports, Etc.	40
7.2.		43
7.3.		43
7.4. 7.5.		43 44
1.5.	BOOKS allu Recolus	44
	ARTICLE VIII	
	NEGATIVE COVENANTS	
8.1.	Consolidated Indebtedness to Consolidated Capitalization	44
	Liens	44
8.3.		45
8.4. 8.5.	, 6	45 46
0.5.	Change in Condor	40
	ARTICLE IX	
	EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND ACCELERATION	
9.1.	Events of Default	46
9.2.		48
9.3.	Cumulative Rights	48
9.4.	No Waiver	49
	ii	
	11	

9.5.	Allocation of Proceeds	Page 49
	ARTICLE X THE AGENT	
10.2. 10.3. 10.4. 10.5. 10.6. 10.7. 10.8. 10.9. 10.10.	Appointment and Authorization of the Agent Delegation of Duties Liabilities of Agent Reliance by Agent Notice of Default Indemnification of Agent Agent in its Individual Capacity Successor Agents Agent May File Proofs of Claim Other Agents and Arrangers Non-Reliance on the Agent and Other Lenders	49 50 50 50 51 51 51 52 52 52 53
	ARTICLE XI GUARANTEE	
11.2.	Amendments, etc. with respect to the Obligations Guarantee Absolute and Unconditional Reinstatement Payments	53 54 54 55 55 55 55
	ARTICLE XII MISCELLANEOUS	
12.2. 12.3. 12.4. 12.5. 12.6. 12.7. 12.8. 12.9. 12.10. 12.11. 12.12. 12.13. 12.14. 12.15.	Right of Set-off; Adjustments Survival Expenses Amendments and Waivers Counterparts Termination	56 59 62 63 63 63 64 64 64 65 65 65 65 66 67 67
	iii	

EXHIBIT A	Applicable Commitment Percentages	A-1
EXHIBIT B	Form of Assignment and Assumption	B-1
EXHIBIT C	Notice of Appointment (or Revocation) of Authorized Representative	C-1
EXHIBIT D	Form of Borrowing Notice	D-1
EXHIBIT E	Form of Interest Rate Selection Notice	E-1
EXHIBIT F	Compliance Certificate	G-1
EXHIBIT G	Form of Amendment Agreement	H-1
	i	

CREDIT AGREEMENT

THIS CREDIT AGREEMENT, dated as of October 26, 2007 (the "Agreement"), is made by and among:

VF INVESTMENTS S.A.R.L., a Luxembourg corporation ("<u>VF Investments</u>"), VF EUROPE BVBA, a Belgian corporation (besloten vennootschap met beperkte aansprakelijkheid/société privée à responsabilité limitée) ("<u>VF Europe</u>") and VF INTERNATIONAL S.A.G.L., a Swiss corporation (Gesellschaft mit beschränkter Haftung/Société à responsabilité limitée/Società garanzia limitata/Limited Liability Company) ("<u>VF International</u>" and, together with VF Investments and VF Europe, the "<u>Borrowers</u>"),

V.F. CORPORATION, a Pennsylvania corporation having its principal place of business in Greensboro, North Carolina (the Guarantor"),

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, **N.A.**, in its capacity as a Lender ("<u>JPMCB</u>"), and each other financial institution executing and delivering a signature page hereto and each other financial institution which may hereafter become a Lender pursuant to Section 2.3 or execute and deliver an instrument of assignment with respect to this Agreement pursuant to Section 12.1 (hereinafter such financial institutions may be referred to individually as a "<u>Lender</u>" or collectively as the "<u>Lenders</u>"),

J.P. MORGAN EUROPE LIMITED, in its capacity as Administrative Agent for the Lenders (in such capacity, and together with any successor agent appointed in accordance with the terms of Section 10.8, the "Agent"),

HSBC BANK PLC, in its capacity as Syndication Agent, and

ABN AMRO BANK N.V., in its capacity as Documentation Agent;

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, the Borrowers have requested that the Lenders make available to VF Europe, VF Investments and VF International a revolving credit facility of up to €250,000,000 (which may be increased to€300,000,000), the proceeds of which are to be used for general corporate purposes including, without limitation, acquisitions and which shall include a multi-currency credit facility in readily available currencies; and

WHEREAS, the Lenders are willing to make such facilities available to the Borrowers upon the terms and conditions set forth herein;

NOW, THEREFORE, the Borrowers, the Guarantor, the Lenders and the Agent hereby agree as follows:

ARTICLE I

DEFINITIONS AND TERMS

- 1.1. <u>Definitions</u>. For the purposes of this Agreement, in addition to the definitions set forth above, the following terms shall have the respective meanings set forth below:
- "Acquisition" means the acquisition of an equity interest in another Person (including the purchase of an option, warrant or convertible or similar type security to acquire such a controlling interest at the time it becomes exercisable by the holder thereof), whether by purchase of such equity interest or upon exercise of an option or warrant for, or conversion of securities into such equity interest, made with the intent to hold such equity interest as a strategic investment and not for speculative purposes.
 - "Additional Commitment Lender" has the meaning specified in Section 2.8(d).
 - "Affected Currency" shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Section 4.2(b).
 - "Affected Lender" shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Section 4.7.
- "Affiliate" means, as to any Person, any other Person directly or indirectly controlling, controlled by, or under direct or indirect common control with, such Person. A Person shall be deemed to be "controlled by" any other Person if such other Person possesses, directly or indirectly, power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of such Person whether by contract or otherwise.
 - "Agent" shall have the meaning assigned to such term in the preamble hereto.
- "Agent-Related Persons" means the Agent (including any successor administrative agent), together with its Affiliates, and the officers, directors, employees, agents and attorneys- in-fact of such Persons and Affiliates.
 - "Agreement Currency" shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Section 12.15(b).
- "Alternative Currency" means Japanese yen, British pounds sterling, Swiss francs, Dollars and any other freely available currency notified to the Agent upon not less than five (5) Business Days' prior written notice that, in the opinion of all Lenders, in their sole discretion, is at such time freely traded in the offshore interbank foreign exchange markets and is freely transferable and convertible into Euros in the interbank currency market.
- "Alternative Currency Equivalent Amount" means with respect to a specified Alternative Currency and a specified Euro amount, the amount of such Alternative Currency into which such Euro amount would be converted, based on the applicable Borrowing Date Exchange Rate.
- "Applicable Commitment Percentage" means, for each Lender at any time, a fraction, with respect to the Facility, the numerator of which shall be such Lender's Loans then outstanding and the denominator of which shall be the Outstandings at such time (or, prior to any termination of the Commitments, the numerator of which shall be such Lender's Commitment

then in effect and the denominator of which shall be the Total Commitment then in effect), which Applicable Commitment Percentage for each Lender as of the Closing Date is set forth in Exhibit A.

"Applicable Creditor" shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Section 12.15(b).

"Applicable Lending Office" means, for each Lender and for each Type of Loan made to each Borrower, the "Lending Office" of such Lender (or of an affiliate of such Lender) designated for such Type of Loan on the signature pages hereof or such other office of such Lender (or an affiliate of such Lender) as such Lender may from time to time specify to the Agent and the Borrowers by written notice in accordance with the terms hereof as the office by which its Loans of such Type to such Borrower are to be made and maintained.

"Applicable Margin" means, with respect to the Facility, that percent per annum set forth below, which shall be based upon the higher Rating of outstanding senior unsecured Indebtedness of the Guarantor existing at the date of determination as specified in the table below; <u>provided</u>, however that if there is a split in Ratings of more than one Tier, the Applicable Margin shall be based upon the Tier that is one tier lower than the higher Rating:

	Rating S&P or	Applicable Margin
Tier	Moody's	for Loans
I	³ A + or ³ A1	0.150%
II	A or A2	0.175%
III	A- or A3	0.200%
IV	BBB+ or Baa1	0.275%
V	£ BBB or £ Baa2	0.400%

The Applicable Margin shall be established from time to time based upon the Ratings in effect from time to time. Any change in the Applicable Margin due to a change in any Rating shall be effective on the date of such change in such Rating.

"Approved Fund" shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Section 12.1(g).

"Assignment and Assumption" shall mean an Assignment and Assumption in the form of Exhibit B (with blanks appropriately filled in) delivered to the Agent in connection with an assignment of a Lender's interest under this Agreement pursuant to Section 12.1.

"<u>Authorized Representative</u>" means, with respect to the Guarantor or any Borrower, any of the Chairman of the Board, President, Vice President-Treasurer, any other Vice President or any member of the Board of Managers or any comparable governing body of the Guarantor or such Borrower, or any other Person expressly designated by the written authorization of any of the foregoing as an Authorized Representative of the Guarantor or such Borrower, as set forth from time to time in a certificate in the form of Exhibit C.

"Benefit Arrangement" means at any time an employee benefit plan within the meaning of Section 3(3) of ERISA which is not a Plan or a Multiemployer Plan and which is maintained or otherwise contributed to by any member of the ERISA Group.

"Board" means the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (or any successor body).

"Borrower's Account" means, with respect to any Borrower, a demand deposit account with the bank specified below having the number set forth opposite the name of such Borrower below or any successor account with such bank or any other bank specified by such Borrower to the Agent:

Borrower	Bank	Account Number
VF Investments, S.a.r.l	ABN AMRO Bank	178756-6001
VF Europe BVBA	(Luxembourg) ABN AMRO Bank - Rotterdam	41-98-39-135
VF International, S.a.g.l.	ABN AMRO Bank	N213661A

[&]quot;Borrowers" shall have the meaning assigned to such term in the preamble hereto.

"Borrowing Date Exchange Rate" means, with respect to a specified Loan in an Alternative Currency, the Spot Rate of Exchange determined for the date such Loan is originally made, <u>provided</u> that, if such Loan is Continued for a subsequent Interest Period pursuant to Section 2.2(c), the Borrowing Date Exchange Rate with respect to such Loan shall be the Spot Rate of Exchange as of the effective date of such Continuation of such Loan, and the Euro Equivalent Amount of such Loan shall be adjusted as set forth in Section 2.2.

"Borrowing Notice" means the notice delivered by an Authorized Representative of the applicable Borrower and the Guarantor in connection with a Loan in the form of Exhibit D.

"Business Day" means, (i) except as expressly provided in clauses (ii) and (iii), any day which is not a Saturday, Sunday or a day on which banks in the State of New York are authorized or obligated by law, executive order or governmental decree to be closed, (ii) with respect to the selection, funding, interest rate, payment, and Interest Period of any Offshore Rate Loan denominated in Dollars, any day which is a Business Day, as described in clause (i) above, and on which the relevant international financial markets are open for the transaction of business contemplated by this Agreement and foreign exchange transactions in London, England and New York, New York, (iii) with respect to the selection, funding, interest rate, payment and Interest Period of any Loan denominated in Euros, any day which is a Business Day as described in clause (ii) above, and on which TARGET (Trans-European Automated Real-time Gross settlement Express Transfer system) or any successor thereto is scheduled to be open for business, and (iv) with respect to the selection funding, interest rate, payment and Interest Period for any Offshore Rate Loan not denominated in Dollars, any day which is a Business Day as described in clause (ii) above, and on which the relevant Funding Bank is open for the transaction of business contemplated by this Agreement and on which dealings in the relevant Alternative Currency are carried on in the applicable offshore foreign exchange interbank market in which disbursement of or payment in such Alternative Currency will be made or received hereunder.

"Capital Leases" means all leases which have been capitalized in accordance with GAAP as in effect from time to time including Statement No. 13 of the Financial Accounting Standards Board and any related amendments, interpretations and successors thereof.

"Change of Control" means, at any time:

- (i) any person or group of persons (within the meaning of Section 13 or 14 of the Exchange Act, other than the Trust, shall have acquired beneficial ownership (within the meaning of Rule 13d-3 of the Exchange Act)), of 35% or more of the outstanding shares of Voting Securities of the Guarantor;
- (ii) as of any date a majority of the Board of Directors of the Guarantor consists of individuals who were not either (A) directors of the Guarantor as of the corresponding date of the previous year, (B) selected or nominated to become directors by the Board of Directors of the Guarantor of which a majority consisted of individuals described in clause (A), or (C) selected or nominated to become directors by the Board of Directors of the Guarantor of which a majority consisted of individuals described in clauses (A) and (B).
- "Closing Date" means the date as of which this Agreement is executed by the Guarantor, the Borrowers, the Lenders and the Agent and on which the conditions set forth in Section 5.1 have been satisfied or waived.
 - "Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and any regulations promulgated thereunder.
- "Commitment" means, with respect to each Lender, the obligation of such Lender to make Loans to the Borrowers up to an aggregate principal amount at any one time outstanding equal to such Lender's Applicable Commitment Percentage of the Total Commitment.
 - "Compensation Period" shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.6(b).
- "Consistent Basis" in reference to the application of GAAP means the accounting principles observed in the period referred to are comparable in all material respects to those applied in the preparation of the audited financial statements of the Guarantor referred to in Section 6.5(a) (except for those changes concurred in by the Guarantor's independent public accountants).
 - "Consolidated Capitalization" means, as of any date on which the amount thereof is to be determined, the sum of Consolidated Indebtedness plus Consolidated Net Worth.
- "Consolidated Indebtedness" means, as of any date on which the amount thereof is to be determined, all Funded Indebtedness of the Guarantor and its Subsidiaries, all determined on a consolidated basis.
- "Consolidated Net Worth" means, as of any date on which the amount thereof is to be determined, the consolidated stockholders' equity of the Guarantor and its Subsidiaries, all as determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP applied on a Consistent Basis.

"Continue", "Continuation", and "Continued" shall refer to the continuation pursuant to Section 2.2(c) or 3.2 hereof of a Fixed Rate Loan of one Type as a Fixed Rate Loan of the same Type from one Interest Period to the next Interest Period.

"Default" means any event or condition which, with the giving or receipt of notice or lapse of time or both unless cured or waived, would constitute an Event of Default hereunder.

"<u>Default Rate</u>" means with respect to any Loan, fee, or other amount payable in respect of Obligations, a rate of one percent (1%) above the interest rate otherwise applicable thereto (or, if no interest rate is otherwise applicable thereto, the rate that would be applicable to a Euribor Rate Loan with a three-month Interest Period made on the date of the payment default to which such Default Rate applies).

"Dollars" and the symbol "\$" means dollars constituting legal tender for the payment of public and private debts in the United States of America.

"Eligible Assignee" has the meaning specified in Section 12.1(g).

"EMU Legislation" means (a) the Treaty on European Union (the Treaty of Rome of March 25, 1957, as amended by the Single European Act 1986, the Maastricht Treaty of 1992 and the Amsterdam Treaty of 1998), and (b) legislative measures of the European Council (including without limitation European Council regulations) for the introduction of, changeover to or operation of the Euro, in each case as amended or supplemented from time to time.

"Environmental Laws" means any federal, state, local or foreign statute, law, ordinance, code, rule, regulation, order, decree, permit or license regulating, relating to, or imposing liability or standards of conduct concerning, any environmental matters or conditions, environmental protection or conservation, including without limitation, the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, as amended; the Superfund Amendments and Reauthorization Act of 1986, as amended; the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, as amended; the Toxic Substances Control Act, as amended; the Clean Air Act, as amended; the Clean Water Act, as amended; together with all regulations promulgated thereunder, and any other "Superfund" or "Superlien" law.

"Equity Interests" means, with respect to any Person, all of the shares, interests, rights, participations or other equivalents (however designated) of capital stock of (or other ownership or profit interests or units in) such Person and all of the warrants, options or other rights for the purchase, acquisition or exchange from such Person of any of the foregoing (including through convertible securities).

"ERISA" means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended from time to time, and any successor statute and all rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.

"ERISA Group" means the Guarantor, any Subsidiary and all members of a controlled group of corporations and all trades or businesses (whether or not incorporated) under common control which, together with the Guarantor or any Subsidiary, are treated as a single employer under Section 414 of the Code.

"Euribor Rate" means (a) for any Interest Period with respect to any Euribor Rate Loan other than one referred to in subsection (b) of this definition, the sum of (x) the Applicable Margin, plus (y) the following:

- (i) the rate per annum equal to the rate determined by the Agent to be the offered rate that appears on the page of the Reuters service that displays an average Banking Federation of the European Union Interest Settlement Rate for deposits in Euros (for delivery on the first day of such Interest Period) with a term equivalent to such Interest Period, determined as of approximately 11:00 A.M. (Brussels time) two Business Days prior to the first day of such Interest Period, or
- (ii) in the event the rate referenced in the preceding clause (i) does not appear on such page or service or such page or service shall cease to be available, the rate per annum equal to the rate determined by the Agent to be the offered rate on such other page or other service that displays an average Banking Federation of the European Union Interest Settlement Rate for deposits in Euros (for delivery on the first day of such Interest Period) with a term equivalent to such Interest Period, determined as of approximately 11:00 A.M. (Brussels time) two Business Days prior to the first day of such Interest Period, or
- (iii) in the event the rates referenced in the preceding subsections (i) and (ii) are not available, the rate per annum determined by the Agent as the rate of interest at which deposits in Euros for delivery on the first day of such Interest Period in same day funds in the approximate amount of the Euribor Rate Loan being made, continued or converted by JPMCB and with a term equivalent to such Interest Period would be offered by JPMCB's London Branch to major banks in the London interbank market for such currency at their request at approximately 11:00 A.M. (London time) two Business Days prior to the first day of such Interest Period; and
- (b) for any interest period with respect to any Euribor Rate Loan advanced by a Lender required to comply with the relevant requirements of the Bank of England and/or the Financial Services Authority of the United Kingdom or the European Central Bank, the sum of (i) the rate determined in accordance with subsection (a) of this definition (including the Applicable Margin) and (ii) the Mandatory Cost for such Interest Period.

"Euribor Rate Loan" means a Loan for which the rate of interest is determined by reference to the Euribor Rate.

"Euro" and "E" each means the lawful currency of the Participating Member States introduced in accordance with the EMU Legislation.

"Euro Equivalent Amount" means, (a) with respect to any amount denominated in Euros, such amount and (b) with respect to a specified Alternative Currency amount, the amount of Euros into which the Alternative Currency amount would be converted, based on the applicable Borrowing Date Exchange Rate, <u>provided, however</u>, that, for purposes of any determination of compliance with Sections 2.1(a), 2.1(b) and 5.2(d), the Euro Equivalent Amount of any amount

denominated in an Alternative Currency shall be calculated on the basis of the Spot Rate of Exchange on the date of such determination.

- "Eurocurrency Liabilities" shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Section 4.1(e).
- "Event of Default" means any of the occurrences set forth as such in Section 9.1.
- "Exchange Act" means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the regulations promulgated thereunder.
- "Extending Lender" has the meaning specified in Section 2.8(e).
- "Extension Date" has the meaning specified in Section 2.8(a).
- "Facility" means the facility described in Section 2.1 providing for Loans to the Borrowers by the Lenders (including increases pursuant to Section 2.3) in an aggregate principal amount at any one time outstanding not to exceed the Total Commitment.
- "Federal Funds Rate" means, for any day, the rate per annum (rounded upwards, if necessary, to the nearest 1/100 of 1%) equal to the weighted average of the rates on overnight Federal funds transactions with members of the Federal Reserve System arranged by Federal funds brokers on such day, as published by the Federal Reserve Bank on the Business Day next succeeding such day; provided that (a) if such day is not a Business Day, the Federal Funds Rate for such day shall be such rate on such transactions on the next preceding Business Day as so published on the next succeeding Business Day, and (b) if no such rate is so published on such next succeeding Business Day, the Federal Funds Rate for such day shall be the average rate charged to JPMCB on such day on such transactions as determined by the Agent.
- "Final Termination Date" means the earliest of (i) the latest Stated Termination Date then in effect, (ii) the date of termination of the Lenders' obligations pursuant to Section 9.1 upon the occurrence of an Event of Default or (iii) the date the Borrowers voluntarily and permanently terminate the Facility in accordance with Section 2.1(e) hereof.
 - "Fixed Rate" means either of the Euribor Rate or the Offshore Rate, or both of the foregoing, as the case may be.
 - "Fixed Rate Loan" means a Euribor Rate Loan or an Offshore Rate Loan, or both of the foregoing, as the case may be.
 - "Fund" shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Section 12.1(g).
- "Funded Indebtedness" means with respect to any Person, without duplication, (a) all indebtedness in respect of borrowed money, (b) all obligations under Capital Leases, (c) the deferred purchase price of any property or services that are in the nature of money borrowed, and (d) indebtedness evidenced by a promissory note, bond, debenture or similar written obligation for the payment of money (including non-contingent, past-due obligations under reimbursement agreements and conditional sales or similar title retention agreements), other than (x) trade

payables and accrued expenses incurred in the ordinary course of business, and (y) indebtedness secured by cash deposits subject to a legal right of set-off and not classified as a liability under GAAP.

"Funding Bank" means any banking institution approved by the Agent located within a country whose currency is an Alternative Currency.

"GAAP" or "Generally Accepted Accounting Principles" means generally accepted accounting principles, being those principles of accounting set forth in pronouncements of the Financial Accounting Standards Board, the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, or which have other substantial authoritative support and are applicable in the circumstances as of the date of a report.

"Governmental Authority" shall mean any federal, state, municipal, national or other governmental department, commission, board, bureau, court, agency or instrumentality or political subdivision thereof or any entity or officer exercising executive, legislative, judicial, regulatory or administrative functions of or pertaining to any government or any court, in each case whether associated with a state of the United States, the United States, or a foreign entity or government.

"Guarantee" by any Person means any obligation, contingent or otherwise, of such Person directly or indirectly guaranteeing any Indebtedness of any other Person and, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, any obligation, direct or indirect, contingent or otherwise, of such Person (a) to purchase or pay (or advance or supply funds for the purchase or payment of) such Indebtedness (whether arising by virtue of partnership arrangements, by agreement to keep-well, to purchase assets, goods, securities or services, to take-or-pay, or to maintain financial statement conditions or otherwise) and the purpose of such contracts is to provide credit support in the nature of a guaranty or (b) entered into for the purpose of assuring in any other manner the holder of such Indebtedness of the payment thereof or to protect such holder against loss in respect thereof (in whole or in part), provided that the term "Guarantee" shall not include endorsements for collection or deposit in the ordinary course of business. The term "Guarantee" used as a verb has a corresponding meaning.

"Guarantor" shall have the meaning assigned to such term in the preamble hereto.

"<u>Hazardous Material</u>" means and includes any pollutant, contaminant, or hazardous, toxic or dangerous waste, substance or material (including without limitation petroleum products, asbestos-containing materials and lead), the generation, handling, storage, transportation, disposal, treatment, release, discharge or emission of which is subject to any Environmental Law.

"Indebtedness" means as to any Person, without duplication, (a) all Funded Indebtedness of such Person, (b) all indebtedness secured by any Lien on any property or asset owned or held by such Person regardless or whether the indebtedness secured thereby shall have been assumed by such Person or is non-recourse to the credit of such Person, other than indebtedness secured by cash deposits subject to a legal right of set-off and not classified as a liability under GAAP, and (c) all Indebtedness of third parties Guaranteed by such Person.

"Indemnified Liabilities" has the meaning set forth in Section 12.9.

"Indemnified Parties" has the meaning set forth in Section 12.9.

"Information" shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Section 12.14.

"Interest Period" means with respect to any Loan, a period commencing on the date such Loan is made or Continued and ending, at the Borrower's option, on the date one, two, three or six months (and, subject to Section 2.1(c)(iii), nine or twelve months) thereafter as notified to the Agent by the Authorized Representative of the Borrower of such Loan in accordance with the terms hereof; provided that,

- (i) if any Interest Period would end on a day which is not a Business Day, such Interest Period shall be extended to the next Business Day (unless such extension would cause the applicable Interest Period to end in the succeeding calendar month, in which case such Interest Period shall end on the next preceding Business Day);
- (ii) any Interest Period which begins on the last Business Day of a calendar month (or on a day for which there is no numerically corresponding day in the calendar month at the end of such Interest Period) shall end on the last Business Day of a calendar month; and
 - (iii) no Interest Period shall extend beyond the latest Stated Termination Date then in effect.

"Interest Rate Selection Notice" means, with respect to any Loan, the written notice delivered by an Authorized Representative of the applicable Borrower and the Guarantor in connection with the election of a subsequent Interest Period for such Loan in the form of Exhibit E.

"JPMCB" shall have the meaning assigned to such term in the preamble hereto.

"Judgment Currency" shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Section 12.15(b).

"Lender" shall have the meaning assigned to such term in the preamble hereto.

"Lien" means any interest in property securing any obligation owed to, or a claim by, a Person other than the owner of the property, whether such interest is based on the common law, statute or contract, and including but not limited to the lien or security interest arising from a mortgage, encumbrance, pledge, security agreement, conditional sale or trust receipt or a lease, consignment or bailment for security purposes. For the purposes of this Agreement, the Guarantor and any Subsidiary shall be deemed to be the owner of any property which it has acquired or holds subject to a conditional sale agreement, financing lease, or other arrangement pursuant to which title to the property has been retained by or vested in some other Person for security purposes.

"Loan Documents" means this Agreement and all other instruments and documents heretofore or hereafter executed or delivered to or in favor of any Lender or the Agent in

connection with the Loans made and transactions contemplated under this Agreement, as the same may be amended, supplemented or replaced from the time to time.

- "Loan Party" shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Section 12.14.
- "Loans" means any borrowing in accordance with Section 2.1; each such borrowing may be a Euribor Rate Loan or an Offshore Rate Loan.
- "Luxembourg" means the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg.
- "Luxembourg Companies Act" means the Luxembourg act dated August 10, 1915 on commercial companies, as amended.
- "Mandatory Cost" means the percentage rate per annum calculated by the Agent in accordance with Schedule 1.01.
- "Margin Stock" shall have the meaning of such term within Regulation U of the Board.
- "Material Adverse Effect" means a material adverse effect on (i) the business, financial position or results of operations of the Guarantor and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, (ii) the ability of the Guarantor or any Borrower to pay or perform its respective obligations, liabilities and indebtedness under the Loan Documents as such payment or performance becomes due in accordance with the terms thereof, or (iii) the rights, powers and remedies of the Agent or any Lender under any Loan Document or the validity, legality or enforceability thereof.
 - "Material Plan" means, at any time, a Plan or Plans having aggregate Unfunded Liabilities in excess of \$100,000,000.
- "Material Subsidiary" means at any time any Borrower and any Subsidiary which as of such time meets the definition of a "significant subsidiary" contained as of the date hereof in Regulation S-X of the Securities and Exchange Commission.
 - "Moody's" means Moody's Investors Service, Inc.
- "Multiemployer Plan" means at any time an employee benefit plan within the meaning of Section 4001(a)(3) of ERISA to which any member of the ERISA Group is then making, or is accruing an obligation to make, contributions or has within the preceding five plan years made contributions, including for these purposes any Person which ceased to be a member of the ERISA Group during such five-year period.
 - "New Lender" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.3(a).
 - "Non-Extending Lender" has the meaning specified in Section 2.8(b).
 - "Notice Date" has the meaning specified in Section 2.8(b).
- "Obligations" means the unpaid principal of and interest on (including interest accruing after the maturity of the Loans and interest accruing after the filing of any petition in bankruptcy,

or the commencement of any insolvency, reorganization or like proceeding, relating to any Borrower, whether or not a claim for post-filing or post-petition interest is allowed in such proceeding) the Loans and all other obligations and liabilities of the Borrowers to the Agent or to any Lender, whether direct or indirect, absolute or contingent, due or to become due, or now existing or hereafter incurred, which may arise under or out of this Agreement or any other document made, delivered or given in connection herewith or therewith, whether on account of principal, interest, fees, indemnities, costs, expenses (including all fees, charges and disbursements of counsel to the Agent or to any Lender that are required to be paid by the Borrowers pursuant hereto) or otherwise.

"Offshore Rate" means (a) for any Interest Period with respect to any Offshore Rate Loan other than one referred to in subsection (b) of this definition, the sum of (x) the Applicable Margin, plus (y) the following:

- (i) the rate per annum equal to the rate determined by the Agent to be the offered rate that appears on the page of the Reuters service that displays an average British Bankers Association Interest Settlement Rate for deposits in the relevant Alternative Currency (for delivery on the first day of such Interest Period) with a term equivalent to such Interest Period, determined as of approximately 11:00 A.M. (London time) two Business Days prior to (or in the case of a Loan denominated in Sterling, on) the first day of such Interest Period, or
- (ii) in the event the rate referenced in the preceding clause (i) does not appear on such page or service or such page or service shall cease to be available, the rate per annum equal to the rate determined by the Agent to be the offered rate on such other page or other service that displays an average British Bankers Association Interest Settlement Rate for deposits in the relevant Alternative Currency (for delivery on the first day of such Interest Period) with a term equivalent to such Interest Period, determined as of approximately 11:00 A.M. (London time) two Business Days prior to (or in the case of a Loan denominated in Sterling, on) the first day of such Interest Period, or
- (iii) in the event the rates referenced in the preceding subsections (i) and (ii) are not available, the rate per annum determined by the Agent as the rate of interest at which deposits in the relevant Alternative Currency for delivery on the first day of such Interest Period in same day funds in the approximate amount of the Offshore Rate Loan being made or continued by JPMCB and with a term equivalent to such Interest Period would be offered by JPMCB's London Branch to major banks in the London interbank market for such currency at their request at approximately 11:00 A.M. (London time) two Business Days prior to (or in the case of a Loan denominated in Sterling, on) the first day of such Interest Period; and
- (b) for any Interest Period with respect to any Offshore Rate Loan advanced by a Lender required to comply with the relevant requirements of the Bank of England and/or the Financial Services Authority of the United Kingdom or the European Central Bank, the sum of (i) the rate determined in accordance with subsection (a) of this definition (including the Applicable Margin) and (ii) the Mandatory Cost for such Interest Period.

"Offshore Rate Loan" means a Loan in an Alternative Currency that bears interest based on an Offshore Rate.

"Organizational Documents" means with respect to any corporation, limited liability company, partnership, limited partnership, limited liability partnership or other legally authorized incorporated or unincorporated entity, the articles of incorporation, certificate of incorporation, articles of organization, articles of association, certificate of limited partnership or other applicable organizational or charter documents relating to the creation of such entity.

"Other Taxes" shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Section 4.5(b).

"Outstandings" means, as of any date of determination, the aggregate principal amount of all Loans then outstanding.

"Overnight Rate" means, for any day, (a) with respect to any amount denominated in Dollars, the Federal Funds Rate and (b) with respect to any amount denominated in Euros or an Alternative Currency other than Dollars, the rate of interest per annum at which overnight deposits in Euros or the applicable Alternative Currency, as the case may be, in an amount approximately equal to the amount with respect to which such rate is being determined, would be offered for such day by a branch or Affiliate of the Agent located in the applicable interbank market for such currency to major banks in such interbank market.

"Participant" shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Section 12.1(d).

"Participating Member State" means each state so described in any EMU Legislation.

"PBGC" means the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation and any successor thereto.

"Person" means an individual, partnership, corporation, limited liability company, limited liability partnership, trust, unincorporated organization, association, joint venture or a government or agency or political subdivision thereof.

"Plan" means at any time an employee pension benefit plan (other than a Multiemployer Plan) which is covered by Title IV of ERISA or subject to the minimum funding standards under Section 412 of the Code and either (i) is maintained, or contributed to, by any member of the ERISA Group for employees of any member of the ERISA Group for employees of any time within the preceding five years been maintained, or contributed to, by any Person which was at such time a member of the ERISA Group for employees of any Person which was at such time a member of the ERISA Group.

"Principal Office" means the principal office of the Agent, presently located at 125 London Wall, London EC2Y 5AJ, Attention: Steve Clarke, or such other office and address as the Agent may from time to time designate.

"Rate Adjustment Payment" shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.2(c).

"Rating" means the rating of senior unsecured Indebtedness of the Guarantor in effect at any time such rating is made by either of Moody's or S&P.

"Register" shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Section 12.1(c).

"Reference Banks" means JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., or its successor.

"Regulation D" means Regulation D of the Board as the same may be amended or supplemented from time to time.

"Required Lenders" means, as of any date, the holders of more than 50% of the Total Commitment then in effect or, if the Commitments have been terminated, the Outstandings.

"Same Day Funds" means (a) with respect to disbursements and payments in Euros, immediately available funds, and (b) with respect to disbursements and payments in an Alternative Currency, same day or other funds as may be determined by the Agent to be customary in the place of disbursement or payment for the settlement of international banking transactions in the relevant Alternative Currency.

"Significant Subsidiary" means at any time any Borrower or any other Subsidiary, except Subsidiaries which at such time have been designated by the Guarantor (by notice to the Agent, which may be amended from time to time, which notices shall be made available by the Agent to the Lenders upon request) as nonmaterial and which, if aggregated and considered as a single Subsidiary, would not meet the definition of "significant subsidiary" in Regulation S-X of the Securities and Exchange Commission.

"S&P" means Standard & Poor's Ratings Group, a division of McGraw-Hill.

"Spot Rate of Exchange" means (i) in determining the Euro Equivalent Amount of a specified Alternative Currency amount as of any date, the spot exchange rate determined by the Agent in accordance with its usual procedures for the purchase by the Agent of Euros with such Alternative Currency at approximately 10:00 A.M. (London time) on the Business Day that is two (2) Business Days prior to such date, and (ii) in determining the Alternative Currency Equivalent Amount of a specified Euro amount on any date, the spot exchange rate determined by the Agent in accordance with its usual procedures for the purchase by the Agent of such Alternative Currency with Euros at approximately 10:00 A.M. (London time) on the Business Day that is two Business Days prior to such date.

"Stated Termination Date" means October 26, 2012, subject to the extension thereof pursuant to Section 2.8; provided, however that the Stated Termination Date for any Lender that is a Non-Extending Lender with respect to any requested extension pursuant to Section 2.8 shall be the Stated Termination Date in effect immediately prior to the applicable Extension Date for all purposes of this Agreement.

"Subsidiary" means any corporation or other entity in which more than 50% of its outstanding Voting Securities or more than 50% of all equity interests is owned directly or indirectly by the Guarantor and/or by one or more of the Guarantor's Subsidiaries.

"Substitute Rate" shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Section 4.2.

"Taxes" shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Section 4.5(a).

"Termination Date" means, as to any Lender, the earliest of (i) the Stated Termination Date applicable to such Lender, (ii) the date of termination of the Lenders' obligations pursuant to Section 9.1 upon the occurrence of an Event of Default or (iii) the date the Borrowers voluntarily and permanently terminate the Facility in accordance with Section 2.1(e) hereof.

"Total Available Commitment" means, as to any Lender at any time, an amount equal to the excess, if any, of (a) such Lender's Commitment then in effect over (b) the sum of (i) such Lender's then outstanding Euribor Rate Loans and (ii) the Euro Equivalent Amount of such Lender's then outstanding Offshore Rate Loans.

"Total Commitment" means a principal amount equal to (a) \in 250,000,000 or (b) at such time as Exhibit A hereto is amended by the entering into of one or more amendment agreements pursuant to Section 2.3 hereof, an amount equal to up to \in 300,000,000, as such amounts are reduced from time to time in accordance with Section 2.1(e).

"Trust" means the respective trusts established under those certain deeds of trust dated August 21, 1951 made by John E. Barbey and under the will of John E. Barbey, deceased.

"Type" shall mean any type of Loan (i.e., a Euribor Rate Loan or an Offshore Rate Loan).

"Unfunded Liabilities" means, with respect to any Plan at any time, the amount (if any) by which (i) the value of all benefit liabilities under such Plan, determined on a plan termination basis using the assumptions prescribed by the PBGC for purposes of Section 4044 of ERISA, exceeds (ii) the fair market value of all Plan assets allocable to such liabilities under Title IV of ERISA (excluding any accrued but unpaid contributions), all determined as of the then most recent valuation date for such Plan, but only to the extent such excess represents a potential liability of a member of the ERISA Group to the PBGC or any other Person under Title IV of ERISA.

"VF Europe" shall have the meaning assigned to such term in the preamble hereto.

"VF International" shall have the meaning assigned to such term in the preamble hereto.

"VF Investments" shall have the meaning assigned to such term in the preamble hereto.

"<u>Voting Securities</u>" means shares of capital stock issued by a corporation, or equivalent interests in any other Person, the holders of which are ordinarily, in the absence of contingencies, entitled to vote for the election of directors (or persons performing similar functions) of such Person, even if the right so to vote has been suspended by the happening of such a contingency.

"Wholly Owned Subsidiary" means any Subsidiary all of the shares of capital stock or other ownership interests of which (except directors' qualifying shares and, in the case of any

Subsidiary organized in a jurisdiction outside of the United States, shares not exceeding 5% of total shares) are at the time directly or indirectly owned by the Guarantor.

1.2. Rules of Interpretation.

- (a) All accounting terms not specifically defined herein shall have the meanings assigned to such terms and shall be interpreted in accordance with GAAP applied on a Consistent Basis; provided that, if the Guarantor notifies the Agent that the Guarantor wishes to amend any covenant in Article VIII to eliminate the effect of any change in GAAP on the operation of such covenant (or if the Agent notifies the Guarantor that the Required Lenders wish to amend Article VIII for such purpose), then the Guarantor's compliance with such covenant shall be determined on the basis of GAAP in effect immediately before the relevant change in GAAP became effective, until either such notice is withdrawn or such covenant is amended in a manner satisfactory to the Guarantor and the Required Lenders.
- (b) Each term defined in Articles 1, 8 or 9 of the New York Uniform Commercial Code shall have the meaning given therein unless otherwise defined herein, except to the extent that the Uniform Commercial Code of another jurisdiction is controlling, in which case such terms shall have the meaning given in the Uniform Commercial Code of the applicable jurisdiction.
- (c) The headings, subheadings and table of contents used herein or in any other Loan Document are solely for convenience of reference and shall not constitute a part of any such document or affect the meaning, construction or effect of any provision thereof.
- (d) Except as otherwise expressly provided, references in any Loan Document to articles, sections, paragraphs, clauses, annexes, appendices, exhibits and schedules are references to articles, sections, paragraphs, clauses, annexes, appendices, exhibits and schedules in or to such Loan Document.
- (e) All definitions set forth herein or in any other Loan Document shall apply to the singular as well as the plural form of such defined term, and all references to the masculine gender shall include reference to the feminine or neuter gender, and vice versa, as the context may require.
- (f) When used herein or in any other Loan Document, words such as "hereunder", "hereto", "hereof" and "herein" and other words of like import shall, unless the context clearly indicates to the contrary, refer to the whole of the applicable document and not to any particular article, section, subsection, paragraph or clause thereof.
- (g) References to "including" means including without limiting the generality of any description preceding such term, and for purposes hereof the rule of ejusdem generis shall not be applicable to limit a general statement, followed by or referable to an enumeration of specific matters, to matters similar to those specifically mentioned.
 - (h) Except as otherwise expressly provided, all dates and times of day specified herein shall refer to such dates and times at London, England.

- (i) Whenever interest rates or fees are established in whole or in part by reference to a numerical percentage expressed as "%", such arithmetic expression shall be interpreted in accordance with the convention that 1% = 100 basis points.
- (j) Each of the parties to the Loan Documents and their counsel have reviewed and revised, or requested (or had the opportunity to request) revisions to, the Loan Documents, and any rule of construction that ambiguities are to be resolved against the drafting party shall be inapplicable in the construing and interpretation of the Loan Documents and all exhibits, schedules and appendices thereto.
- (k) Any reference to an officer of the Guarantor or any other Person by reference to the title of such officer shall be deemed to refer to each other officer of such Person, however titled, exercising the same or substantially similar functions.
- (I) All references to any agreement or document as amended, modified or supplemented, or words of similar effect, shall mean such document or agreement, as the case may be, as amended, modified or supplemented from time to time only as and to the extent permitted therein and in the Loan Documents.
- (m) For all purposes of this Agreement (but not for purposes of the preparation of any financial statements delivered pursuant hereto), the equivalent in any Alternative Currency of an amount in Euros, and the equivalent in Euros of an amount in any Alternative Currency, shall be determined as set forth in the definitions of Euro Equivalent Amount and Alternative Currency Equivalent Amount, as applicable.
- 1.3. <u>Luxembourg Terms</u>. In this Agreement, where it relates to a Luxembourg entity, a reference to insolvency, reorganization, bankruptcy or liquidation includes, without limitation, bankruptcy (*faillite*), insolvency, its voluntary or judicial liquidation (*liquidation volontaire ou judiciaire*), composition with creditors (*concordat préventif de faillite*), reprieve from payment (*sursis de paiement*), controlled management (*gestion contrôlée*), general settlement with creditors, reorganization or similar laws affecting the rights of creditors generally. In this Agreement, where it relates to a Luxembourg entity, a reference to a receiver, intervenor, conservator, custodian, trustee, liquidator, sequestrator, or similar officer includes, without limitation, a "*commissaire à la gestion contrôlée*", a "*liquidateur*", an "*administrateur judiciaire*", a "*curateur*", an "*expert en relation avec la procédure de la gestion contrôlée*" or any other similar officer appointed as a consequence of the financial difficulties of such Luxembourg entity.
 - 1.4. Belgian Terms. In this Agreement a reference to:
 - (a) a liquidator, trustee in bankruptcy, judicial custodian, compulsory manager, receiver, administrator receiver, administrator or similar officerincludes any curator/curateur, vereffenaar/liquidateur, voorlopig bewindvoerder/administrateur provisoire, gerechtelijk deskundige/expert judiciaire, mandataris ad hoc/mandataire ad hoc, commissaris inzake opschorting/commissaire au sursis and sekwester/séquestre;
 - (b) a Security Interest includes any mortgage (hypotheek/hypothèque), pledge (pand/ nantissement), privilege (voorrecht/privilège), retention right

(eigendomsvoorbehoud/droit de retention), real surety (zakelijke zekerheid/sûreté réelle), mandate (mandaat/mandat) to grant a mortgage, a pledge or any other real surety, and any transfer by way of security (overdracht ten titel van zekerheid/transfert à titre de garantie);

- (c) a person being unable to pay its debts is that person being in a state of cessation of payments (staking van betaling/cessation de paiements);
- (d) a moratorium, composition, assignment or similar arrangement includes any gerechtelijk akkoord/concordat judiciaire and any minnelijk akkoord met schuldeisers/ accord amiable avec tous les créanciers; winding up, administration or dissolution includes any vereffening/liquidation, ontbinding/dissolution, faillissement/faillite and any sluiting van een onderneming/fermeture d'enterprise; attachment, sequestration, distress, execution or analogous events includes any uitvoerend beslag/saisie exécutoire and any bewarend beslag/saisie conservatoire, an amalgation, demerger, merger, consolidation or reconstruction includes any overdracht van algemeenheid/transfert d'universalité, overdracht van bedrijfstak/transfert de branche d'activité, splitsing/scission, fusie/fusion and any assimilated transaction in accordance with articles 676 and 677 of the Belgian Companies Code (gelijkgestelde verrichting/operation assimilée); and
 - (e) a "guarantee" includes any "borgtocht/cautionnement", "aval" and any "garantie" which is independent from the debt to which it relates."

ARTICLE II

THE CREDIT FACILITY

2.1. Loans.

(a) <u>Commitment.</u> Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, each Lender severally agrees to make Loans in Euros or an Alternative Currency (as specified in the respective Borrowing Notice) to the Borrowers from time to time from the Closing Date until the Termination Date applicable to such Lender on a pro rata basis among the Lenders as to the total borrowing requested by a Borrower on any Business Day determined by such Lender's Applicable Commitment Percentage up to but not exceeding a Euro Equivalent Amount equal to the Commitment of such Lender, <u>provided, however</u>, that the Lenders will not be required and shall have no obligation to make any such Loan (i) so long as a Default or an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing or (ii) if the Agent has accelerated the maturity of any of the Loans as a result of an Event of Default; <u>provided further</u>, <u>however</u>, that immediately after giving effect to each such Loan, (x) the Euro Equivalent Amount of the aggregate principal amount of Outstandings shall not exceed the then applicable Total Commitment, and (y) the Euro Equivalent Amount of the aggregate principal amount of all outstanding Loans to all Borrowers for each Lender, shall not exceed such Lender's Commitment. Within such limits and subject to the other terms and conditions of this Agreement, the Borrowers may borrow, repay and reborrow on any Business Day from the Closing Date until, but (as to borrowings and reborrowings) not including, with respect to each Lender, such Lender's Termination Date.

- (b) Amounts. If the Agent notifies the Borrowers at any time that the aggregate unpaid principal Euro Equivalent Amount of Outstandings exceeds the Total Commitment by more than 5%, then within two (2) Business Days of receipt of such notice the Borrowers shall make such payments and prepayments of Loans as shall be necessary to eliminate such excess. Each Loan shall be in an amount of at least 65,000,000 (or the Euro Equivalent Amount thereof in any Alternative Currency), and, if greater than 65,000,000, an integral multiple of 65,000,000 (or the Euro Equivalent Amount thereof in any Alternative Currency).
- (c) <u>Loans</u>. (i) An Authorized Representative of a Borrower shall give the Agent at least three (3) Business Days' irrevocable telephonic notice of each Loan to such Borrower (or, in the case of any Loan denominated in any currency determined to be an Alternative Currency after the date hereof, such greater notice period reasonably determined by the Agent to be necessary), whether representing an additional borrowing or the Continuation of a borrowing hereunder, prior to 1:00 P.M. (London time).

Each such notice shall be effective upon receipt by the Agent, shall specify the identity of the Borrower, the amount of the borrowing, the Type of Loan (Euribor Rate if such Loan is requested in Euros, or Offshore Rate if such Loan is requested in an Alternative Currency), the date of borrowing (which shall be a Business Day), the Interest Period to be used in the computation of interest, and if an Offshore Rate Loan, the applicable Alternative Currency. The Authorized Representative of the applicable Borrower shall provide the Agent written confirmation of each such telephonic notice in the form of a Borrowing Notice or Interest Rate Selection Notice (as applicable) with appropriate insertions not later than one (1) Business Day prior to the requested borrowing day. Notice of receipt of such Borrowing Notice or Interest Rate Selection Notice, as the case may be, together with a specification of the amount of each Lender's portion of a Loan requested thereunder, shall be provided by the Agent to each Lender by telefacsimile transmission with reasonable promptness, but (provided the Agent shall have received such notice by 1:00 P.M. (London time)) not later than 2:00 P.M. (London time) on the same day as the Agent's receipt of such notice. At approximately 4:00 P.M. (London time) two (2) Business Days preceding the date specified for a Loan of an Alternative Currency, the Agent shall determine the Borrowing Date Exchange Rate and the applicable interest rate. Not later than 5:00 P.M. (London time) two (2) Business Days preceding the date specified for each Loan of an Alternative Currency, the Agent shall provide the applicable Borrower and each Lender notice by telefacsimile transmission of the Borrowing Date Exchange Rate applicable to such Loan, and the applicable Alternative Currency Equivalent Amount of the Loan or Loans required to be made by each Lender on such date, and the Euro Equivalent Amount of such Loan or Loans and the applicable Offshore Rate.

(ii) (A) In the case of Loans in Euros, not later than 10:00 A.M. (London time) on the date specified for each borrowing under this Section 2.1, each Lender shall, pursuant to the terms and subject to the conditions of this Agreement, make the amount of the Loan or Loans to be made by it on such day available by wire transfer to the Agent in the amount of its pro rata share, determined according to such Lender's Applicable Commitment Percentage of the Loan or Loans to be made on such day. Such wire transfer shall be directed to the Agent at the Principal Office and shall be in the form of Euros constituting immediately available funds. The amount so received by the Agent shall, subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, be

made available to the applicable Borrower by delivery no later than 4:00 P.M. (London time) of the proceeds thereof to the applicable Borrower's Account or otherwise as shall be directed in the applicable Borrowing Notice by the Authorized Representative of such Borrower and reasonably acceptable to the Agent.

- (B) In the case of Loans in an Alternative Currency, not later than 10:00 A.M. (London time) on the date specified for each Loan, each Lender shall, pursuant to the terms and subject to the conditions of this Agreement, make the amount of the Loan or Loans to be made by it on such day available to the applicable Borrower at the Funding Bank, to the account of the Agent with the Funding Bank. The amount so received by the Funding Bank shall, subject to the terms and conditions of the Loan Documents and upon instruction from the Agent to the Funding Bank on the same day or immediately preceding day but no later than 4:00 P.M. (London time), be made available to the applicable Borrower by delivery of the Alternative Currency Equivalent Amount to such Borrower's account with the Funding Bank.
- (iii) If requested by the applicable Borrower through the Agent, before 1:00 P.M. (London time) at least four Business Days before the beginning of any Interest Period applicable to a Euribor Rate Loan or Offshore Rate Loan, as the case may be, each Lender will advise the Agent before 10:00 A.M. (London time) three Business Days preceding the beginning of such Interest Period as to whether, if the Borrower selects an Interest Period of nine or twelve months, such Lender expects that deposits in Euros or the applicable Alternative Currency, as the case may be, with a term corresponding to such Interest Period will be available to it two Business Days preceding such Interest Period in the amount and for the duration required to fund the Euribor Rate Loan or Offshore Rate Loan, as the case may be, to which such Interest Period would apply. If, but only if, each Lender confirms that it expects such deposits to be available to it on terms acceptable to such Lender, in its own discretion, then such Borrower shall be entitled to select a duration of nine or twelve months for such Interest Period.
- (d) Repayment of Loans. The principal amount of each Loan shall be due and payable to the Agent for the benefit of each Lender in full on the Termination Date applicable to such Lender, or earlier as specifically provided herein. The principal amount of any Loan may be prepaid without penalty or premium in whole or in part on any Business Day, upon at least three (3) Business Days' irrevocable telephonic notice from an Authorized Representative of the applicable Borrower (effective upon receipt) to the Agent prior to 1:00 P.M. (London time). The Agent shall give the Lenders prompt notice of all such notices of prepayment. Such Authorized Representative shall provide the Agent written confirmation of each such telephonic notice not later than one (1) Business Day prior to the proposed prepayment day. All prepayments of Loans made by a Borrower shall be in the Euro Equivalent Amount of ϵ 5,000,000 or such greater Euro Equivalent Amount which is an integral multiple of ϵ 1,000,000 (provided that repayments in an Alternative Currency shall be approximately equal to such amounts), or the amount equal to all Outstandings, or such other amount as necessary to comply with Section 2.1(b). Any prepayment of a Loan shall be accompanied by all accrued interest thereon, together with any additional amounts required pursuant to Section 4.4.
 - (e) Reductions. The Borrowers shall, by notice from an Authorized Representative, have the right from time to time, upon not less than three (3) Business Days'

written notice to the Agent, effective upon receipt, to reduce the Total Commitment, which reduction shall be applied pro rata to the Commitments of the Lenders. The Agent shall give each Lender, within one (1) Business Day of receipt of such notice, telefacsimile notice, or telephonic notice (confirmed in writing), of such reduction. Each such reduction shall be in the aggregate amount of \in 5,000,000 or such greater amount which is in an integral multiple of \in 1,000,000, or the entire remaining Total Commitment, and shall permanently reduce the Total Commitment. Each reduction of the Total Commitment shall be accompanied by payment of the Loans to the extent that the principal amount of Outstandings exceeds the Total Commitment after giving effect to such reduction, together with accrued and unpaid interest on the amounts prepaid and any amount required under Section 4.4.

- 2.2. <u>Utilization of Alternative Currencies</u>. (a) All Loans in Alternative Currencies shall be Offshore Rate Loans.
- (b) Each request for a Loan in an Alternative Currency under a Borrowing Notice shall constitute the applicable Borrower's request for a Loan of the Euro Equivalent Amount of the alternative Currency specified in such Borrowing Notice, and for such Loan to be made available by the Lenders to the applicable Borrower in the Alternative Currency Equivalent Amount of such Euro Equivalent Amount (determined based on the Borrowing Date Exchange Rate applicable to such Loan). The principal amount outstanding on any Loan shall be recorded in the Agent's records in Euros (in the case of a Loan in an Alternative Currency as if the Loan had initially been made in Euros), based on the Euro Equivalent Amount of the initial Loan in an Alternative Currency, as reduced from time to time by the Euro Equivalent Amount (based on the Borrowing Date Exchange Rate applicable to such Loan) of any principal payments with respect to such Loan. Except to the extent provided in the proviso to the definition of the term "Euro Equivalent Amount", for the purposes of determining the maximum amount of Outstandings hereunder, it is intended by the parties that all Loans shall be the functional equivalent of Loans made and repaid (based on the applicable Borrowing Date Exchange Rate for each Loan) in Euros. It is recognized that one or more Lenders may elect to record Loans in Alternative Currencies. The Agent shall maintain records sufficient to identify at any time (A) the Borrowing Date Exchange Rate with respect to each Loan and (B) the portion of the Outstandings attributable to each Loan.
- (c) Any Borrower may elect to Continue an Offshore Rate Loan pursuant to the terms of Section 3.2 and subject to the conditions set forth in this Section 2.2(c). In the event an Offshore Rate Loan is Continued, such election to Continue the Offshore Rate Loan shall be treated as a Loan, and the Agent shall notify the applicable Borrower and the applicable Lenders of the Borrowing Date Exchange Rate, the Interest Period and the rate for such Continued Offshore Rate Loan. The Lenders shall each be deemed to have made a Loan to the applicable Borrower of its Applicable Commitment Percentage of each Loan in an Alternative Currency, and the Agent shall apply the Borrowing Date Exchange Rate for such new Interest Period to such Continued Alternative Currency Equivalent Amount to determine the new Euro Equivalent Amount of such Loan and shall adjust its books and the Outstandings. In the event that such adjustment with respect to a Continued Loan would cause the total Euro Equivalent Amount of Outstandings to exceed the Total Commitment, the Borrowers shall, immediately on the effective date of such Continuation, repay (a "Rate Adjustment Payment") the portion of such Continued Loan (applying the new Borrowing Date Exchange Rate) necessary to ensure that the Euro

Equivalent Amount of all Outstandings does not exceed the Total Commitment, provided, however, that no Borrower shall be required to pay any additional compensation pursuant to Section 4.4 with respect to a prepayment of a Loan required by this sentence if such prepayment is made immediately on the effective date of the Continuation giving rise to such prepayment and no notice of such prepayment shall be required. If the Agent does not receive an Interest Rate Selection Notice giving notice of election of the duration of an Interest Period or Continuation of an Offshore Rate Loan by the time prescribed in Sections 2.1(c) or 3.2, as applicable, the applicable Borrower shall be deemed to have elected to Continue such Offshore Rate Loan as a Loan of the same Type in the same Alternative Currency for an Interest Period of one month. No Borrower shall be entitled to elect to Continue any Offshore Rate Loan in an Alternative Currency if a Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing.

- 2.3. Increase in Total Commitment. (a) The Borrowers, the Agent and any Lender or any other Person qualifying as an Eligible Assignee but for the absence of an assignment, or any combination of such Lenders and such Persons (collectively, "New Lenders"), may (in their sole discretion) enter into one or more amendment agreements substantially in the form of Exhibit G attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference without further approval of the Lenders (or any other New Lender) pursuant to which each New Lender agrees to incur or increase, as the case may be, its Commitment so as to make available to the Borrowers, subject to all conditions herein set forth, Loans in the maximum aggregate Euro Equivalent Amount (for all New Lenders) of up to €50,000,000 thereby increasing the Total Commitment to up to the Euro Equivalent Amount of €300,000,000; provided that
 - (i) each such increase shall be in an amount at least equal to€10,000,000 or an integral multiple of€5,000,000 in excess thereof;
 - (ii) the Borrowers shall execute and deliver to the Agent (A) board resolutions of each Borrower certified by its secretary or assistant secretary approving and adopting such Commitment increase and authorizing the execution and delivery of the instruments relating thereto, and (B) the legal opinions of the General Counsel of the Guarantor and special counsel to the Borrowers as to the due authorization, execution and delivery of such instruments, the enforceability thereof and no conflict thereof with the Organizational Documents, by-laws and material agreements of the Guarantor and the Borrowers or with any applicable laws, rules or regulations, all in form and substance substantially similar to such opinions delivered on the Closing Date in satisfaction of Section 5.1(a)(ii); and
 - (iii) no Default or Event of Default then exists or would arise as a result of any such increase.
- (b) Upon the execution, delivery and acceptance of the documents required by this Section 2.3, each New Lender shall have all of the rights and obligations of a Lender under this Agreement. The Agent shall provide the Lenders with notice of the revised Total Commitment and the revised Applicable Commitment Percentages of the Lenders, including the New Lenders.

- (c) Upon the effectiveness of an increase provided for in this Section 2.3, if any Loans are outstanding, the Borrowers shall at their option do one of the following:
- (i) prepay to certain Lenders such amount of such Loans as may be then outstanding and borrow from certain other Lenders new Loans as are necessary so that, after giving effect to such prepayments and borrowings on such date of all or any portion of the relevant increase of the Total Commitment, the principal balance of all outstanding Loans owing to each Lender is equivalent to each such Lender's Applicable Commitment Percentage (after giving effect to any nonratable increase in the Total Commitment resulting from the exercise of an increase pursuant to this Section 2.3) of the then Outstandings; or
- (ii) borrow from each new Lender an amount in immediately available funds as is necessary so that, after giving effect to such borrowings on such date of all or any portion of the relevant increase of the Total Commitment, the principal balance of all outstanding Loans owing to each Lender is equivalent to each such Lender's Applicable Commitment Percentage (after giving effect to any nonratable increase in the Total Commitment resulting from the exercise of an increase pursuant to this Section 2.3) of the then Outstandings, (x) such new borrowings to be denominated in the appropriate currencies and allocated on a pro rata basis to each outstanding Interest Period hereunder (without regard to the requirements and limitations set forth in the definition of Interest Period) such that the last day of the Interest Periods for the borrowings under this Section 2.3 coincide with the last day of the Interest Periods applicable to the outstanding Loans before giving effect to the increase of the Total Commitment and (y) the Euribor Rate or Offshore Rate, as the case may be, applicable to each such borrowing for the period prior to the end of the Interest Period to which it is allocated to be as agreed between each new Lender and the Agent.
- 2.4. <u>Use of Proceeds</u>. The proceeds of the Loans made pursuant to the Facility hereunder shall be used by the Borrowers for general corporate purposes including without limitation the making of acquisitions.
- 2.5. Evidence of Debt. The Loans made by each Lender shall be evidenced by one or more accounts or records maintained by such Lender and by the Agent in the ordinary course of business. The accounts or records maintained by the Agent and each Lender shall be conclusive absent manifest error of the amount of the Loans made by the Lenders to the Borrowers and the interest and payments thereon. Any failure to so record or any error in doing so shall not, however, limit or otherwise affect the obligation of the Borrowers hereunder to pay any amount owing with respect to the Obligations. In the event of any conflict between the accounts and records maintained by any Lender and the accounts and records of the Agent in respect of such matters, the accounts and records of the Agent shall control in the absence of manifest error.
- 2.6. Certain Payment Provisions. Unless the applicable Borrower or any Lender has notified the Agent, prior to the date any payment is required to be made by it to the Agent hereunder, that such Borrower or such Lender, as the case may be, will not make such payment, the Agent may assume that such Borrower or such Lender, as the case may be, has timely made such payment and may (but shall not be so required to), in reliance thereon, make available a

corresponding amount to the Person entitled thereto. If and to the extent that such payment was not in fact made to the Agent in Same Day Funds, then:

- (a) if the applicable Borrower failed to make such payment, each applicable Lender shall forthwith on demand repay to the Agent the portion of such assumed payment that was made available to such Lender in Same Day Funds, together with interest thereon in respect of each day from and including the date such amount was made available by the Agent to such Lender to the date such amount is repaid to the Agent in Same Day Funds, at the applicable Overnight Rate from time to time in effect; and
- (b) if any Lender failed to make such payment, such Lender shall forthwith on demand pay to the Agent the amount thereof in Same Day Funds, together with interest thereon for the period from the date such amount was made available by the Agent to the applicable Borrower to the date such amount is recovered by the Agent (the "Compensation Period") at a rate per annum equal to the applicable Overnight Rate from time to time in effect. If such Lender pays such amount to the Agent, then such amount shall constitute such Lender's Loan, included in the applicable Loan. If such Lender does not pay such amount forthwith upon the Agent's demand therefor, the Agent may make a demand therefor upon the applicable Borrower, and such Borrower shall pay such amount to the Agent, together with interest thereon for the Compensation Period at a rate per annum equal to the rate of interest applicable to the applicable Loan. Nothing herein shall be deemed to relieve any Lender from its obligation to fulfill its Commitment, or to prejudice any rights which the Agent or the applicable Borrower may have against any Lender as a result of any default by such Lender hereunder.

A notice of the Agent to any Lender with respect to any amount owing under this subsection 2.6 shall be conclusive, absent manifest error.

- 2.7. Change of Currency. (a) Each obligation of the Borrowers to make a payment denominated in the national currency unit of any member state of the European Union that adopts the Euro as its lawful currency after the date hereof shall be redenominated into Euro at the time of such adoption (in accordance with the EMU Legislation). If, in relation to the currency of any such member state, the basis of accrual of interest expressed in this Agreement in respect of that currency shall be inconsistent with any convention or practice in the London interbank market for the basis of accrual of interest in respect of the Euro, such expressed basis shall be replaced by such convention or practice with effect from the date on which such member state adopts the Euro as its lawful currency; provided that if any Loan in the currency of such member state is outstanding immediately prior to such date, such replacement shall take effect, with respect to such Loan, at the end of the then current Interest Period.
- (b) Each provision of this Agreement shall be subject to such reasonable changes of construction as the Agent may from time to time specify to be appropriate to reflect the adoption of the Euro by any member state of the European Union and any relevant market conventions or practices relating to the Euro.
- (c) Each provision of this Agreement also shall be subject to such reasonable changes of construction as the Agent may from time to time specify to be appropriate to reflect a

change in currency of any other country and any relevant market conventions or practices relating to the change in currency.

2.8. Extension of Stated Termination Date.

- (a) <u>Requests for Extension</u>. The Borrowers may, by notice to the Agent (who shall promptly notify the Lenders) not earlier than 60 days and not later than 35 days prior to the first and/or second anniversary of the Closing Date (each, an "<u>Extension Date</u>"), request that each Lender extend such Lender's Stated Termination Date for an additional one year from the Stated Termination Date applicable to such Lender.
- (b) Lender Elections to Extend. Each Lender, acting in its sole and individual discretion, shall, by notice to the Agent given not earlier than 30 days prior to the applicable Extension Date and not later than the date (the "Notice Date") that is 20 days prior to such Extension Date, advise the Agent whether or not such Lender agrees to such extension. Each Lender that does not advise the Agent in writing on or before the Notice Date shall be deemed to be a "Non-Extending Lender". The election of any Lender to agree to such extension shall not obligate any other Lender to so agree.
- (c) Notification by Agent. The Agent shall notify the Borrowers of each Lender's determination under this Section no later than the date 15 days prior to the applicable Extension Date (or, if such date is not a Business Day, on the next preceding Business Day).
- (d) <u>Additional Commitment Lenders</u>. The Borrowers shall have the right to replace each Non-Extending Lender with, and add as "Lenders" under this Agreement in place thereof, one or more Eligible Assignees (each, an "<u>Additional Commitment Lender</u>") as provided in Section 12.1; provided that each of such Additional Commitment Lenders shall enter into an Assignment and Assumption pursuant to which such Additional Commitment Lender shall, effective as of the applicable Extension Date, undertake a Commitment (and, if any such Additional Commitment Lender is already a Lender, its Commitment shall be in addition to such Lender's Commitment hereunder on such date).
- (e) Minimum Extension Requirement. If (and only if) the total of the Commitments of the Lenders that have agreed so to extend their Stated Termination Date (each, an "Extending Lender") and the additional Commitments of the Additional Commitment Lenders shall be more than 50% of the Total Commitment in effect immediately prior to the Extension Date, then, effective as of the Extension Date, the Stated Termination Date of each Extending Lender and of each Additional Commitment Lender shall be extended to the date falling one year after the Stated Termination Date then applicable to such Lender (except that, if such date is not a Business Day, such Stated Termination Date as so extended shall be the next preceding Business Day) and each Additional Commitment Lender shall thereupon become a "Lender" for all purposes of this Agreement.
- (f) <u>Conditions to Effectiveness of Extensions</u>. As a condition precedent to such extension, the Guarantor shall deliver to the Agent a certificate dated as of the Extension Date (i) certifying and attaching the resolutions adopted by the Guarantor and the Borrowers approving or consenting to such extension and (ii) certifying that, before and after giving effect

to such extension, (A) the representations and warranties contained in Article VI are true and correct on and as of the Extension Date, except to the extent that such representations and warranties specifically refer to an earlier date, in which case they are true and correct as of such earlier date, and except that for purposes of this Section 2.8, the representations and warranties contained in subsections (a) and (b) of Section 6.5 shall be deemed to refer to the most recent statements furnished pursuant to subsections (a) and (b), respectively, of Section 7.1, and (B) no Default or Event of Default exists. In addition, on the Stated Termination Date of each Non-Extending Lender, the Borrowers shall repay all Loans owing to such Non-Extending Lender and outstanding on such date (and pay any additional amounts required pursuant to Section 4.4) to the extent necessary to keep outstanding Loans ratable with any revised Applicable Commitment Percentages of the respective Lenders effective as of such date.

ARTICLE III

FUNDING, FEES, AND PAYMENT CONVENTIONS

- 3.1. Interest Rate Options. (a) All Loans in Alternative Currencies shall be Offshore Rate Loans. All Loans in Euros shall be Euribor Rate Loans.
- (b) So long as no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, the relevant Borrower shall have the option to elect the duration of the initial and any subsequent Interest Periods applicable to any Loans; provided, however, (x) there shall not be outstanding at any one time Loans having more than twenty (20) different Interest Periods and (y) no Loan shall have an Interest Period that extends beyond the latest Stated Termination Date then in effect. If the Agent does not receive a Borrowing Notice or an Interest Rate Selection Notice giving notice of election of the duration of an Interest Period or of Continuation of any such Loan as a Fixed Rate Loan by the time prescribed by Sections 2.1(c) and 3.2, as applicable, Section 2.2(c) shall apply.
- 3.2. Continuations and Elections of Subsequent Interest Periods. (a) Subject to the limitations set forth in the definition of "Interest Period," in Sections 2.1(c)(iii), and 3.1 and in Article IV, any Borrower may, provided that no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, upon delivery of telephonic notice to the Agent (which shall be irrevocable) on or before 1:00 P.M. (London time) three (3) Business Days' prior to the date of such Continuation, elect a subsequent Interest Period for any Fixed Rate Loan to begin on the last day of the then current Interest Period for such Fixed Rate Loan (subject to Section 2.2 with respect to any Offshore Rate Loan in an Alternative Currency).
- (b) Each such notice shall be effective upon receipt by the Agent, shall specify the amount of the affected Fixed Rate Loan, the Type of Loan, and, if a Continuation as a Fixed Rate Loan, the Interest Period to be used in the computation of interest. The Authorized Representative of such Borrower shall provide the Agent written confirmation of each such telephonic notice in the form of a Borrowing Notice or Interest Rate Selection Notice (as applicable) with appropriate insertions not later than one (1) Business Day prior to the due date for such notice. Notice of receipt of such Borrowing Notice or Interest Rate Selection Notice, as the case may be, shall be provided by the Agent to each affected Lender by telefacsimile transmission with reasonable promptness, but (provided the Agent shall have received such

notice by 1:00 P.M. (London time)) not later than 2:00 P.M. (London time) on the same day as the Agent's receipt of such notice. All such Continuations of Loans shall be effected pro rata based on the Applicable Commitment Percentages of the applicable Lenders.

- (c) Subject to Section 2.2(c), failure by any Borrower to elect a Continuation in accordance with Section 3.2(a) or to provide notice of payment shall result in such Borrower being deemed to have elected to Continue the applicable Loan as a Loan of the same Type for an Interest Period of one month.
- 3.3. Payment of Interest. Each Borrower shall pay to the Agent interest on the outstanding and unpaid principal amount of each Loan made to such Borrower by each Lender, for the account of such Lender commencing on the date of such Loan until such Loan shall be repaid, at the applicable Fixed Rate as designated by such Borrower in the related Borrowing Notice or Interest Rate Selection Notice or as otherwise provided hereunder. Interest on each Loan shall be paid on the earlier of (a) the last day of the applicable Interest Period for such Fixed Rate Loan and, if such Interest Period extends for more than three (3) months, at intervals of three (3) months after the first day of such Interest Period, and (b) upon payment in full of the related Loan; provided, however, that any amount payable hereunder (whether of principal, interest, fees or otherwise), if not paid when due, shall bear interest until such amount is paid in full at the Default Rate notwithstanding any provision herein to the contrary.
- 3.4. <u>Prepayments</u>. Subject to Section 2.2(c), whenever any payment of principal shall be made in respect of any Loan hereunder, whether at maturity, on acceleration, by optional or mandatory prepayment or as otherwise required or permitted hereunder, with the effect that any Loan shall be prepaid in whole or in part prior to the last day of the Interest Period applicable to such Loan, such payment of principal shall be accompanied by the additional payment, if any, required by Section 4.4.
- 3.5. Manner of Payment. (a) Each payment of principal (including any prepayment) and payment of interest and fees, and any other amount required to be paid by or on behalf of any Borrower to the Lenders or the Agent with respect to any Loan, shall be made to the Agent (i) in Euros at the Principal Office in the case of Loans made in Euros and (ii) in the same Alternative Currency at the Funding Bank in the case of Loans made in Alternative Currencies, in Same Day Funds without setoff, recoupment, deduction or counterclaim on the date such payment is due. The applicable Borrower shall give the Agent not less than one (1) Business Day's prior written notice of any prepayment of principal, such notice to be given prior to 2:00 P.M. (London time) and to specify the date the prepayment will be made and the Loan to which prepayment relates. In the case of Loans made in Euros or Dollars to any Borrower, the Agent may, but shall not be obligated to, debit the amount of such payment from any one or more ordinary deposit accounts of such Borrower with the Agent. Any such payment shall not be deemed to be received until the time such funds become available. Interest shall continue to accrue at the Default Rate on any principal or fees as to which no payment is made from the date such amount was due and payable until the date such funds become available.
- (b) In the event that any payment hereunder becomes due and payable on a day other than a Business Day, then such due date shall be extended to the next succeeding Business Day unless provided otherwise under the definition of "Interest Period"; provided,

however, that interest shall continue to accrue during the period of any such extension; and provided further, however, that in no event shall any such due date be extended with respect to amounts due to any Lender beyond the Termination Date applicable to such Lender.

3.6. Fees.

- (a) Commitment Fees. For the period beginning on and including the Closing Date and ending on (but excluding) the Final Termination Date, the Borrowers agree, jointly and severally, to pay to the Agent, for the pro rata benefit of the Lenders based on their Applicable Commitment Percentages, a commitment fee calculated at a rate per annum equal at all times to 30% of the Applicable Margin with respect to the Facility from time to time in effect multiplied by the Total Available Commitment in effect from time to time during the period for which payment is made. Such fees shall be due in arrears on the last Business Day of each March, June, September and December commencing December 31, 2007 to and, with respect to each Lender, on the Termination Date applicable to such Lender. Notwithstanding the foregoing, so long as any Lender fails to make available any portion of its Commitment when requested, such Lender shall not be entitled to receive payment of its pro rata share of such fee until such Lender shall make available such portion.
- (b) <u>Utilization Fee.</u> For the period beginning on and including the Closing Date and ending on (but excluding) the Final Termination Date, for each day on which the Outstandings exceed sixty-six and two-thirds percent (662/3%) of the Total Commitment, the Borrowers agree, jointly and severally, to pay to the Agent, for the pro rata benefit of the Lenders based on their respective Applicable Commitment Percentages, a utilization fee calculated at a rate per annum equal to .05% of all Outstandings on such day. Such fees shall be due in arrears on the last Business Day of each March, June, September and December, commencing on the first of such days to occur after any utilization fee shall have accrued and become payable to and, with respect to each Lender, on the Termination Date applicable to such Lender.
- (c) <u>Administrative Fees</u>. The Borrowers agree, jointly and severally, to pay to the Agent, for the Agent's individual account, an annual administrative fee, such fee to be payable in such amounts and at such dates as from time to time agreed to by the Guarantor and Agent in writing.
- 3.7. <u>Payments to Agent for Lenders</u>. Except as otherwise specified herein, (i) each payment on account of the principal of and interest on Loans and the fees described in Section 3.6, shall be made to the Agent for the account of the applicable Lenders pro rata based on their Applicable Commitment Percentages, and (ii) the Agent will promptly distribute to the applicable Lenders, in immediately available funds payments received in fully collected, immediately available funds from the applicable Borrower.
- 3.8. Computation of Rates and Fees. Except as may be otherwise expressly provided, interest rates (including each Fixed Rate and the Default Rate) and fees shall be computed on the basis of a year of 360 days (except in the case of Loans denominated in Sterling, which shall be computed on the basis of a year of 365 or 366 days, as the case may be) and calculated for actual days elapsed.

3.9. <u>Deficiency Advances</u>; <u>Failure to Purchase Participations</u>. No Lender shall be responsible for any default of any other Lender in respect to such other Lender's obligation to make any Loan hereunder, nor shall the Commitment of any Lender hereunder be increased as a result of such default of any other Lender. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, in the event any Lender shall fail to make any Loan to any Borrower as herein provided, the Agent may in its discretion, but shall not be obligated to, advance in its favor as a Lender all or any portion of such Loan (each, a "<u>Deficiency Advance</u>") and shall thereafter be entitled to payments of principal of and interest on such Deficiency Advance in the same manner and at the same interest rate or rates to which such defaulting Lender would have been entitled had it made such Loan; <u>provided</u> that (i) such defaulting Lender shall not be entitled to receive payments of principal, interest or fees with respect to such Deficiency Advance until such Deficiency Advance shall be paid by such defaulting Lender and (ii) upon payment to the Agent from such defaulting Lender of the entire outstanding amount of each such Deficiency Advance, together with accrued and unpaid interest thereon, from the most recent date or dates interest was paid to the Agent by a Borrower on each Loan comprising the Deficiency Advance at the interest rate per annum for overnight borrowing by the Agent from the Federal Reserve Bank, then such payment shall be credited against the applicable Loan of the Agent in full payment of such Deficiency Advance from such other Lender as of the most recent date or dates, as the case may be, upon which any payments of interest were made by such Borrower thereon.

ARTICLE IV

CHANGE IN CIRCUMSTANCES

4.1. Increased Cost and Reduced Return.

- (a) If, after the date hereof, the adoption of any applicable law, rule, or regulation, or any change in any applicable law, rule, or regulation (other than any such adoption or change relating to Taxes or Other Taxes, the compensation for which is governed by Section 4.5), or any change in the interpretation or administration thereof by any Governmental Authority, central bank, or comparable agency charged with the interpretation or administration thereof, or compliance by any Lender (or its Applicable Lending Office) with any request or directive (whether or not having the force of law) of any such Governmental Authority, central bank, or comparable agency:
 - (i) shall impose, modify, or deem applicable any reserve, special deposit, assessment, or similar requirement (other than the reserve requirement contemplated by Section 4.1(e)) relating to any extensions of credit or other assets of, or any deposits with or other liabilities or commitments of, such Lender (or its Applicable Lending Office), including the Commitment of such Lender hereunder; or
 - (ii) shall impose on such Lender (or its Applicable Lending Office) or on the London interbank market any other condition affecting this Agreement or any of such extensions of credit or liabilities or commitments;

and the result of any of the foregoing is to increase the cost to such Lender (or its Applicable Lending Office) of making, Continuing, or maintaining any Fixed Rate Loans or to reduce any sum received or receivable by such Lender (or its Applicable Lending Office) under this Agreement with respect to any Fixed Rate Loans, then the applicable Borrower or Borrowers shall pay to such Lender within 15 days of demand for such amount or amounts as will compensate such Lender for such increased cost or reduction. If any Lender requests compensation by any Borrower under this Section 4.1(a), such Borrower may, by notice to such Lender (with a copy to the Agent), suspend the obligation of such Lender to make or Continue Loans of the Type with respect to which such compensation is requested until the event or condition giving rise to such request ceases to be in effect (in which case the provisions of Section 4.4 shall be applicable); provided that such suspension shall not affect the right of such Lender to receive the compensation so requested.

- (b) If, after the date hereof, any Lender shall have determined that the adoption of any applicable law, rule, or regulation regarding capital adequacy or any change therein or in the interpretation or administration thereof by any Governmental Authority, central bank, or comparable agency charged with the interpretation or administration thereof, or any request or directive regarding capital adequacy (whether or not having the force of law) of any such Governmental Authority, central bank, or comparable agency, has or would have the effect of reducing the rate of return on the capital of such Lender or any corporation controlling such Lender as a consequence of such Lender's obligations hereunder to a level below that which such Lender or such corporation could have achieved but for such adoption, change, request, or directive (taking into consideration its policies with respect to capital adequacy), then from time to time within 15 days after demand by such Lender (with a copy to the Agent) the applicable Borrower or Borrowers shall pay to such Lender such additional amount or amounts as will compensate such Lender for such reduction.
- (c) Each Lender shall promptly notify the applicable Borrower or Borrowers and the Agent of any event of which it has knowledge, occurring after the date hereof, which will entitle such Lender to compensation pursuant to this Section 4.1 and will designate a different Applicable Lending Office if such designation will avoid the need for, or reduce the amount of, such compensation and will not, in the judgment of such Lender, be otherwise disadvantageous to it. Any Lender claiming compensation under this Section 4.1 shall furnish to the applicable Borrower or Borrowers and the Agent a statement setting forth the additional amount or amounts to be paid to it hereunder and the calculation thereof in reasonable detail which shall be conclusive in the absence of manifest error. In determining such amount, such Lender may use any reasonable averaging and attribution methods.
- (d) Failure or delay on the part of any Lender to demand compensation for any increased costs or reduction in amounts received or receivable or reduction in return on capital shall not constitute a waiver of such Lender's right to demand such compensation; provided that the applicable Borrower or Borrowers shall not be under any obligation to compensate any Lender under clauses (a) or (b) above with respect to increased costs or reduction in return on capital with respect to any period prior to the date that is three months prior to such request if such Lender knew or could reasonably have been expected to be aware of the circumstances giving rise to such increased costs or reductions in return on capital and of the fact that such circumstances would in fact result in a claim for increased compensation by reason

of such increased costs or reductions in capital; provided <u>further</u> that the foregoing limitation shall not apply to any increased costs or reductions in return on capital arising out of the retroactive application of any law, rule, guideline or directive as aforesaid within such three-month period.

- (e) The applicable Borrower shall pay to each Lender, as long as such Lender shall be required to maintain reserves with respect to liabilities or assets consisting of or including Eurocurrency funds or deposits (currently known as "Eurocurrency liabilities"), additional interest on the unpaid principal amount of each Euribor Rate Loan and of each Offshore Rate Loan, as applicable, equal to the actual costs of such reserves allocated to such Loan by such Lender (as determined by such Lender in good faith, which determination shall be conclusive), excluding any costs included in the definition of Mandatory Costs, which shall be due and payable on each date on which interest is payable on such Loan, provided such Borrower shall have received at least 15 days' prior notice (with a copy to the Agent) of such additional interest from such Lender. If a Lender fails to give notice 15 days prior to the relevant Interest Payment Date, such additional interest shall be due and payable 15 days from receipt of such notice.
 - 4.2. <u>Inability to Determine Interest Rate</u>. If on or prior to the first day of any Interest Period for any Fixed Rate Loan:
 - (a) the Agent determines (which determination shall be conclusive) that by reason of circumstances affecting the relevant market, adequate and reasonable means do not exist for ascertaining the Euribor Rate for such Interest Period or the Offshore Rate for one or more Alternative Currencies for such Interest Period; or
 - (b) the Required Lenders determine (which determination shall be conclusive) and notify the Agent that the Euribor Rate or the Offshore Rate for one or more Alternative Currencies will not adequately and fairly reflect the cost to the Lenders of funding or maintaining Fixed Rate Loans for such Interest Period (any currency affected by the circumstances described in clause (a) or (b) is referred to as an "Affected Currency");

then the Agent shall give telecopy or telephonic notice thereof to the applicable Borrower or Borrowers and the Lenders as soon as practicable thereafter. If such notice is given, and unless an alternate rate is determined as set forth below, then (i) any such Loans in an Affected Currency requested to be made on the first day of such Interest Period shall not be made, (ii) any outstanding Loans in an Affected Currency shall be due and payable on the last day of the then-current Interest Period with respect thereto, and (iii) until such notice has been withdrawn by the Agent, no further Loans in an Affected Currency shall be made or Continued as such. Notwithstanding the foregoing, as promptly as practicable but in no event later than three Business Days after the giving of the required notice by the Agent with respect to such circumstances, the Agent (in consultation with the Lenders) shall negotiate with the applicable Borrower or Borrowers in good faith to ascertain whether a substitute interest rate (a "Substitute Rate") may be agreed upon for the maintaining of Loans in the Affected Currency. If a Substitute Rate is agreed upon by the applicable Borrower or Borrowers and all the Lenders, such Substitute Rate shall apply. If a Substitute Rate is not so agreed upon by the applicable

Borrower or Borrowers and all the Lenders within such time, each Lender's Loans in the Affected Currency shall thereafter bear interest at a rate equal to the sum of (i) the rate certified by such Lender to be its costs of funds (from such sources as it may reasonably select out of those sources then available to it) for such Loans, plus (ii) the Applicable Margin plus (iii) any Mandatory Cost incurred by such Lender in respect of such Loans from time to time.

- 4.3. Illegality. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, in the event that it becomes unlawful for any Lender or its Applicable Lending Office to make, maintain, or fund Euribor Rate Loans or Offshore Rate Loans hereunder, then such Lender shall promptly notify the applicable Borrower or Borrowers thereof, and such Lender's obligation to make Euribor Rate Loans or Offshore Rate Loans, as the case may be, shall be suspended until the circumstances giving rise to suspension no longer exist, and each such Euribor Rate Loan or Offshore Rate Loan, as the case may be, then outstanding shall be due and payable on the last day of the then current Interest Period with respect thereto.
- 4.4. <u>Compensation</u>. Upon the request of any Lender (with a copy to the Agent), the applicable Borrower or Borrowers shall promptly pay to such Lender such amount or amounts as shall be sufficient (in the reasonable opinion of such Lender) to compensate it for any loss, cost, or expense (excluding loss of anticipated profits) incurred by it as a result of:
 - (a) any payment or prepayment of a Fixed Rate Loan for any reason (except as set forth in Section 2.2(c)), including, without limitation, the acceleration of the Loans pursuant to Section 9.1, on a date other than the last day of the Interest Period for such Loan; or
 - (b) any failure by any Borrower for any reason (including, without limitation, the failure of any condition precedent specified in Article V to be satisfied) to borrow, Continue, or prepay a Fixed Rate Loan on the date for such borrowing, Continuation, or prepayment specified in the relevant notice of borrowing, prepayment or Continuation under this Agreement;

including any loss or expense arising from the liquidation or reemployment of funds obtained by it to maintain such Loan or from fees payable to terminate the deposits from which such funds were obtained.

4.5. <u>Taxes</u>. (a) Any and all payments by the Guarantor or any Borrower to or for the account of any Lender or the Agent hereunder or under any other Loan Document shall be made free and clear of and without deduction for any and all present or future taxes, duties, levies, imposts, deductions, charges or withholdings, and all liabilities with respect thereto, excluding (x) in the case of each Lender and the Agent, taxes imposed on its income, and franchise or similar taxes (including branch profit taxes) imposed on it, by the jurisdiction under the laws of which such Lender (or its Applicable Lending Office) or the Agent (as the case may be) is organized or any political subdivision thereof and (y) in the case of each Lender and the Agent, taxes imposed by reason of any present or former connection between such Lender or the Agent and the jurisdiction imposing such taxes, other than solely as a result of this Agreement or any transaction contemplated hereby (all such taxes, duties, levies, imposts, deductions, charges, withholdings, and liabilities not excluded in (x) and (y) being hereinafter referred to as "Taxes").

If the Guarantor or any Borrower shall be required by law to deduct any Taxes from or in respect of any sum payable under this Agreement or any other Loan Document to any Lender or the Agent, (i) the sum payable shall be increased as necessary so that after making all required deductions (including deductions applicable to additional sums payable under this Section 4.5) such Lender or the Agent receives an amount equal to the sum it would have received had no such deductions been made, (ii) the Guarantor or such Borrower, as the case may be, shall make such deductions, (iii) the Guarantor or such Borrower, as the case may be, shall pay the full amount deducted to the relevant taxation authority or other authority in accordance with applicable law, and (iv) within thirty days after the date of such payment, the Guarantor or such Borrower, as the case may be, shall furnish to the Agent, at its address referred to in Section 12.2, the original or a certified copy of a receipt evidencing payment thereof or, if such receipt is not legally available, any other document evidencing payment thereof that is reasonably satisfactory to such Lender.

- (b) In addition, the Guarantor and the Borrowers agree, jointly and severally, to pay any and all present or future stamp or documentary taxes and any other excise or property taxes or charges or similar levies which arise from any payment made under this Agreement or any other Loan Document or from the execution or delivery of, or otherwise with respect to, this Agreement or any other Loan Document (hereinafter referred to as "Other Taxes").
- (c) The Guarantor and the Borrowers agree, jointly and severally, to indemnify each Lender and the Agent for the full amount of Taxes and Other Taxes (including, without limitation, any Taxes or Other Taxes imposed or asserted by any jurisdiction on amounts payable under this Section 4.5) paid by such Lender or the Agent (as the case may be) and any liability (including penalties, interest, and expenses) arising therefrom or with respect thereto. Indemnification shall be made within 15 days of the date of demand therefor.
- (d) Each Lender that is entitled to an exemption from or reduction of withholding tax under the law of the jurisdiction in which the Lender is located, or any treaty to which such jurisdiction is a party, with respect to payments under this Agreement shall, at the reasonable request of the applicable Borrower or Borrowers, deliver to the applicable Borrower or Borrowers (with a copy to the Agent), at such time or times prescribed by applicable law, such properly completed and executed documentation prescribed by applicable law as will permit such payments to be made withholding or at a reduced rate. Each Lender, on the date of its execution and delivery of this Agreement in the case of each such Lender listed on the signature pages hereof and on the date on which it becomes a Lender in the case of each such other Lender, represents and warrants to the Agent, each Borrower and the Guarantor that as of such date payments to its Applicable Lending Offices under this Agreement are exempt from withholding tax under the law of the jurisdiction or jurisdictions in which such Lender or its Applicable Lending Offices is or are located or any treaty to which any such jurisdiction is a party. Upon the request of any Lender, the Borrowers will make such factual representations as may be reasonably required by such Lender in order to enable such Lender to make such representation and warranty.
- (e) For any period with respect to which a Lender has failed to provide the applicable Borrower or Borrowers and the Agent with the appropriate form pursuant to Section 4.5(d) (unless such failure is due to a change in treaty, law, or regulation occurring

subsequent to the date on which a form originally was required to be provided), such Lender shall not be entitled to indemnification under Section 4.5(a) or 4.5(c) with respect to Taxes; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that should a Lender, which is otherwise exempt from or subject to a reduced rate of withholding tax, become subject to Taxes because of its failure to deliver a form required hereunder, such Borrower or Borrowers shall take such steps as such Lender shall reasonably request to assist such Lender to recover such Taxes

- (f) Without prejudice to the survival of any other agreement of the Borrowers hereunder, the agreements and obligations of the Borrowers contained in this Section 4.5 shall survive the termination of the Commitments and the payment in full of the Loans.
- (g) If any Lender receives a refund or credit from a taxation authority (such credit to include any increase in any foreign tax credit) in respect of any Taxes or Other Taxes for which it has been indemnified by a Borrower or with respect to which a Borrower has paid additional amounts hereunder, it shall within 30 days from the date of such receipt pay over the amount of such refund, credit or other reduction (including any interest paid or credited by the relevant taxing authority or Governmental Authority with respect to such refund, credit or other reduction) to such Borrower (but only to the extent of indemnity payments made, or additional amounts paid, by such Borrower with respect to the Taxes or Other Taxes giving rise to such refund or credit), net of all reasonable out-of-pocket third party expenses of such Lender related to claiming such refund or credit and without interest (other than interest paid by the relevant taxation authority with respect to such refund or credit); provided, however, that such Borrower agrees to repay, upon the request of such Lender, the amount paid over to the Borrower (plus penalties, interest or other charges) to such Lender in the event such Lender is required to repay such refund or credit to such taxation authority.
- 4.6. Change of Lending Office. Each Lender agrees that, upon the occurrence of any event giving rise to the operation of Section 4.1, 4.2(b), 4.3 or 4.5 with respect to such Lender, it will, if requested by the applicable Borrower, use reasonable efforts (subject to overall policy considerations of such Lender) to designate another lending office for any Loans affected by such event with the object of avoiding the consequences of such event; provided, that such designation is made on terms that, in the sole judgment of such Lender, cause such Lender and its lending office(s) to suffer no economic, legal or regulatory disadvantage, and provided, further, that nothing in this Section 4.6 shall affect or postpone any of the obligations of such Borrower or the rights of any Lender pursuant to Section 4.1, 4.2(b), 4.3 or 4.5.
- 4.7. Substitution of Lenders. Upon the receipt by a Borrower or Borrowers from any Lender (an "Affected Lender") of a claim under Section 4.1, 4.2(b), 4.3 or 4.5 or a request for payment of Mandatory Costs, such Borrower or Borrowers may: (a) request one or more of the other Lenders to acquire and assume all or part of such Affected Lender's Loans and Commitment; or (b) replace such Affected Lender by designating another Lender or a financial institution that is willing to acquire such Loans and assume such Commitments; provided that (i) such replacement does not conflict with any requirement of law, (ii) no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing at the time of such replacement, (iii) such Borrower or Borrowers shall repay (or the replacement, line) institution shall purchase, at par) all Loans, accrued interest and other amounts owing to such replaced Lender prior to the date of replacement, (iv) such Borrower or Borrowers shall be liable to such replaced

Lender under Section 4.4 if any Fixed Rate Loan owing to such replaced Lender shall be prepaid (or purchased) other than on the last day of the Interest Period relating thereto, (v) the replacement bank or institution, if not already a Lender, shall otherwise qualify as an Eligible Assignee, (vi) the replaced Lender shall be obligated to make such replacement in accordance with the provisions of Section 12.1 (provided that such Borrower or Borrowers or replacement Lender shall be obligated to pay the registration and processing fee) and (vii) such Borrower or Borrowers shall pay all additional amounts (if any) required pursuant to Section 4.1, 4.2(b), 4.3 or 4.5, as the case may be, and all Mandatory Costs to the extent such additional amounts and Mandatory Costs of such Affected Lender were incurred on or prior to the consummation of such replacement.

ARTICLE V

CONDITIONS TO MAKING LOANS

- 5.1. Conditions of Closing. The obligation of the Lenders to make the initial Loans requested to be made by it is subject to the conditions precedent that:
 - (a) the Agent shall have received on the Closing Date, in form and substance satisfactory to the Agent, the following:
 - (i) executed originals of each of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents, together with all schedules and exhibits thereto;
- (ii) the favorable written opinion or opinions with respect to the Loan Documents and the transactions contemplated thereby of (i) Candace S. Cummings, Vice President & General Counsel of the Guarantor, (ii) Davis Polk & Wardwell, special counsel to the Guarantor, (iii) Loyens Winandy, local counsel to VF Investments, (iv) Baker & McKenzie CVBA/SCRL, local counsel to VF Europe and (v) Baker & McKenzie Zurich, local counsel to VF International, in each case, dated the Closing Date, addressed to the Agent and the Lenders and satisfactory to the Agent and to Simpson Thacher & Bartlett LLP, special counsel to the Agent;
- (iii) resolutions of the board of directors or other appropriate governing body (or of the appropriate committee thereof) of the Guarantor and of each Borrower certified by such entity's secretary or assistant secretary or any Authorized Representative of such entity as of the Closing Date, approving and adopting the Loan Documents to be executed by the Guarantor and each Borrower, as applicable, and authorizing the execution and delivery thereof;
- (iv) specimen signatures of officers or other appropriate representatives executing the Loan Documents on behalf of the Guarantor and each Borrower, certified by the secretary or assistant secretary or any Authorized Representative of the Guarantor and each Borrower, as applicable;
 - (v) the Organizational Documents of the Guarantor and each Borrower certified as of a recent date by the Secretary of State or other appropriate Governmental

Authority of the jurisdiction of its organization or by an Authorized Representative of the Guarantor or such Borrower, as the case may be;

- (vi) the by-laws or articles of association of the Guarantor and each Borrower certified as of the Closing Date as true and correct by such entity's secretary or assistant secretary or any Authorized Representative of such entity;
- (vii) to the extent applicable and available in the relevant jurisdiction, a certificate issued as of a recent date by the Secretary of State or other appropriate Governmental Authority of the jurisdiction of formation of the Guarantor and each Borrower as to the due existence and good standing of the Guarantor and each Borrower, as applicable;
 - (viii) notice of appointment of the initial Authorized Representative of the Guarantor and each Borrower;
- (ix) a certificate of an Authorized Representative of the Guarantor dated the Closing Date demonstrating compliance with the covenants contained in Sections 8.1, 8.2(i) and 8.3(e) as of the end of the fiscal quarter for which financial statements are publicly available most recently ended prior to the Closing Date, substantially in the form of Exhibit F;
 - (x) evidence that all fees payable by the Guarantor and the Borrowers on the Closing Date to the Agent and the Lenders have been paid in full;
- (xi) unless waived by the Agent, the Borrowers shall have paid all fees, charges and disbursements of counsel to the Agent (directly to such counsel if requested by the Agent) to the extent invoiced prior to or on the Closing Date, plus such additional amounts of such fees, charges and disbursements as shall constitute its reasonable estimate of such fees, charges and disbursements incurred or to be incurred by it through the closing proceedings (<u>provided</u> that such estimate shall not thereafter preclude a final settling of accounts between the Borrowers and the Agent);
- (xii) a certificate of the Guarantor certifying that (A) as of the Closing Date, each of the representations and warranties set forth in Article VI is true and correct, (B) after giving effect to the Closing Date and all Loans to be made on the Closing Date, there will be no Default or Event of Default under this Agreement, and (C) except as disclosed in any reports or financial statements filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission prior to October 3, 2007, as of the Closing Date there shall not have occurred a material adverse change since December 30, 2006 in the business, financial position or results of operations of the Guarantor and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole:
- (xiii) evidence that the Credit Agreement dated as of October 27, 2005 among the Borrowers, VF Asia Ltd., the lenders parties thereto and ABN AMRO Bank N.V., as administrative agent, has been or concurrently with the Closing Date is being terminated (and each of the Lenders that is a party to such Credit Agreement hereby waives any requirement under such Credit Agreement of prior notice for such termination and for the repayment of any borrowings thereunder); and

(xiv) such other documents, instruments, certificates and opinions as the Agent or the Required Lenders may reasonably request on or prior to the Closing Date in connection with the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby.

Without limiting the generality of the provisions of the last sentence of Section 10.3, for purposes of determining compliance with the conditions specified in this Section 5.1, each Lender that has signed this Agreement shall be deemed to have consented to, approved or accepted or to be satisfied with, each document or other matter required thereunder to be consented to or approved by or acceptable or satisfactory to a Lender unless the Agent shall have received notice from such Lender prior to the proposed Closing Date specifying its objection thereto.

- 5.2. Conditions to Each Loan. The obligations of the Lenders to make any Loan on or subsequent to the Closing Date are subject to the satisfaction of the following conditions:
 - (a) the Agent shall have received a Borrowing Notice;
- (b) the representations and warranties of the Guarantor set forth in Article VI and in each of the other Loan Documents shall be true and correct in all material respects on and as of the date of such Loan, with the same effect as though such representations and warranties had been made on and as of such date, except to the extent that such representations and warranties expressly relate to an earlier date and except that the financial statements referred to in Section 6.5 shall be deemed to be those financial statements most recently delivered to the Agent and the Lenders pursuant to Section 7.1 from the date financial statements are delivered to the Agent and the Lenders in accordance with such Section;
 - (c) at the time of (and after giving effect to) each Loan, no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing; and
- (d) immediately after giving effect to a Loan, the aggregate Euro Equivalent Amount of the principal balance of all outstanding Loans for each Lender shall not exceed such Lender's Commitment.

ARTICLE VI

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

The Guarantor represents and warrants with respect to itself and to its Subsidiaries (which representations and warranties shall survive the delivery of the documents mentioned herein and the making of Loans), that:

6.1. Corporate Existence and Power. The Guarantor and each Borrower is a corporation duly incorporated, validly existing and, to the extent applicable in the relevant jurisdiction, in good standing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its organization, and has all corporate powers and all material governmental licenses, authorizations, consents and approvals required to carry on its business as now conducted.

- 6.2. Corporate and Governmental Authorization; No Contravention. The execution, delivery and performance by the Guarantor and each Borrower, as applicable, of this Agreement are within such entity's corporate powers, have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action, require no action by or in respect of, or filing with, any governmental body, agency or official and do not contravene, or constitute a default under, any provision of applicable law or regulation or of the certificate of incorporation or by-laws of the Guarantor or any Borrower or of any agreement, judgment, injunction, order, decree or other instrument binding upon the Guarantor or any of its Subsidiaries or result in the creation or imposition of any Lien on any asset of the Guarantor or any of its Subsidiaries.
- 6.3. <u>Material Subsidiaries</u>. Each of the Guarantor's Material Subsidiaries is a corporation, limited liability company or partnership, as the case may be, duly organized and validly existing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its formation, and has the requisite powers and all material governmental licenses, authorizations, consents and approvals required to carry on its business as now conducted.
- 6.4. <u>Binding Effect</u>. This Agreement constitutes a valid and binding agreement of the Guarantor and each Borrower when executed and delivered in accordance with this Agreement, will constitute a valid and binding obligation of the relevant Borrower, in each case enforceable in accordance with its terms.
- 6.5. <u>Financial Information</u>. (a) The consolidated balance sheet of the Guarantor and its Subsidiaries as of December 30, 2006 and the related consolidated statements of income, retained earnings and cash flow for the fiscal year then ended, reported on by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP and set forth in the Guarantor's Form 10-K for the fiscal year then ending, a copy of which has been delivered to each of the Lenders, fairly present, in conformity with GAAP, the consolidated financial position of the Guarantor and its Subsidiaries as of such date and their consolidated results of operations and cash flows for such fiscal year.
- (b) The unaudited consolidated balance sheet of the Guarantor and its Subsidiaries as of June 30, 2007 and the related unaudited consolidated statements of income and cash flows for the six months then ended, set forth in the Guarantor's quarterly report for the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2007 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on Form 10-Q, a copy of which has been delivered to each of the Lenders, fairly present, in conformity with GAAP applied on a Consistent Basis, the consolidated financial position of the Guarantor and its Subsidiaries as of such date and their consolidated results of operations and cash flows for such six-month period (subject to normal year-end adjustments).
- 6.6. <u>Litigation</u>. There is no action, suit or proceeding pending against, or to the knowledge of the Guarantor threatened against or affecting, the Guarantor or any of its Subsidiaries before any court or arbitrator or any governmental body, agency or official which could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, or which in any manner draws into question the validity of this Agreement.
- 6.7. Compliance with ERISA. Each member of the ERISA Group has fulfilled its obligations under the minimum funding standards of ERISA and the Code with respect to each Plan and is in compliance in all material respects with the presently applicable provisions of

ERISA and the Code with respect to each Plan. No member of the ERISA Group has (i) sought a waiver of the minimum funding standard under Section 412 of the Code in respect of any Plan or Multiemployer Plan, (ii) failed to make any contribution or payment to any Plan or Multiemployer Plan or in respect of any Benefit Arrangement, or made any amendment to any Plan or Benefit Arrangement, which has resulted or could result in the imposition of a Lien or the posting of a bond or other security under ERISA or the Code or (iii) incurred any liability under Title IV of ERISA other than a liability to the PBGC for premiums under Section 4007 of ERISA, in each case that could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

- 6.8. Environmental Matters. In the ordinary course of its business, the Guarantor conducts periodic reviews, which it considers prudent and reasonable in light of the nature of the business, of the effect of Environmental Laws on the business, operations and properties of the Guarantor and its Subsidiaries, in the course of which it identifies and evaluates associated liabilities and costs (including, without limitation, any capital or operating expenditures required for clean-up or closure of properties presently or previously owned, any capital or operating expenditures required to achieve or maintain compliance with environmental protection standards imposed by law or as a condition of any license, permit or contract, any related constraints on operating activities, including any periodic or permanent shutdown of any facility or reduction in the level of or change in the nature of operations conducted thereat and any actual or potential liabilities to third parties, including employees, and any related costs and expenses). On the basis of this review, the Guarantor has reasonably concluded that Environmental Laws are unlikely to have a Material Adverse Effect.
- 6.9. <u>Taxes</u>. The Guarantor and its Significant Subsidiaries have filed all United States Federal income tax returns and all other material tax returns which are required to be filed by them and have paid all taxes due pursuant to such returns or pursuant to any assessment received by the Guarantor or any Significant Subsidiary, except for such amounts as may be contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings, so long as collection thereof is effectively stayed. The charges, accruals and reserves on the books of the Guarantor and its Subsidiaries in respect of taxes or other governmental charges are, in the reasonable opinion of the Guarantor, adequate.
- 6.10. Margin Stock. The proceeds of the borrowings made hereunder will be used by the Borrowers only for the purposes expressly authorized herein. None of such proceeds will be used, directly or indirectly, for the purpose of purchasing or carrying any Margin Stock or for the purpose of reducing or retiring any Indebtedness which was originally incurred to purchase or carry Margin Stock or for any other purpose which might constitute any of the Loans under this Agreement a "purpose" credit within the meaning of Regulation U or Regulation X (12 C.F.R. Part 221) of the Board; provided, however that the Guarantor or any Borrower may purchase (i) its own stock and (ii) Margin Stock in connection with an Acquisition so long as, following the application of the proceeds of each borrowing hereunder, not more than twenty-five percent (25%) of the value of the assets of the Guarantor or such Borrower, as the case may be, and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis will be Margin Stock. Neither the Guarantor or any Borrower nor any agent acting in its behalf has taken or will take any action which might cause this Agreement or any of the documents or instruments delivered pursuant hereto to violate any regulation of the Board or to violate the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or any state securities laws, in each case as in effect on the date hereof.

- 6.11. <u>Investment Company</u>. Neither the Guarantor nor any Borrower is an "investment company" within the meaning of the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended.
- 6.12. Full Disclosure. All information heretofore furnished by the Guarantor, or furnished by any Borrower and confirmed by the Guarantor, to the Agent or any Lender for purposes of or in connection with this Agreement or any transaction contemplated hereby is, and all such information hereafter furnished by the Guarantor, or furnished by any Borrower and confirmed by the Guarantor, to the Agent or any Lender will be, true and accurate in every material respect or based on reasonable estimates on the date as of which such information is stated or certified. The Guarantor has disclosed to the Lenders in writing any and all facts which materially and adversely affect or may affect (to the extent the Guarantor can now reasonably foresee), the business, properties, operations or condition, financial or otherwise, of the Guarantor and its Subsidiaries, considered as a whole, or the ability of the Guarantor or any Borrower to perform its respective obligations under this Agreement.
- 6.13. No Consents, Etc. Neither the respective businesses or properties of the Guarantor or any Subsidiary, nor any relationship among the Guarantor or any Subsidiary and any other Person, nor any circumstance in connection with the execution, delivery and performance of the Loan Documents and the transactions contemplated thereby, is such as to require a consent, approval or authorization of, or filing, registration or qualification with, any Governmental Authority or any other Person on the part of the Guarantor or any Borrower as a condition to the execution, delivery and performance of, or consummation of the transactions contemplated by the Loan Documents, which, if not obtained or effected, would be reasonably likely to have a Material Adverse Effect, or if so, such consent, approval, authorization, filing, registration or qualification has been duly obtained or effected, as the case may be, except that the registration in Luxembourg of the Loan Documents (and/or any document in connection therewith) with the Administration de l'Enregistrement et des Domaines may be required in the case of legal proceedings before Luxembourg courts (if competent) or, in the case that the Loan Documents (and/or any document in connection therewith) must be produced before an official Luxembourg authority, in which case either a nominal registration duty or an ad valorem duty (or, for instance, 0.24 (zero point twenty four)per cent of the amount of the payment obligation mentioned in the document so registered) will be payable depending on the nature of the document to be registered.

ARTICLE VII

AFFIRMATIVE COVENANTS

As long as any Commitment remains in effect or any Loan or other amount is owing to any Lender or the Agent hereunder, unless the Required Lenders shall otherwise consent in writing:

7.1. Financial Reports, Etc. The Guarantor will deliver to each of the Lenders:

(a) as soon as available and in any event within 90 days after the end of each fiscal year of the Guarantor, a consolidated balance sheet of the Guarantor and its Subsidiaries as of the end of such fiscal year and the related consolidated statements of income, retained

earnings and cash flows for such fiscal year, setting forth in each case in comparative form the figures for the previous fiscal year, all prepared in accordance with GAAP applied on a Consistent Basis and containing opinions of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, or other such independent certified public accountants of nationally recognized standing, which are unqualified as to the scope of the audit performed and as to the "going concern" status of the Guarantor;

- (b) as soon as available and in any event within 45 days after the end of each of the first three quarters of each fiscal year of the Guarantor, a consolidated balance sheet of the Guarantor and its Subsidiaries as of the end of such quarter and the related consolidated statements of income for such quarter and of income and cash flows for the portion of the Guarantor's fiscal year ended at the end of such quarter, setting forth in each case in comparative form the figures for the corresponding quarter and the corresponding portion of the Guarantor's previous fiscal year, all certified (subject to normal year-end adjustments) as to fairness of presentation, generally accepted accounting principles and consistency by an Authorized Representative of the Guarantor;
- (c) simultaneously with the delivery of each set of financial statements referred to in clauses (a) and (b) above, a certificate of an Authorized Representative of the Guarantor (i) setting forth in reasonable detail the calculations required to establish whether the Guarantor was in compliance with the requirements of Sections 8.1, 8.2(i) and 8.3(e) on the date of such financial statements and (ii) stating whether there exists on the date of such certificate any Default or Event of Default and, if any Default or Event of Default then exists, setting forth the details thereof and the action which the Guarantor is taking or proposes to take with respect thereto;
- (d) simultaneously with the delivery of each set of financial statements referred to in clause (a) above, a statement of the firm of independent public accountants which reported on such statements (i) advising whether anything has come to their attention to cause then to believe that there existed on the date of such statements any Default or Event of Default and (ii) confirming the calculations set forth in the officer's certificate delivered simultaneously therewith pursuant to clause (c) above, provided that such statement need not be provided if it is the general practice and policy of such firm not to provide such statements;
- (e) forthwith upon the occurrence of any Default or Event of Default, a certificate of an Authorized Representative of the Guarantor setting forth the details thereof and the action which the Guarantor is taking or proposes to take with respect thereto;
 - (f) promptly upon the mailing thereof to the shareholders of the Guarantor generally, copies of all financial statements, reports and proxy statements so mailed;
- (g) promptly upon the filing thereof, copies of all registration statements (other than the exhibits thereto and any registration statements on Form S-8 or its equivalent) and reports on Forms 10-K, 10-Q and 8-K (or their equivalents) which the Guarantor shall have filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission;

- (h) if and when any member of the ERISA Group (i) gives or is required to give notice to the PBGC of any "reportable event" (as defined in Section 4043 of ERISA) with respect to any Plan which might constitute grounds for a termination of such Plan under Title IV of ERISA, or knows that the plan administrator of any Plan has given or is required to give notice of any such reportable event, a copy of the notice of such reportable event given or required to be given to the PBGC; (ii) receives notice that it has incurred complete or partial withdrawal liability under Title IV of ERISA or notice that any Multiemployer Plan is in reorganization, is insolvent or has been terminated, a copy of such notice; (iii) receives notice from the PBGC under Title IV of ERISA of an intent to terminate, impose liability (other than for premiums under Section 4007 of ERISA) in respect of, or appoint a trustee to administer, any Plan, a copy of such notice; (iv) applies for a waiver of the minimum funding standard under Section 412 of the Code, a copy of such application; (v) gives notice of intent to terminate any Plan under Section 404l(c) of ERISA, a copy of such notice and other information filed with the PBGC; (vi) gives notice of withdrawal from any Plan pursuant to Section 4063 of ERISA, a copy of such notice; or (vii) fails to make any payment or contribution to any Plan or Multiemployer Plan or in respect of any Benefit Arrangement or makes any amendment to any Plan or Benefit Arrangement which has resulted or could result in the action, if any, which the Guarantor or applicable member of the ERISA Group is required or proposes to take with respect thereto; provided that no such delivery referred to in clauses (i) through (vii) above shall be required unless the event described in the applicable clause could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect; and
- (i) from time to time such additional information regarding the financial position or business of the Guarantor and its Subsidiaries as the Agent or any Lender may reasonably request.

Documents required to be delivered pursuant to Section 7.1(a), (b), (f) or (g) may be delivered electronically and, if so delivered, shall be deemed to have been delivered on the date on which such documents are posted (or a link thereto is provided) on the Guarantor's website on the Internet at www.vfc.com, at www.sec.gov/edgar/searchedgar/webusers.htm (the Central Index Key as of the date of this Agreement for the Guarantor being 0000103379), or on IntraLinks/IntraAgency or another relevant website, if any, to which each Lender and the Agent have access (whether a commercial, third-party website or whether sponsored by the Agent), in each case so long as such documents are generally available without charge to the Agent and each of the Lenders at such locations; provided that: (x) the Guarantor shall deliver paper copies of such documents to the Agent or any Lender that requests the Guarantor to deliver such paper copies until a written request to cease delivering paper copies by the Agent or such Lender and (y) the Guarantor shall notify (which may be by facsimile or electronic mail) the Agent and each Lender of the posting of any such documents and provide to the Agent by electronic mail electronic versions (i.e., soft copies) of such documents. Notwithstanding anything contained herein, in every instance the Guarantor shall be required to provide paper copies of the certificates required by Section 7.1(c) to the Agent. Except for such certificates required by Section 7.1(c), the Agent shall have no obligation to request the delivery or to maintain copies of the documents referred to above, and in any event shall have no responsibility to monitor compliance by the Guarantor with any such request for delivery, and each Lender

shall be solely responsible for requesting delivery to it or maintaining its copies of such documents.

The Guarantor hereby acknowledges that (a) the Agent will make available to the Lenders materials and/or information provided by or on behalf of the Guarantor hereunder (collectively, "Guarantor Materials") by posting the Guarantor Materials on IntraLinks or another similar electronic system (the 'Platform') and (b) certain of the Lenders (each, a "Public Lender") may have personnel who do not wish to receive material non-public information with respect to the Guarantor or its Affiliates, or the respective securities of any of the foregoing, and who may be engaged in investment and other market-related activities with respect to such Persons' securities. The Guarantor hereby agrees that so long as the Guarantor is the issuer of any outstanding debt or equity securities that are registered or issued pursuant to a private offering, (w) all Guarantor Materials that are to be made available to Public Lenders shall be clearly and conspicuously marked "PUBLIC" which, at a minimum, shall mean that the word "PUBLIC" shall appear prominently on the first page thereof; (x) by marking Guarantor Materials "PUBLIC," the Guarantor shall be deemed to have authorized the Agent and the Lenders to treat such Guarantor Materials as not containing any material non-public information with respect to the Guarantor or its securities for purposes of United States Federal and state securities laws (provided, however, that to the extent such Guarantor Materials constitute Information, they shall be treated as set forth in Section 12.14); (y) all Guarantor Materials marked "PUBLIC" are permitted to be made available through a portion of the Platform designated "Public Investor;" and (z) the Agent shall be entitled to treat any Guarantor Materials that are not marked "PUBLIC" as being suitable only for posting on a portion of the Platform not designated "Public Investor." Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Guarantor shall be under no obligation to mark any Guarantor Materials "PUBLIC".

- 7.2. <u>Payment of Taxes</u>. The Guarantor will pay, and will cause each Significant Subsidiary to pay, all their respective tax liabilities, except where the same may be contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings, and will maintain, and will cause each Significant Subsidiary to maintain, in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, appropriate reserves for the accrual of the same.
- 7.3. Maintenance of Properties; Insurance. The Guarantor will keep, and will cause each Significant Subsidiary to keep, all material property useful and necessary in its business in good working order and condition, ordinary wear and tear excepted; will maintain, and will cause each Significant Subsidiary to maintain (either in the name of the Guarantor or in such Significant Subsidiary's own name) with financially sound and reputable insurance companies, insurance on all their property in at least such amounts and against at least such risks as are usually insured against in the same general area by companies of established repute engaged in the same or a similar business; provided that the Guarantor shall have the right to self-insure or use a captive insurer in order to meet such insurance requirements so long as the Guarantor or such captive insurer provides the Lenders with reasonable proof of financial responsibility. The Guarantor will furnish to the Lenders, upon written request from the Agent, full information as to the insurance carried.
- 7.4. Compliance with Laws. The Guarantor will comply, and cause each Subsidiary to comply, in all material respects with all applicable laws, ordinances, rules, regulations, and

requirements of governmental authorities (including, without limitation, Environmental Laws and ERISA and the rules and regulations thereunder) except where (i) the necessity of compliance therewith is contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings or (ii) appropriate steps are being taken to correct any failure to comply therewith and such failure does not have a Material Adverse Effect.

7.5. Books and Records. The Guarantor will, and will cause each Significant Subsidiary to, (a) maintain proper books of record and account, in which full, true and correct entries in conformity with GAAP consistently applied shall be made of all financial transactions and matters involving the assets and business of the Guarantor or such Significant Subsidiary, as the case may be; and (b) maintain such books of record and account in material conformity with all applicable requirements of any Governmental Authority having regulatory jurisdiction over the Guarantor or such Significant Subsidiary, as the case may be.

ARTICLE VIII

NEGATIVE COVENANTS

As long as any Commitment remains in effect or any Loan or other amount is owing to any Lender or the Agent hereunder, unless the Required Lenders shall otherwise consent in writing, the Guarantor will not, nor will it permit any Subsidiary to:

- 8.1. Consolidated Indebtedness to Consolidated Capitalization. Permit the ratio of Consolidated Indebtedness to Consolidated Capitalization to be greater than 0.60 to 1.00 at any time.
- 8.2. <u>Liens</u>. Incur, create or permit to exist any Lien, charge or other encumbrance of any nature whatsoever with respect to any property or assets now owned or hereafter acquired by the Guarantor or any Subsidiary, other than
- (a) Liens existing on the date of this Agreement securing Indebtedness outstanding on the date of this Agreement in an aggregate principal amount not exceeding \$50,000,000;
 - (b) any Lien existing on any asset of any corporation at the time such corporation becomes a Subsidiary and not created in contemplation of such event;
- (c) any Lien on any asset of any corporation existing at the time such corporation is merged or consolidated with or into the Guarantor or a Subsidiary and not created in contemplation of such event;
 - (d) any Lien existing on any asset prior to the acquisition thereof by the Guarantor or a Subsidiary and not created in contemplation of such acquisition;
- (e) any Lien on any asset securing Indebtedness incurred or assumed for the purpose of financing all or any part of the cost of acquiring such asset, provided that such Lien attaches to such asset concurrently with or within 90 days after the acquisition thereof;

- (f) any Lien arising out of the refinancing, extension, renewal or refunding of any Indebtedness secured by any Lien permitted by clauses (a) through (e) above provided that such Indebtedness is not increased and is not secured by any additional assets;
- (g) Liens arising in the ordinary course of business which (i) do not secure Indebtedness, (ii) do not secure any obligation in an amount exceeding \$50,000,000 and (iii) do not in the aggregate materially detract from the value of its assets or materially impair the use thereof in the operations of its business;
 - (h) Liens on assets of a Subsidiary securing Indebtedness owed to the Guarantor or a Wholly Owned Subsidiary; and
- (i) Liens not otherwise permitted by the foregoing clauses securing Indebtedness in an aggregate principal amount at any time not to exceed 15% of Consolidated Net Worth; provided that the sum of the principal amount of Indebtedness permitted to be secured by this clause (i) plus the principal amount of Indebtedness incurred in accordance with Section 8.3(e) at any time shall not exceed 20% of Consolidated Net Worth.
 - 8.3. Indebtedness of Subsidiaries. Incur, create, assume or permit to exist any Indebtedness of any Subsidiary of the Guarantor, howsoever evidenced, except:
 - (a) Indebtedness of any corporation outstanding at the time such corporation becomes a Subsidiary and not created in contemplation of such event;
- (b) Indebtedness of any corporation outstanding at the time such corporation is merged or consolidated with or into a Subsidiary and not created in contemplation of such event;
 - (c) Indebtedness secured by a Lien permitted by Section 8.2 hereof;
 - (d) Indebtedness owing to the Guarantor or a Wholly Owned Subsidiary; and
- (e) Indebtedness not otherwise permitted by the foregoing clauses of this Section in an aggregate outstanding principal amount for all Subsidiaries at no time exceeding 15% of Consolidated Net Worth; <u>provided</u> that the sum of the principal amount of Indebtedness incurred in accordance with this clause (e) plus the principal amount of Indebtedness permitted to be secured in accordance with Section 8.2(i) at any time shall not exceed 20% of Consolidated Net Worth.

The foregoing is subject to the further limitations that (i) for purposes of this Section, any preferred stock of a Subsidiary held by a Person other than the Guarantor or a Wholly Owned Subsidiary shall be included, at the higher of its voluntary or involuntary liquidation value, in the Indebtedness of such Subsidiary and (ii) Indebtedness permitted by this Section does not include a refunding, renewal or extension of such Indebtedness so that any such new Indebtedness must fall independently within one of the above exceptions.

8.4. Consolidations, Mergers and Sales of Assets The Guarantor will not (i) consolidate or merge with or into any other Person; provided that the Guarantor may merge with

another Person if (A) the Guarantor is the corporation surviving such merger and is not a subsidiary of another person and (B) immediately after giving effect to such merger, no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing; or (ii) sell, lease or otherwise transfer, directly or indirectly, all or substantially all of its assets to any other Person, except for sales, leases and other transfers to a Wholly Owned Subsidiary; provided that nothing in this Section 8.4 shall be construed to prohibit or limit the ability of the Guarantor or any Subsidiary to dispose of Margin Stock for fair market value.

8.5. Change in Control. Cause, suffer or permit to exist or occur any Change of Control.

ARTICLE IX

EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND ACCELERATION

- 9.1. Events of Default. If any one or more of the following events (herein called "Events of Default") shall occur for any reason whatsoever (and whether such occurrence shall be voluntary or involuntary or come about or be effected by operation of law or pursuant to or in compliance with any judgment, decree or order of any court or any order, rule or regulation of any Governmental Authority), that is to say:
- (a) if default shall be made in the due and punctual payment of the principal of any Loan, when and as the same shall be due and payable whether pursuant to any provision of Article II or Article III, at maturity, by acceleration or otherwise; or
- (b) if default shall be made in the due and punctual payment of any amount of interest on any Loan or other Obligation or of any fees or other amounts payable to any of the Lenders or the Agent within five days of the date on which the same shall be due and payable; or
 - (c) if default shall be made in the performance or observance of any covenant set forth in Article VIII; or
- (d) if a default shall be made in the performance or observance of, or shall occur under, any covenant, agreement or provision contained in this Agreement (other than as described in clauses (a), (b) or (c) above) and such default shall continue for 30 or more days after the earlier of (i) receipt of notice of such default by an Authorized Representative of the Guarantor from the Agent and (ii) the date on which an officer or Authorized Representative of the Guarantor becomes aware of such default, or if without the written consent of the Lenders, this Agreement or any Loan shall be disaffirmed or shall terminate, be terminable or be terminated or become void or unenforceable for any reason whatsoever (other than as expressly provided for hereunder or thereunder); or
- (e) if there shall occur (i) a default, which is not waived or cured within any applicable grace periods, in the payment of any principal, interest, premium or other amount with respect to any Indebtedness (other than the Loans and other Obligations and other than Indebtedness owed to the Guarantor or any Subsidiary) of the Guarantor or any Subsidiary in an amount not less than \$100,000,000 in the aggregate outstanding, or (ii) any event of default as

specified in any agreement or instrument under or pursuant to which any such Indebtedness in excess of \$100,000,000 may have been issued, created, assumed, guaranteed or secured by the Guarantor or any Subsidiary, and such default or event of default shall continue for more than the period of grace, if any, therein specified, and such default or event of default shall permit the holder of any such Indebtedness (or any agent or trustee acting on behalf of one or more holders) to accelerate the maturity thereof; or

- (f) if any representation, warranty or other statement of fact contained in any Loan Document or in any writing, certificate, report or statement at any time furnished to the Agent or any Lender by or on behalf of the Guarantor or any Subsidiary pursuant to or in connection with any Loan Document, or otherwise, shall be false or misleading in any material respect when given; or
- (g) if the Guarantor or any Significant Subsidiary shall be unable to pay its debts generally as they become due; file a petition to take advantage of any insolvency statute; make an assignment for the benefit of its creditors; commence a proceeding for the appointment of a receiver, trustee, liquidator or conservator of itself or of the whole or any substantial part of its property; file a petition or answer seeking liquidation, reorganization or arrangement or similar relief under the federal bankruptcy laws or any other applicable law or statute, domestic or foreign; or
- (h) if a court of competent jurisdiction shall enter an order, judgment or decree appointing a custodian, receiver, trustee, liquidator or conservator of the Guarantor or any Significant Subsidiary or of the whole or any substantial part of its properties and such order, judgment or decree continues unstayed and in effect for a period of sixty (60) days, or approve a petition filed against the Guarantor or any Significant Subsidiary seeking liquidation, reorganization or arrangement or similar relief under the federal bankruptcy laws or any other applicable law or statute of the United States of America or any state thereof or any other jurisdiction, domestic or foreign, which petition is not dismissed within sixty (60) days; or if, under the provisions of any other law for the relief or aid of debtors, a court of competent jurisdiction shall assume custody or control of the Guarantor or any Significant Subsidiary or of the whole or any substantial part of its properties, which control is not relinquished within sixty (60) days; or if there is commenced against the Guarantor or any Significant Subsidiary any proceeding or petition seeking reorganization, arrangement or similar relief under the federal bankruptcy laws or any other applicable law or statute of the United States of America or any state thereof or any other jurisdiction, domestic or foreign which proceeding or petition remains undismissed for a period of sixty (60) days; or if the Guarantor or any Significant Subsidiary takes any action to indicate its consent to or approval of any such proceeding or petition; or
- (i) if (i) any judgment or order where the amount not covered by insurance (or the amount as to which the insurer denies liability) is in excess of \$100,000,000 is rendered against the Guarantor or any Subsidiary, or (ii) there is any attachment, injunction or execution against any of the Guarantor's or Subsidiaries' properties for any amount in excess of \$100,000,000; and such judgment, attachment, injunction or execution remains unpaid, unstayed, undischarged, unbonded or undismissed for a period of thirty (30) days; or

(j) any member of the ERISA Group shall fail to pay when due an amount or amounts aggregating in excess of \$100,000,000 which it shall have become liable to pay under Title IV of ERISA; or notice of intent to terminate a Material Plan shall be filed under Title IV or ERISA by any member of the ERISA Group, any plan administrator or any combination of the foregoing; or the PBGC shall institute proceedings under Title IV of ERISA to terminate, to impose liability (other than for premiums under Section 4007 of ERISA) in respect of, or to cause a trustee to be appointed to administer any Material Plan; or a condition shall exist by reason of which the PBGC would be entitled to obtain a decree adjudicating that any Material Plan must be terminated; or there shall occur a complete or partial withdrawal from, or a default, within the meaning of Section 4219(c)(5) of ERISA, with respect to, one or more Multiemployer Plans which could reasonably be expected to cause one or more members of the ERISA Group to incur a payment obligation in excess of \$100,000,000;

then, and in any such event and at any time thereafter, if such Event of Default or any other Event of Default shall have not been waived,

- (A) either or both of the following actions may be taken: (i) the Agent may, and at the direction of the Required Lenders shall, declare any obligation of the Lenders to make further Loans terminated, whereupon the obligation of each Lender to make further Loans hereunder shall terminate immediately, and (ii) the Agent shall at the direction of the Required Lenders, at their option, declare by notice to the Guarantor any or all of the Obligations to be immediately due and payable, and the same, including all interest accrued thereon and all other obligations of the Guarantor and the Borrowers to the Agent and the Lenders, shall forthwith become immediately due and payable without presentment, demand, protest, notice or other formality of any kind, all of which are hereby expressly waived, anything contained herein or in any instrument evidencing the Obligations to the contrary notwithstanding; provided, however, that notwithstanding the above, if there shall occur an Event of Default under clause (g) or (h) above, then the obligation of the Lenders to make Loans hereunder shall automatically terminate and any and all of the Obligations shall be immediately due and payable without the necessity of any action by the Agent or the Required Lenders or notice to the Agent or the Lenders; and
 - (B) the Agent and each of the Lenders shall have all of the rights and remedies available under the Loan Documents or under any applicable law.
- 9.2. Agent to Act. In case any one or more Events of Default shall occur and not have been waived, the Agent may, and at the direction of the Required Lenders shall, proceed to protect and enforce their rights or remedies either by suit in equity or by action at law, or both, whether for the specific performance of any covenant, agreement or other provision contained herein or in any other Loan Document, or to enforce the payment of the Obligations or any other legal or equitable right or remedy.
- 9.3. Cumulative Rights. No right or remedy herein conferred upon the Lenders or the Agent is intended to be exclusive of any other rights or remedies contained herein or in any other Loan Document, and every such right or remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to

every other such right or remedy contained herein and therein or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity or by statute, or otherwise.

- 9.4. No Waiver. No course of dealing between the Guarantor or any Borrower, on the one hand, and any Lender or the Agent, on the other hand, or any failure or delay on the part of any Lender or the Agent in exercising any rights or remedies under any Loan Document or otherwise available to it shall operate as a waiver of any rights or remedies and no single or partial exercise of any rights or remedies shall operate as a waiver or preclude the exercise of any other rights or remedies hereunder or of the same right or remedy on a future occasion.
- 9.5. Allocation of Proceeds. If an Event of Default has occurred and not been waived, and the maturity of the Loans has been accelerated pursuant to Article IX hereof, all payments received by the Agent hereunder, in respect of any principal of or interest on the Obligations or any other amounts payable by the Guarantor or any Borrower hereunder, shall be applied by the Agent in the following order:
 - (a) amounts due to the Lenders pursuant to Sections 3.6(a) and 12.5;
 - (b) amounts due to the Agent pursuant to Section 3.6(b);
 - (c) payments of interest on Loans to be applied for the ratable benefit of the Lenders;
 - (d) payments of principal of Loans, to be applied for the ratable benefit of the Lenders;
 - (e) amounts due to the Agent and the Lenders pursuant to Section 12.9;
 - (f) payments of all other amounts due under any of the Loan Documents, if any, to be applied for the ratable benefit of the Lenders;
 - (g) any surplus remaining after application as provided for herein, to the Borrowers or otherwise as may be required by applicable law.

ARTICLE X

THE AGENT

10.1. Appointment and Authorization of the Agent. Each Lender hereby irrevocably appoints, designates and authorizes the Administrative Agent to take such action on its behalf under the provisions of this Agreement and each other Loan Document and to exercise such powers and perform such duties as are expressly delegated to it by the terms of this Agreement or any other Loan Document, together with such powers as are reasonably incidental thereto. Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary contained elsewhere herein or in any other Loan Document, the Agent shall have no duties or responsibilities, except those expressly set forth herein, nor shall the Agent have or be deemed to have any fiduciary relationship with any Lender or participant, and no implied covenants, functions, responsibilities, duties, obligations or liabilities shall be read into this Agreement or any other Loan Document or otherwise exist

against the Agent. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing sentence, the use of the term "agent" herein and in the other Loan Documents with reference to any Agent is not intended to connote any fiduciary or other implied (or express) obligations arising under agency doctrine of any applicable Law. Instead, such term is used merely as a matter of market custom, and is intended to create or reflect only an administrative relationship between independent contracting parties.

- 10.2. <u>Delegation of Duties</u>. The Agent may execute any of its duties under this Agreement or any other Loan Document by or through agents, employees or attorneys-in-fact including for the purpose of any Borrowings or payments in Alternative Currencies, such sub-agents as shall be deemed necessary by the Agent and shall be entitled to advice of counsel and other consultants or experts concerning all matters pertaining to such duties. The Agent shall not be responsible for the negligence or misconduct of any agent or sub-agent or attorney-in-fact that it selects in the absence of gross negligence or willful misconduct.
- 10.3. <u>Liabilities of Agent</u>. No Agent-Related Person shall (a) be liable for any action taken or omitted to be taken by any of them under or in connection with this Agreement or any other Loan Document or the transactions contemplated hereby (except for its own gross negligence or willful misconduct in connection with its duties expressly set forth herein), or (b) be responsible in any manner to any Lender or participant for any recital, statement, representation or warranty made by any Loan Party or any officer thereof, contained herein or in any other Loan Document, or in any certificate, report, statement or other document referred to or provided for in, or received by the Agent under or in connection with, this Agreement or any other Loan Document, or the validity, effectiveness, genuineness, enforceability or sufficiency of this Agreement or any other Loan Document to perform its obligations hereunder or thereunder. No Agent-Related Person shall be under any obligation to any Lender or participant to ascertain or to inquire as to the observance or performance of any of the agreements contained in, or conditions of, this Agreement or any other Loan Document, or to inspect the properties, books or records of any Loan Party or any Affiliate thereof.
- 10.4. Reliance by Agent. The Agent shall be entitled to rely, and shall be fully protected in relying, upon any writing, communication, signature, resolution, representation, notice, consent, certificate, affidavit, letter, telegram, facsimile, telex or telephone message, electronic mail message, statement or other document or conversation believed by it to be genuine and correct and to have been signed, sent or made by the proper Person or Persons, and upon advice and statements of legal counsel (including counsel to any Loan Party), independent accountants and other experts selected by such Agent. The Agent shall be fully justified in failing or refusing to take any action under any Loan Document unless it shall first receive such advice or concurrence of the Required Lenders as it deems appropriate and, if it so requests, it shall first be indemnified to its satisfaction by the Lenders against any and all liability and expense which may be incurred by it by reason of taking or continuing to take any such action. Each Agent shall in all cases be fully protected in acting, or in refraining from acting, under this Agreement or any other Loan Document in accordance with a request or consent of the Required Lenders (or such greater number of Lenders as may be expressly required hereby in any instance) and such request and any action taken or failure to act pursuant thereto shall be binding upon all the Lenders.

10.5. Notice of Default. The Agent shall not be deemed to have knowledge or notice of the occurrence of any Default, except with respect to defaults in the payment of principal, interest and fees required to be paid to the Agent for the account of the Lenders, unless the Administrative Agent shall have received written notice from a Lender, the Guarantor or any Borrower referring to this Agreement, describing such Default and stating that such notice is a "notice of default." The Agent will notify the Lenders of its receipt of any such notice. The Agent shall take such action with respect to any Event of Default as may be directed by the Required Lenders in accordance with Article IX; provided that unless and until the Agent has received any such direction, the Agent may (but shall not be obligated to) take such action, or refrain from taking such action, with respect to such Event of Default as it shall deem advisable or in the best interest of the Lenders.

10.6. Indemnification of Agent. Whether or not the transactions contemplated hereby are consummated, the Lenders shall indemnify upon demand each Agent-Related Person (to the extent not reimbursed by or on behalf of any Loan Party and without limiting the obligation of any Loan Party to do so), pro rata, and hold harmless each Agent-Related Person from and against any and all Indemnified Liabilities incurred by it; provided that no Lender shall be liable for the payment to any Agent-Related Person of any portion of such Indemnified Liabilities resulting from such Agent-Related Person's own gross negligence or willful misconduct; provided that no action taken in accordance with the directions of the Required Lenders shall be deemed to constitute gross negligence or willful misconduct for purposes of this Section 10.6. In the case of any investigation, litigation or proceeding giving rise to any Indemnified Liabilities, this Section 10.6 applies whether any such investigation, litigation or proceeding is brought by any Lender or any other Person. Without limitation of the foregoing, each Lender shall reimburse the Agent upon demand for its ratable share of any costs or out-of-pocket expenses incurred by the Agent in connection with the preparation, execution, delivery, administration, modification, amendment or enforcement (whether through negotiations, legal proceedings or otherwise) of, or legal advice in respect of rights or responsibilities under, this Agreement, any other Loan Document, or any document contemplated by or referred to herein, to the extent that the Agent is not reimbursed for such expenses by or on behalf of the Borrowers. The undertaking in this Section 10.6 shall survive termination of the Commitments, the payment of all other Obligations and the resignation of the Agent.

10.7. <u>Agent in its Individual Capacity</u>. J.P. Morgan Europe Limited and its Affiliates may make loans to, issue letters of credit for the account of, accept deposits from, acquire Equity Interests in and generally engage in any kind of banking, trust, financial advisory, underwriting or other business with each of the Loan Parties and their respective Affiliates as though J.P. Morgan Europe Limited were not the Agent hereunder and without notice to or consent of the Lenders. The Lenders acknowledge that, pursuant to such activities, J.P. Morgan Europe Limited or its Affiliates may receive information regarding any Loan Party or its Affiliates (including information that may be subject to confidentiality obligations in favor of such Loan Party or such Affiliate) and acknowledge that the Agent shall be under no obligation to provide such information to them. With respect to its Loans, J.P. Morgan Europe Limited shall have the same rights and powers under this Agreement as any other Lender and may exercise such rights and powers as though it were not the Agent, and the terms "Lender" and "Lenders" include J.P. Morgan Europe Limited in its individual capacity.

- 10.8. Successor Agents. The Agent may resign as the Agent upon thirty (30) days' notice to the Lenders. If the Agent resigns under this Agreement, the Required Lenders shall appoint from among the Lenders a successor agent for the Lenders, subject to the consent of the Guarantor (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed). Upon the acceptance of its appointment as successor agent hereunder, the Person acting as such successor agent shall succeed to all the rights, powers and duties of the retiring Agent and the term "Agent," shall mean such successor administrative agent and/or supplemental administrative agent, as the case may be, and the retiring Agent's appointment, powers and duties as the Administrative Agent shall be terminated. After the retiring Agent's resignation hereunder as the Administrative Agent, the provisions of this Article X and Sections 12.5 and 12.9 shall inure to its benefit as to any actions taken or omitted to be taken by it while it was the Agent under this Agent's resignation shall nevertheless thereupon become effective and the Lenders shall perform all of the duties of the Agent hereunder until such time, if any, as the Required Lenders appoint a successor agent as provided for above. Upon the acceptance of any appointment as the Agent hereunder by a successor, the Agent shall thereupon succeed to and become vested with all the rights, powers, discretion, privileges, and duties of the retiring Agent, and the retiring Agent shall be discharged from its duties and obligations under the Loan Documents. After the retiring Agent's resignation hereunder as the Agent, the provisions of this Article X shall continue in effect for its benefit in respect of any actions taken or omitted to be taken by it while it was acting as the Agent.
- 10.9. Agent May File Proofs of Claim. In case of the pendency of any receivership, insolvency, liquidation, bankruptcy, reorganization, arrangement, adjustment, composition or other judicial proceeding relative to any Loan Party, the Agent (irrespective of whether the principal of any Loan shall then be due and payable as herein expressed or by declaration or otherwise and irrespective of whether the Agent shall have made any demand on the Borrower) shall be entitled and empowered, by intervention in such proceeding or otherwise:
 - (a) to file and prove a claim for the whole amount of the principal and interest owing and unpaid in respect of the Loans and all other Obligations that are owing and unpaid and to file such other documents as may be necessary or advisable in order to have the claims of the Lenders and the Agent (including any claim for the reasonable compensation, expenses, disbursements and advances of the Lenders and the Agent and their respective agents and counsel and all other amounts due the Lenders and the Agent under Sections 3.6 and 12.5) allowed in such judicial proceeding; and
 - (b) to collect and receive any monies or other property payable or deliverable on any such claims and to distribute the same;

and any custodian, receiver, assignee, trustee, liquidator, sequestrator or other similar official in any such judicial proceeding is hereby authorized by each Lender to make such payments to the Agent and, in the event that the Agent shall consent to the making of such payments directly to the Lenders, to pay to the Agent any amount due for the reasonable compensation, expenses, disbursements and advances of the Agents and their respective agents and counsel, and any other amounts due the Agent under Sections 3.6 and 12.5.

Nothing contained herein shall be deemed to authorize the Agent to authorize or consent to or accept or adopt on behalf of any Lender any plan of reorganization, arrangement, adjustment or composition affecting the Obligations or the rights of any Lender or to authorize the Agent to vote in respect of the claim of any Lender in any such proceeding.

- 10.10. Other Agents and Arrangers. None of the Lenders or other Persons identified on the facing page or signature pages of this Agreement as a "syndication agent," "documentation agent", "bookrunner," or "mandated lead arranger" shall have any right, power, obligation, liability, responsibility or duty under this Agreement other than those applicable to all Lenders as such. Without limiting the foregoing, none of the Lenders or other Persons so identified shall have or be deemed to have any fiduciary relationship with any Lender. Each Lender acknowledges that it has not relied, and will not rely, on any of the Lenders or other Persons so identified in deciding to enter into this Agreement or in taking or not taking action hereunder.
- 10.11. Non-Reliance on the Agent and Other Lenders. Each Lender expressly acknowledges that neither the Agent nor any of its respective officers, directors, employees, agents, advisors, attorneys-in-fact or affiliates have made any representations or warranties to it and that no act by the Agent hereafter taken, including any review of the affairs of a Loan Party or any affiliate of a Loan Party, shall be deemed to constitute any representation or warranty by the Agent to any Lender. Each Lender represents to the Agent that it has, independently and without reliance upon the Agent or any other Lender, and based on such documents and information as it has deemed appropriate, made its own appraisal of and investigation into the business, operations, property, financial and other condition and creditworthiness of the Loan Parties and their affiliates and made its own decision to make its Loans hereunder and enter into this Agreement. Each Lender also represents that it will, independently and without reliance upon the Agent or any other Lender, and based on such documents and information as it shall deem appropriate at the time, continue to make its own credit analysis, appraisals and decisions in taking or not taking action under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents, and to make such investigation as it deems necessary to inform itself as to the business, operations, property, financial and other condition and creditworthiness of the Loan Parties and their affiliates. Except for notices, reports and other documents expressly required to be furnished to the Lenders by the Agent hereunder, the Agent shall not have any duty or responsibility to provide any Lender with any credit or other information concerning the business, operations, property, condition (financial or otherwise), prospects or creditworthiness of any Loan Party or any affiliates of a Loan Party that may come into the possession of the Agent or any of its officers, directors, employees, agents, advisors, attorneys-in-fact or affiliates.

ARTICLE XI

GUARANTEE

11.1. Guarantee. (a) To induce the Lenders to execute and deliver this Agreement and to make the Loans, and in consideration thereof, the Guarantor hereby unconditionally and irrevocably guarantees to the Agent, for the ratable benefit of the Lenders and their respective

successors, indorsees and assigns, the prompt and complete payment and performance when due (whether at the stated maturity, by acceleration or otherwise) of the Obligations.

- (b) Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, the maximum liability of the Guarantor hereunder shall in no event exceed the amount which can be guaranteed by the Guarantor under applicable federal and state laws relating to the insolvency of debtors.
- (c) The guarantee contained in this Article XI shall remain in full force and effect and be binding in accordance with and to the extent of its terms upon the Guarantor and the successors and assigns thereof, and shall inure to the benefit of the Lenders and their successors and permitted assigns, until all the Obligations shall have been satisfied by payment in full and the Commitments shall be terminated, notwithstanding that from time to time during the term of this Agreement the Borrowers may be free from any Obligations.
- 11.2. No Subrogation. Notwithstanding any payment made by the Guarantor hereunder or any set-off or application of funds of the Guarantor by the Agent or any Lender, the Guarantor shall not be entitled to be subrogated to any of the rights of the Agent or any Lender against any Borrower or any collateral security or guarantee or right of offset held by the Agent or any Lender for the payment of the Obligations, nor shall the Guarantor seek or be entitled to seek any contribution or reimbursement from any Borrower in respect of payments made by the Guarantor hereunder, until all amounts owing to the Agent and the Lenders by any Borrower on account of the Obligations are paid in full and the Commitments are terminated. If any amount shall be paid to the Guarantor on account of such subrogation rights at any time when all of the Obligations shall not have been paid in full or the Commitments shall not have been terminated, such amount shall be held by the Guarantor in trust for the Agent and the Lenders and shall, forthwith upon receipt by the Guarantor, be turned over to the Agent in the exact form received by the Guarantor (duly indorsed by the Guarantor to the Agent, if required), to be applied against the Obligations, whether matured or unmatured, in such order as the Agent may determine.
- 11.3. Amendments, etc. with respect to the Obligations. The Guarantor shall remain obligated hereunder notwithstanding that, without any reservation of rights against the Guarantor and without notice to or further assent by the Guarantor, any demand for payment of any of the Obligations made by the Agent or any Lender may be rescinded by the Agent or such Lender and any of the Obligations continued, and the Obligations, or the liability of any other Person upon or for any part thereof, or any collateral security or guarantee therefor or right of offset with respect thereto, may, from time to time, in whole or in part, be renewed, extended, amended, modified, accelerated, compromised, waived, surrendered or released by the Agent or any Lender, and this Agreement and any other documents executed and delivered in connection therewith may be amended, modified, supplemented or terminated, in whole or in part, including with respect to any condition precedent, as the Agent (or the Required Lenders or all Lenders, as the case may be) may deem advisable from time to time, and any collateral security, guarantee or right of offset at any time held by the Agent or any Lender for the payment of the Obligations may be sold, exchanged, waived, surrendered or released. Neither the Agent nor any Lender shall have any obligation to protect, secure, perfect or insure any Lien at any time held by it as security for the Obligations or for the guarantee contained in this Article XI or any property subject thereto.

- 11.4. Guarantee Absolute and Unconditional. Except as otherwise required by this Agreement, the Guarantor waives any and all notice of the creation, renewal, extension or accrual of any of the Obligations and notice of or proof of reliance by the Agent or any Lender upon the guarantee contained in this Article XI or acceptance of the guarantee contained in this Article XI; the Obligations, and any of them, shall conclusively be deemed to have been created, contracted or incurred, or renewed, extended, amended or waived, in reliance upon the guarantee contained in this Article XI; and all dealings between the Borrowers and the Guarantor, on the one hand, and the Agent and the Lenders, on the other hand, likewise shall be conclusively presumed to have been had or consummated in reliance upon the guarantee contained in this Article XI. To the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, the Guarantor waives diligence, presentment, protest, demand for payment and notice of default or nonpayment to or upon any Borrower or the Guarantor with respect to the Obligations. The Guarantor understands and agrees that the guarantee contained in this Article XI shall be construed as a continuing, absolute and unconditional guarantee of payment without regard to (a) the validity or enforceability of the obligations of the Borrowers under this Agreement, any of the Obligations or any other collateral security therefor or guarantee or right of offset with respect thereto at any time or from time to time held by the Agent or any Lender, (b) any defense, set-off or counterclaim (other than a defense of payment or performance) which may at any time be available to or be asserted by any Borrower or any other Person against the Agent or any Lender, or (c) any other circumstance whatsoever (with or without notice to or knowledge of the Borrowers or the Guarantor) which constitutes, or might be construed to constitute, an equitable or legal discharge of the Borrowers for the Obligations, or of the Guarantor under the guarantee contained in this Article XI, in bankruptcy or in any other instance. When making any demand hereunder or otherwise pursuing its rights and remedies hereunder against the Guarantor the Agent or any Lender may, but shall be under no obligation to, make a similar demand on or otherwise pursue such rights and remedies as it may have against any Borrower, or any other Person or against any collateral security or guarantee for the Obligations or any right of offset with respect thereto, and any failure by the Agent or any Lender to make any such demand, to pursue such other rights or remedies or to collect any payments from the Borrowers, or any other Person or to realize upon any such collateral security or guarantee or to exercise any such right of offset, or any release of any Borrower, or any other Person or any such collateral security, guarantee or right of offset, shall not relieve the Guarantor of any obligation or liability hereunder, and shall not impair or affect the rights and remedies, whether express, implied or available as a matter of law, of the Agent or any Lender against the Guarantor. For the purposes hereof "demand" shall include the commencement and continuance of any legal proceedings.
- 11.5. Reinstatement. The guarantee contained in this Article XI shall continue to be effective, or be reinstated, as the case may be, if at any time payment, or any part thereof, of any of the Obligations is rescinded or must otherwise be restored or returned by the Agent or any Lender upon the insolvency, bankruptcy, dissolution, liquidation or reorganization of any Borrower or the Guarantor, or upon or as a result of the appointment of a receiver, intervenor or conservator of, or trustee or similar officer for, any Borrower or the Guarantor or any substantial part of its property, or otherwise, all as though such payments had not been made.
- 11.6. <u>Payments</u>. The Guarantor hereby guarantees that payments hereunder will be paid to the Agent without set-off or counterclaim in the applicable currency at the Principal Office.

11.7. <u>Independent Obligations</u>. The obligations of the Guarantor under the guarantee contained in this Article XI are independent of the obligations of the Borrowers, and a separate action or actions may be brought and prosecuted against the Guarantor whether or not any Borrower is joined in any such action or actions. The Guarantor waives, to the fullest extent permitted by law, the benefit of any statute of limitations affecting its liability hereunder or the enforcement thereof.

ARTICLE XII

MISCELLANEOUS

12.1. Assignments and Participations.

(a) The provisions of this Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns permitted hereby, except that neither the Guarantor nor any Borrower may assign or otherwise transfer any of its rights or obligations hereunder without the prior written consent of each Lender, and no Lender may assign or otherwise transfer any of its rights or obligations hereunder except (i) to an Eligible Assignee in accordance with the provisions of subsection (b) of this Section, (ii) by way of participation in accordance with the provisions of subsection (d) of this Section, or (iii) by way of pledge or assignment of a security interest subject to the restrictions of subsection (f) of this Section (and any other attempted assignment or transfer by any party hereto shall be null and void). Nothing in this Agreement, expressed or implied, shall be construed to confer upon any Person (other than the parties hereto, their respective successors and assigns permitted hereby, Participants to the extent provided in subsection (d) of this Section and, to the extent expressly contemplated hereby, the Indemnified Parties) any legal or equitable right, remedy or claim under or by reason of this Agreement.

(b) Subject to Section 12.1(h), any Lender may at any time assign to one or more Eligible Assignees all or a portion of its rights and obligations under this Agreement (including all or a portion of its Commitment or Commitments and the Loan or Loans at the time owing to it); provided that (i) except in the case of an assignment of the entire remaining amount of the assigning Lender's Commitment and Loans at the time owing to it or in the case of an assignment to a Lender or an Approved Fund (as defined in subsection (g) of this Section) with respect to a Lender, the aggregate amount of the Commitment (which for this purpose includes Loans outstanding thereunder) subject to each such assignment, determined as of the date the Assignment and Assumption with respect to such assignment is delivered to the Agent or, if "Trade Date" is specified in the Assignment and Assumption, as of the Trade Date, shall not be less than €5,000,000 (or its equivalent) or an integral multiple of €5,000,000 (or its equivalent) in excess thereof, unless each of the Agent and, so long as no Event of Default under Section 9.1(a), (b), (g) or (h) has occurred and is continuing, the Guarantor otherwise consents (each such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed); (ii) each partial assignment shall be made as an assignment of a proportionate part of all the assigning Lender's rights and obligations under this Agreement with respect to the Loans and the Commitment assigned; (iii) any assignment of a Commitment must be approved (which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed) by the Agent unless the Person that is the proposed assignee is itself a Lender (whether or not the proposed assignee

would otherwise qualify as an Eligible Assignee); and (iv) the parties to each assignment shall execute and deliver to the Agent an Assignment and Assumption, together with a processing and recordation fee of \$3,500. Subject to acceptance and recording thereof by the Agent pursuant to subsection (c) of this Section, from and after the effective date specified in each Assignment and Assumption, the Eligible Assignee thereunder shall be a party to this Agreement and, to the extent of the interest assigned by such Assignment and Assumption, have the rights and obligations of a Lender under this Agreement, and the assigning Lender thereunder shall, to the extent of the interest assigned by such Assignment and Assumption, be released from its obligations under this Agreement (and, in the case of an Assignment and Assumption covering all of the assigning Lender's rights and obligations under this Agreement, such Lender shall cease to be a party hereto but shall continue to be entitled to the benefits of Sections 4.1, 4.4, 4.5, 12.5 and 12.9 with respect to facts and circumstances occurring prior to the effective date of such assignment). Any assignment or transfer by a Lender of rights or obligations under this Agreement that does not comply with this subsection shall be treated for purposes of this Agreement as a sale by such Lender of a participation in such rights and obligations in accordance with subsection (d) of this Section. Notwithstanding the foregoing, (x) the Agent shall not be obligated to consent to an assignment hereunder until it is satisfied it has complied with all necessary "know your customer" or other similar checks under all applicable laws and regulations in relation to the assignment to such assignee Lender and (y) an assignment will only be effective after performance by the Agent of all "know your customer" or other checks relating to any person that it is required to carry out in relation to such assignment to an assignment

- (c) The Agent, acting solely for this purpose as an agent of the Borrowers, shall maintain at the Agent's Applicable Lending Office a copy of each Assignment and Assumption delivered to it and a register for the recordation of the names and addresses of the Lenders, and the Commitments of, and principal amounts of the Loans owing to, each Lender pursuant to the terms hereof from time to time (the "Register"). The entries in the Register shall be conclusive, and the Guarantor, the Borrowers, the Agent and the Lenders may treat each Person whose name is recorded in the Register pursuant to the terms hereof as a Lender hereunder for all purposes of this Agreement, notwithstanding notice to the contrary. The Register shall be available for inspection by the Guarantor, the Borrowers and any Lender, at any reasonable time and from time to time upon reasonable prior notice.
- (d) Subject to Section 12.1(h), any Lender may at any time, without the consent of, or (except as set forth below in this subsection (d)) notice to, the Guarantor, any Borrower or the Agent, sell participations to any Person (other than a natural person or the Guarantor or any of the Guarantor's Affiliates or Subsidiaries) (each, a "Participant") in all or a portion of such Lender's rights and/or obligations under this Agreement (including all or a portion of its Commitment and/or the Loans owing to it); provided that (i) such Lender's obligations under this Agreement shall remain unchanged, (ii) such Lender shall remain solely responsible to the other parties hereto for the performance of such obligations and (iii) the Guarantor, the Borrowers, the Agent and the other Lenders shall continue to deal solely and directly with such Lender in connection with such Lender's rights and obligations under this Agreement. Each Lender selling a participation shall notify the Guarantor and the Borrowers of the identity of the participant and the amount of the participation, provided that the failure of any

Lender to give such notice shall not affect the validity of such sale or the rights of the participant hereunder. Any agreement or instrument pursuant to which a Lender sells such a participation shall provide that such Lender shall retain the sole right to enforce this Agreement and to approve any amendment, modification or waiver of any provision of this Agreement; <u>provided</u> that such agreement or instrument may provide that such Lender will not, without the consent of the Participant, agree to any amendment, waiver or other modification described in the first proviso to Section 12.6 that directly affects such Participant. Subject to subsection (e) of this Section, the Borrowers agree that each Participant shall be entitled to the benefits of Sections 4.1 and 4.4 to the same extent as if it were a Lender and had acquired its interest by assignment pursuant to subsection (b) of this Section. To the extent permitted by law, each Participant also shall be entitled to the benefits of Section 12.3(a) as though it were a Lender, <u>provided</u> such Participant agrees to be subject to Section 12.3(b) as though it were a Lender.

- (e) A Participant shall not be entitled to receive any greater payment under Section 4.1 or 4.5 than the applicable Lender would have been entitled to receive with respect to the participation sold to such Participant, unless the sale of the participation to such Participant is made with the Guarantor's prior written consent. No Participant shall be entitled to the benefits of Section 4.5 unless the Guarantor is notified of the participation sold to such Participant and such Participant agrees, for the benefit of the Guarantor, to provide such forms, certificates or other evidence, if any, with respect to withholding tax matters as required under Section 4.5(d).
- (f) Subject to Section 12.1(h), any Lender may at any time pledge or assign a security interest in all or any portion of its rights under this Agreement to secure obligations of such Lender, including any pledge or assignment to secure obligations to a Federal Reserve Bank; provided that no such pledge or assignment shall release such Lender from any of its obligations hereunder or substitute any such pledgee or assignee for such Lender as a party hereto.
 - (g) As used herein, the following terms have the following meanings:

"Eligible Assignee" means (a) a Lender; (b) an Affiliate of a Lender; (c) an Approved Fund; and (d) any other Person (other than a natural person) approved by (i) the Agent (which approval shall be subject to the last sentence of Section 12.1(b) and shall not be unreasonably withheld) and (ii) unless an Event of Default under Section 9.1(a), (b), (g) or (h) has occurred and is continuing, the Guarantor (each such approval not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed); provided that notwithstanding the foregoing, "Eligible Assignee" shall not include the Guarantor or any of the Guarantor's Affiliates or Subsidiaries.

"Fund" means any Person (other than a natural person) that is (or will be) engaged in making, purchasing, holding or otherwise investing in commercial loans and similar extensions of credit in the ordinary course of its business.

"Approved Fund" means any Fund that is administered or managed by (a) a Lender, (b) an Affiliate of a Lender or (c) an entity or an Affiliate of an entity that administers or manages a Lender.

- (h) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 12.1, a Lender may not assign, sell participations in or pledge or assign a security interest in all or any portion or its rights and obligations under this Agreement (each such action, a "Transfer"), if as a result thereof:
 - (i) the total number of creditors (other than Qualifying Banks (as defined below)) of VF International under this Agreement would at any time exceed 10, in each case in accordance with the meaning of the Guidelines (as defined below); or
 - (ii) the total number of creditors (other than Qualifying Banks) in relation to all outstanding loans or written debt acknowledgements (including Loans) of VF International would at any time exceed 20, in each case in accordance with the meaning of the Guidelines.

For purposes of this Section 12.1(h), "<u>Guidelines</u>" means the guidelines in relation to bonds of April 1999 as issued by the Swiss Federal Tax Administration (Merkblatt "Obligationen" vom April 1999 der Eidgenössischen Steuerverwaltung), and "<u>Qualifying Bank</u>" means (i) a bank as defined in the Swiss Federal Law of 8 November 1934 relating to banks and savings institutions, or (ii) any other person that is a bank according to the banking legislation in effect in its jurisdiction of organization.

Upon the reasonable request of any Lender in connection with any such proposed Transfer, VF International and (in the case of clause (x) below only) the Agent will notify such Lender of the total number of creditors (other than Qualifying Banks) of VF International of which it is aware (x) under this Agreement and (y) in relation to all outstanding loans or written debt acknowledgements (including Loans), in each case in accordance with the meaning of the Guidelines. No Transfer shall be valid for any purpose unless the Lender proposing to make such transfer has notified VF International thereof and VF International has confirmed to such Lender in writing that such transfer will not violate this Section 12.1(h). VF International agrees to respond to any such notification promptly following its receipt thereof.

Each Lender hereby represents and warrants that, on the date hereof, it is a Qualifying Bank. VF International hereby represents and warrants that, on the date hereof, to the best of its knowledge, the total number of its creditors (other than Qualifying Banks) in relation to all outstanding loans or written debt acknowledgements (including Loans) does not exceed 20. VF International hereby covenants and agrees that, so long as any Loans are outstanding to it, it will not permit the total number of its creditors (other than Qualifying Banks) in relation to all outstanding loans or written debt acknowledgements (including Loans) to exceed 20.

12.2. <u>Notices</u>. Except in the case of notices and other communications expressly permitted to be given by telephone (and except as provided in subsection (g) below), all notices and other communications provided for herein shall be in writing and shall be delivered by hand or overnight courier service, mailed by certified or registered mail or sent by telecopier as follows, and all notices and other communications expressly permitted hereunder to be given by telephone shall be made to the applicable telephone number, as follows:

(a) if to the Guarantor:

V.F. Corporation

105 Corporate Center Boulevard Greensboro, North Carolina 27408

Attn: Frank C. Pickard, III, Vice President-Treasurer

Telephone: (336) 424-6000 Telefacsimile: (336) 424-7630

(b) if to VF Investments:

VF Investments S.a.r.l. 2, rue Joseph Hackin L-1746 Luxembourg

Attention: Stephanie Jung — Administrator

Phone: 011 352 427171249 Fax: 011 352 421961

e-mail: sjung@lu.equitytrust.com

with a copy to:

V.F. Corporation

105 Corporate Center Boulevard Greensboro, North Carolina 27408

Attn: Frank C. Pickard, III, Vice President-Treasurer

Telephone: (336) 424-6000 Telefacsimile: (336) 424-7630

(c) if to VF Europe:

VF Europe BVBA Fountain Business Park C. Van Kerckhovenstraat, 110 Bldg 2/4

Bldg. 2/4 B-2880 Bornem Belgium

Attention: Neil Wright- Chief Financial Officer

Phone: 011.32.3298.2013 Fax: 011.32.3298.2010 e-mail: neil_wright@vfc.com

with a copy to:

V.F. Corporation

105 Corporate Center Boulevard Greensboro, North Carolina 27408

Attn: Frank C. Pickard, III, Vice President-Treasurer

Telephone: (336) 424-6000 Telefacsimile: (336) 424-7630

(d) if to VF International:

VF International S.a.g.l. Via Senago, 42/e Centro Open Space 01, Stabile C 6912 Pazzallo Switzerland Attention: Scott Roe — Chief Financial Officer

Phone: 011.41.91.960.92.00 Fax: 011.41.91.960.93.00 e-mail: scott_roe@vfc.com

with a copy to:

V.F. Corporation 105 Corporate Center Boulevard Greensboro, North Carolina 27408 Attn: Frank C. Pickard, III, Vice President-Treasurer Telephone: (336) 424-6000 Telefacsimile: (336) 424-7630

(e) if to the Agent:

J.P. Morgan Europe Limited 125 London Wall London EC2Y 5AJ Attention: Steve Clarke Telephone: +44 (0) 207 325 5424

Telefacsimile: + 44 (0) 207 777 2360

(f) if to the Lenders:

At the addresses set forth in an administrative questionnaire delivered to the Agent.

Notices sent by hand or overnight courier service, or mailed by certified or registered mail, shall be deemed to have been given when received; notices sent by telecopier shall be deemed to have been given when sent, where the proper transmission of such notice is either acknowledged by the recipient or electronically confirmed by the transmitting device (except that, if not given during normal business hours for the recipient, shall be deemed to have been given at the opening of business on the next business day for the recipient). Notices delivered through electronic communications to the extent provided in subsection (g) below, shall be effective as provided in such subsection (g).

(g) <u>Electronic Communications</u>. Notices and other communications to the Lenders hereunder may be delivered or furnished by electronic communication (including e mail and Internet or intranet websites) pursuant to procedures approved by the Agent, <u>provided</u> that the foregoing shall not apply to notices to any Lender pursuant to <u>Article II</u> if such Lender has notified the Agent that it is incapable of receiving or unwilling to receive notices under such Article by electronic communication. The Agent, the Guarantor or the Borrowers may, in their discretion, agree to accept notices and other communications to them hereunder by electronic communications pursuant to procedures approved by them, <u>provided</u> that approval of such procedures may be limited to particular notices or communications.

Unless the Agent otherwise prescribes, (i) notices and other communications sent to an e-mail address shall be deemed received upon the sender's receipt of an acknowledgement from the intended recipient (such as by the "return receipt requested" function, as available, return e-mail or other written acknowledgement), provided that if such notice or other communication is not sent during the normal business hours of the recipient, such notice or communication shall be deemed to have been sent at the opening of business on the next business day for the recipient, and (ii) notices or communications posted to an Internet or intranet website shall be deemed received upon the deemed receipt by the intended recipient at its e-mail address as described in the foregoing clause (i) of notification that such notice or communication is available and identifying the website address therefor.

- 12.3. Right of Set-off; Adjustments. (a) Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of any Event of Default, each Lender (and each of its affiliates) is hereby authorized at any time and from time to time, to the fullest extent permitted by law, to set off and apply any and all deposits (general or special, time or demand, provisional or final) at any time held and other indebtedness at any time owing by such Lender (or any of its affiliates) to or for the credit or the account of the Guarantor or any Borrower against any and all of the obligations of the Guarantor or such Borrower, as the case may be, now or hereafter existing under this Agreement irrespective of whether such Lender shall have made any demand under this Agreement and although such obligations may be unmatured. Each Lender agrees promptly to notify the Guarantor or relevant Borrower, as the case may be, after any such set-off and application made by such Lender; provided, however, that the failure to give such notice shall not affect the validity of such set-off and application. The rights of each Lender under this Section 12.3 are in addition to other rights and remedies (including, without limitation, other rights of set-off) that such Lender may have.
- (b) Except to the extent that this Agreement expressly provides for payments to be allocated to a particular Lender or Lenders, if any Lender (a <u>Benefited Lender</u>") shall at any time receive any payment of all or part of the Loans owing to it, or interest thereon, or receive any collateral in respect thereof (whether voluntarily or involuntarily, by set-off, or otherwise), in a greater proportion than any such payment to or collateral received by any other Lender, if any, in respect of such other Lender's Loans owing to it, or interest thereon, such Benefited Lender shall purchase for cash from the other Lenders a participating interest in such portion of each such other Lender's Loans owing to it, or shall provide such other Lenders with the benefits of any such collateral, or the proceeds thereof, as shall be necessary to cause such Benefited Lender to share the excess payment or benefits of such collateral or proceeds ratably with each of the Lenders; provided, however, that if all or any portion of such excess payment or

benefits is thereafter recovered from such Benefited Lender, such purchase shall be rescinded, and the purchase price and benefits returned, to the extent of such recovery, but without interest. The Guarantor and the Borrowers agree that any Lender so purchasing a participation from a Lender pursuant to this Section 12.3 may, to the fullest extent permitted by law, exercise all of its rights of payment (including the right of set-off) with respect to such participation as fully as if such Person were the direct creditor of the Guarantor or the relevant Borrower in the amount of such participation.

- 12.4. <u>Survival</u>. All covenants, agreements, representations and warranties made herein shall survive the making by the Lenders of the Loans and the execution and delivery to the Lenders of this Agreement and shall continue in full force and effect so long as any of Obligations remain outstanding or any Lender has any Commitment hereunder or the Guarantor or any Borrower has continuing obligations hereunder unless otherwise provided herein.
- 12.5. Expenses. The Borrowers jointly and severally agree to pay on demand all reasonable out-of-pocket costs and expenses of the Agent in connection with the syndication, preparation, execution, delivery, administration, modification, and amendment of this Agreement, the other Loan Documents, and the other documents to be delivered hereunder, including, without limitation, the reasonable fees and expenses of counsel for the Agent with respect thereto and with respect to advising the Agent as to its rights and responsibilities under the Loan Documents. If an Event of Default occurs, the Borrowers further jointly and severally agree to pay on demand all reasonable out-of-pocket costs and expenses of the Agent and the Lenders, if any (including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys' fees and expenses), in connection with the enforcement (whether through negotiations, legal proceedings, or otherwise) of the Loan Documents and the other documents to be delivered hereunder.
- 12.6. Amendments and Waivers. Except as set forth in Sections 2.3 and 2.7(b), any provision of this Agreement or any other Loan Document may be amended or waived if, but only if, such amendment or waiver is in writing and is signed by the Guarantor, the Borrowers and either the Required Lenders or (as to Loan Documents other than the Credit Agreement) the Agent at the direction of and on behalf of the Required Lenders; provided that no such amendment or waiver shall, unless signed by all the Lenders affected thereby, (i) increase the Commitments of the Lenders or the Total Commitment (except as provided in Section 2.3), (ii) reduce the principal of or rate or amount of interest on any Loan or any fees or other amounts payable hereunder, (iii) except as and to the extent set forth in Section 2.8, postpone any date fixed for the payment of any scheduled installment of principal of or interest on any Loan or any fees or other amounts payable hereunder or for termination of any Commitment, (iv) change the percentage of the applicable Commitments or of the unpaid principal amount of the Loans, or the number of Lenders, which shall be required for the Lenders or any of them to take any action under this Section 12.6 or any other provision of this Agreement, (v) change Section 9.5, Section 2.1(e) or Section 12.3 in a manner that would alter the pro rata sharing of payments or the pro rata reduction of any of the Commitments required thereby, (v) amend this Section 12.6 or (vi) release the Guarantor from its obligations under Article XI; and, provided further, that no amendment, waiver or consent shall, unless in writing and signed by the Agent in addition to the Lenders required above, affect the rights or duties of the Agent under this Agreement or any other Loan Document. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, no defaulting Lender shall have any right to approve or disapprove any amendment, waiver or consent hereunder,

except that the Commitment of such Lender may not be increased or extended without the consent of such Lender.

No notice to or demand on the Guarantor or any Borrower in any case shall entitle the Guarantor or any Borrower to any other or further notice or demand in similar or other circumstances, except as otherwise expressly provided herein. No delay or omission on any Lender's or the Agent's part in exercising any right, remedy or option shall operate as a waiver of such or any other right, remedy or option or of any Default or Event of Default.

- 12.7. Counterparts. This Agreement and any Loan Document may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which when so executed and delivered shall be deemed an original, and it shall not be necessary in making proof of this Agreement or any Loan Document to produce or account for more than one such fully- executed counterpart. Delivery of an executed signature page of this Agreement or any Loan Document by facsimile transmission shall be effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart thereof.
- 12.8. Termination. The termination of this Agreement shall not affect any rights of the Guarantor, the Borrowers, the Lenders or the Agent or any obligation of the Guarantor, the Borrowers, the Lenders or the Agent, arising prior to the effective date of such termination, and the provisions hereof shall continue to be fully operative until all transactions entered into or rights created or obligations incurred prior to such termination have been fully disposed of, concluded or liquidated and the Obligations arising prior to or after such termination have been irrevocably paid in full. The rights granted to the Agent for the benefit of the Lenders under the Loan Documents shall continue in full force and effect, notwithstanding the termination of this Agreement, until all of the Obligations have been paid in full after the termination hereof (other than Obligations in the nature of continuing indemnities or expense reimbursement obligations not yet due and payable, which shall continue) or the Guarantor or the Borrowers have furnished the Lenders and the Agent with an indemnification satisfactory to the Agent and each Lender with respect thereto. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if after receipt of any payment of all or any part of the Obligations, any Lender is for any reason compelled to surrender such payment to any Person because such payment is determined to be void or voidable as a preference, impermissible setoff, a diversion of trust funds or for any other reason, this Agreement shall continue in full force, and the Borrowers shall be liable to, and shall jointly and severally indemnify and hold the Agent or such Lender harmless for, the amount of such payment surrendered until the Agent or such Lender shall have been finally and irrevocably paid in full. The provisions of the foregoing sentence shall be and remain effective notwithstanding any contrary action which may have been taken by the Agent or the Lenders in reliance upon such payment, and any such contrary action so taken shall be without prejudic
- 12.9. <u>Indemnification</u>; <u>Limitation of Liability</u>. (a) The Borrowers, to the maximum extent permitted by applicable law, jointly and severally agree to indemnify and hold harmless the Agent and each Lender and each of their affiliates and their respective officers, directors, employees, agents, and advisors (each, an "<u>Indemnified Party</u>") from and against any and all claims, damages, losses, liabilities, costs, and expenses (including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys' fees) that may be incurred by or asserted or awarded against any Indemnified Party, in

each case arising out of or in connection with or by reason of (including, without limitation, in connection with any investigation, litigation, or proceeding or preparation of defense in connection therewith) the Loan Documents, any of the transactions contemplated herein or the actual or proposed use of the proceeds of the Loans (collectively, "Indemnified Liabilities"), except to the extent such claim, damage, loss, liability, cost, or expense is found in a final, non-appealable judgment by a court of competent jurisdiction to have resulted from such Indemnified Party's gross negligence or willful misconduct. In the case of an investigation, litigation or other proceeding to which the indemnity in this Section 12.9 applies, such indemnity shall be effective whether or not such investigation, litigation or proceeding is brought by the Guarantor, any Borrower or any of their respective directors, shareholders or creditors or an Indemnified Party is otherwise a party thereto and whether or not the transactions contemplated hereby are consummated. The Borrowers agree that no Indemnified Party shall have any liability (whether direct or indirect, in contract or tort or otherwise) to it, any of its Subsidiaries, any guarantor, or any security holders or creditors thereof arising out of, related to or in connection with the transactions contemplated herein, except to the extent that such liability is found in a final non-appealable judgment by a court of competent jurisdiction have directly resulted from such Indemnified Party's gross negligence or willful misconduct. The Guarantor and the Borrowers agree not to assert any claim against the Agent, any Lender, any of their affiliates, or any of their respective directors, officers, employees, attorneys, agents, and advisers, on any theory of liability, for special, indirect, consequential, or punitive damages arising out of or otherwise relating to the Loan Documents, any of the transactions contemplated herein or the actual or proposed use of the proceeds of the Lo

- (b) Without prejudice to the survival of any other agreement of the Borrowers hereunder, the agreements and obligations of the Borrowers contained in this Section 12.9 shall survive the payment in full of the Loans and all other amounts payable under this Agreement.
- 12.10. Severability. If any provision of this Agreement or the other Loan Documents shall be determined to be illegal or invalid as to one or more of the parties hereto, then such provision shall remain in effect with respect to all parties, if any, as to whom such provision is neither illegal nor invalid, and in any event all other provisions hereof shall remain effective and binding on the parties hereto.
- 12.11. <u>Integration</u>. This Agreement, together with the other Loan Documents, comprises the complete and integrated agreement of the parties on the subject matter hereof and thereof and supersedes all prior agreements, written or oral, on such subject matter. In the event of any conflict between the provisions of this Agreement and those of any other Loan Document, the provisions of this Agreement shall control; <u>provided</u> that the inclusion of supplemental rights or remedies in favor of the Agent or the Lenders in any other Loan Document executed on or after the date of this Agreement shall not be deemed a conflict with this Agreement. Each Loan Document was drafted with the joint participation of the respective parties thereto and shall be construed neither against nor in favor of any party, but rather in accordance with the fair meaning thereof.
- 12.12. Agreement Controls. In the event that any term of any of the Loan Documents other than this Agreement conflicts with any express term of this Agreement, the terms and provisions of this Agreement shall control to the extent of such conflict.

12.13. Governing Law; Waiver of Jury Trial.

- (a) THIS AGREEMENT AND THE OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK APPLICABLE TO CONTRACTS EXECUTED, AND TO BE FULLY PERFORMED, IN SUCH STATE.
- (b) THE GUARANTOR AND EACH BORROWER HEREBY EXPRESSLY AND IRREVOCABLY AGREES AND CONSENTS THAT ANY SUIT, ACTION OR PROCEEDING ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT AND THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREIN MAY BE INSTITUTED IN ANY STATE OR FEDERAL COURT SITTING IN NEW YORK CITY, STATE OF NEW YORK, UNITED STATES OF AMERICA AND, BY THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF THIS AGREEMENT, THE GUARANTOR AND EACH BORROWER EXPRESSLY WAIVES, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, ANY OBJECTION THAT IT MAY NOW OR HEREAFTER HAVE TO THE LAYING OF VENUE IN, OR TO THE EXERCISE OF JURISDICTION OVER IT AND ITS PROPERTY BY, ANY SUCH COURT IN ANY SUCH SUIT, ACTION OR PROCEEDING, AND THE GUARANTOR AND EACH BORROWER HEREBY IRREVOCABLY SUBMITS GENERALLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY TO THE NON EXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION OF ANY SUCH COURT IN ANY SUCH SUIT, ACTION OR PROCEEDING.
- (c) THE GUARANTOR AND EACH BORROWER AGREES THAT SERVICE OF PROCESS MAY BE MADE BY PERSONAL SERVICE OF A COPY OF THE SUMMONS AND COMPLAINT OR OTHER LEGAL PROCESS IN ANY SUCH SUIT, ACTION OR PROCEEDING, OR BY REGISTERED OR CERTIFIED MAIL (POSTAGE PREPAID) TO THE ADDRESS OF THE GUARANTOR OR, AS THE CASE MAY BE, TO THE RELEVANT BORROWER IN CARE OF THE GUARANTOR AT THE GUARANTOR'S ADDRESS PROVIDED IN SECTION 12.2, OR BY ANY OTHER METHOD OF SERVICE PROVIDED FOR UNDER THE APPLICABLE LAWS IN EFFECT IN THE STATE OF NEW YORK.
- (d) IN ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING TO ENFORCE OR DEFEND ANY RIGHTS OR REMEDIES UNDER OR RELATED TO ANY LOAN DOCUMENT OR ANY AMENDMENT, INSTRUMENT, DOCUMENT OR AGREEMENT DELIVERED OR THAT MAY IN THE FUTURE BE DELIVERED IN CONNECTION THEREWITH, THE GUARANTOR, THE BORROWERS, THE AGENT AND THE LENDERS HEREBY AGREE, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, THAT ANY SUCH ACTION, SUIT OR PROCEEDING SHALL BE TRIED BEFORE A COURT AND NOT BEFORE A JURY AND HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVE, TO THE EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, ANY RIGHT SUCH PERSON MAY HAVE TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY SUCH ACTION, SUIT OR PROCEEDING.
 - (e) THE GUARANTOR AND EACH BORROWER HEREBY EXPRESSLY WAIVES. TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE

LAW, ANY OBJECTION IT MAY HAVE THAT ANY COURT TO WHOSE JURISDICTION IT HAS SUBMITTED PURSUANT TO THE TERMS HEREOF IS AN INCONVENIENT FORUM

- 12.14. Confidentiality. Each of the Agent and the Lenders agrees to maintain the confidentiality of the Information (as defined below), except that Information may be disclosed (a) to its and its Affiliates' directors, officers, employees and agents, including accountants, legal counsel and other advisors (it being understood that the Persons to whom such disclosure is made will be informed of the confidential nature of such Information and instructed to keep such Information confidential), (b) to the extent requested by any regulatory authority (including any self-regulatory authority), (c) to the extent required by applicable laws or regulations or by any subpoena or similar legal process, (d) to any other party hereto, (e) in connection with the exercise of any remedies hereunder or under or any other Loan Document or any action or proceeding relating to this Agreement or any other Loan Documents or the enforcement of rights hereunder or thereunder, (f) subject to an agreement containing provisions substantially the same as those of this Section, to any assignee of or Participant in, or any prospective assignee of or Participant in, any of its rights or obligations under this Agreement, (g) with the consent of the Guarantor, or (h) to the extent such Information (x) becomes publicly available other than as a result of a breach of this Section or (y) becomes available to the Agent or any Lender on a nonconfidential basis from a source other than the Guarantor or any Borrower. For the purposes of this Section, "Information" means all information that is available to the Agent or any Lender on a nonconfidential basis prior to disclosure by any Loan Party or any of their respective businesses, other than any such information that is available to the Agent or any Lender on a nonconfidential basis prior to disclosure by any Loan Party. Any Person required to maintain the confidentiality of Information as provided in this Section shall be considered to have complied with its obligation to do so if such Person has e
- 12.15. <u>Judgment Currency</u>. (a) If, for the purpose of obtaining judgment in any court, it is necessary to convert a sum owing hereunder in one currency into another currency, each party hereto agrees, to the fullest extent that it may effectively do so, that the rate of exchange used shall be that at which, in accordance with normal banking procedures in the relevant jurisdiction, the first currency could be purchased with such other currency on the Business Day immediately preceding the day on which final judgment is given.
- (b) The obligations of each Borrower in respect of any sum due to any party hereto or any holder of the obligations owing hereunder (the "Applicable Creditor") shall, notwithstanding any judgment in a currency (the "Judgment Currency") other than the currency in which such sum is stated to be due hereunder (the "Agreement Currency"), be discharged only to the extent that, on the Business Day following receipt by the Applicable Creditor of any sum adjudged to be so due in the Judgment Currency, the Applicable Creditor may in accordance with normal banking procedures in the relevant jurisdiction purchase the Agreement Currency with the Judgment Currency; if the amount of the Agreement Currency so purchased is less than the sum originally due to the Applicable Creditor in the Agreement Currency, the relevant Borrower as a separate obligation and notwithstanding any such judgment, agrees to indemnify the Applicable Creditor against such loss. The obligations of each Borrower contained in this

Section shall survive the termination of this Agreement and the payment of all other amounts owing hereunder.

12.16. "Know Your Customer" Checks. (a) If:

- (i) the introduction of or any change in (or in the interpretation, administration or application of) any law or regulation made after the date of this Agreement;
- (ii) any change in the status of a Loan Party after the date of this Agreement; or
- (iii) a proposed assignment or transfer by a Lender of any of its rights and/or obligations under this Agreement to a party that is not a Lender prior to such assignment or transfer,

obliges the Agent or any Lender (or, in the case of paragraph (iii) above, any prospective new Lender) to comply with "know your customer" or similar identification procedures in circumstances where the necessary information is not already available to it, each Loan Party shall promptly upon the request of the Agent or any Lender supply, or procure the supply of, such documentation and other evidence as is reasonably requested by the Agent (for itself or on behalf of any Lender) or any Lender (for itself or, in the case of the event described in paragraph (iii) above, on behalf of any prospective new Lender) in order for the Agent, such Lender or, in the case of the event described in paragraph (iii) above, any prospective new Lender to carry out and be satisfied it has complied with all necessary "know your customer" or other similar checks under all applicable laws and regulations pursuant to the transactions contemplated in the Loan Documents.

- (b) Each Lender shall promptly upon the request of the Agent supply, or procure the supply of, such documentation and other evidence as is reasonably requested by the Agent (for itself) in order for the Agent to carry out and be satisfied it has complied with all necessary "know your customer" or other similar checks under all applicable laws and regulations pursuant to the transactions contemplated in the Loan Documents.
- (c) Each Lender that is subject to the Act (as hereinafter defined) and the Agent (for itself and not on behalf of any Lender) hereby notifies the Borrowers that pursuant to the requirements of the USA PATRIOT Act (Title III of Pub. L. 107-56 (signed into law October 26, 2001)) (the "Act"), it is required to obtain, verify and record information that identifies the Borrowers, which information includes the name and address of the Borrowers and other information that will allow such Lender or the Agent, as applicable, to identify the Borrowers in accordance with the Act.

[Signatures on following pages]

V.F. CORPORATION	
By:	
Name: Mackey J. McDonald	
Title: Chairman and Chief Executive Officer	
Ву:	
Name: Frank C. Pickard III	
Title: Vice President – Treasurer	
VF INVESTMENTS S.A.R.L.	
Ву:	
Name:	
Title:	
VF EUROPE BVBA	
By:	
Name:	
Title:	

By: Name: Title:

J.P. MORGAN EUROPE LIMITED, as Agent for the Lenders
Ву:
Name:
Title:
70

Ву:	
Name:	
Title:	
71	

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A., as Lender

HSBC	Bank plc, as Lender
Ву:	
Name:	
Title:	
	72

By:			
Name:			
Title:			

ABN AMRO BANK N.V., as Lender

MANDATORY COST FORMULAE

- 1. The Mandatory Cost is an addition to the interest rate to compensate Lenders for the cost of compliance with (a) the requirements of the Bank of England and/or the Financial Services Authority (or, in either case, any other authority which replaces all or any of its functions) or (b) the requirements of the European Central Bank.
- 2. On the first day of each Interest Period (or as soon as possible thereafter) the Agent shall calculate, as a percentage rate, a rate (the "Additional Cost Rate") for each Lender, in accordance with the paragraphs set out below. The Mandatory Cost will be calculated by the Agent as a weighted average of the Lenders' Additional Cost Rates (weighted in proportion to the percentage participation of each Lender in the relevant Loan) and will be expressed as a percentage rate per annum.
- 3. The Additional Cost Rate for any Lender lending from an Applicable Lending Office in a Participating Member State will be the percentage notified by that Lender to the Agent. This percentage will be certified by that Lender in its notice to the Agent to be its reasonable determination of the cost (expressed as a percentage of that Lender's

	1 1	ation in all Loans made from that Applicable Lending Office) of complying with the minimum reserve requirements of the European Central Bank in respect of lade from that Applicable Lending Office.
4.	The Ad	ditional Cost Rate for any Lender lending from an Applicable Lending Office in the United Kingdom will be calculated by the Agent as follows:
	(a)	in relation to a sterling Loan:

	100 - (A + C)	
(b)	in relation to	a Loan in any currency other than sterling:
	E x 0.01	per cent. per annum.

per cent. per annum

Where:

300

- is the percentage of Eligible Liabilities (assuming these to be in excess of any stated minimum) which that Lender is from time to time required to maintain as an A interest free cash ratio deposit with the Bank of England to comply with cash ratio requirements.
- В is the percentage rate of interest (excluding the Applicable Margin, the Mandatory Cost and the Default Rate, if applicable) payable for the relevant Interest Period of the Loan.

- C is the percentage (if any) of Eligible Liabilities which that Lender is required from time to time to maintain as interest bearing Special Deposits with the Bank of England.
- D is the percentage rate per annum payable by the Bank of England to the Agent on interest bearing Special Deposits.
- E is designed to compensate Lenders for amounts payable under the Fees Rules and is calculated by the Agent as being the average of the most recent rates of charge supplied by the Reference Banks to the Agent pursuant to paragraph 7 below and expressed in pounds per £1,000,000.
- 5. For the purposes of this Schedule:
 - (a) "Eligible Liabilities" and "Special Deposits" have the meanings given to them from time to time under or pursuant to the Bank of England Act 1998 or (as may be appropriate) by the Bank of England;
 - (b) "Fees Rules" means the rules on periodic fees contained in the FSA Supervision Manual or such other law or regulation as may be in force from time to time in respect of the payment of fees for the acceptance of deposits;
 - (c) "Fee Tariffs" means the fee tariffs specified in the Fees Rules under the activity group A.1 Deposit acceptors (ignoring any minimum fee or zero rated fee required pursuant to the Fees Rules but taking into account any applicable discount rate); and
 - (d) "Tariff Base" has the meaning given to it in, and will be calculated in accordance with, the Fees Rules.
- 6. In application of the above formulae, A, B, C and D will be included in the formulae as percentages (i.e. 5 per cent. will be included in the formula as 5 and not as 0.05). A negative result obtained by subtracting D from B shall be taken as zero. The resulting figures shall be rounded to four decimal places.
- 7. If requested by the Agent, each Reference Bank shall, as soon as practicable after publication by the Financial Services Authority, supply to the Agent, the rate of charge payable by that Reference Bank to the Financial Services Authority pursuant to the Fees Rules in respect of the relevant financial year of the Financial Services Authority (calculated for this purpose by that Reference Bank as being the average of the Fee Tariffs applicable to that Reference Bank for that financial year) and expressed in pounds per £1,000,000 of the Tariff Base of that Reference Bank.
- 8. Each Lender shall supply any information required by the Agent for the purpose of calculating its Additional Cost Rate. In particular, but without limitation, each Lender shall supply the following information on or prior to the date on which it becomes a Lender:
 - (a) the jurisdiction of its Applicable Lending Office; and
 - (b) any other information that the Agent may reasonably require for such purpose.

Each Lender shall promptly notify the Agent of any change to the information provided by it pursuant to this paragraph.

- 9. The percentages of each Lender for the purpose of A and C above and the rates of charge of each Reference Bank for the purpose of E above shall be determined by the Agent based upon the information supplied to it pursuant to paragraphs 7 and 8 above and on the assumption that, unless a Lender notifies the Agent to the contrary, each Lender's obligations in relation to cash ratio deposits and Special Deposits are the same as those of a typical bank from its jurisdiction of incorporation with an Applicable Lending Office in the same jurisdiction as its Applicable Lending Office.
- 10. The Agent shall have no liability to any Person if such determination results in an Additional Cost Rate which over or under compensates any Lender and shall be entitled to assume that the information provided by any Lender or Reference Bank pursuant to paragraphs 3, 7 and 8 above is true and correct in all respects.
- 11. The Agent shall distribute the additional amounts received as a result of the Mandatory Cost to the Lenders on the basis of the Additional Cost Rate for each Lender based on the information provided by each Lender and each Reference Bank pursuant to paragraphs 3, 7 and 8 above.
- 12. Any determination by the Agent pursuant to this Schedule in relation to a formula, the Mandatory Cost, an Additional Cost Rate or any amount payable to a Lender shall, in the absence of manifest error, be conclusive and binding on all parties to the Agreement.
- 13. The Agent may from time to time, after consultation with the Guarantor, the Borrowers and the Lenders, determine and notify to all parties to the Agreement any amendments which are required to be made to this Schedule in order to comply with any change in law, regulation or any requirements from time to time imposed by the Bank of England, the Financial Services Authority or the European Central Bank (or, in any case, any other authority which replaces all or any of its functions) and any such determination shall, in the absence of manifest error, be conclusive and binding on all parties to the Agreement.

EXHIBIT A

Applicable Commitment Percentages

Lender	Commitment	Applicable Commitment Percentage
	€ 27,000,000	10.800000000%
HSBC Bank plc	, ,	
ABN AMRO Bank N.V.	€ 27,000,000	10.8000000000%
Dresdner Bank AG	€ 21,000,000	8.400000000%
Banco Santander S.A	€ 21,000,000	8.400000000%
ING Bank NV, Dublin Branch	€ 21,000,000	8.4000000000%
Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A	€ 21,000,000	8.4000000000%
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.	€ 27,000,000	10.8000000000%
Bank of America Securities Limited	€ 17,000,000	6.8000000000%
Citibank, N.A	€ 17,000,000	6.8000000000%
Fortis Bank NV/SA	€ 17,000,000	6.8000000000%
Bayerische Hypo-und Vereinsbank, New York Branch	€ 17,000,000	6.8000000000%
Wachovia Bank, National Association	€ 17,000,000	6.8000000000%
Total	€250,000,000	100.0000000000%

EXHIBIT B

ASSIGNMENT AND ASSUMPTION

This Assignment and Assumption (this "Assignment and Assumption") is dated as of the Effective Date set forth below and is entered into by and between [Insert name of Assignor] (the "Assignor") and [Insert name of Assignee] (the "Assignee"). Capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meanings given to them in the Credit Agreement identified below (as it may be amended, restated or modified from time to time, the "Credit Agreement"), receipt of a copy of which is hereby acknowledged by the Assignee. The Standard Terms and Conditions set forth in Annex 1 attached hereto are hereby agreed to and incorporated herein by reference and made a part of this Assignment and Assumption as if set forth herein in full.

For an agreed consideration, the Assignor hereby irrevocably sells and assigns to the Assignee, and the Assignee hereby irrevocably purchases and assumes from the Assignor, subject to and in accordance with the Standard Terms and Conditions and the Credit Agreement, as of the Effective Date inserted by the Administrative Agent as contemplated below (i) all of the Assignor's rights and obligations as a Lender under the Credit Agreement and any other documents or instruments delivered pursuant thereto to the extent related to the amount and percentage interest identified below of all of such outstanding rights and obligations of the Assignor identified below and (ii) to the extent permitted to be assigned under applicable law, all claims, suits, causes of action and any other right of the Assignor (in its capacity as a Lender) against any Person, whether known or unknown, arising under or in connection with the Credit Agreement, any other documents or instruments delivered pursuant thereto or the loan transactions governed thereby or in any way based on or related to any of the foregoing, including, but not limited to, contract claims, tort claims, statutory claims and all other claims at law or in equity related to the rights and obligations sold and assigned pursuant to clause (i) above (the rights and obligations sold and assigned pursuant to clauses (i) and (ii) above being referred to herein collectively as, the "Assigned Interest"). Such sale and assignment is without recourse to the Assignor and, except as expressly provided in this Assignment and Assumption, without representation or warranty by the Assignor.

1.	. Assignor:	
2.	. Assignee: [Identify Lender]] ¹¹	[and is an Affiliate/Approved Fund of
3.	. Administrative Agent: J.P. Morgan Europe Limited, as the administrative	agent under the Credit Agreement
4.	Credit Agreement: The Credit Agreement, dated as of October [], 2007, an Borrowers, V.F. Corporation, as the Guarantor, the Lenders parties thereto,	nong VF Investments S.a.r.l., VF Europe BVBA and VF International S.a.g.l., as the ABN AMRO Bank N.V., as Documentation Agent, J.P. Morgan
	Select as applicable.	
		B-1

Europe Limited as Administrative Agent and HSBC Bank plc, as Syndication Agent.

-	Assigned	Latomooti
.).	Assigned	interest:

Aggregate Amount of Commitment/Loans for all Lenders*	Amount of Commitment/ Loans Assigned*	Percentage Assigned of Commitment/ Loans2
€	€	%
* Amount to be adjusted by the counterparties to take [6. Trade Date: \$\begin{align*} \begin{align*}	into account any payments or prepayments made between the Tr	ade Date and the Effective Date.
Effective Date: , 20 [TO BE INSERTED BY TRANSFER IN THE REGISTER THEREFOR.]	ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT AND WHICH SHALL BE THE	EFFECTIVE DATE OF RECORDATION OF
The Assignee represents and warrants to the Agent, from withholding tax.	each Borrower and the Guarantor that as of the Effective Date pa	ayments to it under the Credit Agreement are exempt
The terms set forth in this Assignment and Assump	tion are hereby agreed to:	
	ASSIGNOR	
	[NAME OF ASSIGNOR]	
	Ву:	
	Title:	
	ASSIGNEE	
	[NAME OF ASSIGNEE]	
	By:	
, , ,	of the Commitment/Loans of all Lenders thereunder. see intend that the minimum assignment amount is to be determine	ned as of the Trade Date.

J.P. MOF as Admini	GAN EUROPE LIMITED, strative Agent
By:	Title:
[Consente	d to and Accepted:
V.F. COF	PORATION,
By:	
Name:	
Title:	
By: Name:	9
Title:	

Consented to and Accepted:

ANNEX 1 TO ASSIGNMENT AND ASSUMPTION

Credit Agreement, dated as of October [], 2007, among VF Investments S.a.r.l., VF Europe BVBA, and VF International S.a.g.l., as the Borrowers, V.F. Corporation, as the Guarantor, the Lenders parties thereto, J.P. Morgan Europe Limited, as Administrative Agent, ABN AMRO Bank N.V., as Documentation Agent and HSBC Bank plc, as Syndication Agent, as it may be amended, restated or modified from time to time.

STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR ASSIGNMENT AND ASSUMPTION

1. Representations and Warranties.

- 1.1. <u>Assignor</u>. The Assignor (a) represents and warrants that (i) it is the legal and beneficial owner of the Assigned Interest, (ii) the Assigned Interest is free and clear of any lien, encumbrance or other adverse claim and (iii) it has full power and authority, and has taken all action necessary, to execute and deliver this Assignment and Assumption and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby; and (b) assumes no responsibility with respect to (i) any statements, warranties or representations made in or in connection with the Credit Agreement or any other Loan Document, (ii) the execution, legality, validity, enforceability, genuineness, sufficiency or value of the Loan Documents, (iii) the financial condition of the Guarantor, any of its Subsidiaries or Affiliates or any other Person obligated in respect of any Loan Document or (iv) the performance or observance by the Guarantor, any of its Subsidiaries or Affiliates or any other Person of any of their respective obligations under any Loan Document.
- 1.2. Assignee. The Assignee (a) represents and warrants that (i) it has full power and authority, and has taken all action necessary, to execute and deliver this Assignment and Assumption and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and to become a Lender under the Credit Agreement, (ii) it meets all requirements of an Eligible Assignee under the Credit Agreement (subject to receipt of such consents as may be required under the Credit Agreement), (iii) from and after the Effective Date, it shall be bound by the provisions of the Credit Agreement as a Lender thereunder and, to the extent of the Assigned Interest, shall have the obligations of a Lender thereunder, (iv) it has received a copy of the Credit Agreement, together with copies of the most recent financial statements delivered pursuant to Section 6.5 or 7.1 thereof, as applicable, and such other documents and information as it has deemed appropriate to make its own credit analysis and decision to enter into this Assignment and Assumption and to purchase the Assigned Interest on the basis of which it has made such analysis and decision independently and without reliance on the Administrative Agent or any other Lender, and (v) attached hereto is any documentation required to be delivered by it pursuant to Section 4.5(d) of the Credit Agreement, duly completed and executed by the Assignee; and (b) agrees that (i) it will, independently and without reliance on the Administrative Agent, the Assignor or any other Lender, and based on such documents and information as it shall deem appropriate at the time, continue to make its own credit decisions in taking or not taking action under the Loan Documents, and (ii) it will perform in accordance with their terms all of the obligations which by the terms of the Loan Documents are required to be performed by it as a Lender.

- 2. <u>Payments</u>. From and after the Effective Date, the Administrative Agent shall make all payments in respect of the Assigned interest (including payments of principal, interest, fees and other amounts) to the Assignee whether such amounts have accrued prior to or on or after the Effective Date. The Assignor and the Assignee shall make all appropriate adjustments in payments by the Administrative Agent for periods prior to the Effective Date or with respect to the making of this assignment directly between themselves.
- 3. <u>General Provisions</u>. This Assignment and Assumption shall be binding upon, and inure to the benefit of, the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns. This Assignment and Assumption may be executed in any number of counterparts, which together shall constitute one instrument. Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature page of this Assignment and Assumption by telecopy shall be effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart of this Assignment and Assumption. This Assignment and Assumption shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the law of the State of New York.

EXHIBIT C

Notice of Appointment (or Revocation) of Authorized Representative

Reference is hereby made to the Credit Agreement dated as of October [], 2007 (the 'Agreement') among VF Investments S.a.r.l., VF Europe BVBA and VF International S.a.g.l. (collectively, the "Borrowers"), V.F. Corporation (the 'Guarantor'), the Lenders parties thereto, J.P. Morgan Europe Limited, as Administrative Agent (the 'Agent'), ABN AMRO Bank N.V., as Documentation Agent and HSBC Bank plc, as Syndication Agent. Capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the respective meanings therefor set forth in the Agreement.

under the Loan Documents, and hereby represents and warr office (to which such individual has been duly elected or ap	ants that (i) set forth opposite each such individual's na pointed), a genuine specimen signature of such individ	
Name	Office	Specimen Signature
2. The undersigned [Borrower] [Guarantor] hereby nominat notifications under the Loan Documents, and hereby represe individual's office (to which such individual has been duly (ii) each such individual has been duly authorized by the un Documents:	ents and warrants that (i) set forth opposite each such in elected or appointed), a genuine specimen signature of	ndividual's name is a true and correct statement of such such individual and an address for the giving of notice, and
Name	Office	Specimen Signature
	C-1	

3. The undersigned [Borrower] [Guarantor] hereby revokes (effective upon receipt hereof by the Agent) the prior appointment of [] as an Authorized Representative.		
	This the $day of , 20$.	
	C-2	
_		

By: Name: Title:		
By: Name: Title:]
[VF INVESTMEN	ITS S.A.R.L.	
By: Name: Title:]
[VF EUROPE BV	BA	
By: Name: Title:]
[VF INTERNATIO	ONAL S.A.G.L.	
By: Name: Title:]

[V.F. CORPORATION

C-3

EXHIBIT D

Form of Borrowing Notice

To: J.P. Morgan Europe Limited

as Agent 125 London Wall London EC24 5AJ Attention: Steve Clark

Telephone: + 44 (0) 207 325 5424 Telefacsimile: + 44 (0) 207 777 2360

Reference is hereby made to the Credit Agreement dated as of October [], 2007 (the "Agreement") among VF Investments S.a.r.l., VF Europe BVBA and VF International S.a.g.l. (collectively, the "Borrowers"), V.F. Corporation (the "Guarantor"), the Lenders parties thereto, J.P. Morgan Europe Limited, as Administrative Agent (the "Agent"), ABN AMRO Bank N.V. as Documentation Agent and HSBC Bank plc, as Syndication Agent. Capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the respective meanings therefor set forth in the Agreement.

The undersigned Borrower through its Authorized Representative hereby gives notice to the Agent that Loans in the amount set forth below be made on the date indicated:

Interest Period(1)	Aggregate Amount(2)	Date of Loan(3)	Currency(4)

- (1) One, two, three, six, and if available to all Lenders, nine or twelve months.
- (2) Must be €5,000,000 (or the Alternative Currency Equivalent Amount thereof) or if greater an integral multiple of €1,000,000 (or the Alternative Currency Equivalent Amount thereof).
- (3) At least (1) one Business Day later.
- (4) Specify Euros or the Alternative Currency.

The undersigned Borrower hereby requests that the proceeds of the Loans described in this Borrowing Notice be made available to it as follows: [insert transmittal instructions].

The undersigned Guarantor hereby certifies that:

- 1. No Default or Event of Default exists either now or after giving effect to the borrowing described herein; and
- 2. All the representations and warranties set forth in Article VI of the Agreement and in the Loan Documents (other than those expressly stated to refer to a particular date) are true and correct as of the date hereof except that the reference to the financial statements in Section 6.5(a) of the Agreement is to those financial statements most recently delivered to you pursuant to Section 7.1 of the Agreement (it being understood that any financial statements delivered pursuant to Section 7.1(b) have not been certified by independent public accountants).

3. All conditions contained in the Agreement to the making of any Loan requested hereby have been met or satisfied in full.		
D-2		

V.F. CORPOR.	ATION	
BY:		
	Authorized Representative	
DATE:		
[VF INVESTM	ENTS S.A.R.L.	
BY:		
	Authorized Representative	
DATE:		
[VF EUROPE I	BVBA	
BY:		
	Authorized Representative	
DATE:		
[VF INTERNA	TIONAL S.A.G.L.	
BY:		
	Authorized Representative	
DATE:		
D-3		

EXHIBIT E

Form of Interest Rate Selection Notice

To: J.P. Morgan Europe Limited,

as Agent 125 London Wall London EC24 5AJ Attention: Steve Clark

Telephone: + 44 (0) 207 325 5424 Telefacsimile: + 44 (0) 207 777 2360

Reference is hereby made to the Credit Agreement dated as of October [], 2007 (the "Agreement") among VF Investments S.a.r.l., VF Europe BVBA and VF International S.a.g.l. (collectively, the "Borrowers"), V.F. Corporation (the "Guarantor"), the Lenders parties thereto, J.P. Morgan Europe Limited, as Administrative Agent (the "Agent"), ABN AMRO Bank N.V., as Documentation Agent and HSBC Bank plc, as Syndication Agent, as it may be amended, restated or modified from time to time. Capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the respective meanings therefor set forth in the Agreement.

The undersigned Borrower through its Authorized Representative hereby gives notice to the Agent of the following selection of an Interest Period:

Interest Period(1)	Aggregate Amount(2) Date of Loan(3)		Currency(4)	

- (1) One, two, three, six, and if available to all Lenders, nine or twelve months.
- (2) Must be €[5,000,000] (or the Alternative Currency Equivalent Amount thereof) or if greater an integral multiple of €[1,000,000] (or the Alternative Currency Equivalent Amount thereof).
- (3) At least (1) one Business Day later.
- (4) Specify Euros or the Alternative Currency.

This notice may be executed in any number of counterparts, all of which taken together shall constitute one and the same notice and any of the parties hereto may execute this notice by signing any such counterpart.

W.F. CORPORATION BY: Authorized Representative DATE: [VF INVESTMENTS S.A.R.L. BY: Authorized Representative DATE: [VF EUROPE BVBA BY: Authorized Representative DATE: [VF INTERNATIONAL S.A.G.L. BY: Authorized Representative

E-2

EXHIBIT F

Compliance Certificate

To: J.P. Morgan Europe Limited, as Administrative Agent 125 London Wall London, EC2Y 5AJ United Kingdom Attn. Steve Clarke

Reference is hereby made to the Credit Agreement dated as of October 26, 2007 (the "Agreement") among VF Investments S.a.r.l., VF Europe BVBA and VF International S.a.g.l. (collectively, the "Borrowers"), V.F. Corporation (the "Guarantor"), the Lenders parties thereto from time to time, J.P. Morgan Europe Limited, as Administrative Agent (the "Agent"), ABN AMRO Bank N.V., as Documentation Agent and HSBC Bank plc, as Syndication Agent, as it may be amended, restated or modified from time to time. Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined herein shall have the respective meanings therefore set forth in the Agreement. The undersigned, a duly authorized and acting Authorized Representative, hereby certifies to you as of ________, 20___ (the "Determination Date") as follows:

1. Calculations:

A. Compliance with Section 8.1: Consolidated Indebtedness to Consolidated Capitalization

1. Consolidated Indebtedness as of the Determination Date	\$
2. Consolidated Net Worth as of the Determination Date	\$
3. Sum of A.1 and A.2	\$
4. Ratio of A.1 to A.3	to 1.00

Required: A.4 must not be greater than .60 to 1.00 at any time.

	1. Consolidated Net Worth as of the Determination Date				\$	
	2. B.1 X 15%				\$	
	3. Is Indebtedness secured by Liens not permitted under Section 8.2(a)	-(h) less than B.2?			Yes	No
	4. B.1 x 20%				\$	
	5. Is the sum of (1) Indebtedness secured by the Liens not permitted ur accordance with Section 8.3 (e) less than B.4? %?	nder Section 8.2 (a) – (h) ar	nd (2) Indebtedr	ness incurred in	Yes	No
C.	Compliance with Section 8.3(e): Indebtedness of Subsidiaries					
1	. Is Indebtedness not permitted under Section 8.3(a)-(d) less than B.2?		Yes	No		
2	. No Default					
	A. Since (<u>NOT APPLICABLE</u>), (the date of the last similar certificat performance or fulfillment of its obligations pursuant to any of the Loan occurred and is continuing,	// < /	•		1 .	C)
	B. If a Default or Event of Default has occurred since NOT APPLICATE the following action with respect to such Default or Event of Default: (Napplicable").					
IN V	TTNESS WHEREOF, I have executed this Certificate the day of	, 20				
		VF CORPORATION				
		Ву:				
		Authorized Representati Name:	ve			
		Title:				
		F-2				
_						

В.

Compliance with Section 8.2(i): Liens

EXHIBIT G

Form of Amendment Agreement

AMENDMENT NO. TO CREDIT AGREEMENT

THIS AMENDMENT AGREEMENT is made and entered into this __day of ______, 20__, by and among VF INVESTMENTS S.A.R.L., VF EUROPE BVBA and VF INERNATIONAL S.A.G.L. (the "Borrowers"), V.F. CORPORATION (the "Guarantor"), the Lenders parties thereto, HSBC Bank plc, as Syndication Agent and ABN AMRO Bank N.V., as Documentation Agent and J.P. Morgan Bank Europe Limited, as Administrative Agent (the "Agent") for the lenders (the "Lenders") party to that certain Credit Agreement dated October [], 2007 among such Lenders, the Borrowers, the Guarantor and the Agent, as amended (the "Agreement") and [] [(the "New Lender")].

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, the Guarantor, the Borrowers, the Agent and the Lenders have entered into the Agreement pursuant to which the Lenders have agreed to make revolving loans to the Borrowers (as defined in the Agreement) in the principal amount of up to £250,000,000 (which may be increased to £300,000,000); and

WHEREAS, the New Lender has agreed to [provide the Borrowers a Commitment of ϵ ,000,000] [increase its Commitment to ϵ] thereby increasing the then applicable Total Commitment to ϵ ,000,000 and the parties hereto desire to amend the Agreement in accordance with Section 2.3 of the Agreement in the manner herein set forth effective as of the date hereof;

NOW, THEREFORE, the Guarantor, the Borrowers, the Agent and the New Lender do hereby agree as follows:

- 1. <u>Definitions</u>. The term "Agreement" as used herein and in the Loan Documents (as defined in the Agreement) shall mean the Agreement as hereby amended and modified. Unless the context otherwise requires, all terms used herein without definition shall have the definition provided therefor in the Agreement.
- 2. Amendments. Subject to the conditions hereof, the Agreement is hereby amended, effective as of the date hereof, by deleting Exhibit A and inserting in lieu thereof Exhibit A attached hereto, and the New Lender agrees by the execution of this Amendment Agreement that it [shall be a party to the Agreement as a Lender and] shall provide to the Borrowers its Commitment. Exhibit A attached hereto shall be unchanged from Exhibit A to the Agreement immediately prior to the effectiveness hereof with respect to the Commitment of each Lender which is not the New Lender.
 - 3. Representations and Warranties. The Guarantor hereby certifies that:

- (a) The representations and warranties made by the Guarantor in Article VI of the Agreement are true on and as of the date hereof except that the financial statements referred to in Section 6.5(a) shall be those most recently furnished to each Lender pursuant to Section 7.1(a) and (b);
 - (b) There has been no Material Adverse Effect;
- (c) No event has occurred and no condition exists which, upon the consummation of the transaction contemplated hereby, constituted a Default or an Event of Default on the part of the Guarantor or any Borrower under the Agreement or the Notes either immediately or with the lapse of time or the giving of notice, or both.
- 4. <u>Conditions</u>. As a condition to the effectiveness of this Amendment Agreement, the Borrowers shall deliver, or cause to be delivered to the Agent four (4) counterparts of this Amendment Agreement executed by the Guarantor, each Borrower and the New Lender.
- 5. New Lender. Upon the effectiveness of this Amendment Agreement, the New Lender, if not a Lender prior to the effectiveness of this Amendment Agreement, shall be a party to the Agreement and have the rights and obligations of a Lender thereunder.
- 6. Other Documents. All instruments and documents incident to the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby shall be satisfactory in form and substance to the Agent and its counsel; the Agent shall have received copies of all additional agreements, instruments and documents which it may reasonably request in connection therewith, including evidence of the authority of the Guarantor and each Borrower to enter into the transactions contemplated by this Amendment Agreement, in each case such documents, when appropriate, to be certified by appropriate corporate or governmental authorities; and all proceedings of the Guarantor and of each Borrower relating to the matters provided for herein shall be satisfactory to the Agent and its counsel.
- 7. Entire Agreement. This Amendment Agreement sets forth the entire understanding and agreement of the parties hereto in relation to the subject matter hereof and supersedes any prior negotiations and agreements among the parties relative to such subject matter. No promise, conditions, representation or warranty, express or implied, not herein set forth shall bind any party hereto, and no one of them has relied on any such promise, condition, representation or warranty. Each of the parties hereto acknowledges that, except as in this Amendment Agreement or otherwise expressly stated, no representations, warranties or commitments, express or implied, have been made by any other party to the other. None of the terms or conditions of this Amendment Agreement may be changed, modified, waived or canceled orally or otherwise, except in accordance with the Agreement.
- 8. Full Force and Effect of Agreement. Except as hereby specifically amended, modified or supplemented, the Agreement and all of the other Loan Documents are hereby confirmed and ratified in all respects and shall remain in full force and effect according to their respective terms.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Amendment agreement to be duly executed by their duly authorized officers, all as of the day and year first above written.

V.F. CORPORATION			
By: Name: Title:			
VF INVESTMEN	TS S.A.R.L.		
By: Name: Title:			
VF EUROPE BV	BA		
By: Name: Title:			
VF INTERNATIONAL S.A.G.L.			
By: Name: Title:			
J.P. MORGAN E	UROPE LIMITED, as Agent		
By: Name: Title:			
[Insert Name of Le	ender]		
G-3			

VF CORPORATION

2004 Mid-Term Incentive Plan, as amended December 13, 2010

- 1. **Purposes**. This 2004 Mid-Term Incentive Plan (the "Plan") of VF Corporation (the "Company"), as amended February 8, 2010, is implemented under the Company's 1996 Stock Compensation Plan (the "1996 Plan"). The Plan is intended to provide an additional means to attract and retain talented executives, to link a significant element of executives' compensation opportunity to the Company's performance over more than one year, thereby providing an incentive for successful long-term strategic management of the Company, and otherwise to further the purposes of the 1996 Plan.
- 2. Status as Subplan Under the 1996 Plan; Administration. This Plan is a subplan implemented under the 1996 Plan, and will be administered by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors in accordance with the terms of the 1996 Plan. All of the terms and conditions of the 1996 Plan are hereby incorporated by reference in this Plan, and if any provision of this Plan or an agreement evidencing an award hereunder conflicts with a provision of the 1996 Plan, the provision of the 1996 Plan shall govern. Capitalized terms used in this Plan but not defined herein shall have the same meanings as defined in the 1996 Plan.
 - 3. Certain Definitions. In addition to terms defined above and in the 1996 Plan, the following are defined terms under this Plan:
 - (a) "Account" means the account established for a Participant under Section 7(a).
- (b) "Administrator" means the officers and employees of the Company responsible for the day-to-day administration of the Plan and to which other authority may be delegated under Section 10(b). Unless otherwise specified by the Committee, the Administrator shall be the VF Corporation Pension Plan Committee.
- (c) "Cause" means (i), if the Participant has an Employment Agreement defining "Cause," the definition under such Employment Agreement, or (ii), if the Participant has no Employment Agreement defining "Cause," the Participant's gross misconduct, meaning (A) the Participant's willful and continued refusal substantially to perform his or her duties with the Company (other than any such refusal resulting from his or her incapacity due to physical or mental illness), after a demand for substantial performance is delivered to the Participant by the Board of Directors which specifically identifies the manner in which the Board believes that the Participant has refused to perform his or her duties, or (B) the willful engaging by the Participant in gross misconduct materially and demonstrably injurious to the Company. For purposes of this definition, no act or failure to act on the Participant's part shall be considered "willful" unless done, or omitted to be done, by the Participant not in good faith and without reasonable belief that his or her action or omission was in the best interest of the Company.

- (d) "Covered Employee" means a Participant determined by the Committee to be likely to be a named executive officer of the Company in the year compensation under the Plan will become payable and whose compensation in that year likely could be non-deductible under Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code, such that the Committee has determined that compensation to such Participant under the Plan should qualify as "performance-based compensation" for purposes of Section 162(m).
- (e) "Disability" means (i), if the Participant has an Employment Agreement defining "Disability," the definition under such Employment Agreement, or (ii), if the Participant has no Employment Agreement defining "Disability," the Participant's incapacity due to physical or mental illness resulting in the Participant's absence from his or her duties with the Company on a full-time basis for 26 consecutive weeks, and, within 30 days after written notice of termination has been given by the Company, the Participant has not returned to the full-time performance of his or her duties.
- (f) "Dividend Equivalents" means credits in respect of each PRSU representing an amount equal to the dividends or distributions declared and paid on a share of Common Stock, subject to Section 7(b).
- (g) "Employment Agreement" means a written agreement between the Company and a Participant securing the Participant's services as an employee for a period of time and in effect at the later of the time of the Participant's Designation of Participation (as defined below) or December 31, 2008 or, if no such agreement is then in effect, an agreement providing severance benefits to the Participant upon termination of employment in effect at the later of the time of the Participant's Designation of Participation or December 31, 2008 (including for this purpose an agreement providing such benefits only during a period following a defined change in control, whether or not a change in control in fact has occurred prior to the Participant's Termination of Employment).
- (h) "Good Reason" means "Good Reason" as defined in the Participant's Employment Agreement. If the Participant has no such Employment Agreement, no circumstance will constitute "Good Reason" for purpose of this Plan.
 - (i) "Participant" means an Employee participating in this Plan.
- (j) "Performance Cycle" means the period specified by the Committee over which a designated amount of PRSUs potentially may be earned. Performance Cycles generally will be periods comprising three consecutive fiscal years of the Company. Unless otherwise determined by the Committee, for purposes of Section 8 (a)(i)(B), one full year of a Performance Cycle shall be deemed to be completed on the earlier of (i) the last day of first full fiscal year of the Performance Cycle or (ii) the thirty-first day of December closest to the end of such fiscal year.
- (k) "Performance Goal" means the performance required to be achieved as a condition of earning of PRSUs under the Plan. As specified in Section 6(a), for each Participant who is a Covered Employee in a given Performance Cycle, the Performance Goal will include at least two components, a "Pre-Set Goal" which must be met in order for any amount to be earned and one or more "Challenge Goals" which will then determine the amount of PRSUs such

Participant will earn for the Performance Cycle, and for each Participant who is not a Covered Employee in a given Performance Cycle, the Performance Goal may but is not required to include the Pre-Set Goal and will include one or more Challenge Goals which will then determine the amount of PRSUs such Participant will earn for the Performance Cycle.

- (l) "PRSU" or "Performance Restricted Stock Unit" means a Stock Unit which is potentially earnable by a Participant hereunder upon achievement of the Performance Goal. PRSUs that have been earned but deferred at the election of the Participant continue to be referred to as PRSUs under the Plan, with the understanding that such PRSUs are no longer forfeitable upon Termination of Employment or based on performance.
- (m) "Pro Rata Portion" means a portion of a specified number of PRSUs potentially earnable in a given Performance Cycle determined by multiplying such number of PRSUs by a fraction the numerator of which is the number of calendar days from the beginning of the Performance Cycle until a specified Proration Date and the denominator of which is the number of calendar days in the Performance Cycle.
- (n) "Stock Unit" means a bookkeeping unit which represents a right to receive one share of Common Stock upon settlement, together with a right to accrual of additional Stock Units as a result of Dividend Equivalents as specified in Section 7(b), subject to the terms and conditions of this Plan. Stock Units, which constitute an award under Article VIII of the 1996 Plan (including Section 8.6 thereof), are arbitrary accounting measures created and used solely for purposes of this Plan, and do not represent ownership rights in the Company, shares of Common Stock, or any asset of the Company.
 - (o) "Target PRSUs" means a number of PRSUs designated as a target number that potentially may be earned by a Participant in a given Performance Cycle.
- (p) "Termination of Employment" means the Participant's termination of employment with the Company or any of its subsidiaries or affiliates in circumstances in which, immediately thereafter, the Participant is not employed by the Company or any of its subsidiaries or affiliates; provided, however, that in the case of any PRSUs that constitute a deferral of compensation, Termination of Employment shall mean a "separation from service" as defined in Treasury Regulation § 1.409A-1(h). The date of Termination of Employment will be determined without giving effect to any period during which severance payments may be made to a Participant, unless otherwise specifically stated herein.
- 4. Shares Available Under the Plan. Shares issuable or deliverable in settlement of PRSUs shall be drawn from the 1996 Plan. The Committee will monitor share usage under this Plan and the 1996 Plan to ensure that shares are available for settlement of PRSUs in compliance with the requirements of the 1996 Plan.
 - 5. Eligibility. Employees who are eligible to participate in the 1996 Plan may be selected by the Committee to participate in this Plan.

6. Designation and Earning of PRSUs.

- (a) Designation of PRSUs, Pre-Set Goals, Challenge Goals and Related Terms Not later than 90 days after the beginning of a Performance Cycle (except that this time limitation will not apply in the case of a Participant other than a Covered Employee), the Committee shall (i) select Employees to participate in the Performance Cycle, (ii) designate the Pre-Set Goal (to the extent applicable) for the Performance Cycle, and (iii) designate for each Participant the number of Target PRSUs and the range of PRSUs the Participant shall have the opportunity to earn in such Performance Cycle. The time at which these terms have been designated for a given Participant shall be the Participant's "Designation of Participation" for the specified Performance Cycle, except that with respect to any designation made not later than 90 days after the beginning of a Performance Cycle, the Designation of Participation shall be the commencement date of the Performance Cycle. The number of PRSUs potentially earnable by each Participant shall range from 0% to a maximum percentage of a specified number of Target PRSUs, subject to the following provisions:
 - (A) In no event may the number of PRSUs that may be potentially earnable by any one Participant in all Performance Cycles that begin in any one calendar year exceed the applicable annual per-person limitation set forth in Section 5.3 of the 1996 Plan; and
 - (B) The maximum percentage of the number of Target PRSUs that may be earned shall be 200% of the number of Target PRSUs, unless the Committee specifies a lesser percentage.

The Pre-Set Goal is intended to be a "Performance Objective" within the meaning of Section 8.3 of the 1996 Plan, in order to qualify PRSUs as "performance-based compensation" under Section 162(m) of the Code. Accordingly, the Pre-Set Goal shall be based on one or more of the performance criteria specified in Section 8.3 of the 1996 Plan. If the Pre-Set Goal applicable to a Participant who is a Covered Employee (or if so specified for a Participant who is not a Covered Employee) for a Performance Cycle is not achieved, no PRSUs may be earned by the Participant for such Performance Cycle. In addition, the Committee may at any time, in its discretion, specify the Challenge Goals applicable to one or more years of the Performance Cycle. Challenge Goals may be specified as a table, grid, or formula that sets forth the amount of PRSUs that will be earned upon achievement of a specified level of performance during all or part of the Performance Cycle (subject to the requirement that the Pre-Set Goal has been achieved, in the case of a Participant who is a Covered Employee or if so specified by the Committee for other Participants). For purposes of Section 162(m) of the Code, the Committee is authorized to treat the maximum percentage of PRSUs as earned upon achievement of the Pre-Set Goal, so specification of the Challenge Goals and related terms represents an exercise of negative discretion by the Committee.

(b) Adjustments to Performance Goal. The Committee may provide for adjustments to the Performance Goal, to reflect changes in accounting rules, corporate structure or other circumstances of the Company, for the purpose of preventing dilution or enlargement of Participants' opportunity to earn PRSUs hereunder; provided, however, that no adjustment shall be authorized if and to the extent that such authorization or adjustment would cause the Pre-Set

Goal applicable to a Participant who is a Covered Employee not to meet the "performance goal requirement" set forth in Treasury Regulation § 1.162-27(e)(2) under the Code

(c) Determination of Number of Earned PRSUs. Not later than the March 15 following the end of each Performance Cycle, the Committee shall determine the extent to which the Performance Goal for the earning of PRSUs was achieved during such Performance Cycle and the number of PRSUs earned by each Participant for the Performance Cycle. The Committee shall make written determinations that any Pre-Set Goal and Challenge Goals and any other material terms relating to the earning of PRSUs were in fact satisfied. The date at which the Committee makes a final determination of PRSUs earned with respect to a given Performance Cycle will be the "Determination Date" for such Performance Cycle. The Committee may adjust upward or downward the number of PRSUs earned, in its discretion, in light of such considerations as the Committee may deem relevant (but subject to applicable limitations of the 1996 Plan, as referenced in Section 6(a) of this Plan), provided that, with respect to a Participant who is a Covered Employee, no upward adjustment may be made if the Pre-Set Goal has not been achieved and adjustments otherwise shall comply with applicable requirements of Treasury Regulation § 1.162-27(e) under the Code.

7. Certain Terms of PRSUs.

- (a) Accounts. The Company shall maintain a bookkeeping account for each Participant reflecting the number of PRSUs then credited to the Participant hereunder. The Account may include subaccounts or other designations showing, with respect to separate Performance Cycles, PRSUs that remain potentially earnable, PRSUs that have been earned but deferred, and other relevant information. Fractional PRSUs shall be credited to at least three decimal places for purposes of this Plan, unless otherwise determined by the Administrator.
- (b) *Dividend Equivalents and Adjustments*. Unless otherwise determined by the Administrator, Dividend Equivalents shall be paid or credited on PRSUs that have been earned as follows:
 - (i) Regular Cash Dividends. At the time of settlement of PRSUs under Section 8 or 9, the Administrator shall determine the aggregate amount of regular cash dividends that would have been payable to the Participant, based on record dates for dividends since the beginning of the Performance Cycle (or, if later, the date of the Participant's Designation of Participation), if the earned PRSUs then to be settled had been outstanding shares of Common Stock at such record date (without compounding of dividends but adjusted to account for splits and other extraordinary corporate transactions). Such aggregate cash amount will be converted to a number of shares by dividing the amount by the Fair Market Value of a share of Common Stock at the settlement date.
 - (ii) Common Stock Dividends and Splits. If the Company declares and pays a dividend or distribution on Common Stock in the form of additional shares of Common Stock, or there occurs a forward split of Common Stock, then the number of PRSUs credited to each Participant's Account and potentially earnable hereunder as of the payment date for such dividend or distribution or forward split

shall be automatically adjusted by multiplying the number of PRSUs credited to the Account or potentially earnable as of the record date for such dividend or distribution or split by the number of additional shares of Common Stock actually paid as a dividend or distribution or issued in such split in respect of each outstanding share of Common Stock.

- (iii) Adjustments. If the Company declares and pays a dividend or distribution on Common Stock that is not a regular cash dividend and not in the form of additional shares of Common Stock, of if there occurs any other event referred to in Article XI of the 1996 Plan, the Committee may determine to adjust the number of PRSUs credited to each Participant's Account and potentially earnable hereunder, in order to prevent dilution or enlargement of Participants' rights with respect to PRSUs.
- (c) Statements. An individual statement relating to a Participant's Account will be issued to the Participant not less frequently than annually. Such statement shall report the amount of PRSUs potentially earnable and the number of PRSUs earned and remaining credited to Participant's Account (i.e., not yet settled), transactions therein during the period covered by the statement, and other information deemed relevant by the Administrator. Such statement may be combined with or include information regarding other plans and compensatory arrangements affecting the Participant. A Participant's statements may evidence the Company's obligations in respect of PRSUs without the need for the Company to enter into a separate agreement relating to such obligations; provided, however, that any statement containing an error shall not represent a binding obligation to the extent of such error.

8. Effect of Termination of Employment.

(a) *Termination Prior to End of a Performance Cycle*. Except to the extent set forth in subsections (i) through (v) of this Section 8(a), upon a Participant's Termination of Employment prior to the end of a given Performance Cycle all unearned PRSUs relating to such Performance Cycle shall cease to be earnable and shall be canceled and forfeited, and Participant shall have no further rights or opportunities hereunder:

(i) Retirement.

(A) With respect to Performance Cycles for the years 2008-2010 and 2009-2011, if Termination of Employment is due to the Retirement (as defined in the 1996 Plan) of the Participant, the Participant shall be entitled to receive settlement of a Pro Rata Portion of the total number of PRSUs the Participant is deemed to have earned in accordance with this Section 8(a)(i)(A), with the Proration Date (used to calculate the Pro Rata Portion) being the date of Retirement, except that PRSUs relating to any Performance Cycle beginning in 2009 that has not completed one full year as of the date of Termination of Employment will not be earnable and will be cancelled as of the date of Termination of Employment. The settlement of such PRSUs shall occur promptly (and in any event not later than March 15) following completion of the fiscal year of the Company in which the Termination of Employment occurs. Performance for any open Performance Cycle shall be

deemed to be the average performance achieved for the fiscal year(s) completed prior to the date of settlement. Any deferral election filed by the Participant shall be effective and apply to the settlement of the PRSUs.

- (B) For any Performance Cycle commencing in 2010 or thereafter, if Termination of Employment is due to the Retirement of the Participant, the Participant shall be entitled to receive settlement of the total number of PRSUs the Participant is deemed to have earned for the full Performance Cycle in accordance with Section 6(c), except that PRSUs relating to any Performance Cycle that has not completed one full year as of the date of Termination of Employment will not be earnable and will be cancelled as of the date of Termination of Employment. The settlement of PRSUs for any such Performance Cycle shall occur promptly (and in any event not later than March 15) following completion of that Performance Cycle. Any deferral election filed by the Participant shall be effective and apply to the settlement of the PRSUs.
- (ii) Death or Disability. If Termination of Employment is due to the Participant's death or Disability, the Participant in the case of Disability or the Participant's Beneficiary in the case of death shall be entitled to receive settlement of a Pro Rata Portion of the total number of PRSUs the Participant is deemed to have earned in accordance with this Section 8(a)(ii), with the Proration Date (used to calculate the Pro Rata Portion) being the date of death or Termination due to Disability. The settlement of such PRSUs shall occur promptly (and in any event not later than March 15) following completion of the fiscal year of the Company in which the date of death or Termination due to Disability occurs. Performance for any open Performance Cycle shall be deemed to be the average performance achieved for the fiscal year(s) completed prior to the date of settlement. Any deferral election filed by the Participant shall have no effect on the settlement of the PRSUs.
- (iii) Involuntary Termination By the Company Not for Cause Prior to a Change in Control. If Termination of Employment is an involuntary separation by the Company not for Cause prior to a Change in Control, the Participant shall be entitled to receive settlement of a Pro Rata Portion of the total number of PRSUs the Participant is deemed to have earned in accordance with this Section 8(a)(iii), with the Proration Date (used to calculate the Pro Rata Portion) being the earlier of (A) the last day of the payroll period with respect to which a severance payment in the nature of salary continuation has been made and (B) the last day of the Performance Cycle. If no severance payments are to be made, the applicable Proration Date shall be the date of Termination of Employment. In all cases under this Section 8(a) (iii), PRSUs relating to any Performance Cycle beginning in 2009 or later or, with respect to the 2008-2010 Performance Cycle, as to which the Participant has been designated a participant after July 1, 2008, in which the Participant has not participated for twelve months as of the date of Termination of Employment (i.e., Termination occurs within 12 months after the Participant's Designation of Participation) will not be earnable and will be cancelled as of the date of Termination of Employment. The settlement of PRSUs shall occur

- promptly (and in any event not later than March 15) following completion of the fiscal year of the Company in which the Proration date occurs. Performance for any open Performance Cycle shall be deemed to be the average performance achieved for the fiscal year(s) completed prior to the date of settlement. Any deferral election filed by the Participant shall have no effect on the settlement of the PRSUs.
- (iv) At or Following a Change in Control, Involuntary Termination By the Company Not for Cause or by Participant for Good Reason. If Termination of Employment occurs at or after a Change in Control and is an involuntary separation by the Company not for Cause or a Termination by the Participant for Good Reason, the Participant shall be entitled to receive settlement of the total number of PRSUs the Participant is deemed to have earned in accordance with this Section 8(a)(iv), promptly (and in any event within 30 days) following the date of Termination of Employment. The amount of the settlement shall assume that the Participant has remained with the Company through the completion of each open Performance Cycle and that the performance achieved by the Company for each such Performance Cycle is the average of the performance achieved for the completed year(s) in such Performance Cycle if greater than 100% (i.e., the performance required to earn at least the Target PRSUs), or, if such average is less than 100%, the performance achieved shall be deemed to be the average of the actual performance for the completed year(s) in such Performance Cycle (if any) together with performance for years not yet complete being deemed to be 100% of target performance. Any deferral election filed by the Participant shall have no effect on the settlement of the PRSUs.
- (v) Termination by the Company for Cause or Voluntary Termination by the Participant If Termination of Employment is either by the Company for Cause or voluntary by the Participant (excluding a Termination for Good Reason following a Change in Control and excluding a Retirement), PRSUs relating to each Performance Cycle which has not yet ended will cease to be earnable and will be canceled.

The foregoing provisions notwithstanding, if any PRSUs constitute a deferral of compensation for purposes of Code Section 409A, and (i) such PRSUs would be settled at a date related to a Termination of Employment under this Section 8(a) (or in connection with a permitted elective deferral of the PRSUs), (ii) such settlement date would be within six months after the Termination of Employment, (iii) the Company at the date of Termination has any class of securities traded in a public trading market, and (iv) the Participant is a "Specified Employee" at the date of Termination of Employment under Code Section 409A, then the settlement date will be delayed until the date six months after Termination of Employment. PRSUs for a given Performance Cycle each will be deemed a separate payment for purposes of Code Section 409A. It is intended that PRSUs that are not electively deferred hereunder constitute short-term deferrals under Treasury Regulation § 1.409A-1(b)(4), unless otherwise specifically designated by the Company in the case of a specified Participant.

(b) Termination After Performance Cycle. Upon a Participant's Termination of

Employment at or after the end of a Performance Cycle, all PRSUs resulting from such Performance Cycle shall be settled in accordance with Section 9(a) as promptly as practicable after the Determination Date with respect to such Performance Cycle, except that, if the Participant has timely filed an irrevocable election to defer settlement of PRSUs following a Termination of Employment due to Retirement, such PRSUs shall be settled in accordance with such deferral election.

(c) *Release*. Any settlement of PRSUs following Termination of Employment may be delayed by the Committee if the Participant's Employment Agreement or any policy of the Committee then in effect conditions such settlement or severance payments upon the Company receiving a full and valid release of claims against the Company. In such case, the Company shall supply the form of release to the Participant by the date of Termination of Employment, and Participant must sign the release and not revoke it by such date as may be specified by the Company but in no event later than 52 days after Termination of Employment.

9. Settlement of PRSUs.

- (a) Settlement If PRSUs Not Deferred. Not later than the March 15 following the end of each Performance Cycle, the Committee shall settle all PRSUs earned in respect of such Performance Cycle, other than PRSUs deferred under Section 9(b) or settled as specified in Section 8, by issuing and/or delivering to the Participant one share of Common Stock for each PRSU being settled. Such issuance or delivery shall occur as promptly as practicable after the Determination Date for the Performance Cycle.
- (b) *Deferral of PRSUs*. If and to the extent authorized by the Committee, at any time on or before such date as may be specified by the Administrator, the Participant may elect to defer settlement of PRSUs to a date (i) later than the Determination Date for the Performance Cycle to which the PRSUs relate or (ii) later than Termination of Employment due to Retirement, as specified by the Participant; provided, however, that an optional deferral shall be subject to such additional restrictions and limitations as the Committee or Administrator may from time to time specify, including for purposes of ensuring that the Participant will not be deemed to have constructively received compensation in connection with such deferral. Dividend equivalents shall accrue on deferred PRSUs and shall be paid in cash annually to the Participant at an annual payment date set by the Administrator, without interest or compounding. Other provisions of the Plan notwithstanding, if any legislation or regulation imposes requirements on elective non-qualified deferred compensation that are inconsistent with the Plan and procedures hereunder, if Participants are not afforded an opportunity under such legislation or regulation to withdraw or modify their prior elections or deferred compensation resulting therefrom, then (i) if the prior deferrals can be automatically modified to conform to the requirements of the legislation or regulation with the Participant being deemed not to be in constructive receipt of the deferred compensation, then such modification automatically shall be in effect, and (ii) if not, then such deferral will immediately end and the deferred PRSUs shall be promptly settled in accordance with the Plan; provided, however, that if a Participant would be deemed to be in constructive receipt of any deferred amounts solely because of this provision, the provision shall be void and of no effect.
 - (c) Creation of Rabbi Trust. If and to the extent authorized by the Committee, the

Company may create one or more trusts and deposit therein Common Stock or other property for delivery to the Participant in satisfaction of the Company's obligations hereunder. Any such trust shall be a "rabbi" trust that shall not jeopardize the status of the Participant's rights hereunder as "unfunded" deferred compensation for federal income tax purposes. If so provided by the Committee, upon the deposit by the Committee of Common Stock in such a trust, there shall be substituted for the rights of the Participant to receive settlement by issuance and/or delivery of Common Stock under this Agreement a right to receive property of the same type as and equal in value to the assets of the trust (to the extent that such assets represent the full amount of the Company's obligation at the date of deposit). The trustee of the trust shall not be permitted to diversify trust assets by voluntarily disposing of shares of Common Stock in the trust and reinvesting proceeds, but such trustee may be authorized to dispose of other trust assets and reinvest the proceeds in alternative investments, subject to such terms, conditions, and limitations as the Committee may specify, including for the purpose of avoiding adverse accounting consequences to the Company, and in accordance with applicable law.

- (d) Settlement of PRSUs at the End of the Deferral Period Not later than 15 days after the end of any elective period of deferral or immediately in the case of a deferral period ending upon a Change in Control, the Company will settle all PRSUs then credited to a Participant's Account by issuing and/or delivering to the Participant one share of Common Stock for each PRSU being settled. Any deferral period will end on an accelerated basis immediately prior to a Change in Control, except as limited under Section 9(b).
- (e) *Manner of Settlement.* The Committee or Administrator may, in its or his or her sole discretion, determine the manner in which shares of Common Stock shall be delivered by the Company, including the manner in which fractional shares shall be dealt with; provided, however, that no certificate shall be issued representing a fractional share. In furtherance of this authority, PRSUs may be settled by the Company issuing and delivering the requisite number of shares of Common Stock to a member firm of the New York Stock Exchange which is also a member of the National Association of Securities Dealers, as selected by the Company from time to time, which shares shall be deposited by such member firm in separate brokerage accounts for each Participant. If there occurs any delay between the settlement date and the date shares are issued or delivered to the Participant, a cash amount equal to any dividends or distributions the record date for which fell between the settlement date and the date of issuance or delivery of the shares shall be paid to the Participant together with the delivery of the shares.
- (f) Settlement of PRSUs Held by Non-US Residents Other provisions of the Plan (including Section 9(e)) notwithstanding, PRSUs credited to the Account of a Participant who resides in or is subject to income tax laws of a country other than the United States may be settled in cash, in the discretion of the Committee. The cash amount payable in settlement of each PRSU shall equal the Fair Market Value of a share at the date of not more than five business days before the date of settlement. The Committee is authorized to vary the terms of participation of such foreign Participants in any other respect (including in ways not consistent with the express provisions of the Plan) in order to conform to the laws, regulations, and business customs of a foreign jurisdiction.
 - (g) Tax Withholding. The Company shall deduct from any settlement of a Participant's PRSUs and cash dividends paid in respect of any deferred PRSUs any Federal,

state, or local withholding or other tax or charge which the Company is then required to deduct under applicable law. In furtherance of this requirement, the Company shall withhold from the shares of Common Stock issuable or deliverable in settlement of a Participant's PRSUs the number of shares having an aggregate Fair Market Value equal to any Federal, state, and local withholding or other tax or charge which the Company is required to withhold under applicable law, unless the Participant has otherwise elected and has made other arrangements satisfactory to the Company to pay such withholding amounts or unless otherwise determined by the Committee.

(h) Non-Transferability. Unless otherwise determined by the Committee, neither a Participant nor any beneficiary shall have the right to, directly or indirectly, alienate, assign, transfer, pledge, anticipate, or encumber (except by reason of death) any PRSU, Account or Account balance, or other right hereunder, nor shall any such PRSU, Account or Account balance, or other right be subject to anticipation, alienation, sale, transfer, assignment, pledge, encumbrance, attachment, or garnishment by creditors of the Participant or any beneficiary, or to the debts, contracts, liabilities, engagements, or torts of the Participant or any Beneficiary or transfer by operation of law in the event of bankruptcy or insolvency of the Participant or any beneficiary, or any legal process.

10. General Provisions.

- (a) Changes to this Plan. The Committee may at any time amend, alter, suspend, discontinue, or terminate this Plan, and such action shall not be subject to the approval of the Company's shareholders; provided, however, that, without the consent of an affected Participant, no such action may materially impair the rights of such Participant under this Plan. The foregoing notwithstanding, the Committee may, in its discretion, accelerate the termination of any Performance Cycle or any deferral period and the resulting settlement of PRSUs with respect to an individual Participant or all Participants, except that any accelerated settlement of PRSUs that constitute a deferral of compensation under Code Section 409A may occur only in compliance with applicable Regulations and interpretations of Section 409A.
- (b) *Delegation of Administrative Authority*. The Committee may, in writing, delegate some or all of its power and responsibilities under the Plan to the Administrator or any other officer of the Company or committee of officers and employees, except such delegation may not include (i) authority to amend the Plan under Section 10(a), (ii), with respect to any executive officer of the Company, authority under Section 6 or other authority required to be exercised by the Committee in order that compensation under the Plan will qualify as performance-based compensation under Section 162(m) of the Code, or (iii) authority that otherwise may not be delegated under the terms of the 1996 Plan, this Plan, or applicable law. In furtherance of this authority, the Committee hereby delegates to the Administrator, as from time to time designated, authority to administer the Plan and act on behalf of the Committee to the fullest extent permitted under this Section 10(b). This delegation of authority to the Administrator shall remain in effect until terminated or modified by resolution of the Committee (without a requirement that the Plan be amended further). The authority delegated to the Administrator hereunder shall include:
 - (i) Authority to adopt such rules for the administration of the Plan as the

Administrator considers desirable, provided they do not conflict with the Plan; and

(ii) Authority under Section 9(b) to impose restrictions or limitations on Participant deferrals under the Plan, including in order to promote cost-effective administration of the Plan; no restriction or limitation on deferrals shall be deemed to conflict with the Plan.

No individual acting as Administrator (including any member of the committee serving as Administrator) shall participate in a decision directly affecting his or her own rights or obligations under the Plan, although participation in a decision affecting all Participants shall not be prohibited by this provision.

- (c) Nonexclusivity of the Plan. The adoption of this Plan shall not be construed as creating any limitations on the power of the Board or Committee to adopt such other compensation arrangements as it may deem desirable for any Participant.
- (d) *Effective Date and Plan Termination*. This Plan became effective on January 1, 2004, following its approval by the Committee. This Plan was most recently amended by the Committee on February 8, 2010. This Plan will remain in effect until such time as the Company and Participants have no further rights or obligations under this Plan in respect of PRSUs not yet settled or the Committee otherwise terminates this Plan.

VF CORPORATION

PREFERABILITY LETTER OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

May 12, 2011

Board of Directors V. F. Corporation 105 Corporate Center Boulevard Greensboro NC, 27408

Dear Directors:

We are providing this letter to you for inclusion as an exhibit to your Form 10-Q filing pursuant to Item 601 of Regulation S-K.

We have been provided a copy of the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended April 2, 2011. Note B therein describes a change in accounting principle from utilizing a last-in, first-out (LIFO) inventory valuation method for certain domestic businesses to valuing inventory on a first-in, first-out (FIFO) basis. It should be understood that the preferability of one acceptable method of accounting over another for inventory valuation has not been addressed in any authoritative accounting literature, and in expressing our concurrence below we have relied on management's determination that this change in accounting principle is preferable. Based on our reading of management's stated reasons and justification for this change in accounting principle in the Form 10-Q, and our discussions with management as to their judgment about the relevant business planning factors relating to the change, we concur with management that such change represents, in the Company's circumstances, the adoption of a preferable accounting principle in conformity with Accounting Standards Codification 250, Accounting Changes and Error Corrections.

We have not audited any financial statements of the Company as of any date or for any period subsequent to January 1, 2011. Accordingly, our comments are subject to change upon completion of an audit of the financial statements covering the period of the accounting change.

Very truly yours,

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP Greensboro, NC

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO 15 U.S.C. SECTION 10A, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

- I, Eric C. Wiseman, certify that:
- 1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of V.F. Corporation;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
- (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
- (b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
- (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
- (d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors:
- (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
- (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

May 12, 2011

/s/ Eric C. Wiseman
Eric C. Wiseman
President and
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO 15 U.S.C. SECTION 10A, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

- I, Robert K. Shearer, certify that:
- 1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of V.F. Corporation;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
- (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
- (b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
- (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
- (d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors:
- (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
- (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

May 12, 2011

/s/ Robert K. Shearer Robert K. Shearer Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer)

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of V.F. Corporation (the "Company") on Form 10-Q for the period ending April 2, 2011 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Eric C. Wiseman, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of my knowledge:

- (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
- (2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the Company.

May 12, 2011 /s/ Eric C. Wiseman

Eric C. Wiseman

President and Chief Executive Officer

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of V.F. Corporation (the "Company") on Form 10-Q for the period ending April 2, 2011 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Robert K. Shearer, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of my knowledge:

- (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
- (2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the Company.

May 12, 2011 /s/ Robert K. Shearer

Robert K. Shearer Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer